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Introduction
Framing the Historical Problem

In 1951, when the attorneys of the National Association for
the Advancement of Colored People–Legal Defense and Education Fund
(NAACP-LDEF) began litigation to desegregate primary and secondary
schools in the United States, they called on social scientists for help. Or-
ganized by social psychologist Kenneth B. Clark, social scientists testified
at several trials and wrote briefs, submitted to the Supreme Court, argu-
ing that segregation was psychologically damaging and that the desegre-
gation process could be expected to proceed smoothly. In 1954, when the
Supreme Court found segregation in schools unconstitutional in Brown
v. Topeka Board of Education, Chief Justice Earl Warren, writing for the
unanimous Court, cited social-scientific evidence as one basis for the
Court’s opinion. The 1954 decision delayed any order regarding remedy,
and social scientists continued to work with the NAACP-LDEF through
1955, when the Supreme Court handed down Brown II, ordering desegre-
gation with “all deliberate speed.”1

The year 1979 marked the twenty-fifth anniversary of the first Brown
decision, and the American Psychological Association asked some of
the psychologists involved with the NAACP-LDEF to speak on their ex-
periences in the Brown campaign as well as on their hopes for the fu-
ture. Yet, far from celebrating their involvement with Brown, the speak-
ers were defensive about their actions. M. Brewster Smith, who had
served as an expert witness and had signed the Social Science State-
ment, complained, “It is hinted in various quarters and said openly in
others that the social science testimony on the cases culminating in
Brown v. Board of Education was tendentious and ungrounded.”2

Against these charges, Isidor Chein, perhaps Kenneth B. Clark’s closest
confidant during the Brown decision, declared: “Let me state at the out-
set that I know of no serious reason for retracting anything that was
said in the so-called Social Science Brief submitted in Brown v. Board of

1
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Education or in the testimony of the expert witnesses called by counsel
for the plaintiffs.”3

Indeed, in the two decades since Chein and Smith made these claims,
the idea that social scientists’ testimony in Brown was unfounded has be-
come the dominant understanding of the case. Within four decades, what
was once viewed as psychology’s greatest achievement in social engineer-
ing has been proclaimed a miserable failure. The psychologists involved
in Brown are often viewed as liberal reformers who cloaked their political
wishes in the guise of social science. In his history of the United States
since 1945, James T. Patterson writes that the psychological evidence for a
feeling of inferiority among African American children was “dubious and
subject to different interpretations . . . . The fact of the matter was that in
1954 there simply did not exist sufficient research that could ‘prove’
whether any particular racial mix in schools was superior—or in what
ways—to any other.”4 Ellen Herman, in her history of psychology in the
postwar United States asks “how an allegedly scientific consensus had
failed rather miserably to predict the course of desegregation and stand
the test of close examination.”5 William Tucker, in his history of “scien-
tific racism,” argues, “Neither the infliction of psychological harm nor the
intellectual equality of blacks and whites was in any way relevant. . . . In
addition, the only empirical data submitted to the court [Clark’s doll
test] to support the scientific assertions turned out to be of questionable
validity.”6 Activist/scholar Harold Cruse claims that “the scientific testi-
mony [in Brown] . . . was, to a great degree blind to objective sociological
facts. Obscured were webs of causative processes behind public school
developments that could not be explained by simplistic methods of his-
torical summation.”7

In the most extensive critique of the social science in Brown, Daryl
Scott claims:

The plaintiffs had to demonstrate first, that black children had damaged
psyches; second, that the damage flowed from the schools rather than from
their families or social discrimination at large; and third, that the damage
to their psyches adversely affected their ability to learn. These issues were
more than the literature could handle. [These claims] exceeded the factual
knowledge of the social sciences on the relationship between self-concept
and learning, strained the methodological approaches to measuring dam-
age, and ran counter to the prevailing assumptions underlying theories
about the spatial relationship between dominant and subordinate groups
and personality developments among the latter.8
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The argument that Clark and his colleagues were social reformers
rather than objective scientists is not new. Indeed, segregationists in the
South proclaimed the social science in Brown unscientific as soon as they
were presented with it. What is new is the general proclamation by
“mainstream” scholars that the South was right so long ago.

Clark and his colleagues were part of the generation that has been
characterized by David Hollinger as indulging in “extravagant universal-
ism” that “looked to the species as a whole” to break down the barriers of
race and nationalism.9 To put the argument another way, in the 1950s, al-
most the only people to argue that “race matters” were segregationists.
The integrationist response was that race did not matter, that black peo-
ple were, as Kenneth Stampp unapologetically claimed in 1956, “only
white men with black skins, nothing more, nothing less.”10 Integrationists
thus adopted an assimilationist position on cultural and racial diversity,
because any argument for cultural pluralism, which allows for a limited
form of racial or ethnic separatism, was seen as playing into the hands of
the segregationists.11

In the 1960s, everything changed. Jim Crow came to an end just as the
inner cities exploded. Much of the thinking about race since World War
II seemed naive, confused, or just plain wrong.12 “Racial progress” could
no longer automatically be equated with “integration,” as African Ameri-
cans made race central to their place in American society. During the
1960s, as Stephen Steinberg has argued, “no longer was it certain that
blacks could be—or wanted to be—integrated into the white communi-
ties.”13 With this claim came the idea that African American culture was
different from European American culture but valuable and worth pre-
serving nonetheless. Being black became a source of pride and strength,
and the idea that African Americans should somehow submerge their
black identity to join white culture became repellent to many. The pur-
suit of integration was seen as a trap for African Americans.14 In 1967,
Harold Cruse, one of the most eloquent of the scholars influenced by the
Black Power movement, sounded very much like the segregationists
when he wrote that “the Negro integrationist runs afoul of reality in the
pursuit of an illusion, the ‘open society’—a false front that hides several
worlds of hyphenated-Americans. Which group or subgroup leaves its
door wide open for the outsider? None really.”15

The view that black culture was pathological and inferior to white cul-
ture, an idea that was central to the integrationist arguments of the social
science in Brown, was seen as another manifestation of white supremacy
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as the debate on American race relations was transformed in the 1960s.16

The notion of African Americans somehow “damaged” by white oppres-
sion was itself seen as a racist claim. Albert Murray argued that images of
the “damage” wrought by discrimination, which “naive Negro spokesmen
given to mortal outcry seize upon as evidence of the need for reform—
are all too obvious extensions of the process of degradation by other
means, and have always functioned as an indispensable element in the vi-
cious cycle that perpetuates white supremacy through the systematic ex-
ploitation of black people.”17

The collapse of the integrationist consensus was not only an ideological
shift in American society but also a reflection of new realities about race
relations. Six days after President Lyndon Johnson signed the Voting
Rights Act of 1965, which drove the final nail into Jim Crow’s coffin,
Watts exploded. In a political heartbeat, the center of America’s racial
problems became large cities rather than the rural South.18 New social
problems forced themselves onto the national agenda. The problems cre-
ated by “institutional” racism became paramount, and the older prob-
lems created by de jure segregation were quickly forgotten.

In this new political climate, a new series of critiques of Brown ap-
peared in the social science literature. In 1978, Walter Stephan published
a study that evaluated the predictions made in Brown and concluded: “It
does appear that the social scientists [in Brown] were incorrect in the ex-
pectation that desegregation would reduce the prejudice of whites toward
blacks and that they were only partially correct in their assumption that
segregated blacks would have lower self-esteem than segregated whites.”19

Five years later, Harold Gerard was quite blunt in his assessment of the
Brown social scientists. Central to Gerard’s argument were the conditions
for orderly desegregation that were outlined by the social scientists in
their 1952 statement to the Supreme Court and later codified by Kenneth
Clark in a 1953 article on desegregation.20 The conditions centered on
firm and consistent authority ordering desegregation and on students
from different races coming into contact under conditions of relative
equality. Writing in American Psychologist, Gerard claimed that “it was
extraordinarily quixotic to assume that . . . the conditions specified in the
statement [submitted to the Supreme Court] would or could be met in
the typical school system.”21

Stephan and Gerard were repeating some of the basic arguments made
by the segregationists, namely, that the Brown social scientists had
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skimpy evidence for their arguments and were motivated by moral and
political concerns rather than scientific data. Of course, the contexts in
which these charges were made differed greatly. No one suggested in the
late 1970s and early 1980s that these results argued for a return to Jim
Crow. Rather, Stephan and Gerard were testing a scientific hypothesis
against newly discovered evidence and circumstances and found the hy-
pothesis wanting.

It is not just new social-scientific evaluations of Brown that have
shaped our contemporary understanding of the case. While the Black
Power movement of the 1960s may not have transformed the U.S. polit-
ical culture in the way its proponents had hoped, it did have lasting in-
fluence on how scholars approached the African American experience.
African American historians never again viewed African Americans as
mere victims of white racism. Historians began to explore the myriad
ways in which African Americans resisted white oppression and created
a unique culture that stood apart from white culture. The arguments
that Clark and his colleagues made to the Supreme Court, which viewed
African Americans as victims of white oppression who existed in a
pathological state, became unpalatable to contemporary African Ameri-
can historians. Historians rejected the “victimization model” to describe
African American experiences during slavery and, increasingly, during
twentieth-century urban life as well. As Earl Lewis wrote, since the
1980s, historians have “used words such as self-determination, agency,
and empowerment to name the variations” of African Americans’ “lived
experiences.”22

Certainly, this new historiography has led to a much clearer and more
accurate picture of the African American experience. But the new histori-
ographical outlook has contributed to a distorted view of social scien-
tists’ activities in the Brown litigation. I maintain that the common
view—that social scientists stepped outside their role as scientific experts
when they testified that segregation was damaging—misunderstands the
nature of their arguments. The arguments that social scientists made to
the courts were both subtle and complex and, unfortunately, easily cari-
catured. It is these caricatures, rather than the original arguments them-
selves, that segregationists, social scientists, and historians have criticized.
By putting Clark and his colleagues in their proper historical context, and
by closely examining the nature of their arguments before the Court, we
can discover if their actions as scientists were justified by their standards
of “scientific objectivity.”
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To understand social scientists’ actions, I hope to answer three histori-
cal questions. First, how did social scientists choose to study race prejudice
and discrimination? What were the origins of the research that was used
in the Brown litigation? Second, how did social scientists define a role for
themselves as experts in the area of race prejudice and discrimination? It is
one thing for social scientists to study race prejudice; it is quite another
for their studies to gain authority beyond the academy and in American
society. Finally, how did social scientists try to maintain the role of objective
scientific experts when drawn into the highly adversarial process of a litiga-
tion campaign? Commonly conceived, science seeks truth through con-
sensus—a rational give-and-take of ideas—whereas the law seeks truth
through an adversarial process—there is no possibility of reaching a true
consensus between the warring parties.23 How did the social scientists
cope with the very different culture of the law?

Answering these three questions demonstrates how a group of social
scientists were able to use their scientific expertise to become “social en-
gineers.” As social engineers, they worked hard to make the United States
into what they believed to be a more just and equitable place to live. The
following sections explore these three questions in detail.

How Did Social Scientists Come to Study Race Prejudice?

Unlike physical or natural sciences, to claim that the social sciences are
ineluctably bound to the societies in which they have matured seems
rather unproblematic. As Mitchell Ash has written in reference to psy-
chology, “To undermine psychologists’ naive pretensions to universalism
and rationality by demonstrating the sociocultural embeddedness of this
particular science may have shock value to psychologists and their stu-
dents, but comes as no surprise to others.”24 Perhaps in no other area of
the social sciences are the ties to society clearer than in the scientific
study of race and race relations. The point is made by Graham Richards
in reference to the social psychologists who are the subject of this book:
“US Social Psychological work on prejudice and the roots of racism was
part and parcel of the wider civil rights movement.”25

And yet, exactly how social scientists became tied to the civil rights
movement is unexplored in the historical literature. The story begins
with the rise of the scientific study of race prejudice. In the nineteenth
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and the early part of the twentieth century, social-scientific thinking on
race largely mirrored that of the dominant white society: there was a
natural racial hierarchy with Anglo-Saxons on the top and African
Americans at the bottom. Among social scientists, this viewpoint
nearly disappeared between World War I and World War II and was re-
placed with the viewpoint that all races had equal intellectual and
physical abilities. By 1939, the social-scientific community explained
what were previously viewed as innate racial differences as only appar-
ent differences. For example, the differences in IQ scores between
African Americans and white Americans were no longer viewed as
proof of racial inferiority but as proof of the cultural bias inherent in
the testing procedure.

This shift in scientific thinking about race led to a new social-scien-
tific problem. Antipathy between the races had long been explained by
pointing to the natural differences between the races. Whites would
“naturally” dislike close contact with an inferior race. Similarly, African
Americans would be uncomfortable with close contact with whites—
with whom they could not possibly compete. But when social scientists
rejected race differences in the 1930s, a new explanation for racial an-
tipathy emerged: what they began calling “race prejudice.” By the 1940s,
scientists were busy attempting to measure race prejudice quantitatively,
to link it with other personality traits, and to identify its origins in child
development.

In describing the rise of the study of race prejudice, Franz Samelson
argued that the scientific study of race “was enmeshed in the real world
from the start, in ways which are more obvious if perhaps not more im-
portant than is true of other, seemingly more esoteric problems of psy-
chology.”26 For the social scientists involved in the Brown case, the urge
to understand race prejudice arose from several areas of the “real
world.” Many of these scientists were themselves cultural minorities in
the United States. Whether Jewish, like Otto Klineberg and Isidor Chein,
or African American, like Kenneth and Mamie Clark, their experiences
with racism sensitized them to the problems of racial discrimination.
Those social scientists who were not cultural minorities, such as Gard-
ner Murphy, Goodwin Watson, and Gordon Allport, were the products
of liberal/leftist political tradition, often with an overlay of radical
Christian theology that emphasized the equality of human beings.
These views substantially changed the concept of how scientifically to
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study the problems of race relations, particularly problems of race prej-
udice and racial identity.

Defining Experts in Race Prejudice

Throughout the twentieth century, psychologists have faced the problem
of convincing the general public that “scientific psychology offered an
understanding of mental events superior to that of common sense.”27 For
the psychologists in the Brown case to be taken seriously as scientific ex-
perts, they had to convince the public that what social psychology had to
say about race relations was more reliable than what society believed
about race relations.

Social psychologists came to a number of conclusions regarding race
prejudice that belied the commonly accepted wisdom of American soci-
ety regarding the proper relationship between the two races. Indeed, in
the decades after the end of World War II most white Americans firmly
believed in the “natural inferiority” of African Americans. Yet social sci-
entists went much further in their claims: not only did social scientists
preach the equality of all races, but they also preached that segregation
was not a natural “instinct”—children had to be taught race prejudice.
Moreover, scientists claimed that desegregation of the races could be im-
posed on groups who did not wish it—the law did not have to wait for a
“natural” societal evolution away from discrimination to social equality.
Finally, social scientists claimed that the law could require rapid desegre-
gation—giving no time for any sort of gradual adjustment. None of these
viewpoints was reflected in the “common sense” of the postwar citizenry
of the United States.

Social scientists gained a foothold as “experts” in society during World
War II, when they allied themselves with the war effort. For the first time,
social scientists had access to powerful policymakers who seemed to be
willing to use their advice. These experiences during the war gave social
scientists a new confidence that they could use their scientific expertise to
remake society, particularly in the area of race relations. Quelling race
riots, boosting morale by building national unity, analyzing Nazi racist
propaganda—all these activities served to thrust race prejudice to the
center of social scientists’ wartime work.

After the war, to convince others that racial change was possible, social
scientists took a new approach to legal change. Before the war, social sci-
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ence was often hesitant to recommend legal change to alter society—they
often thought that the laws of a particular society were mere reflections
of the attitudes held by members of that society. After the war, however,
social scientists built an argument that it was not necessary to wait and
do nothing while society “evolved” more egalitarian racial mores; rather,
the law could change racial attitudes.

To put their new views toward the law into practice, social scientists
joined organizations dedicated to fighting race discrimination. The ex-
emplar among such organizations was the American Jewish Congress in
New York City. Social-scientific work within a socially active body such as
the American Jewish Congress represented a confluence of interests be-
tween civil rights workers and social scientists. For the civil rights worker,
social science represented the “scientific viewpoint” regarding race—a
powerful weapon in the postwar United States. For the social scientist,
the civil rights movement was an opportunity to use social science to re-
shape society. Additionally, the NAACP-LDEF provided the social scien-
tists with a venue through which to change the law, and thereby society’s
views on the “race problem.”

Scientist or Advocate?

Unlike attorneys, community activists, religious leaders, politicians, and
others in the civil rights struggle, social scientists were supposed to be
apolitical, nonpartisan students of society, rather than active shapers of
society. Their involvement on behalf of civil rights, therefore, represented
a potential conflict between their role as objective observers of society
and that of active participants in society.

This conflict of roles in the social scientists’ involvement in the Brown
litigation underscores a theme prevalent in recent histories of the Ameri-
can social sciences. A glance at the titles of established works in the field
reveals a preoccupation with a fundamental paradox concerning the role
of social science in American society, that of “advocacy versus objectiv-
ity.” Indeed, the quest for objectivity has been called the “crucible” of so-
cial science.28 The paradox can be read as follows: presumably, social sci-
ence draws its authority from the “objectivity” of science. That is, what
social science has to say about society can be trusted as accurate because
it is “scientific”: disinterested, detached, and apolitical. Science is about
“facts,” not morality, politics, or emotion. And yet, social science has
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flourished in this country precisely because it is used to solve moral, po-
litical, or emotional problems, so much so that historian Hamilton
Cravens has suggested it be redubbed “social technology.”29

If the corollary to technology is not “science” but “engineering,” the
corollary to social technology would be social engineering. Social engi-
neering has been embedded in the very professionalization of twentieth-
century American social science. Psychology is a useful example. For the
first half of the twentieth century, psychologists struggled to profession-
alize psychology by donning the mantle of natural science as objective
knowledge. This move, however, was made palatable to American society
by claims that the study of psychology could produce knowledge that
would be of great use in the efficient operation of society. In other words,
the professionalization of psychology in the United States was premised
on the utility of psychology to cure various social ills, while simultane-
ously establishing itself as an autonomous discipline modeled after the
natural sciences.30

The involvement of social scientists in the Brown litigation is a partic-
ularly appropriate vehicle to explore issues surrounding social engineer-
ing in the social sciences, because it is often seen as the ultimate expres-
sion of one side of the equation—historian Walter Jackson argued that
the involvement of social scientists in Brown meant that “the days in
which social scientists vied with each other to establish their objectivity
by distancing themselves from public controversy were clearly over.”31

The citation of social science in a Supreme Court opinion was the result
of a decade-long effort by social scientists to become, in their own
words, “social engineers.” Because it is often seen as such a pure expres-
sion of activist social science, the Brown case offers a unique showcase
for the mechanisms by which social scientists took their science and
used it to reshape U.S. society into what they saw as a more democratic
and egalitarian one. In particular, by tracing the activities of this partic-
ular group of social scientists, we can see how they translated their polit-
ical and ethical beliefs into social science and their social science into so-
cial action.

Between 1945 and 1950, social scientists proclaimed themselves social
engineers, especially in the area of race prejudice. New organizations gave
social scientists new opportunities to study racial prejudice, to recom-
mend methods for combating it, and to work with policymakers and at-
torneys to enact their recommendations. This work included involving
social scientists in court cases as expert witnesses as well as calling for re-
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search designed for use in court cases. Social scientists had demonstrated
their usefulness to civil rights attorneys by the time the trials of the four
cases of the Brown campaign started in 1951.

The work in Brown is far from unproblematic when considered as so-
cial engineering. Social scientists’ public pronouncements about the ar-
rival of social engineering masked an ongoing project to define the
proper use of social-scientific knowledge. The social scientists were aware
that their credibility as experts was predicated on presenting “objective,
scientific” evidence. Yet their objectivity could be called into question be-
cause of their close involvement with the partisan issue of school deseg-
regation.

The tension between objectivity and advocacy was not an abstract
problem; it was a very real problem that arose out of the experiences of
social scientists in the litigation. The opposing side in the litigation, as
well as commentators on the litigation, leveled charges that the social sci-
entists were merely dressing up their political and social choices in scien-
tific garb. Each time such a charge was made, the response from the social
scientists was the same: to claim that they were detached and uninter-
ested investigators presenting the latest scientific findings on race rela-
tions. Any charges of subjectivity were denied, sometimes vehemently.

Questions about objectivity were not raised only by the opposing side
in the litigation but also by the social scientists themselves. The social sci-
entists constantly struggled to define how they could be objective scien-
tists in the context of their work with the legal team. Different views of
the proper role of scientific knowledge can be seen at certain points of
the litigation—during the recruitment of social scientists as expert wit-
nesses, in the drafting of legal briefs submitted for the appeals process,
during the campaign to gain signatures for those appellate briefs, in the
defense of the social science quoted in the first Brown opinion, during the
work done for the Brown II in 1955, and during the attempt to establish
the Committee of Social Science Consultants within the NAACP-LDEF.
The community of social scientists involved in the litigation debated the
proper role of social science in public controversy at each of these points.
To justify their actions as appropriate for scientists qua scientists, they
drew the mantle of objectivity around themselves and embraced the
rhetoric of value-free and neutral social science.

The responsible social scientist, the social scientists themselves argued,
owed his or her first allegiance to science, and only secondary allegiance
to a particular social policy. But in making such a move toward science,
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Clark and his colleagues also ensured that their scientific credibility could
be used by the NAACP-LDEF to fight for the very social policy that the
social scientists desired. It is impossible to separate out the advocacy
from the objectivity in their actions.

Organization of the Book

This book is organized into four sections. Part I, “Background,” examines
two eras of social-scientific thinking about race. These chapters explore
how scientists came to study race prejudice as a scientifically interesting
topic. Chapter 2 traces the development of a new, racially egalitarian so-
cial science that began in the 1920s and 1930s. During the 1930s, new ex-
planations for racial differences and new ways of examining racial atti-
tudes reshaped the social-scientific concepts of race. Explanations of
racial differences that argued for the existence of innate racial character-
istics were largely displaced by cultural explanations for racial differ-
ences. The acceptance of cultural differences made a racially egalitarian
social science possible. Many of the social scientists in the Brown litiga-
tion were leaders in the drive for a racially egalitarian social science.
Chapter 3 looks at the effect of World War II on the social-scientific com-
munity. The war gave social science unprecedented access to policymak-
ers, making social scientists believe that they could be social engineers.
The one aspect of society that they felt needed their attention the most
was “intergroup relations” or race relations. Their war work made social
scientists believe that they could use their knowledge to reduce or elimi-
nate racial prejudice.

Part II, “Forging the Alliance,” examines the specific mechanisms by
which social scientists became involved in the legal process. This involve-
ment in the legal process explains how they established themselves as ex-
perts on race prejudice in the larger society. Chapter 4 traces how social
scientists’ wartime concerns for eliminating race prejudice found expres-
sion in the American Jewish Congress’s new organization, the Commis-
sion on Community Interrelations (CCI). CCI brought social scientists
into contact with the legal culture, specifically with a group of attorneys
who were interested in using social-scientific data in civil rights cases.
Chapter 5 shows how social scientists and general use of social science
were adopted by the NAACP Legal Defense and Education Fund’s
(LDEF) campaign to desegregate graduate schools.
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Part III, “Brown Litigation,” examines how social scientists became di-
rectly involved in the campaign to desegregate public schools. At each
stage of the litigation, scientists constantly had to guard against the per-
ception that they were advocates rather than objective scientists. Chap-
ters 5 and 6 start at the trial level of the litigation. There were four trials
in the school segregation cases. Social science played an increased role in
each successive trial. In Briggs, the first trial, social science was evident in
only a few dozen pages of testimony for the plaintiffs. In Davis, the fourth
trial, the social science testimony ran to hundreds of pages, as each side
called expert witnesses. I focus on the recruitment of these social scien-
tists and the arguments they offered in testimony.

Chapters 8 and 9 look at the role social scientists played at the appel-
late level of the litigation. Social scientists wrote briefs for submission to
the Supreme Court. I focus on the drafting of these briefs, the nature of
the argument presented, and the campaign to collect signatures for the
briefs. There was significant controversy within the social science com-
munity over these briefs and over the proper role of social science in the
legal arena. I explain how these controversies were resolved.

Part IV, “Dissolution,” looks at the failure of the LDEF and the social
scientists to formalize their relationship within the Committee of Social
Science Consultants (CSSC). The CSSC was meant to be a formal body of
social scientists that would work under the auspices of the LDEF. The
CSSC was not able to obtain funding for their work, and by 1957, social
scientists were so chary of the LDEF that they hesitated to be connected
with the organization.
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p a r t  i

Background





The Study of Race between 

the Wars

Between World War I and World War II, anthropologists, ge-
neticists, sociologists, and psychologists reconceptualized the study of
race. To put the matter simply: at the end of World War I, most scientists
were convinced that race was a useful scientific concept and that the races
could be placed in a fairly firm racial hierarchy, with whites on top and
“Negroes” on the bottom. By World War II, most scientists had aban-
doned these views. A strong contingent of cultural anthropologists ar-
gued that race was a useless scientific construct. Psychologists, for the
most part, abandoned the notion that there were innate intellectual dif-
ferences between different “races” and turned their attention to the study
of “race prejudice.”

The reasons for this shift in scientific thinking are complex and a mat-
ter of some historical dispute. On the one hand, the shift in scientific
thinking regarding race coincided with social changes such as American
revulsion with Nazi race doctrines in the 1930s and the entry of minority
group members, primarily American Jews, into social-scientific ranks,
leading some historians to argue that the shift could not have been
caused by new scientific data. On the other hand, other historians have
found that deep scientific flaws in the older, white supremacist scientific
program led to its collapse.1

In a carefully nuanced argument, Graham Richards has suggested that
both accounts are correct: scientific racism’s demise can be traced back
both to its scientific failings and to a changing social world. The older
school of thought simply failed to provide the analytical tools necessary
for it to cope with a host of new social problems in the United States. I
think that Richard’s account is essentially correct, and I hope to follow his
model in this chapter.2

This chapter sketches the basic contours of this shift in scientific
thinking. My survey is necessarily selective and focuses on how aspects of

2

17



the emerging “scientific antiracism” of the 1920s and 1930s set the stage
for the transformation of social scientists into antiracist social advocates
after World War II. Once scientists rejected the notion of essential racial
differences, new forms of scientific research were needed to answer ques-
tions that arose because of that rejection. If the races were not “naturally”
different and unequal, why were African Americans so despised in Amer-
ican society? Why did they experience such high crime rates, illiteracy
rates, and other forms of “social pathology? These were the sorts of ques-
tions that social scientists were seeking to answer during these decades.3

Four basic strands of research embodied this fundamental rethinking
of race by social scientists. First, social scientists began using the anthro-
pological concept of “culture” to debunk the notion of innate superiority
of the white race. Second, social scientists began conceptualizing “race
prejudice” as a fundamentally irrational attitude. Third, social scientists
began investigating the origins of racial attitudes in children in an at-
tempt to prove that racial attitudes were not “natural kinds” but rather
learned behaviors. Fourth, social scientists began sociological investiga-
tions of African American culture in order to investigate the “social
pathology” of African Americans. To begin the story, it is necessary to un-
derstand the revolution in anthropology fomented by Franz Boas and his
students at Columbia University.

The Rise of Culture

Franz Boas (1858–1942) received his doctorate in physics with a minor in
geography in 1881 in Germany. Following a brief career as a geographer,
Boas became interested in anthropology after a cartographic expedition
to Baffinland in 1883. Soon after that, he emigrated to the United States
and was appointed to the anthropology faculty of Columbia University in
1896, just as anthropology was beginning to establish itself as an acade-
mic discipline. During the first third of the twentieth century, Boas
trained an entire cadre of professional anthropologists who came to
dominate the newly formed departments of anthropology. Among Boas’s
students were some of the most prominent names in twentieth-century
anthropology: Alfred L. Kroeber, Edward Sapir, Robert Lowie, Melville
Herskovits, Ruth Benedict, Margaret Mead, and Jules Henry. Many of
Boas’s students were Jewish, some were African American, and many
were women. These groups were perhaps more sensitive to racial and sex-
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ist oppression than the WASP males who previously had made their acad-
emy their exclusive domain.4

Boas came to the United States for a variety of reasons, but a signifi-
cant one was the anti-Semitism in Germany, which limited career oppor-
tunities for a Jew there. By the time he acquired the Columbia position,
Boas was a confirmed race egalitarian, both scientifically and politically.
His own experiences with anti-Semitism and his observations of Eskimo
life during his trip to the Arctic had convinced him of the importance of
treating individuals as such, rather than as members of a group or “race.”5

In a series of works between 1894 and his death in 1942, Boas argued
that race, language, and culture should be considered three separate cate-
gories of analysis. Race should be viewed strictly as a biological unit and
not linked to social or cultural traits. This separation resulted in what Au-
drey Smedley has characterized as a “radical transformation of the mean-
ing of race,” since “physical and cultural-behavioral elements had been
cognitively and integrally fused in the term from its origin.” According to
Boas, race should denote only specific physical features, rather than men-
tal or moral ones. Moreover, those physical features were not fixed. Boas’s
work in physical anthropology showed that physical types could be
changed within one generation, which indicated that race was a far more
fluid concept than previously believed.6

Boas’s denial that behavioral traits were “racial” in nature called forth
new explanations for human behavior. It was “culture,” not “race,” that
could be used to explain people’s mental or moral characteristics. Boas
never fully synthesized his scientific views relating to culture. It fell to his
students to fully explicate the culture concept. Kroeber, Mead, Benedict,
and other former students popularized cultural explanations for human
behavior, not only in anthropology but also in sociology, history, and the
popular press. By the 1930s, the culture concept had penetrated the other
social sciences, essentially replacing the older, racial explanations for dif-
ferences in human behavior.7

Perhaps as innovative as Boas, although ultimately less influential, was
the pioneering work of African American scholar and activist W. E. B.
Du Bois. The first African American to receive a Ph.D. from Harvard
University, Dubois had argued early and often for the separation of race
and culture. His work The Philadelphia Negro (1896) was one of the first
sociological studies that did not resort to crude racial stereotypes to ex-
plain African American life. While Boas enjoyed his position at Colum-
bia in New York, Du Bois struggled along at the impoverished Atlanta
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University where he continued his study of “the American Negro.” Du
Bois’s work would be slighted by his white contemporaries (though not
by Boas and many of his students) because it was widely believed that Ne-
groes could not be objective about the status of “their people.” (The white
scholars who came to this determination did not see their vested interest
in perpetuating a racist society as compromising their own objectivity.)
By 1910, Du Bois realized the limitations of what he could accomplish as
a scholar and left the academy to become the director of publicity and re-
search at a new organization he had helped found: the National Associa-
tion for the Advancement of Colored People.8

Separating Intelligence from Race

Of particular importance for subsequent social-scientific developments
was the use of culture as an explanatory mechanism for group differences
in intelligence. A central component of racist ideology in the United
States was that there were significant intellectual differences between
whites and African Americans. African Americans had long argued
against their own intellectual inferiority, both in the public as well as the
in scientific realm.

During the 1920s and 1930s, African American scholars took to the
journals to dispute the notion that intelligence was distributed dispro-
portionately between the white and black races. These scholars, like Du
Bois, often held posts at segregated colleges and universities and lacked
the prestigious academic homes of their white counterparts. Nonetheless,
scholars such as Horace Mann Bond of Langston University and Howard
Hale Long at Paine College in Georgia wrote a series of articles criticizing
the use of IQ tests to prove the innate inferiority of African Americans.9

The efforts of African American social scientists to debunk the race-IQ
link notwithstanding, the most famous attack on the concept was that of
Otto Klineberg (1899–1992). Klineberg was born in Quebec, Canada, and
received a B.A. and an M.D. at McGill University in Montreal. After earn-
ing a master’s degree in philosophy from Harvard, he earned his Ph.D. in
psychology at Columbia University in 1927.10 While pursuing his Ph.D.,
Klineberg sat in on anthropology courses offered by Franz Boas, which,
he claimed, affected him “somewhat like a religious conversion. How
could psychologists speak of human attributes and human behavior when
they knew of only one kind of human being? . . . What would our field be
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like if the books had been written by Hottentots or Eskimos rather than
by Europeans and Americans?”11 Klineberg was convinced that most of
the racial differences reported by psychologists and other social scientists
were, in fact, cultural differences.

Indeed, the title of his dissertation, in its use of quotation marks, sig-
naled Klineberg’s suspicion of the very notion of race: “An Experimental
Study of Speed and Other Factors in ‘Racial’ Differences.” Here he argued
that all psychological tests that claimed to measure intelligence were cul-
turally biased, because previous studies that compared different racial
groups failed to control for all aspects of a child’s educational experience;
while these studies focused on “schooling,” they ignored a more impor-
tant part of a child’s education, “what the anthropologists call culture,
which includes all the customs and conventions, all the habits of thought
and action shared by the community.”12

Klineberg administered a standard intelligence test to Yakima Indian
children at two different locations, African American children in two lo-
cations, and white children in three locations.13 Klineberg noted that the
white children consistently outperformed the Yakima and African Ameri-
can children on the completion of a given set of tasks in a given period of
time. He explained the performance of the Yakima children, however, by
pointing out that they completely ignored any time constraints and
moved at whatever speed they deemed comfortable. As Klineberg later re-
counted, “No matter how often I repeated or emphasized the words ‘as
quickly as possible,’ they paid no attention.”14 A similar situation was
found for the African American children. Once the time variable was re-
moved from the analysis, the Yakima and African American children did
better than the white children. Klineberg maintained that “speed” was a
cultural concept, and in the Yakima culture, it is not valued as it is in
white culture. Hence, argued Klineberg, even a seemingly neutral test,
such as how quickly a subject completes a given task, was inevitably
bound to culture. Klineberg concluded, “The use of speed alone or errors
alone as a criterion of excellence may be unfair to one group. The former
criterion is particularly unfair to groups which have not been accustomed
to hurry.”15

After he completed his dissertation in 1928, Klineberg joined the Co-
lumbia Psychology Department, where he continued arguing for the im-
portance of culture and environment to explain racial differences. In
1935, he took on one of the prizes of those who argued for innate racial
differences: the “selective migration” thesis.
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In the 1930s, most social scientists were aware that African Americans
living in the North consistently outperformed those who lived in the
South on IQ tests. Those social scientists who believed that innate racial
differences in intelligence had a ready explanation: northern African
Americans were a self-selected group. Aware that the North offered better
opportunities than the South, the most intelligent and energetic of
southern African Americans migrated north. Hence, the better results of
northern African Americans on IQ tests owed to this “selective migra-
tion” of the best African American stock, and not to the better social and
educational environment offered by the North. Klineberg came to the op-
posite conclusion: that there was no reason to attribute superior perfor-
mance of northern African Americans to anything but their superior en-
vironment.

Klineberg examined a variety of school records of children who had
moved north and children who had stayed in the South and found “no
evidence of selective migration.” He concluded, “The school records of
those who migrated did not demonstrate any superiority over those who
remained behind. The intelligence tests showed no superiority of recent
arrivals in the North over those of the same age and sex who were still in
the southern cities.” Klineberg did admit, however, that the African
American children in the North still lagged behind white children, but
this, too, could be explained through environmental factors. As Klineberg
noted, “The final and crucial comparison could only be made in a society
in which the Negro lived on terms of complete equality with white, and
where he suffered not the slightest social, economic, or educational hand-
icap.” Such an experiment, given the social and political standing of
African Americans in the 1930s, would clearly have been impossible.16

By the time Klineberg published his seminal piece on selective migra-
tion, the entire notion of innate racial differences in intelligence had
fallen into disrepute. For example, in a 1925 survey of the entire field of
“race psychology,” a graduate classmate of Klineberg and the leading
“race psychologist” of his day, Thomas R. Garth, noted, “These studies
taken all together seem to indicate the mental superiority of the white
race.”17 Just six years later, however, Garth was much less sanguine about
what intelligence tests meant. He concluded that “it is doubtful whether
or not the intelligence-test results of these groups [of Negroes, Mexicans,
and American Indians] are the true measures of their intelligence,” and
that it was “possible they cannot take the white man’s seriousness seri-
ously” when asked to complete an intelligence test.18
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By 1935, the tide had turned against those who argued for innate racial
differences. Indeed, some notable social scientists of the previous genera-
tion, notably Carl Brigham, had recanted their earlier racial claims.19

While not all social scientists were as firmly egalitarian as Klineberg, as a
group, social scientists were at least committed to the notion that psycho-
logical tests were much more problematic than previously believed.20

Abandoning notions of racial superiority/inferiority led scientists to
seek out new explanations for racial antipathy. Antagonism between the
races was easy for social scientists to explain if the races were fundamen-
tally different. If the races were essentially the same, however, how could
social scientists account for racial hostility? To answer this question, sci-
entists turned their attention to the study of racial attitudes, in particular,
of racial prejudice.

The Study of Race Prejudice

In the interwar years, the study of race prejudice underwent a shift nearly
as profound as that regarding innate racial differences: from a rational re-
sponse to a changing social world to an irrational attitude with no firm
basis in reality.

Some of the first measurements of racial antagonism came from the
“Chicago School” of sociology.21 During the 1920s, University of Chicago
sociologist Robert Park developed the “race-relations cycle” model to ex-
plain the dynamics of racial change. Park viewed race prejudice as one
part of this larger cycle of assimilation of minority groups into the larger
society. As minority groups strove to increase their status within a society,
the majority group reacted against what they perceived as a threat to their
higher status. One aspect of this reaction was race prejudice, which Park
viewed as a relatively benign method to maintain the “social distance” be-
tween different groups in society. Park wrote, “Prejudice is on the whole
not an aggressive but a conservative force; a sort of spontaneous conser-
vation which tends to preserve the social order and the social distances
upon which that order rests.”22

While Park’s theories regarding the nature of racial prejudice may
never have been as widely accepted as he wished, he was still one of the
most influential thinkers on race relations before World War II.23 His so-
ciology department trained many of the more prestigious race-relations
researchers.24 One of these students was Emory Bogardus, who was one
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of the first researchers to attempt to quantify Park’s theories on social
distance.

After Bogardus received his Ph.D. from the University of Chicago in
sociology in 1911, he joined the Sociology Department at the University
of Southern California. Bogardus asked 248 of his students to rank the
degree of “racial antipathy” felt for thirty-six ethnic groups, “putting first
those races toward which the greatest degree of friendliness was felt, and
the others in order.”25 White students found African Americans to be the
second most objectionable group, trailed only by Turks.

In a subsequent study, Bogardus had test subjects rank-order different
ethnic groups on a “social distance/social contact” scale. For each ethnic
group, the respondent had to answer if he or she would accept the ethnic
minority as a member of a select group. The groups ranged in intimacy
from “Close kinship by marriage” and “To my club as personal chums” to
“Visitors only to my country.” On this scale, African Americans ranked
the third least desirable, behind “Mulattos” and, once again, Turks.26

Bogardus, like Park, saw race prejudice as a benign force that served to
preserve the present social order. As a sociologist, Bogardus wanted to use
the results of his social distance scales to chart various social relations
and interactions. When psychologists began measuring race prejudice
they were interested in different aspects of the problem such as how race
prejudice developed or its effect on the personality. Additionally, psychol-
ogists wanted to know how race prejudice could be reduced. This was a
question that could not be posed by Park and his students: for them, the
race-relations cycle followed a natural progression and was immune to
any attempts to modify it. Psychologists were not wedded to the concept
that race prejudice was an immutable part of the race-relations cycle.

Goodwin Watson was one of the first psychologists to attempt to mea-
sure racial prejudice, in his Ph.D. dissertation at Columbia Teacher’s Col-
lege in 1925, the same year that Bogardus published his studies on social
distance. Watson (1899–1976) was a minister in the Methodist Episcopal
Church and a student at the Union Theological Seminary (UTS), located
near Columbia University. During the 1920s and 1930s, the leaders of
UTS were teaching the “social gospel,” which maintained that spiritual
equality was the core of Christianity and that political and economic
democracy were necessary for all to lead a Christian life. Some conserva-
tive theologians referred to UTS as the “Red Seminary” because its social-
istic teachings were viewed as playing into the hands of Communists and
radicals. Watson was deeply influenced by the social gospel’s call to work
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for political and economic equality. It was the democratic ethos of UTS
that led Watson to believe psychology was a better means than preaching
to achieve the goals of Christianity, and he completed his dissertation in
educational psychology in 1925.27

Watson’s concern for political equality informed the shape of his sci-
entific work. In his dissertation, Watson proposed to use psychological
tests to measure something other than “intelligence or practical skills.”
Watson proposed to measure those “attitudes which are considered most
desirable by a considerable group of religious educators . . . called vari-
ously, Open-Mindedness, Freedom from Prejudice, Scientific-Minded-
ness, and Fair-Mindedness.”28 While Watson’s tests were designed to mea-
sure a number of attitudes, one measured what would later be considered
“race prejudice.” This test asked if the individual being tested had a ten-
dency “to say that all Jews would cheat, . . . that all Roman Catholics are
superstitious or that none of them are, and so on—attributing to all the
members of a group characteristics which are true of only part of the
group.”29 In Watson’s tests of race prejudice, the subjects were also asked
how strongly they agreed with statements such as “Colored people should
go to schools, hotels, theatres, etc., patronized exclusively by colored peo-
ple, thus preventing some inter-racial contact,” and “‘Pure blooded’
members of a race are superior to those of mixed stock.”30

Although not necessarily rational, Watson did assume that race prejudice
arose out of some real-world experience: specifically, from unfriendly en-
counters with members of the race in question. He argued, “It has been
rather clearly demonstrated by the testimony of a number of individuals
that they acquired some of the race-prejudice in a single instance, or two,
and afterwards reacted to all members of the race in terms of the condition-
ing of the single experience.31 Watson administered his test of racial preju-
dice before and after classes in tolerance to see if he could discover the best
methods for reducing prejudice. This contrasted with the earlier sociologi-
cal thinkers, who saw race prejudice as an inevitable part of the process of
assimilation; Watson thought that race prejudice was socially undesirable
and needed to be reduced or, if possible, eliminated.

The contrast between the sociological and psychological view of race
prejudice was even sharper in the work of Floyd Allport, one of the first
experiment-oriented social psychologists. Allport (1890–1978) received
his Ph.D. in experimental psychology from Harvard in 1919, under the
direction of Hugo Münsterberg. After a year’s instructorship at Harvard
and two years at the University of North Carolina, he arrived at Syracuse
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University to establish the first Ph.D. program in social psychology in the
United States. Allport was trained in the behaviorist tradition at Harvard
and rebelled against what he perceived as the “fallacy of the group mind,”
as portrayed by sociologists and some social psychologists. He put forth
his views in one of the first textbooks in social psychology, published in
1924, where he argued that psychology was the study of behavior and
consciousness, and that the only unit that possessed these characteristics
was the individual, not the group.32

In the early 1920s, the contrast between the psychological and socio-
logical approaches to the study of attitude was underscored by a public
feud between Allport and Bogardus on the proper role of the individual
and the group in social-scientific research. The two approaches to re-
search are illustrated by the two researchers different uses of opinion re-
search. Bogardus, as we have seen, relied on self-reported behaviors—that
is, respondents were required to report what they would do in a given sit-
uation. This information was then used to discover information about
community structures and movements of groups in society. In contrast,
Allport’s scale provided insight into the respondent’s attitudes by means
of their stated opinions on a host of subjects. These opinions were then
independently analyzed for their relationships to personality traits.33

The different approach to race prejudice can be seen in Students’ Atti-
tudes, a book-length monograph on the measurement of students’ attitudes
published in 1931. The book was a project that grew out of a dissertation by
Daniel Katz, Allport’s first Ph.D. student at Syracuse University.34 In one sec-
tion of the book, the authors measured students’ “snobbishness.” Students
were asked if they admitted certain groups into their fraternities or rooming
houses. African Americans ranked last, below anarchists, Bolshevists, Japan-
ese, Hindus, and Turks. Katz and Allport noted, “Only 5 percent of 3,408
Syracuse students checked Negroes; and since this 5 percent probably in-
cludes the Negroes on the campus, it follows that only a very small faction of
white students are willing to live with Negroes.”35

Allport did not undertake further work into race prejudice; but two
years after the published results of the Syracuse study, Katz, who had
moved to Princeton, published one of the first attempts to measure
stereotypes and their effect on racial prejudice. With his student Kenneth
Braly, he had subjects match a list of adjectives to a list of ethnic minori-
ties. Once again, African Americans fared the worst, along with Turks.

An important aspect of Katz and Braly’s work is that they defined race
prejudice as a matter of stereotypes rather than as a reasoned response to
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any real attribute shared by the members of a group: these “attitudes to-
ward racial and national groups,” Katz and Braly argued, “are stereotypes
of our cultural pattern and are not based upon animosity toward a
member of a proscribed group because of any genuine qualities that in-
here in him.”36 In other words, Katz and Braly assumed that prejudice
was inherently irrational, because no group’s members could possibly
share all traits.

Social-scientific thinking about race prejudice had now undergone a
complete shift in its stance regarding the rationality of race prejudice.
Robert Park and Emory Bogardus claimed that race prejudice was a ra-
tional response to the social mobility of minority groups. Goodwin Wat-
son, in his early study, assumed that prejudice flowed from unfortunate
contact with individuals of a given group—perhaps not as rational a re-
sponse as Park had assumed but with at least some basis in actual experi-
ence. For Katz and Braly, however, people were prejudiced toward an en-
tire group based merely on the cultural stereotypes of that group, rather
than on any experiences of the prejudiced individual. In a second study
two years later, Katz and Braly defined “racial prejudice” as “a generalized
set of stereotypes of a high degree of consistency which includes emo-
tional responses to race names, a belief in typical characteristics associ-
ated with race names, and an evaluation of such typical traits.”37 By 1935,
the study of attitudes had taken over social psychology in general, and the
study of racial attitudes, specifically race prejudice, came to be widely ac-
cepted. Prejudice was, in essence, a psychological phenomenon—basically,
a problem with people’s internal mental states.38

Katz and Braly had posited that the origin of race prejudice had to do
with matters of racial stereotypes. Yet the origins of racial attitudes were
poorly understood. When did racial attitudes begin in an individual’s
personality? Indeed, when did individuals even become aware of the con-
cept of “race”? To answer these questions, psychologists began investigat-
ing the development of racial attitudes in children, in order to discover
just how society transmitted racial thinking to the next generation.

The Influence of Columbia University

Many of the psychologists who were trained at Columbia were the stu-
dents of Gardner Murphy (1895–1966). Murphy was an original contrib-
utor to several areas of psychology, perhaps best known for his postwar
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concept of the “biosocial theory of personality,” which served to integrate
the many strands of psychological thought regarding personality. During
the interwar period, Murphy wrote one of the first books on the history
of psychology and was instrumental in establishing the professional orga-
nization of social psychology. Further, as we shall see, Murphy was im-
portant as a teacher of graduate students, directing dozens of Ph.D. dis-
sertations.39

In many ways, Gardner Murphy’s life had paralleled that of Goodwin
Watson. Murphy was the son of a Methodist Episcopal preacher and as a
young man had planned to become a missionary. As an undergraduate at
Yale, Murphy began questioning his religious beliefs as he found them
challenged by scientific findings. He continued to struggle with theologi-
cal questions while receiving a master’s degree in psychology from Har-
vard. After brief service in World War I, Murphy came to New York City
to pursue his doctoral studies in psychology at Columbia. While studying
at the university, he took classes at UTS. Like Watson, Murphy became
convinced that the “social gospel” was a way to serve both “God and
man.” His subsequent career would reflect UTS’s call to build a just and
equitable society.40

Murphy and Watson were only two of several psychology students to
be influenced by the social gospel as taught “across the street” at UTS.41

Lois Barclay was also a student there, taking classes so she could teach
comparative religion. By the time Barclay arrived at UTS, Murphy was al-
ready on Columbia’s faculty, and one of his student’s introduced them.
They were married in 1926. After getting her degree from UTS in 1928,
Lois Murphy entered Columbia Teacher’s College program to get a Ph.D.
in educational psychology.42

Gardner Murphy received his Ph.D. in psychology from Columbia in
1923 and remained on faculty there until 1940. In 1924, Robert Wood-
worth asked Murphy to take over teaching Woodworth’s seminar in social
psychology, and Murphy’s interest in the field began to grow from that
time onward.43 In 1931, Gardner Murphy and Lois Barclay Murphy sur-
veyed all the available research on racial attitudes in their book Experi-
mental Social Psychology and concluded, “The crying need for research on
Negro-white antagonisms has, so far as we have discovered, resulted, as
yet, in very little exact research.”44 Very soon after the Murphys wrote
these words, the psychological study of racial attitudes would take off—
for example, in the work of Katz and Braly. More work was to follow,
much of it directed by Gardner Murphy himself. Murphy worked with a
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number of graduate students at Columbia, concentrating on attitude
studies and propaganda studies, in the hopes of providing the “exact re-
search” he and Lois Murphy wanted.45

“Exact research,” however, did not necessarily mean the isolation of in-
dependent variables in an experimental setting. Social psychology of the
1930s was marked by a variety of methodological outlooks, many of
which rejected the sterility of laboratory experimentation. Not until the
1960s did experimentation come to dominate social psychology. The
training and outlook of the social psychologists involved in Brown were
very different from the experimental reliance of their successors.46

Origins of Race Prejudice

Early studies of racial attitudes—for example, those of Goodwin Watson
and Daniel Katz—had focused on adult populations in an attempt to
measure the existence of race prejudice. Eugene Horowitz, in the disserta-
tion he completed under the direction of Gardner Murphy in 1936, had a
different end in mind. Horowitz studied young children to see if he could
understand the genesis of race prejudice. One of Horowitz’s main objec-
tives was to show that race prejudice was a learned behavior and not in-
grained in humans at birth.47

There had been some earlier attempts to prove that race prejudice was
a learned behavior. One of the earliest studies on this question was Bruno
Lasker’s Race Attitudes in Children, published in 1929. Lasker found that
children could develop racial hostility toward members of “outgroups” as
early as five or six years old. The variations in how children acquired
racial attitudes led Lasker to reject an inborn instinct to react against
members of another race. Lasker wrote that he could “dogmatically assert
that there can be no such inborn trait, and that all the observed responses
are the results of acquired habits.”48

Lasker’s work was not systematic, and in his dissertation, Horowitz
dismissed it as “a collection of anecdotes and incidental observations.” By
contrast, Horowitz claimed he would “study, in an objective fashion the
development in white children of attitudes towards the Negroes.”49 To do
so, Horowitz examined the racial attitudes of “several hundred boys in
New York City, in an all-white school (with a retest after six months) and
in one grade in a mixed school, and in a small group of Communist chil-
dren; in urban Tennessee; and in urban and rural Georgia.”50
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One of the tests Horowitz administered was dubbed a “Show Me” test.
The children—all boys, to prevent complications arising from gender pref-
erences—were required to rank, in order of preference, a group of pho-
tographs of both white and African American children. They then were re-
quired to answer a group of questions about those photographs: for exam-
ple, “Show me all those you want to sit next to on a street car” or “Show me
all those that you want to be in your class at school.”51 The results of these
tests showed equal degrees of prejudice in northern and southern white
boys and in segregated and racially mixed groups. The only group who
showed no race prejudice at all was the small group of children raised in a
Communist commune in New York City. Horowitz concluded that the “so-
cial forces” that gave rise to prejudice operated with equal efficiency in the
North and South, but that they “do not, however, penetrate, or are neglected
by, the training given to the Communist-trained children.” His conclusion
was similar to that of Katz and Braly: “It seems that attitudes toward Ne-
groes are now chiefly determined not by contact with Negroes, but by con-
tact with the prevalent attitude toward Negroes.”52

Horowitz was interested in the racial attitudes of white children; how-
ever, his sample included a small number of African American children. He
noted that the African American children often identified themselves as
white, and he concluded, “Negro boys in the mixed school gave evidence of
having accepted, in part, the standards of the white (majority) group.”53 But
it was Ruth Horowitz who took up the issue suggested by her husband’s
conclusion regarding African American children. Where Eugene was inter-
ested in discovering racial preference, Ruth was interested in discovering
when children were aware of race and of their own racial identity.

Racial Identity

Eugene Horowitz’s “Show Me” tests were designed for very young children
for whom paper-and-pencil tests would be inappropriate. The Show Me test
was one of a number of “projective techniques” coming into psychological
vogue at the time. In 1938, Ruth Horowitz and Lois Barclay Murphy pub-
lished an article on the use of “projective” techniques for “revealing con-
scious and unconscious layers of motivation and personality” of very young
children. Projective techniques were described as the use of toys, pictures,
dramatic presentations, and other “unstructured materials” that “invite
spontaneous projection of patterns of movement and feelings.”54
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In 1939, Ruth Horowitz published the first article on racial identity in
children that used projective methodologies. Her sample consisted of
twenty-four nursery-school children in New York City. Horowitz admin-
istered two sets of tests to the children. In the first, the “choice tests,” chil-
dren were shown two pictures and asked, “Which one is you? Which one
is _____?” filling in the child’s name. In the second test, the “portrait se-
ries,” each child was shown ten pictures in succession. At each picture, the
children were asked, “Is this you? Is this ______?”

The two techniques employed gave different results. In the choice test,
66 percent of the African American children made a correct identifica-
tion, compared to only 40 percent of the white children. On the portrait
test, 66 percent of the African American boys made an incorrect identifi-
cation. Horowitz offered one possible explanation for the incorrect iden-
tification as “wishful activity” or a desire to be white. Given the extremely
small sample size, Horowitz recognized that the findings were far from
conclusive.55 Indeed, as William Cross has subsequently shown, the num-
ber of African American boys making the incorrect racial identification
could have been no more than two out of a total of three.56

Soon after the Horowitzes completed their studies of racial attitudes,
they caught the attention of a young graduate student at Columbia. Ken-
neth B. Clark, only recently arrived at Columbia, introduced his wife,
Mamie Phipps Clark, to the Horowitzes in 1939.57 Soon the Clarks would
embark on efforts to expand on what the Horowitzes had done by greatly
increasing the number of African American children in the sample

Kenneth Bancroft Clark was born in the Panama Canal Zone in 1914.
When he was seven years old, his mother moved her family to New York
City. After he graduated from high school, Clark enrolled in the pre-med-
ical program at Howard University in 1929.58 During his sophomore year,
Clark took a psychology course from Francis Cecil Sumner. Sumner had
been trained at Clark University by G. Stanley Hall, one of the founders
of American psychology. Although Sumner was a brilliant student, few
universities would hire an African American professor, and after a series
of temporary appointments, he became the chair of the Psychology De-
partment at Howard. Sumner quickly made Howard’s Psychology De-
partment a place of rigorous and disciplined study and one of the most
respected programs at Howard.59

Sumner’s psychology course affected Clark much as Boas’s anthropol-
ogy course had affected Klineberg. Clark later recalled that he said to
himself, “To hell with medical school. This is the discipline for me.”60 He
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went on to receive his bachelor’s and master’s degrees in psychology at
Howard, under Sumner’s direction. Moreover, he convinced his fiancée to
consider psychology as well.

Mamie Phipps was born in 1917 in Hot Springs, Arkansas. She en-
rolled at Howard University at age sixteen, and there she met Kenneth
Clark. Soon he had convinced her not only to change her major from
mathematics and physics to psychology but also to marry him, which she
did in 1938. That summer she worked as a secretary in the law offices of
William Houston. Houston’s brother was Charles Hamilton Houston, the
dean of Howard Law School and the architect of the NAACP’s strategy
against segregated education. While she worked for William Houston,
Mamie Clark met William Hastie, Thurgood Marshall, and other lawyers
who were laying the foundations for the Brown decision.61

By the time they were married, Kenneth was in his first year of Ph.D.
work in Columbia’s Psychology Department, the first African American
to be enrolled in the department. One reason Clark had for choosing Co-
lumbia was the presence of Otto Klineberg. Klineberg had come to
Howard while Clark was a student there and had given a talk on his find-
ings on racial differences. At Columbia, Clark chose Klineberg as his
major adviser but also worked closely with Gardner Murphy.

It was at Columbia that Kenneth learned of the work the Horowitzes
had done. Knowing that Mamie was interested in the psychology of chil-
dren, he suggested that Mamie continue the Horowitzes work. She did so,
working in African American nurseries in Washington, D.C. The work
became her master’s thesis at Howard. She and Kenneth went on to pub-
lish three articles from the data set collected for her thesis.62

The Clarks’ subjects were 150 African American nursery-school chil-
dren in segregated schools. The children were shown three sets of line
drawings depicting white children, African American children, a hen, and
a clown and were asked, “Show me which one is you. Which one is
______?”63 Unlike Ruth Horowitz, who presented her data in an undif-
ferentiated mass, the Clarks attempted to control for more refined fac-
tors. In their first article based on this data set, the Clarks pointed out
how children’s choices were affected by their age:

The ratio of choices of the colored boy to choices of the white boy in-
creased with age in favor of the colored boy. Choices of the lion, dog,
clown, and hen were dropped off at the end of the three-year level, indicat-
ing a level of development in consciousness of self where identification of
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one’s self in terms of a distinct person rather than in terms of animals or
other characters.64

In their second article, the Clarks argued that skin color was not the
bifurcated “white or black” assumed by Horowitz. As in the first article,
where they divided their sample into age brackets, in their second article
the Clarks divided their sample according to complexions. They noted
that the children with dark complexions reasonably associated them-
selves with the “colored boy,” as did children with medium complexions;
however,

There would be . . . a definite incompatibility if the majority of light chil-
dren identified themselves with the drawings of the colored boy, hence the
persistence of their identifications with the white boy. It is obvious that
these children are not identifying on the basis of “race” because “race” is a
social concept which they learn at a higher stage of development. They are
however, definitely identifying on the basis of their own skin color which is
to them a concrete reality.65

In other words, in their interwar work the Clarks took exception to Ruth
Horowitz’s study that claimed young black children “wished” they were
white.

In the third and final article that emerged from this data set, the Clarks
compared the segregated children with other children in a “semi-segre-
gated” environment and a “mixed” environment. Their results demon-
strated that children in the racially mixed environment “appear to de-
velop a consciousness of self and concomitant racial identification at a
later chronological period than either the wholly segregated children or
the semi-segregated children.”66 As William Cross has noted, the Clarks
were “at a loss to interpret these results”; they seemed unaware that Eu-
gene Horowitz had described the exact same phenomenon in his doctoral
dissertation.67 The Clarks described the delay in racial identification as a
“retardation” in the development of children raised in a racially mixed
environment.

The studies published by Ruth Horowitz and the Clarks concerned
racial identity, and yet both Horowitz and the Clarks were concerned
about racial preference, or the “wishful thinking” postulated by Ruth
Horowitz in her original study. The next project that Kenneth and Mamie
Clark would embark on together set out to test the “wishful thinking” hy-
pothesis: did black boys and girls actually wish they were white? In 1940,
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a grant from the Julius Rosenwald Fund allowed Mamie Clark to enter
Columbia’s Ph.D. program in psychology and to gather another round of
data for a second series of articles. Throughout 1940, Kenneth set out to
collect data from selected northern and southern states, in order to deter-
mine the question of racial preference in African American children.68

World War II, however, delayed the effort, and the publication of this sec-
ond data set did not occur until after the war.

Before turning to these publications by the Clarks, we need to explore
one more facet of interwar social research. With the rejection of the as-
sumption of racial inferiority, a host of questions presented themselves.
As Graham Richards noted, “If innate differences were illusory, some
other approach to human cultural and psychological diversity was re-
quired.”69 The studies explored below attempted to provide those expla-
nations.

Social Pathology

A group of studies related to those of the Clarks and Ruth Horowitz
sought to determine the “social pathology” of African American culture
during the 1930s. These studies came from two separate research pro-
grams. First were studies conducted by researchers trained at the
Chicago School of sociology, notably by E. Franklin Frazier and Charles
S. Johnson. Second was a series of anthropological studies that viewed
race relations as a function of “caste and class.” This group of studies was
exemplified by the work of W. Lloyd Warner, John Dollard, and Allison
Davis. Both the sociological and the anthropological studies were well
represented by a series of books sponsored by the American Council on
Education.

In 1937, the American Council on Education (ACE) funded a series of
studies to determine the impact of racial discrimination on the personal-
ities of African American youth. The studies were designed to be interdis-
ciplinary examinations of African American children in various regions
of the United States, and as such, they reflected a new merging of sociol-
ogy, anthropology, and psychology in the study of race relations. For our
purposes, it is useful to focus on what sorts of “pathology” the re-
searchers found in African American communities and to what extent
that pathology could be traced back to the oppressive conditions of the
United States.70
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The first book published in the ACE series was by African American
sociologist Ira De Augustine Reid (1901–1968), who had long been direc-
tor of research and investigations for the National Urban League. In the
late 1930s, Reid was teaching in the sociology department of Atlanta Uni-
versity, which was headed by W. E. B. Du Bois.71 Reid’s ACE book was a
compilation of sociological data that was to be the keynote for the books
that would follow in the series. Reid argued, “Race may not dominate but
at least it throws its shadow across every phase of the Negro youth’s life in
the North and envelops every aspect of it in the South.” The problem of
race for these children, according to Reid, was a problem of their “outer
environment of social and economic problems and adjustments . . . but
also an inner environment of being Negro—which in the United States is
interpreted to mean inferior, impoverished, and inconvenienced.” Both
the inner and outer environment, Reid concluded, “determine the status
of Negroes [and] also create the Negro personality—a personality that
has had to develop in whatever way and to whatever extent it could
within the iron ring of race prejudice.”72 The books that followed Reid’s
study would explore how race prejudice affected the personalities of
African American children.

The first large-scale study that emerged after Reid’s keynote piece was
an anthropological study by Allison Davis and John Dollard. Allison
Davis was an African American anthropologist who was doing his doc-
toral work at the University of Chicago, where he later became a profes-
sor. John Dollard had a Ph.D. in anthropology from Chicago and was at
the Institute of Social Research at Yale University.

Davis and Dollard examined African American life through two
lenses—caste and class. Davis defined their approach as “the view that the
relationships of whites and Negroes in the South are systematically or-
dered and maintained by a caste structure, and that the status of individ-
uals within each of these groups is further determined by a system of so-
cial classes existing within each color-caste.”73 Davis and Dollard con-
ducted a series of “life history” interviews with 123 African American
families in New Orleans and Natchez, Louisiana.

In their results, Davis and Dollard reported that class, rather than
caste, was the more significant variable affecting the personality of
African American youth, because “social class governs a much wider area
of the child’s training than Negro-white controls.”74 Race, however, was
still an important variable affecting personality development.75 Davis
and Dollard reported that the caste into which the African American was
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forced had a marked influence on his or her personality. While Dollard
and Davis stopped short of arguing the presence of deep and lasting psy-
chological scars that owed to discrimination and segregation, they did
argue that the caste-ordered society of the South led to frustration and
aggression in African American youth. The common argument of the
white South, that African Americans were happy with the “caste controls”
imposed on them because they were “childlike beings with childlike
needs,” was a ruse to “prevent general human recognition of the basic de-
privations and frustrations which life in a lower caste involves. But it is
certain that the sting of caste is deep and sharp for most Negroes.”76

The linking of caste to frustration and aggression was one way in
which the ACE studies attempted to show the psychological damage that
discrimination inflicted on African American youth. A second way would
be to attempt to discover evidence of “self-hatred” in the children. Did
African American children wish to be white or accept white judgments
about the inferiority of African Americans? This was the question raised,
though not necessarily answered by, the Horowitzes and the Clarks in
their studies of children.

The third book in the ACE series provided a picture of African Ameri-
can youth adjusting as best they could to a life of racial discrimination.
Charles S. Johnson (1893–1956) was an African American who was one
of Robert W. Park’s prize sociology students at the University of Chicago.
He was named the director of the social sciences department at Fisk Uni-
versity in 1928, where he published a number of influential works on race
relations.77

For his ACE studies, Johnson conducted a series of tests of African
American youth in eight southern counties. One of the tests was designed
to determine to what degree African American youth “take over the ideas
of those very institutions which disparage their physical and mental
traits,” because “color concepts which stamp the race as innately inferior
are, in a vast number of cases, the source of deep emotional distur-
bance.”78 Johnson designed a test, administered to 2,241 African Ameri-
can rural children, in which

the individual was asked merely to check the color of (a) the most stupid
boy (or girl) you know, (b) the most handsome boy (or girl) you know, (c)
the smartest boy (or girl) you know, (d) the boy (or girl) you dislike most,
(e) the boy (or girl) you like best, and a list of 30 similar value judgments.79
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The color choice ranges were: black, dark brown, brown, light brown, yel-
low, and white.

Johnson found that the children tended to reject both extremes of
black and white and gravitate toward “light brown,” which led him to
postulate that African Americans were defining themselves as a new
“brown race.” In short, Johnson failed to find that African American
youth were indulging in “wishful thinking” and desired to be white. Only
4 percent of the tested children agreed with the statement “I wish I were
white.” Johnson explained:

The Negro community is built around the idea of adjustment to being a
Negro, and it rejects escape into the white world. Community opinion
builds up a picture of whites as a different kind of being, with whom one
associates but does not become intimate. Without much conscious in-
struction the child is taught that his first loyalties are to the Negro group.
. . . This doctrine is reinforced by stories of the meanness and cruelty of
white people. To wish to be white is a sacrifice of pride. It is equivalent to a
statement that Negroes are inferior and, consequently, that the youth him-
self is inferior.80

Because the African American youth would prefer not to associate with
whites, segregation was seen as a rather minor problem. Johnson wrote,
“Most youth feel that segregation imposes only minor deprivations. In
most cases the youth expressed themselves as preferring not to associate
with whites, and viewed their segregation with indifference.”81

Johnson’s position was consistent with his training at the University of
Chicago. The accommodation of minority groups striving to assimilate
into majority culture was a central component of Park’s race-relations
cycle. Johnson noted that the attitudes African American youths held to-
ward segregation were a good example of the psychological adjustment
that discrimination necessitated. One area of society in which the African
American children failed to adjust adequately, however, was in the school
system of the South, with its radically inequitable distribution of re-
sources between the two segregated school systems. Johnson observed
that southern African American families were devoted to education and
attempted to persevere in the education of their children in the face of
the terribly underfunded, segregated school system of the South. He ex-
plained that the pressure to get a good education in the face of woe-
fully inadequate schools “has developed in many instances misshapen
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personalities which, to the casual and busy school administrator, some-
times seem to be evidence alike of the danger and of the meaninglessness
of education for Negro youth.”82

Charles Johnson’s name will probably be forever linked to that of the
author of the next book in the ACE series, E. Franklin Frazier, if only be-
cause both men were African American sociologists trained at the Uni-
versity of Chicago by Robert Park. But whereas Johnson was always
viewed as a political liberal, Frazier was a radical. Even before he received
his Ph.D. from Chicago in 1929, Frazier was publishing articles on race
relations while at Atlanta University. Indeed, it was a 1927 article, “The
Pathology of Race Prejudice,” in which Frazier claimed that southern race
prejudice had “the same intense emotional tone that characterizes insane
complexes,”83 that forced Frazier out of the South and to the relative
safety of Chicago. After completing his studies at Chicago, Frazier moved
for an uncomfortable five-year stay at Fisk University with Charles John-
son. In 1934, Frazier moved to Howard University, where he stayed until
his death in 1962.84

Throughout the late 1920s and the 1930s, Frazier concentrated on the
study of the African American family. For Frazier, the African American
family was moving from the “disorganization” that resulted from slavery
to “reorganization” into urban life. He wanted to refute any claim that the
social situation of the African American family owed anything to innate
racial characteristics. Slavery and segregation, not a racial tendency to-
ward licentiousness, led to a pathological state within the African Ameri-
can family. In 1939, Frazier argued that “the immorality, delinquency, de-
sertions, and broken homes which have been involved in the develop-
ment of Negro family life in the United States, . . . appear to have been the
inevitable consequences of the attempt of a preliterate people, stripped of
their cultural heritage, to adjust themselves to civilization.”85

In his American Council on Education study, Frazier attempted to dis-
cover what effect the social disorganization he had documented in the
African American family had on the personality of African American
children. He conducted a series of studies, including extensive interviews,
of African American children in the border areas of Louisville, Kentucky,
and Washington, D.C. Unlike Johnson, who found that segregation was a
relatively inconsequential factor for his subjects, Frazier found segrega-
tion to be a pervasive force in his subjects’ lives. Frazier noted that the
“pathological feature[s] of the Negro community” owed to “the fact that
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the Negro is kept behind the walls of segregation and is not permitted to
compete in the larger community. . . . Since the Negro is not required to
compete in the larger world and to assume its responsibilities and suffer
its penalties, he does not have an opportunity to mature.”86

Like Johnson, however, Frazier found that most of his subjects did not
wish to be white. Even in the case of lower-class children, who said
“frankly that if they were born again they would prefer to be white,” this
did not necessarily mean that they rejected their own color. Frazier re-
ported that such responses came from the children only after a few min-
utes of reflection. By contrast, children usually responded spontaneously
that they were satisfied with their present color. This immediate re-
sponse, Frazier argued, “represented more truly [the child’s] feelings, atti-
tudes, and imaginings in regard to being white.” It was only after they
thought about the advantages of being white that the children claimed
they wished to be white. Frazier concluded, “Only when they felt frus-
trated in their wishes and impulses because of their racial identity and
imagined themselves carrying out their wishes and desires as white per-
sons and participating in the white world could we legitimately say that
they really wished that they were white.”87 Like Johnson, Frazier found
that most interviewed children strove toward a “brown ideal” rather than
toward being white. In short, while Frazier found some psychological
problems associated with being African American in the United States, he
also found these problems did not necessarily translate into the children
rejecting of their own skin color.

The viewpoint of the ACE researchers was summarized by the project’s
director, Robert Sutherland, in the concluding volume of the series.
Sutherland argued that the African American youth “cannot be free in the
traditional American sense,” with “no need for self-proof of his worth,
and no need to overstress his achievements in some matters to compen-
sate for lack of others. Psychologically, white freedom differs from col-
ored freedom in America.”88

All these studies of the 1930s, it must be remembered, were con-
ducted in the midst of the Great Depression. In some sense, they were
measures of what African Americans could hope for when the country
was facing a profound crisis that threatened many hopes of social stabil-
ity, not to mention the possibility of a better world. World War II would
dramatically alter how African Americans viewed their prospects in the
United States, and psychological studies after World War II would reflect
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the rising expectations African Americans had about the postwar world.
Before we turn to the war and its effects, however, one last development
of the 1930s needs our attention.

The Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues

Part of the explanation for the development of new types of scientific re-
search into race prejudice and identity during the 1930s was simply that
there were more psychologists being trained. Columbia, Yale, Harvard,
and a host of other institutions were producing more doctorates in psy-
chology than ever before. Unfortunately, the Great Depression made em-
ployment of these new doctorate recipients difficult. The American Psy-
chological Association (APA), the professional organization for psychol-
ogy, responded to the abundance of young psychologists with the
suggestion of raising Ph.D. requirements, hence shrinking the future sup-
ply of young psychologists.89

Younger psychologists, not unexpectedly, resented APA’s call to restrict
the number of doctoral degrees in psychology. In particular, a young psy-
chologist working at the University of Chicago, Isadore Krechevsky, “con-
ceived the idea of stimulating more psychologists to direct their efforts
toward the making of a new and better America.”90 In the early 1930s,
Krechevsky—later David Krech—was a member of New America, a so-
cialist political organization founded by UTS theologian Harry F. Ward
and one of his students, psychologist Goodwin Watson. According to
Krech, New America was Marxist in orientation but disapproved of com-
munism, especially as practiced in the Soviet Union. It was, Krech re-
membered, “compulsively democratic in its public ideology and in its in-
ternal structures.”91

In 1934, faced with the reluctance of the APA to take any action about
the employment of younger psychologists, Krech and a colleague, Ross
Stagner, began circulating a petition to urge the APA to request funds
from the federal government to help the employment situation of psy-
chologists. After a series of attempts to get the APA to respond, Krech fi-
nally called on the younger members of the APA to create an organiza-
tion dedicated to “important contemporary problems of social and eco-
nomic change.”92

The situation came to a head at the 1936 APA convention at Dart-
mouth College. A meeting chaired by Ross Stagner led to the formation
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of the Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues (SPSSI). Good-
win Watson was elected president, and David Krech was elected secre-
tary/treasurer. Stagner later recounted that SPSSI was founded as a group
to open up job opportunities in Washington, D.C., “to facilitate research
on pressing social problems, and to defend colleagues who seemed to be
victims of unfair treatment.”93

Within a year after its founding, SPSSI was a force to be reckoned
with—at least within the world of psychology—as one of every six APA
members was also a member of SPSSI.94 Soon, the society began publish-
ing an “SPSSI Bulletin” as part of the Journal of Social Psychology, and it
produced Industrial Conflict, a book on labor conflict.95 By the time the
United States entered the war, SPSSI was an established group of reform-
ers, interested in using their expertise to make American society more
just and democratic.

Conclusion

Between World War I and World War II, a transformation took place in
American social-scientific understanding of race. Anthropology had cast
doubt on the utility of “race” as a scientific concept, replacing it with
“culture.” Other disciplines, including psychology, used cultural explana-
tions to demonstrate that there were no innate racial characteristics.
Moreover, the culture concept had so complicated the picture that ideas
of innate racial differences would never have the same resonance they en-
joyed in the early 1920s and before.

Concomitant with the decline of “scientific racism” was the rise of the
scientific study of attitudes. Two things need to be noted about this area
of study. First, race prejudice was transformed from a perhaps conserva-
tive but not harmful attitude into an attitude that was not based in reality,
or at least not based on real characteristics shared by members of any sin-
gle group. It was, in essence, viewed as an irrational attitude. Second, race
prejudice was becoming a purely psychological phenomenon. Analysis of
other causes of prejudice—institutional patterns, economic hardships,
power relationships, and other broad sociological explanations—was for-
saken in favor of explanations that relied on the attitudes of individuals.
Prejudice was viewed as a problem in the hearts and minds of individuals.

During World War II, social scientists would take the study of preju-
dice and transmute it into a topic that demanded the attention of social
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scientists, making it, in Franz Samelson’s words, “one of the corner-
stones of the developing discipline of empirical social psychology.”96

Moreover, events during the war provided the opportunity for social
science to move outside the walls of the academy and into the “real
world,” giving social scientists a new confidence in their ability to be-
come social engineers.
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The Effect of World War II on the

Study of Racial Prejudice

Historian Robin D. G. Kelley has noted, “When thinking
about the Jim Crow South, we need always to keep in mind that African
Americans . . . did not experience a liberal democracy. They lived and
struggled in a world that resembled, at least from their vantage point, a
fascist or, more appropriately, a colonial situation.”1 In this context,
African Americans experienced America’s entry into World War II in a
profoundly different way from white Americans. For African Americans
living under Jim Crow in the American South, the call to fight for
“freedom” was something of a joke, since they did not experience freedom
at home.

The call to arms, therefore, met with ambivalence at best, hostility at
worst, among African Americans in the 1940s. African Americans who
did want to join the war effort were frustrated by the segregation of the
armed forces and blatant racial discrimination in the defense industries.
Using wartime propaganda of freedom to their advantage, African Amer-
icans began demanding that the United States live up to its promises of
equality and democracy. African Americans’ attitudes about the war pre-
sented problems for a government that needed to unite the country, in-
cluding African Americans, behind the war effort.2 Social scientists were
uniquely situated to help the government in this task.

By the end of the 1930s, most social scientists were convinced that the
races were, scientifically speaking, equal. Additionally, social scientists
were increasingly convinced that race prejudice was an irrational attitude
that had no firm basis in reality but grew out of stereotyped thinking.
During World War II, these social-scientific themes would take on
wartime urgency, and afterward, race prejudice would be considered dan-
gerous and undemocratic rather than merely irrational. This shift was
possible because social scientists expressly linked racial egalitarianism to
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freedom and democracy during the war. In a host of studies, race preju-
dice was advanced as a barrier to victory and as giving aid and comfort to
the Nazi regime.

In addition to bringing attention to the dangers of race prejudice, so-
cial psychologists gained new credibility during World War II as “social
engineers” by providing unprecedented opportunities for psychologists
to work closely with the government. Social psychologists were involved
in strategic bombing surveying, propaganda analysis, and analysis of
civilian and enemy morale.3 In all these efforts, psychologists were con-
vinced that their special expertise was necessary to direct governmental
power in the most efficient manner possible. Given the importance of the
study of race prejudice, it should not be too surprising that social scien-
tists took race relations as the area of society that needed their expertise
the most.

In this chapter, I demonstrate how social scientists transformed them-
selves into experts on race prejudice, not just in the academy but in the
larger society. Social scientists made race prejudice into a topic of urgent
national concern by expressly linking race problems to democracy and
freedom. They also linked these issues of democracy to the discrimina-
tory institutions of society and began arguing that those institutions
must be changed. In this way, social scientists became shapers of society,
rather than mere observers of society.

Perhaps no single person exemplified the war’s effect on social-scien-
tific research more than Harvard psychologist Gordon W. Allport, who
was SPSSI president during the 1943–44 term. The younger brother of
Syracuse’s Floyd Allport, Gordon Allport (1897–1967) received his Ph.D.
in psychology from Harvard in 1922. Like those Columbia psychologists
who had been deeply influenced by the “social gospel,” Allport had a deep
religious dedication to social justice. After a brief tour of teaching in Is-
tanbul and at Dartmouth College, he returned to Harvard in 1930, where
he remained to the end of his career.4 Allport’s work before the war con-
centrated on the psychology of personality, and he published what be-
came the definitive book on the subject in 1937.5

On America’s entry into World War II, Allport quickly became involved
in a host of projects for the government, including organizing a seminar at
Harvard to aid in the war effort. The seminar would be devoted to whatever
topic seemed most useful to the war effort: analysis of rumor, Hitler’s char-
acter, or rioting behavior. As Allport later recalled,“The seminar had a long-
range consequence. It continued year after year, with a gradual focusing on
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what seemed to be the most urgent problem of national unity, namely,
group conflict and prejudice.”6 Allport’s published work, as well as his
teaching, reflected this new focus on racial prejudice. In the decade after the
war, Allport produced a mass of work that ultimately led to his 1954 publi-
cation of The Nature of Prejudice, which served as the definitive psycholog-
ical treatment of the subject for a generation.7

Allport’s work is important not merely because of his stature in the so-
cial science community and among the public at large but also because it
is a good illustration of the general tone of psychological studies in race
prejudice in the decade after World War II. Quite simply, his theme was
that prejudice is an affront to democracy. In 1946, Allport wrote that in
the world created by World War II, “democracy and the scapegoating of
minority groups and nations cannot co-exist. It is for this reason that our
battle against scapegoating is an important phase of the battle for democ-
racy within our nation and within the world at large.”8

There were four areas of research undertaken by social scientists that
led to the conclusion that prejudice was not just an irrational, harmless
attitude but downright anti-American. First, work in morale underscored
the importance of racial harmony and the dangers of divisive racial prej-
udice. Second, work on the race riots that swept the United States in 1943
saw race prejudice as a genuine threat to civil peace. Third, studies of
anti-Semitism linked that particular form of racism to authoritarianism
generally, viewing anti-Semitism as a necessary first step in totalitarian
government. Fourth, Gunnar Myrdal traced the tension between the
country’s “American Creed” and its treatment of minorities. The sections
below briefly outline these arguments made by social scientists during
World War II.

American Morale

Even before America’s entry into the war, such prominent social psychol-
ogists as Gordon Allport, Kurt Lewin, Gardner Murphy, and Goodwin
Watson were exploring American morale. After the Japanese bombing of
Pearl Harbor, morale quickly became one of the more popular areas of
study and soon underscored that, to maintain an effective fighting spirit
during the war, the country must try to eliminate race prejudice.9

An example of this work in social psychology is that of Resnis Likert
(1903–1981). Likert was another Columbia Ph.D. who had been trained
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at the Union Theological Seminary. In his 1932 dissertation, directed by
Gardner Murphy, Likert developed a new method of scaling for use in
opinion polls, in which respondents were asked to rate items on a scale of
1 to 5, where 1 meant they would “strongly approve” and 5 meant they
would “strongly disapprove.”10 In 1939, Likert put his innovative survey
methodologies to work at the U.S. Department of Agriculture to survey
the attitudes of farmers, but in 1942, his program was reorganized into
the Office of War Information (OWI) and charged with uncovering the
attitudes of the American civilian population about the war.11

Likert hired Kenneth Clark at OWI to prepare studies on the morale of
African Americans. Likert and Clark argued that it was necessary to tear
down discriminatory barriers in order to expect African Americans to
join fully in the war effort. In 1942, OWI reported that “[Negro] enthusi-
asm for the war is dampened by the resentment of discrimination at
home. Many feel no burning urge to go ‘all out’ for a victory that may
perpetuate the present way of life to which they are being subjected—a
way of life, as they see it, based on the undemocratic premise of white su-
premacy.” The African American community demanded, according to
OWI, “the elimination of those obstacles which now prevent their enjoy-
ing the many advantages afforded the white man in this country.”12

Likert would be elected SPSSI president immediately after the war.
During the war, his views on morale and democracy were echoed by
many other individual members of SPSSI and by the society as a whole,
which dedicated its second yearbook to the problem of civilian morale.13

The articles in the SPSSI yearbook linked morale to the problem of
bringing democracy and freedom to all Americans. For many of these au-
thors, reducing or eliminating problems between minority groups and
the majority in society was the key to building national unity. The prob-
lem, as these researchers saw it, was not that minorities posed a threat to
national security because they were disloyal but that the majority in soci-
ety did not accept minority members as equals, which prevented minor-
ity groups from participating fully in the war effort. In his essay on “eth-
nic minorities,” Otto Klineberg claimed that “the threat against national
morale lies . . . in the attitudes which the majority holds toward them. It is
the prejudice, not the existence of the minorities, which represents the
principal divisive factor.”14

Writing in the same volume, Kenneth B. Clark wrote, “In a considera-
tion of civilian morale, it is not only pertinent but imperative that one
be concerned with the racial tensions of our American society and the
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dynamic force of those tensions upon the attitude and behavior of
Negro and white Americans.”15 Clark argued that, in order to expect
African Americans to support the war effort, white attitudes had to
change “from those of blind and irrational prejudice with its attendant
economic, social, and political injustices, to the wholesome, normal at-
titudes that stem from understanding and a sincere respect for the
rights of every human being.”16 In an essay the next year, Clark expressly
linked morale not just to race prejudice but to official expressions of
that prejudice—segregation and other forms of discrimination. Con-
trasting the morale of African Americans in 1943 with their morale dur-
ing World War I, Clark argued that the “Negro” would not be as willing
to “become enthusiastic at minor concessions” from the government as
“he” was in 1917. Clark exclaimed, “His morale today is not likely to be
appreciably raised by concessions made within the framework of a rigid
policy of racial segregation and discrimination.” To ensure high morale
among African Americans, it would be necessary for the federal govern-
ment to begin to tear down the barriers of segregation and discrimina-
tion. As Clark concluded, “In a democracy this could be done—under
Fascism it would not be done.”17

Gordon Allport also argued in the SPSSI yearbook that it was neces-
sary that the promise of full participation in democratic society not be
limited to the duration of the war but that it be a genuine promise that
would go beyond the immediate fight: “A [morale] program is good if it
stresses the basic tenet of democracy that all persons have equal rights to
the pursuit of happiness, to liberty, and to life; and also if it includes, be-
yond the demand for national defense, a provision of a better world after
the war for all peoples, regardless of race and nationality.”18

Social scientists maintained the wartime linkage between prejudice
and democracy well after the war was won. But, during the war, the study
of these problems took on a new urgency in 1943, when the country was
torn by a series of racial uprisings.

Race Riots

As African Americans searching for wartime employment poured into
large industrial cities in the early 1940s, racial tensions grew in these
cities and burst into the open during the summer of 1943. In Detroit, a
race riot began on a hot June day when thousands of city residents
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crowded a local amusement park. Small fights occurred all day, finally
erupting into a large-scale riot as rumors of racially based atrocities
spread across the city. By the end of the rioting, thirty-four people were
dead and over seven hundred were injured. Less than two months later, a
rumor of an African American soldier being killed by a white policeman
caused Harlem to erupt into similar racial conflict. The final toll there
was five dead and five hundred injured. Other cities experienced similar
rioting during the summer of 1943.19

The study of these race riots would bring two researchers, Alfred
McClung Lee and Kenneth B. Clark, to each other’s attention and mark
the beginning not only of a close friendship but also of a close working
relationship that would lead the two men into the litigation campaign
of Brown.

Alfred McClung Lee Jr. (1906–1992) had been raised in a radically
egalitarian family. His father was a Pittsburgh attorney who was known
for his defense of African Americans and other socially powerless peo-
ples. When Al Lee Sr. unmasked the local Ku Klux Klan (KKK) leader
during a raid on an African American church, the KKK repaid the favor
by burning a cross on the Lee’s front lawn. In 1926, Al Jr. married his
hometown sweetheart, Betty Briant, and the two received doctorates in
sociology from Yale University—Al in 1933 and Betty in 1937. Because of
prevalent sexism in the academy, Betty was unable to secure an academic
position despite her scholarly accomplishments.20

In 1942, Al Lee was appointed the chair of Wayne State University’s
Department of Sociology. When the Detroit riot broke out, former news-
paper reporter Lee, according to Betty, “beat it out of the house and went
to where it was going on. He was busy taking field notes.”21 The book that
emerged from his notes was Race Riot, written with his Wayne State col-
league Norman Humphrey and published in 1943.

Lee and Humphrey claimed that the dangers of rioting went beyond
the list of casualties and lost capital: “democracy itself, its very nature and
substance, is placed in grave danger by race riots.” With America at war
with a society trumpeting the “master race theory,” Lee and Humphrey
argued, race riots could destroy the promise of a government based on
freedom, dignity, and equality of all people, leading to “a drive to turn the
clock back, as in Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany.”22 To quell this threat to
the democratic order, Lee and Humphrey proposed to outline the causes
of, and cures for, race riots.
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In the immediate aftermath of the riot, city and other government of-
ficials posited several, often conflicting causes of the rioting. Agitation—
by Axis agents, the Ku Klux Klan, Communists, or “Negro agitators”—
was often singled out as the cause of the riot.23 Lee and Humphrey argued
that there was no one immediate cause of the riot that swept Detroit on
June 21, 1943; rather, “riots are the products of thousands upon thou-
sands of little events that have affected the habits and emotions of thou-
sands upon thousands of people, both future rioters and future innocent
bystanders.” Lee and Humphrey attempted to trace the origins of the De-
troit riots beyond the immediate precipitating events and to the general
tensions that grew from the uneasy race relations in the city. The tension
that served as prelude to the riot was the result of social isolation of the
races from one another. Lee and Humphrey concluded that “people who
live near each other or go to school together feel none of the alleged ‘nat-
ural animosity,’ which so many people claim exists between races—a ‘nat-
ural animosity’ that scientists have disproved a thousand times.”24

To prevent future riots, Lee and Humphrey claimed it was necessary to
do more than create commissions and biracial police forces. It was neces-
sary to strike down discriminatory barriers that cause social isolation, the
true root of racial tensions. The three most “practical goals for a long-
term program” of riot prevention was to eliminate segregation and dis-
crimination in housing, the schools, and the workplace. Lee and
Humphrey argued, “In the Detroit riots . . . observer after observer re-
ported that no noteworthy trouble occurred in mixed districts where
white and Negroes had lived as neighbors long enough to get to know
and understand each other.” This basic argument could be applied to
schooling as well: “Through the casual experience of classrooms and
playgrounds, white and Negro children and adults can learn to associate
with one another without antagonistic racial frictions.” Finally, regarding
the workplace: “Through the common experiences of shop work and
union activity, whites and Negroes learn to appreciate each other’s better
qualities and recognize their rights as fellow human beings.”25 By linking
the general sociological understanding of rioting behavior to the larger
issues of segregation and democracy, Lee and Humphrey made those
larger issues matters for sociological concern.

Unlike Lee’s sociological study of the Detroit riot, Clark’s study of the
1943 Harlem riot was of a single individual, because, as Clark argued,
“when racial problems and conflicts are seen in the light of their effects
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upon individual persons rather than in broad, general, detached statisti-
cal terms, their psychological significance becomes clearer.”26 The choice
to study an individual rather than to attempt a larger-scale analysis re-
flected Clark’s training in social psychology in the 1930s. Both the Mur-
phys and Gordon Allport trumpeted the study of the individual. For
these psychologists, psychology should not be about a search for “univer-
sal” laws of human behavior. As Katherine Pandora has written, “a com-
mitment to foregrounding individuality signified a resistance to the per-
petuating images of scientific method held dear by science’s elite.”27

This view of the preeminence of the individual would follow Clark
from his graduate training to his professional career. In 1940, Gardner
Murphy left Columbia to chair the Psychology Department at the City
College of New York (CCNY). He invited Kenneth Clark to join the
CCNY department, and by 1942, Clark was an assistant professor in so-
cial psychology there. Clark’s study of the Harlem riot, conducted with
his colleague James Barker, was an early attempt at the sort of argument
that would make him so useful to the NAACP during the Brown litiga-
tion: an attempt to understand “the impact of racial prejudice and social
isolation upon the personality of an individual who is a victim of such
circumstances.”

Clark and Barker’s study of was of a “zoot-suiter.” Because of the
“wasteful” use of materials, the War Production Board had forbidden the
manufacture or sale of zoot suits. African American men in New York
(and Latino men in California) continued to wear them as an act of defi-
ance against what they viewed as another constriction on their activities
for the white man’s war. White servicemen saw the zoot suits as unpatri-
otic, and in 1943, attacked zoot-suiters across the country, mutilating the
suits and injuring the wearers.28

Just as it was for Lee and Humphrey, the key for Clark and Barker was
the social isolation felt by the zoot-suiter, isolation brought about by racial
prejudice. Social isolation led to individuals who lacked any sort of empa-
thy for other individuals or respect for private property. Ultimately, these
warped personalities rejected all social authority, leading to events such as
the 1943 Harlem race riot. Clark and Barker concluded that “the stability
of the individual and the stability of the larger society are inextricably in-
terrelated and therefore the socially accepted dehumanization of an indi-
vidual or group must inevitably manifest itself in societal disturbances.”29

In May 1948, Lee wrote to Clark to ask for a reprint of Clark’s article.
The two men began a correspondence that lasted until Lee moved to New
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York to chair the Sociology Department of Brooklyn College in 1949.30

During the 1950s, when Clark served as the liaison between the attorneys
of the NAACP–Legal Defense and Education Fund and the social science
community, Lee would prove to be one of his closest confidants and his
tie to the sociology community.

Anti-Semitism

Leonard Dinnerstein declared that World War II represented the “high
tide” of American anti-Semitism.31 Underlying many social-scientific
studies of anti-Semitism during the war was the idea that the United
States could become a Nazi state, just has Germany had. The fear that “it
could happen here too” gave special force to the study of homegrown
anti-Semitism. Many of these studies were conducted by émigré social
scientists who had fled Hitler’s dominance of the European continent.
For these writers, anti-Semitism was a very real threat to both American
society and world peace.

Typical of the rhetoric of studies of anti-Semitism in this period are
the writings of the founder of the German Psychoanalytic Society, Ernst
Simmel, who left Berlin and came to the United States in 1934. Before the
war, argued Simmel, anti-Semitism in the United States was primarily
“social”: the restriction of elite clubs or summer resorts. However, “dur-
ing World War II . . . a change in the quality of [American] anti-Semitism
began to appear. It has taken on the color of German anti-Semitism. It
embraces an ever widening circle of the American population, and the
more it expands, the more irrational becomes the defamation of the
Jews.” For Simmel, the question was, why had anti-Semitism become so
widespread in the United States? As he wrote, “The endeavor to find an
answer to this question is of far reaching importance, not only because
anti-Semitism is a danger to the Jews. It is also a danger to this country.
More than that it is a danger to all civilization.” Simmel noted that Ger-
many’s anti-Semitism not only had brought on the unimaginable horrors
of the concentration camps but also had plunged the entire world into
war. He concluded, “It would be a fatal error, as well as a form of psycho-
logical isolationism, to assume that only in Germany could anti-Semi-
tism have descended to such depths.”32

Simmel was one of many Jewish psychoanalytic thinkers to have fled
European oppression during the 1930s to settle in the United States.33
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These immigrant thinkers were responsible for the psychoanalytic color-
ing of much of the research on anti-Semitism during World War II and
immediately after. The problem was perceived to be of such importance,
however, that even such an outspoken critic of psychoanalytic theory as
the ubiquitous Gordon Allport approved of the transplanted Freudianism:

The inhuman orgies of the past two decades have shocked us into co-oper-
ation. No petty doctrinal disputes must be allowed to divide the efforts of
scientists in their common determination to preserve their scientific free-
dom by re-establishing personal liberty and self-respect for all men. Anti-
Semitism is so contagious and complex an evil that we welcome all possi-
ble aid in combating it.34

Allport’s characterizing the work on anti-Semitism as cooperation was
exactly right, for the European psychoanalysts often joined with Ameri-
can psychologists to study anti-Semitism.35 The best known and most in-
fluential of these collaborations were those funded by the American Jew-
ish Committee.

In 1943, social psychologist Nevitt Sanford at Berkeley was studying
American morale. Sanford was attempting to relate personality factors to
war morale, in an attempt to find out how “extreme” personalities felt
about the war effort. In 1943, two things redirected Sanford to study anti-
Semitism. First, he received an anonymous donation to study anti-Semi-
tism. Second, he met Max Horkheimer.36

Horkheimer was the director of the Institute of Social Research, or the
“Frankfurt School,” a group of Marxist and psychoanalytic thinkers who
had fled Frankfurt, Germany, to the United States in 1934, after Hitler’s
rise to power. The Institute of Social Research had, miraculously, fled
Germany with its finances intact. On arriving in the United States, the in-
stitute entered into a quasi-official relationship with Columbia Univer-
sity, but Horkheimer and other institute members were fiercely indepen-
dent, refusing to be “assimilated” into American culture. In 1941, an ill-
ness forced Horkheimer to relocate the institute to southern California,
which made Horkheimer’s meeting with Sanford possible.37

Horkheimer’s institute had long wanted to undertake a comprehensive
study of anti-Semitism in the United States.38 A series of bad investments
in the late 1930s had made the institute’s finances precarious, and for the
first time, Horkheimer was forced to seek outside funding for his work.
Aware that the unapologetic Marxism and critical theorizing of the insti-
tute were unlikely to secure funding in the politically conservative and
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empirically oriented United States, Horkheimer sought to combine his
school’s emphasis on critical theory with the quantitative methodologies
common in American social science. Horkheimer got the institute’s work
on anti-Semitism underwritten by funds from the American Jewish Com-
mittee, which then supported the work on the new project at Berkeley.39

For the American Jewish Committee’s project, Sanford recruited a
Berkeley colleague, Else Frenkel-Brunswik, and one of her students,
Daniel Levinson. Another refugee scholar, Frenkel-Brunswick had fled
her native Vienna after the Anschluss and joined her husband, Egon
Brunswik, at Berkeley. Her studies of personality were heavily influenced
by the logical positivism of the Vienna Circle, as well as by psychoanaly-
sis.40 The final member of the Berkeley team was Theodor Adorno, a
member of the Frankfurt School, brought on board to “teach the Ameri-
can academics some critical and Marxist theory.”41 The team now con-
sisted of two American researchers, Sanford and Levinson, and two Euro-
pean researchers, Frenkel-Brunswik and Adorno.

Less than a year later, the Berkeley group began publishing the results
of their work in the professional literature. They argued that anti-Semi-
tism was part of a larger problem that threatened not just Jews but all of
American society. Anti-Semitism was viewed as part of a larger personal-
ity type—the “proto-Fascist.” In reporting the development of their scale
for the measurement of anti-Semitism, Levinson and Sanford argued that
while Americans profess “rather abstract notions” about democracy and
freedom, they also lack “a well-defined, integrated ideological-ethical
conception of society and interpersonal relations.” This lack allows
“many anti-democratic sentiments actively to influence their behavior.”
Social scientists, Levinson and Sanford concluded, were obligated to dis-
cover “the strength of this dangerous ‘potential for Fascism’—of which
anti-Semitism is an essential part.”42

Levinson and Sanford’s scale measured how anti-Semitic an individual
was on the basis of the individual’s answers to a series of questions. More in-
depth techniques were employed by Frenkel-Brunswik. In her studies, sub-
jects were given a Thematic Apperception Test (TAT) in which they were re-
quired to tell stories about a series of pictures designed to elicit their thoughts
on racial matters. After the TAT, the subjects were interviewed and given
Rorschach tests and lengthy questionnaires. The results suggested that those
individuals who betrayed high degrees of anti-Semitism also had “a kind of
conservative attitude . . . they tended automatically to support the status
quo.” Moreover, the individuals were highly “ethnocentric” and displayed “a
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tendency to hold in high esteem one’s own, ethnic or social group, to keep it
narrow, unmixed and pure, and to reject everything that is different.”43

Like the morale work described earlier in this chapter, the work of the
Berkeley team raised the stakes in the fight against prejudice by making
anti-Semitism part and parcel of authoritarianism. To allow anti-Semi-
tism to spread in the United States would be to surrender to the ideology
of Nazi Germany and all it entailed. To surrender to anti-Semitism was
the equivalent of surrendering to the authoritarian ideology of the Nazi
state. The point was driven home in 1944 when the American Jewish
Committee decided to formalize its relationship with Horkheimer’s insti-
tute by creating a Department of Scientific Research within the AJCom-
mittee auspices.44 The Department of Scientific Research, under Max
Horkheimer, set out to study anti-Semitism scientifically, and to use sci-
entific research “just as American business uses it today, or as the War De-
partment uses it.”45 One of the first functions of the new department was
a May 1944 conference on anti-Semitism.

The participants in the conference included not only Horkheimer and
Adorno from the Institute of Social Research but also Gordon Allport,
Charles S. Johnson, Paul Lazarsfeld, Alfred McClung Lee, Kurt Lewin,
Talcott Parsons, and Goodwin Watson—a veritable “who’s who” of re-
searchers in racial prejudice during the 1940s.46 The conclusion of the
conference echoed the work of the Berkeley scholars: “anti-Semitism in
the USA is tied with Nazism, Fascism, dictatorship, and is a concealed at-
tack on American liberty.”47

Although it was launched at the 1944 conference, the Department of Sci-
entific Research’s work did not come to fruition until after the war. In 1950,
it published the Studies in Prejudice series, which consisted of five books on
anti-Semitism. The work of the Berkeley team would be the most famous of
these, published under the title The Authoritarian Personality.48 The Studies
in Prejudice series, and The Authoritarian Personality in particular, would
be one of the two cornerstones to Kenneth B. Clark’s arguments in the
Brown litigation. The only other work that would figure as heavily would be
Gunnar Myrdal’s An American Dilemma.

An American Dilemma

The impact of the 1944 publication of Gunnar Myrdal’s study of Ameri-
can race relations, An American Dilemma: The Negro Problem and Modern
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Democracy, was not contained merely in the fifteen hundred pages of the
final book. In fact, the book’s forty-six chapters and six appendixes were
not even the entirety of the written work: four “technical monographs”
were also spun off from the main book and published under separate
cover.49 Literally every researcher in the area of race relations was in-
volved in Myrdal’s project. In the “Author’s Preface,” Myrdal lists no fewer
than seventy-five researchers as members of his staff.50 Moreover, the
book had a tremendous impact beyond the social science community.
Arnold Rose, who worked closely with Myrdal in writing the book,
brought out a condensed version of the huge work in 1948, titled The
Negro in America. In a foreword to that edition, Myrdal noted, “The size
of the original publication . . . is not deterring many who are not scholars
and specialists from reading it, in whole or in part. Up until December
31, 1947, it has sold over 30,000 copies.”51

Myrdal’s notions about race relations quickly spread in the decade
after World War II. An American Dilemma provided the scientific impri-
matur upon many calls for civil rights, ranging from newspaper articles
to the Truman administration’s report To Secure These Rights.52 Historian
Walter Jackson has claimed that Myrdal’s book created a “liberal ortho-
doxy” concerning racial matters. Sociologist Martin Bulmer has called it
“the most important single study of race relations to have appeared in the
first half of the twentieth century.”53

An American Dilemma originated in 1935, when the Carnegie Corpo-
ration’s president, Frederick Keppel, and a Carnegie trustee, Newton D.
Baker, decided to sponsor a major study on America’s “Negro problem.”
To ensure that the study would be an objective one, Carnegie’s leaders de-
cided to select a foreign scholar who would be untainted, presumably, by
any views concerning U.S. race relations. Additionally, the scholar had to
be from a nation with no imperial tradition, which Carnegie’s leaders
also felt would bias the investigation. After a search, Carnegie chose
Swedish Social Democrat Gunnar Myrdal.54

Myrdal began his study in 1938 with a budget of a quarter of a mil-
lion dollars and the task of learning about race relations in the United
States. To aid in this task, Myrdal assembled a large staff to write mono-
graphs on various aspects of race relations. Eschewing better-known re-
searchers on the grounds that their view could be discerned from their
published work, Myrdal concentrated on junior scholars. Additionally,
Myrdal encouraged African American scholars to join his project. Political
scientist Ralph Bunche and sociologists Charles S. Johnson, E. Franklin
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Frazier, and Ira De Augustine Reid, as well as Kenneth B. Clark, were on
Myrdal’s staff.55

Much of Myrdal’s staff dispersed when the war broke out, and Myrdal
returned to Sweden for a time. The project was kept alive in the United
States by Samuel Stouffer, a quantitative sociologist from the University
of Chicago, who hired a young University of Chicago sociology graduate
student named Arnold Rose to assist him. When Myrdal returned to the
United States in 1941, he began writing his delayed manuscript with the
assistance of Richard Sterner, his Swedish associate, and Rose, both of
whom were listed as co-authors.56 Rose would later become a sociologist
at the University of Minnesota and “Myrdal’s bulldog” in the United
States as the chief defender of the views found in An American Dilemma.
Additionally, apart from Alfred McClung Lee, Rose would be the sociolo-
gist most integral to the Brown litigation.

Myrdal’s finished effort consolidated several themes that American so-
cial science had been sounding for two decades. First, Myrdal’s work
served to re-enforce the “psychologizing” of race prejudice that origi-
nated in the 1930s. The dilemma Myrdal examined was the tension be-
tween the professed ideals of the “American Creed” of brotherhood, ra-
tionality, and equality, on the one hand, and America’s treatment of
African Americans, discrimination, and segregation, on the other. Ac-
cording to Myrdal, the problem was a moral one that manifested itself
not only between different groups in American society but within indi-
viduals’ personalities. As Myrdal wrote, “The moral struggle goes on within
people and not only between them.”57 Hence, the “Negro problem” for
Myrdal was, in fact, a moral and psychological problem of white Ameri-
cans. This view echoed that of prewar researchers in racial attitudes, as
well as that of Klineberg, Clark, and other social psychologists who were
working with American morale: the problem was the attitude of the ma-
jority group.

The second theme in An American Dilemma concerned the proper role
of social science as social engineering. As a Swedish Social Democrat,
Myrdal was one of the architects of the Swedish welfare state during the
1930s. As a believer in an activist government, he sharply disagreed with
the most prominent American social scientists who argued against the ef-
ficacy of governmental action regarding race relations.58

For example, Myrdal took aim at William Graham Sumner, one of the
founders of American sociology, and Robert Park, both of whom argued
that natural laws—what Sumner termed “folkways”—could not be al-
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tered by artificial laws, that is, legislation—what Sumner termed “state-
ways.” Myrdal summarized Sumner’s views thus:

If legislation adheres to the “natural laws,” it is not exactly damaging but
useless; if legislation conflicts with the “natural laws” it will be inefficacious
though slightly damaging as it will disturb somewhat the smooth operation
of the “natural laws.” . . . On this central point, which apparently is much of
the political purpose of the whole theory of folkways and mores, Sumner
simply expresses a common American prejudice against legislation.59

Myrdal had no such prejudice against legislation, especially when it was
legislation against prejudice. He wrote approvingly of states experiment-
ing with antidiscrimination laws and criticized the slow federal efforts
that were “hampered by pressure from Southern congressmen.”60 Myrdal
also praised court action against discrimination and prejudice. He pre-
dicted correctly that the Supreme Court would soon declare the white
primary (which excluded African Americans from voting in primary
elections in the South) unconstitutional and that “the legal foundation
for Negro discrimination in the South is dissolving.”61 The ability of the
law to change behavior resonated among the social activists of SPSSI,
who long had struggled to find a way to use their scientific knowledge to
re-create society.

The third theme of Myrdal’s work concerned the pathology of African
American culture. Myrdal agreed with E. Franklin Frazier, who had ar-
gued that slavery and then segregation and discrimination had prevented
a genuine African American culture from developing. Myrdal argued:

The instability of the Negro family, the inadequacy of educational facilities
for Negroes, the emotionalism in the Negro church, the insufficiency and
unwholesomeness of Negro recreational activity, the plethora of Negro so-
ciable organizations, the narrowness of interests of the average Negro, the
provincialism of his political speculation, the high Negro crime rate, the
cultivation of the arts to the neglect of other fields, superstition, personal-
ity difficulties, and other characteristic traits are mainly forms of social
pathology which, for the most part, are created by caste pressures.62

Because there was nothing in African American culture worth saving,
Myrdal suggested that the solution to this social pathology was to assimi-
late African Americans completely into white culture.

As we will see soon, Kenneth B. Clark would take the social pathology
of African American culture, combine it with Kurt Lewin’s concepts of
self-hatred, and transform it into a psychological matter. At the end of
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the war, he and Mamie Phipps Clark had not yet published the data that
he thought proved the damage of segregated society on African American
children. In 1945, however, he gave a hint of what was to come when he
wrote that “K.B. Clark and M.P. Clark obtained [unpublished] experi-
mental evidence which shows . . . that Negro children also learn and ac-
cept to a large extent the prevalent unfavorable attitudes toward the
Negro.”63 The Clarks would not publish the findings of their second data
set until a few years later, however. In 1945, it was An American Dilemma
that firmly entrenched the social pathology of the American Negro in the
public’s mind.

An American Dilemma brought into wide currency ideas that had been
brewing in the social science community since the early 1930s. Race prej-
udice was a matter of the attitudes whites held concerning blacks. Race
prejudice was an irrational and dangerous attitude that was fundamen-
tally incompatible with democracy. Social-scientific expertise should be
used to solve problems of race prejudice. Such a view resonated among
the social psychologists of Society for the Psychological Study of Social
Issues, for the war had changed how SPSSI conceptualized social engi-
neering.

The Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues

SPSSI originated in 1936 as a group of “leftists” and “outsiders” who be-
lieved that social engineering was best accomplished by the people, or the
workers, rather than by a powerful elite, as represented by government or
state action. Yet the experiences of World War II linked social psycholo-
gists to government to such an extent that even dedicated leftists began
writing about how the government could undertake social engineering
for the benefit of the people.64

Goodwin Watson, the first president of SPSSI, was one of those psy-
chologists involved with war work. Watson served as chief of the Analysis
Division of the Foreign Broadcast Intelligence Service from 1941 to 1943
but was forced to resign his post by the House Un-American Activities
Committee because of alleged leftist connections and returned to his
professorship at Columbia Teacher’s College.65 Despite his unfortunate
experience, Watson was convinced that World War II marked the begin-
ning of a new era of “social engineering.” In an article published in 1945,
Watson noted, “The war lured psychologists away from their cages of
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white rats into various kind of war jobs in Washington.” He believed that
social engineering by social psychologists would bring new “insight into
factors which change group morale, inter-group relations and mass pres-
sures.”66 Watson’s concern for intergroup relations (previously called race
relations) was indicative of one of the most important areas the new so-
cial engineers claimed for themselves: the reduction of race prejudice.

Most of the research done on race prejudice during the war was con-
ducted by SPSSI members and reflected the organization’s interest in so-
cially active social science. A common theme of this research was that so-
cial science needed not only to understand race prejudice but to work to
eliminate that prejudice. As World War II came to an end, social psychol-
ogists Ronald Lippitt and Marian Radke argued, “The need for an under-
standing of the dynamics of prejudice has no equivalent in importance in
the social sciences. In no other aspects of interpersonal and intergroup
relationships is there a more urgent need for social sciences to ‘get out
and do something.’”67 Such a view contrasted sharply with prewar views
of race prejudice, where prejudice may have been irrational but was never
portrayed as a danger to society. Hitler’s rise to power, the struggle
against Nazi ideology, and the perceived need to unify the nation behind
the war effort had transformed the study of prejudice into a struggle
against totalitarianism. The social-scientific community began building
the argument that not only was race prejudice an irrational attitude, but
it was a threat to the democratic order.

After the war, SPSSI began publishing the Journal of Social Issues. The
first two issues were dedicated to “Racial and Religious Prejudice in
Everyday Living.”68 In the third issue, dated August 1945—the month of
the bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki—Ronald Lippitt issued a call
for all social scientists to cooperate in the eradication of prejudice, de-
claring, “It is now easier to smash an atom than it is to break a preju-
dice.”69 In the next chapter, I show how the American Jewish Congress
provided the opportunity to “break” prejudice, by transforming social
scientists into social engineers.
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The American Jewish Congress

After World War II, social scientists took a new view toward
the effect legal changes in the social system could have on racial attitudes.
In An American Dilemma, Gunnar Myrdal argued that American social
scientists had been too concerned that the law was powerless to affect so-
cial change, a view he laid at the feet of sociologist William Graham Sum-
ner. According to Myrdal, Sumner had argued that the “mores” and “folk-
ways” of a society, particularly in the area of race relations, could not be
changed by legal methods. The notion of “Sumnerian mores,” Myrdal
wrote, was “closely related to a bias in social science against induced
changes, and especially against all attempts to intervene in the social
process by legislation. The concept of mores actually implies a whole so-
cial theory and an entire laissez-faire (‘do-nothing’) metaphysics and is so
utilized.1

Myrdal flatly rejected the notion that race relations could not be im-
proved through legal change, and many postwar social scientists began to
adopt his stance—that the law could and should be used to improve race
relations. Fundamental to their position was the idea that legal change
could precede social change. The first step to better race relations, accord-
ing to these social scientists, was not to use propaganda to educate the
white public about the “brotherhood of man” and to urge them to accept
African Americans as equals. Rather, the first step was to eliminate legal
segregation and discrimination, for the legal change would itself serve the
educational purpose and lead to better race relations.

This view the power of legal change to improve race relations cut
against much of postwar thinking about race. While it was true that, after
the war was won, many Americans turned their attention to the elimina-
tion of racism and prejudice at home, most organizations believed the
way to accomplish this task was to focus on education and moral exhor-
tation.2

Hundreds of organizations sprang to life after the war to improve race
relations in the United States. The focus of many of these organizations
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was on education rather than on large-scale institutional changes in soci-
ety, because such actions were viewed as futile, given that prejudice was a
problem of people’s personalities. Only through intercultural education
aimed at changing people’s attitudes toward African Americans, Jews,
and other minority groups could society hope to effect changes in dis-
criminatory behaviors of individuals. The intercultural education move-
ment therefore rejected political or legal attempts aimed at combating
discrimination. Legal action or other forms of social engineering could
not reach people’s basic attitudes, which were considered the root of the
problem. Typical of this stance is Robert MacIver, a key figure in the in-
tercultural education movement, who wrote in 1944, “What is needed
here is not something the government can do for us—no new political
credo or even, for the most part, new laws.”3 but rather a change in peo-
ple’s basic philosophy toward minority groups. In a 1951 survey of ap-
proaches adopted by these “intergroup relations agencies,” H. H. Giles of
New York University noted, “Many of them showed a strong concentra-
tion on what may be called inspirational talks and pamphlets. . . . Hun-
dreds of thousands of dollars were spent in the financing of these talks
and pamphlets.”4

Many social scientists disagreed with the intercultural education
stance toward the utility of legal change. Between 1945 and the start of
the Brown litigation in 1951, social scientists developed a series of argu-
ments that purported to prove that the elimination of segregation was a
necessary first step to better race relations. The leading institution that
touted this view was the American Jewish Congress (AJCongress). In-
deed, in many ways, the groundwork for the collaboration of social sci-
entists and attorneys in the Brown litigation campaign was laid in the
AJCongress. Between 1945 and 1950, the AJCongress created new orga-
nizations that provided a foundation for collaboration between social
scientists and civil rights attorneys.

The American Jewish Congress

After World War II, a host of middle-class Eastern European Jews with
socialist/labor backgrounds began to take over Jewish leadership roles in
the United States. Contrasted with the older generation of leaders, these
men were professional civil rights workers, not interested in placating the
WASP elite but eager and willing to join public battle for Jewish rights.5
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The new militancy in Jewish leadership derived in part from the hor-
rors of Nazi Germany. The dangers of anti-Semitism were now all too real
to American Jews. Jewish organizations, including the American Jewish
Congress, the American Jewish Committee, and the Anti-Defamation
League of B’nai B’rith, formed the National Community Relations Advi-
sory Council (NCRAC) to serve as a clearinghouse for information about
anti-Semitism. New funds poured into the coffers of the NCRAC organi-
zations for the fight against anti-Semitism.6 The AJCongress, however,
was unique among these institutions. Unlike the other organizations in
NCRAC, and indeed, unlike nearly any other organization in the larger
intercultural education movement, the AJCongress was not willing to rely
on moral pleading and the process of education to eliminate anti-Semi-
tism. The AJCongress preferred a more direct approach, through litiga-
tion and lobbying for legal change.

Founded in 1918, the AJCongress was one of the more militant and
confrontational of Jewish organizations. From the beginning, and quite
unlike the older and more staid American Jewish Committee, the AJ-
Congress would protest, confront, and publicize anti-Semitism.7 After
World War II, fearing rampant anti-Semitism in the United States, the
AJCongress drew on the insights of two innovative émigré scholars, Kurt
Lewin and Alexander Pekelis, to launch a “comprehensive program of
legal, legislative and social action which would protect and safeguard the
rights of Americans . . . by outlawing every form of discrimination on
grounds of race, creed, color or national origin.”8 At the heart of their
program was the belief that education and moral exhortation against
prejudice would always fail if official discrimination continued. For the
AJCongress, official discrimination, whether a quota on the number of
Jews allowed into medical school or the segregation statutes of the white
South, would have to be eliminated in order to eliminate prejudice. Only
after these structural changes occurred in society could education to
combat prejudice have some hope of success.

To attack official discrimination, the AJCongress created two new divi-
sions concerned with using both the law and social science: The Commis-
sion on Community Interrelations (CCI) hoped to translate social science
research into social action in order to lead a “scientific attack on anti-Semi-
tism and other minority problems in the United States.”9 They recognized
that the law could serve a valuable purpose for their work. The Commission
on Law and Social Action (CLSA) was to do for Jewish Americans what the
NAACP had been doing for African Americans—litigate to protect their
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rights. CLSA’s attorneys viewed social science as a valuable resource for the
creation of new laws against discrimination and segregation.

Commission on Community Interrelations

The Commission on Community Interrelations was the brainchild of
Kurt Lewin (1890–1947). Educated at the University of Berlin, he made
several fundamental contributions to psychology in Europe, concentrat-
ing on worker education and job satisfaction. In 1934, Lewin fled Europe
to the United States. Finding himself in a strange new country caused
Lewin to turn his attention to issues surrounding group identification,
prejudice, aggression, and Jewish identity. After two years at Cornell Uni-
versity, he spent 1935–1945 at the Child Welfare Research Station at the
University of Iowa.10

While in Iowa, in the late 1930s, Lewin’s research with small group set-
tings convinced him that social science could be used to bolster democ-
racy. He began working with a doctoral student, Ronald Lippitt. Lippitt
wanted to study how different leadership styles affected behavior of chil-
dren in small groups. Lewin was intrigued by the idea and suggested that
Lippitt study the effect of democratic versus autocratic leadership
styles.11 In these experiments, dubbed the “boys studies,” adult experi-
menters posed as a group leader for a group of young boys. The group
leader took the role of either a “democratic” leader, who allowed the chil-
dren to set much of the agenda for the task at hand, or an “autocratic”
leader, who ordered the children to complete the given task. The studies
demonstrated that democracy was the road to peaceful cooperation
within these groups. Lewin reported, “There was about thirty times as
much hostile domination in the autocracy as in the democracy, more de-
mands for attention and much more hostile criticism; whereas in the de-
mocratic atmosphere co-operation and praise of the other fellow was
much more frequent.”12

For Lewin, the results of the boys studies suggested the possibility of
“democratic social engineering” through the use of small groups of indi-
viduals. Lewin expanded his ideas concerning social engineering during
World War II. He was enlisted to aid the government to encourage the
consumption of more organ meats during the food shortages that ac-
companied the war. Lewin’s work on food habits convinced him that the
proper way to inculcate a population was not through a lecture or propa-
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ganda but through the use of small groups, where the individuals could
discuss the issues under democratic leadership.13

Studies such as the “meat study,” combined with methods for training
democratic leaders, gave Lewin hope for the use of social psychology for
social engineering. For example, during the war, Lewin was concerned
about the problem of postwar Germany, for he firmly believed that
democracy could not be “imposed” on a conquered German people;
rather it had to be learned. The way to teach them, he believed, was
through small groups, similar to those in the boys studies. In 1943, Lewin
wrote that group methods could be used to re-educate the German pub-
lic in democracy. He claimed, “It seems possible by training democratic
leaders and leaders of leaders to build up a pyramid which could reach
large masses relatively quickly.”14 By the end of the war, Lewin was firmly
convinced that social science could be used for social engineering. He
wrote in 1944, “As industrial plants have found out that physical research
pays, social organizations will soon find out that social research pays.”15

He began to seek funding for his ideas for linking social science to social
action, specifically in the area of minority group relations.16

In 1944, some of Lewin’s publications came to the attention of AJ-
Congress president Rabbi Stephen Wise. The AJCongress had $1 million
earmarked for the creation of a research center for the study of inter-
group relations, and Wise thought Lewin should lead it.17 The AJ-
Congress offer was tailor-made for Lewin’s vision of a social engineering
organization, and he quickly agreed to undertake the creation of the new
commission.

In July 1944, Lewin submitted a plan for the new organization that
outlined a vision of lawyers and social scientists working side by side,
fighting for democracy. He argued that many existing programs were
based on an insufficient understanding of the causes of and cures for
anti-Semitism. Lewin’s program would be based on two criteria. First, “it
has to be objective, i.e. it has to uncover the essential facts in an unbi-
ased scientific manner.” Second, the program “has to be practical, i.e. it
should lead to coordinated significant actions.” To meet both criteria,
Lewin envisioned an organization with two main divisions: a research
division, which would consist of community sociologists, opinion ana-
lysts, group psychologists, individual psychologists, and statisticians, and
an “operational division,” which would combine two previously existing
AJCongress commissions that included numerous lawyers: the Commis-
sion on Economic Discrimination and the Commission on Law and
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Legislation. In his new Commission on Community Interrelations, re-
search workers and operational personnel would be equal participants.
As Lewin wrote, “The need for action determines the content of the re-
search; scientific requirements determine its technique.”18

Fundamental to CCI’s views on prejudice was the notion that “if we
can break down the social segregation and discrimination which defines
a racial or religious group as a sanctioned target for prejudice and scape-
goating, time will take care of the individual prejudice.”19 CCI’s focus on
official discrimination rather than the attitude of prejudice is reflected in
one of its first projects: a general survey of the state of knowledge about
prejudice and discrimination, undertaken by Goodwin Watson. Watson
surveyed different techniques for fighting prejudice, including education,
moral exhortation, and other methods. He concluded that “it is more con-
structive to attack segregation than it is to attack prejudice.” Segregation
was amenable to public control, unlike people’s private prejudices. More-
over, education would fail unless official “caste barriers” were torn down,
because “habits built around those barriers will silently undo anything we
accomplish.”20

CCI believed that law could do what education could not: break
through the irrational attitude of race prejudice. Thus the law became an
essential component to fighting discrimination and prejudice. Stuart W.
Cook, who would play a pivotal role in the Brown litigation, came to CCI
in 1948 to serve as co-director along with Lewin. A University of Min-
nesota Ph.D. in 1938, Cook had long been interested in the effects of in-
tergroup contact on attitude change. Soon after joining the staff of CCI,
Cook set forth the CCI’s philosophy regarding the relationship between
education and legal change:

Educational programs aimed at reducing discrimination are likely to make
slow headway when there are no anti-discrimination laws. But passage of a
law changes the atmosphere in which education is carried on. Once legisla-
tion exists, an educational program can draw support from the law-abid-
ing tradition of most citizens. After a law is passed, an educational cam-
paign designed to explain the law’s purpose and to encourage compliance
with it is no longer an inefficient technique but is in a position to produce
a great return for a relatively small investment.21

Cook was presenting the key idea for these researchers: that the law is not
an alternative to education against group prejudice but is best used in
conjunction with such education.
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Isidor Chein, CCI’s research director, made a similar point. Like Ken-
neth B. Clark, Chein had received his Ph.D. in psychology in 1939 from
Columbia. Before joining CCI, he worked with one of the first organiza-
tions in New York City dedicated to the study of intergroup relations, the
Committee on Unity, which was established in the wake of the 1943
Harlem riots.22 In 1946, while at the Committee on Unity, Chein wrote
that legal changes “constitute virtually the only means of breaking into
the vicious circle [of prejudice and discrimination].”23 Hence, he was
quite receptive to the AJCongress’s program of direct legal action against
discrimination. He joined CCI as a research associate and became direc-
tor of research in 1950.24 At CCI, Chein continued to maintain that “edu-
cation and the law . . . go hand in hand; each approach helps to bring out
the best potentialities of the other. Either, alone, is apt to be fruitless.”25

The particular method Lewin developed for CCI was “action research.”
Lewin envisioned social scientists researching a problem and “actionists”
implementing a reform program. Actionists included not just lawyers but
also community workers, local leaders, religious personnel, and others
who lived and worked in the community under study.26 From the begin-
ning, CCI personnel saw the difficulties of these two groups of people
working side by side. Ronald Lippitt, Lewin’s student from the Iowa days,
made the issues clear in an internal memorandum. Social scientists,
wrote Lippitt, were “likely to feel that action personnel have no apprecia-
tion of the problems and requirements of data collection” and were
“likely to be put in situations where [their] previous sources of satisfac-
tion—recognition for competence in technical publication, theorizing,
etc., are not relevant.” By contrast, action personnel were “likely to feel
that social research isn’t practical enough yet to make improvements on
the great mass of experience which has led to certain more or less institu-
tionalized practices” and that “data collection procedures are an unwar-
ranted nuisance when they begin to call for certain modifications of ac-
tion plans.”27 As we will see, Lippitt’s argument would prove prescient, for
while CCI created valuable research that would later become important
in the Brown litigation, social scientists and lawyers would coexist only
uneasily within the institutionalized context of the AJCongress.

The first research project undertaken by CCI serves as an example of
the uneasy relationship of CCI with the rest of the AJCongress. Kenneth
B. Clark was part of a staff hastily assembled by CCI for this project, an
investigation of a disturbance at a synagogue at Seaside, a small Coney Is-
land community. Seaside was predominantly a Jewish community but
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with a large minority of Italians and a smaller number of African Ameri-
cans. Because the disturbance took place on Yom Kippur, CCI investiga-
tors wanted to discover if it was motivated by anti-Semitism in the com-
munity. Consequently, Clark and his associates interviewed many Seaside
residents to determine their racial attitudes and found that the commu-
nity was under considerable tension owing to poverty. The disturbance at
the synagogue was the result of hostility aimed at Jews because they were
conspicuous on Yom Kippur and not because of general feelings of anti-
Semitism. The article on Seaside foreshadowed Clark’s later work with
the NAACP-LDEF in two ways: first, because it was an early demonstra-
tion of minority group members accepting the negative evaluations of
their group that majority group members imposed on them—an argu-
ment that would become significant in the Brown litigation—and, sec-
ond, because it attempted to demonstrate how social scientists strove be
social activists while remaining objective researchers.

CCI investigators found that members of Seaside’s minority groups
often took on unfavorable attitudes about their own race, or what Kurt
Lewin had dubbed group “self-hatred.” The final report argued, “It may
be noted that 30 percent of the Negroes, 21 percent of the Italians, and 14
percent of the Jews express only unfavorable stereotypes about them-
selves. This illustrates the self-hate factor referred to by Lewin.”28 At the
time of Kenneth Clark’s involvement with CCI, he and Mamie Clark were
busy preparing a new set of articles that would show how African Ameri-
cans were suffering from a negative self-image. (In chapter 7, I explore
this work by the Clarks.)

Another significant thing about the Seaside study was the stance the
researchers took toward their role as objective scientists. In their report,
the authors were quick to disavow advocacy for the Jewish cause; they
wrote that even though CCI was associated with the activist and political
AJCongress, “by accepting research responsibility, we necessarily lost the
character of a special interest organization and took on the objective role
of consultant to the community on its problems.” The scientific outlook,
the authors claimed, meant that CCI, in researching the problems of mi-
nority groups, took those problems “out of the realm of special pleading
into the area of social science, where the only possible orientation is that
of impartial work toward the common good.”29 This separation of ac-
tivist organization from social scientific researcher would prove an ongo-
ing struggle for CCI and for Clark during his tenure with the NAACP-
LDEF.
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Clark’s experience at CCI was not a pleasant one. In his resignation
letter, he expressed his belief that he was being employed as a “token.” Not
free to develop his own program of study, nor completely free to write up
his own research results, Clark left CCI to work on his own projects.30

After Clark’s departure, the research sponsored by CCI in the late
1940s and early 1950s demonstrated just how CCI’s social scientists be-
lieved that education and the law could be partners in the reduction of
discrimination and prejudice. CCI attempted to show that a change in
the actual physical circumstances of society could precede a change in the
attitudes of people. In other words, the law did not have to wait for a
change in social climate to be effective; the law could be a causal agent in
the attitude change. Two lines of research demonstrate how CCI at-
tempted to merge social science with an attack on discrimination: first,
research conducted on the separation of attitudes from behavior, and sec-
ond, research on the effects of interracial contact.

On the separation of attitudes from behavior, CCI’s social scientists
built on the work of Richard T. Lapiere.31 In the 1930s, Lapiere traveled
through the United States with a Chinese couple. They stayed in hotels or
auto camps and ate in a total of 184 restaurants. With the exception of
one hotel, in all cases the three were served without incident. Six months
later, Lapiere sent out a questionnaire to the establishments that had
served them, asking if they served “members of the Chinese race.” Over
90 percent of those responding indicated they did not, despite the fact
that they had done just that six months earlier.32

In the 1930s, Lapiere’s work was noted with approval by the activist so-
cial psychologists in New York City,33 and CCI gave them the opportunity
to further his research in the 1940s. Bernard Kutner successfully dupli-
cated Lapiere’s research when he sent two white women into a series of
New York restaurants. The white women were later joined by an African
American woman who was seated without incident. Later, when Kutner
inquired as to the racial policies of the restaurants, he was informed that
they did not serve African Americans. Gerhart Saenger conducted a simi-
lar study on the integration of sales personnel, discovering that cus-
tomers who, moments earlier, had been assisted by African American
sales personnel at a large New York department store would tell a pollster
that they would never trade at a store that employed African Americans.34

This research into the separation of attitude and behavior was CCI’s
best-received research in the larger AJCongress, because it fit so well
with the AJCongress’s program of attacking discrimination rather than
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prejudice.35 It was also research on a rather small scale, meaning it could
be delivered in time to be useful to the AJCongress’s program of social
action. In the Brown litigation, this research could be used to argue that,
despite what the south said about resisting desegregation, its actions
would probably follow the fait accompli of the law.

Within the social science community, of more lasting influence than
the attitude/behavior research was the research at CCI on interracial con-
tact.36 For CCI, interracial contact was the point at which the cycle of dis-
crimination and prejudice could be broken. In 1948, Stuart Cook wrote
that interracial contact could cause a rollback of both prejudice and dis-
crimination:

Insofar as successful action against discriminatory practices brings about a
decrease in segregation this will mean increased contact between persons
from different backgrounds which will, under favorable circumstances,
create a reduction in prejudice. Such a reduction in prejudice should, of
course, have the consequences of further reduction of discriminatory prac-
tices and hostile behavior.37

The notion that contact between differing groups would lead to the re-
duction of prejudice in those groups became Stuart Cook’s life work and
one of the most significant contributions of CCI social scientists to social
psychology.38 As soon as he arrived at CCI in 1947, Cook was testifying
before city commissions that contact between the races served to decrease
racial tensions. For example, before the City Commission of Jersey City,
Cook testified that “joint occupancy of the same housing community by
Negroes and whites has consistently worked out: Initial, mistaken ideas
are soon corrected through day-to-day contact and, in many places,
members of the different races have come to share identical responsibili-
ties in a completely democratic way.”39

As a program of scientific study, CCI researchers attempted to discover
the circumstances under which contact between individuals of different
races tended to decrease prejudice. The “contact hypothesis”—that con-
tact between different races decreased prejudice—was an open question
in the late 1940s. While some unsystematic evidence, such as Lee and
Humphrey’s book on the Detroit race riot, was available to indicate that
racial contact decreased prejudice, there was no firm consensus on the
issue; indeed, there was some evidence that contact tended to increase
prejudice. In a 1948 survey of various programs designed to decrease
prejudice, Cornell University social scientist Robin M. Williams called for
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further research into the question of interracial contact. Noting that “es-
tablishment of the effects of segregation per se will be an extraordinarily
difficult task,” Williams argued that social scientists should study the ef-
fects of segregated and nonsegregated situations in order to answer ques-
tions such as “Where is friction greatest? Where are the areas of high and
low intensity and incidence of verbal prejudice? How do stable areas of
intermingling compare with shifting areas and ‘invasion’ points?”40

Soon, CCI researchers were attempting to answer the sorts of questions
posed by Williams. Building on earlier work on the desegregation of the
armed forces, CCI’s researchers concentrated on interracial public hous-
ing and interracial employment situations.41 These studies were not ex-
perimental, as the attitude/behavior studies were, but grew out of the mi-
gration of African Americans to New York and the newly desegregated em-
ployment and public housing opportunities for them. CCI seized the
research opportunities offered by these real-life situations to study inter-
racial contact in a series of field studies. Most often, the results of their
work were published in SPSSI’s official journal, The Journal of Social Issues.

In one of the first studies of interracial housing, two CCI staffers, Mor-
ton Deutsch and Mary Evans Collins, conducted interviews with families
living in four housing projects. Two of the projects were desegregated and
two were segregated. Deutsch and Collins found that in the segregated
projects, white prejudice was much higher than in the integrated neigh-
borhoods. Deutsch and Collins posited that the contact possible in inte-
grated neighborhoods gave prejudiced individuals the opportunity to re-
alize that their prejudices had no basis in reality. By contrast, in the segre-
gated neighborhoods, no such opportunity existed for the prejudiced
individual to overcome his or her stereotypes about African Americans.42

Stuart Cook also spent a majority of his research time at CCI on the
question of interracial housing, reaching similar results.43

A parallel set of studies was conducted on the effects of the interracial
workplace. For example, a study by John Harding and Russell Hogrefe
dovetailed nicely with the study of customer reaction to the integration
of sales personnel. In Harding and Hogrefe’s study, the researchers polled
the white co-workers of a newly integrated sales floor. Harding and
Hogrefe found that, while the basic attitude of the white workers toward
their African American co-workers might not have changed significantly,
they could nonetheless work peacefully side by side.44

CCI and other researchers in interracial contact were attempting to
discover the specific conditions under which interracial contact would
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decrease prejudice. In April 1951, Gordon Allport stated what social sci-
ence had discovered about the conditions needed for contact to reduce
prejudice when he reported, “first, that the contact must be one of equal
status; and second, that the members must have objective interests in
common.” To achieve these conditions, Allport argued that “artificial seg-
regation should be abolished. Until it is abolished equal status contacts
cannot take place. And until they take place cooperative projects of joint
concern cannot arise. And until this condition is fulfilled we may not ex-
pect widespread resolution of intergroup tensions. Hence, nearly all the
investigators agree that the attack on segregation must continue.”45 This
would be a key point for the social scientists when they became involved
in the litigation campaign: that the abolition of segregation was a neces-
sary step to better race relations rather than a sufficient step. In the case of
the “contact hypothesis,” for example, social scientists were not arguing
that all that needed to be done to reduce prejudice was to eliminate legal
segregation but rather that nothing could be done to reduce prejudice
until legal segregation was eliminated. In other words, the elimination of
segregation was seen as a necessary first step toward better race relations,
not the end of the journey but the beginning.

CCI’s research into the contact hypothesis and the relationship be-
tween attitude and behavior would become very useful in the 1950s when
the Brown litigation began. In the 1940s, however, CCI collaborated with
another branch of the AJCongress, the Commission on Law and Social
Action, to use social-scientific expertise in the creation of new law.

Commission on Law and Social Action

In his memorandum proposing the formation of CCI, Lewin envisioned
CCI’s operational division as consisting of the existing Commission on
Law and Legislation and the Commission on Economic Discrimination.
Instead, the AJCongress merged these two existing commissions in No-
vember 1945 under the leadership of three attorneys, Will Maslow, Leo
Pfeffer, and Alexander Pekelis, to form the Commission on Law and So-
cial Action.46

Maslow had come to the United States when he was three years old. He
had studied economics at Cornell but switched to law at Columbia when
he discovered that universities hesitated to hire Jewish professors. Unfor-
tunately, most large law firms were equally hesitant to hire Jewish attor-
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neys. The newly formed bureaucracies of the New Deal, however, had no
such restrictions, and Maslow worked as a trial attorney for the National
Labor Relations Board and later supervised the Fair Employment Prac-
tices Commission.47

In 1945, when Maslow was hired to head the newly formed CLSA, he
found Alexander Pekelis employed by the AJCongress with undefined du-
ties. Pekelis had been the director of the Commission on Law and Legisla-
tion until it was collapsed into CLSA. Born in Russia, Pekelis spent most
of his adult life in Italy and France as a professor of jurisprudence. In
1941, he fled to the United States just before the Nazis entered France. He
took a position on the graduate faculty of the New School for Social Re-
search and entered the Columbia School of Law in 1942, where he be-
came editor of the Columbia Law Review. Because he was not yet a mem-
ber of the bar, Pekelis could not serve as a staff attorney for CLSA, but
Maslow created a special position for him: “chief consultant.”48 Pekelis’s
first job for CLSA was to prepare a memorandum that would set out the
organization and philosophy of CLSA, just as Kurt Lewin was in the
midst of doing for CCI.

Pekelis based his understanding of the law on an older American legal
tradition of legal realism. There are as many definitions of legal realism as
there were legal realists. Generally, the term referred to “that body of legal
thought produced for the most part by law professors at Columbia and
Yale Law Schools during the 1920s and 1930s.”49 These law professors
were following the lead of progressive theorists who rejected nineteenth-
century legal reasoning.

At the end of the nineteenth century, American jurisprudence was
dominated by the belief that judges discovered, rather than made, law. In
this view, law was a deductive reasoning process that took legal rules and
case precedents as its major premises and the facts of a particular case as
its minor premises. The judge could make a proper ruling in each case by
following the formal procedure, which inevitably led to the correct deci-
sion. The case method of legal education, pioneered by Christopher C.
Langdell at Harvard, perpetuated this formalistic system by teaching that
legal precedent, combined with proper reasoning, would lead to a uni-
form law.50

In the twentieth century, the formalistic legal system came under in-
creasing attack as legal theorists and practicing lawyers began to de-
mand that the law pay more attention to how the world actually
worked. Columbia law professor Karl Llewellyn was the first to attempt
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a definition of the new jurisprudence in a 1930 Columbia Law Review
article, “A Realistic Jurisprudence: The Next Step.” Llewellyn called for
the findings of the behavioral sciences to be used by lawyers and judges
to bring jurisprudence more in line with the way in which the world
truly operated.51 The legal realists, as they came to be known, attacked
two major concepts. First, realists denied that judges “discovered” law.
Rather, argued the realists, judges made law, and the law either helped or
hindered certain social policies. Second, the realists argued for new
sources of information to replace the abstractions of nineteenth-cen-
tury jurisprudence. Such sources of information, including social sci-
ence, began flooding the legal system with facts about how the law oper-
ated in society.52

At least some of those who could be called legal realists were interested
in using some social science in legal proceedings. Progressive lawyers
such as Charles E. Clark and William O. Douglas attempted to use social
science research to further their progressive reforms. Unfortunately, they
found that most social research was much too slow to be of use to the law.
In addition, if the results of the research did not suit the needs of the re-
formers, the research was ignored.53 The same issues would soon haunt
CCI researchers and CLSA attorneys in their attempt to integrate social
science and the law.

Pekelis entered Columbia as a mature scholar; for him, law school was
almost a formality, needed only to gain access to the American bar. The
central notions of realism—that judges make rather than discover law
and that information about the “real” world should play a central role in
the creation of law—clearly resonated with him. “Similar theories had
been developed in Europe long before legal realism became popular
here,” he wrote in 1943.54 Pekelis wrote the central doctrines of legal real-
ism into his memorandum for the AJCongress leadership.

At the heart of Pekelis’s proposal was the unique nature of anti-Semi-
tism in the United States. In contrast to European anti-Semitism, which
was a function of official government action, American anti-Semitism
“comes from the forces of society itself. Anti-Semitism here is private or
communal, not public or governmental in nature.”55 These social forces,
in the form of unofficial quotas on Jews in professional schools, for in-
stance, would be much harder to detect than anything as blatant as a law.
Hence, to combat American anti-Semitism, Jews needed the sorts of data
that could only be provided by social science. “Contemporary experi-
ence,” Pekelis wrote,
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has shown that no political, social, administrative, or legal action can be
conducted efficiently unless means are found to narrow the gap between
those who devote themselves to the study of social reality and those who,
in legislative communities and courts, shape the law of the community. . . .
Law without a knowledge of society is blind; sociology without a knowl-
edge of law, powerless.

Pekelis wanted to ensure successful cooperation between social scientists
and lawyers by having them work in the “same functional unit.” In a line
that Lewin might have written, Pekelis urged “a close-knit integration of
projects. . . . The same type of integration must be achieved between so-
cial and legal action and between research and operational activities.”56

Although Pekelis did not get his dream of social scientists working
within the legal department, his ideas resonated with the working attor-
neys of CLSA. Just as Pekelis predicted they would, CLSA attorneys found
social science materials necessary because of the special problems of
American anti-Semitism. Maslow and the other attorneys recognized that
the use of social science would be necessary for much of the litigation to
be successful. A February 1946 memorandum argued “legal skills, social
science training and the capacity for social action must be joined if spe-
cific tasks are to be defined intelligently and pursued successfully.”57 In
1949, contrasting the sorts of problems confronted by CLSA, which
wanted to eliminate anti-Semitism, with those confronted by the NAACP,
which wanted to eliminate discrimination against African Americans, a
Note in the Yale Law Journal noted, “Discrimination against Jews in the
United States is usually non-governmental, non-violent, and extremely
subtle,” and added that “an organization concerned with Jewish problems
must employ sociological research to expose the more subtle discrimina-
tion to which Jews are subjected.”58

The “specific tasks” that CLSA set for itself were those that promised
“lasting and desirable results.” Maslow noted that “CLSA has the choice
of swatting mosquitoes or draining the swamps.”59 CLSA tried to select
cases that significantly furthered civil rights not just for Jews but for all
minority groups. For the AJCongress, as well as for many other groups
interested in fighting racial prejudice in the 1940s and 1950s, prejudice
against one minority group was seen as prejudice against all minority
groups.60 To further civil rights on the greatest possible scale. CLSA
would take advantage of the freedom offered by the “friend of the court”
brief, because “progressive organizations have frequently used such briefs
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to bring to the attention of the court a broad and general viewpoint tran-
scending the individual claims involved in a given litigation.”61

The flexibility of the amicus brief allowed CLSA to fight for civil rights
on a much broader scale than if the commission had been limited to cases
concerning only Jews. This was by design, because, although CLSA was
primarily concerned with the status of Jews, it recognized that Jewish con-
cerns were tied to those of other minority groups. Will Maslow wrote
“One of the Chartered purposes of the American Jewish Congress is to de-
fend the rights of Jews in this country. To be successful that defense re-
quires the elimination of discrimination against all racial, religious and
ethnic groups.”62 In civil rights battles concerning African Americans,
however, CLSA followed the lead of the NAACP. According to Maslow,
this was “Principally because defense of Negroes and their rights is not the
basic reason for our existence and we do not like to take action contrary to
that of the recognized leader in the fight for Negro emancipation.”63

Pekelis, like Lewin, had set out a blueprint for collaboration between
social scientists and lawyers in the fight against discrimination. Both
Lewin and Pekelis had argued that not only would merging the law and
social science be advantageous to the battle against discrimination, but
that it was vital that lawyers and social scientists actually plan and carry
out their projects together. What they envisioned went beyond the cita-
tion of a few research results in a legal brief toward the actual partnership
of social scientists in the creation of that brief. Moreover, social scientists
would not merely study the effects of particular legal changes but would
be active agents creating those legal changes. Beyond mere “cooperation,”
Lewin and Pekelis wanted lawyers and social scientists to work in an al-
most symbiotic relationship. In reality, however, the lawyers and social
scientists would have trouble working as closely as Lewin and Pekelis had
hoped. While social scientists did try to design research that would be of
use in the legal arena, and while lawyers designed arguments that re-
quired social-scientific data, the close collaboration Lewin and Pekelis de-
sired never emerged. In the next chapter, I explore the successes of their
ideas, as well as the failure of their unique institutional arrangement.
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Pre-Brown Litigation

By the time the campaign to desegregate elementary and sec-
ondary education began in 1951, the NAACP-LDEF was a sophisticated
user of social science material in court briefs and had at least some expe-
rience with presenting social scientists as expert witnesses in the area of
segregation. For the School Segregation Cases that culminated in the
Supreme Court decision in Brown, the NAACP-LDEF relied on a specific
network of social scientists, centered primarily in New York and many
with ties to the American Jewish Congress. The School Segregation Cases
had their origins in the 1930s, when the NAACP decided to begin a legal
campaign to eliminate segregated education.

Background of the Litigation Campaign

In 1896, the United States Supreme Court held in Plessy v. Ferguson that
laws requiring separate railcars for white and African American passen-
gers were a reasonable exercise of state power and did not violate the
equal protection provisions of the Thirteenth or Fourteenth Amend-
ments to the Constitution. The Court held that

we cannot say that a law which authorizes or even requires the separation
of the two races in public conveyances is unreasonable or more obnoxious
to the Fourteenth Amendment than the acts of Congress requiring sepa-
rate schools for colored children in the District of Columbia, the constitu-
tionality of which does not seem to have been questioned, or the corre-
sponding acts of state legislatures.1

Though the Court was simply affirming a long line of lower court de-
cisions that upheld the constitutionality of segregated facilities, the status
of the Supreme Court entrenched the doctrine of separate-but-equal in
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American constitutional law.2 By 1927, Chief Justice William Howard
Taft found the state’s power to segregate education long since settled as
reasonable.3 This legal doctrine of separate-but-equal was the target of
the NAACP campaign against segregated education.

The roots of the NAACP campaign against segregated education
began in 1930, when the NAACP hired a young lawyer, Nathan Margold,
to draft a legal strategy that could be used to secure adequate educational
facilities for African American children. In his report, Margold counseled
against a futile campaign of litigation aimed at the equalization of facili-
ties in the separate-but-equal world of the South. Such a campaign
would entail a separate lawsuit for each of the thousands of southern
school districts in order to prove that facilities in each of those districts
were unequal, quickly sapping the NAACP’s meager resources. Margold
argued, however, if the NAACP “boldly challenge[d] the constitutional
validity of segregation if and when accompanied irremediably by dis-
crimination,” the organization could eliminate segregated schooling in
one stroke. By eliminating segregation completely, African American
children would be guaranteed adequate educational facilities. The Mar-
gold report was the blueprint for the NAACP’s challenge to segregated
education, providing a simple but powerful strategy for the elimination
of Jim Crow schools.4

Margold’s legal strategy arrived just as the NAACP’s legal staff was un-
dergoing significant changes, the most important of which was the ar-
rival on staff of Charles Hamilton Houston, dean of the Howard Univer-
sity School of Law, who would be responsible for the planning and execu-
tion of the litigation envisioned by Margold. A 1922 graduate of Harvard
University School of Law, where he was an exceptional student, earning a
doctorate in Juridical Science rather than the more conventional J.D.,
Houston had come to the attention of two of the most famous and de-
manding of Harvard’s faculty, Felix Frankfurter and Roscoe Pound.
Frankfurter, one of Harvard’s legal realist professors, became Houston’s
doctoral adviser. He taught Houston that the law was a tool of social en-
gineering and that an attorney needed an understanding of the law’s so-
cial setting in order to be successful. Pound, one of the founders of the
earlier school of “sociological jurisprudence,” believed that the law must
include an understanding of the social sciences in order to operate effec-
tively.5 As dean of Howard Law School, Houston brought the realist em-
phasis on the use of social science to an entire generation of African
American attorneys who would lead the fight for civil rights.6 In part, the
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NAACP’s reliance on social science during the School Segregation Cases
could have been expected, given that much of the legal staff had received
its training at Howard, an important center of legal realist thinking and
its concomitant reliance on “real-world” factual data.

Beginning in 1933 under Houston, the NAACP focused on suits to
eliminate segregated graduate and professional schools, because Houston
felt that these schools were the most vulnerable to a direct attack on seg-
regation. Segregated states seldom made a pretense of offering equal op-
portunities for African Americans who desired a graduate education.
Seventeen of the nineteen states that required segregated education had
no graduate schools whatsoever for African Americans to attend. Only
three states, West Virginia, Missouri, and Maryland, offered out-of-state
scholarships that would pay the tuition for African American students
who wished to pursue graduate education. Houston thought that this
near-absolute absence of opportunities for graduate education would en-
able him to demonstrate easily the inequality of segregation.7

Five years after the Margold report, Houston was joined in his effort
by a former pupil, Thurgood Marshall. Marshall was born in Baltimore,
which he described as the “most segregated city in the United States.” He
was raised in the heart of Baltimore’s African American middle class and
attended Lincoln University in Pennsylvania in 1925. On graduation
from Lincoln, he attended the newly accredited Howard Law School. At
Howard, Marshall excelled under the strict hand of Houston and, after
graduation, moved into what turned out to be a brief private practice. In
1936, Marshall joined the NAACP staff, with an initial commitment from
the NAACP to pay his salary for six months. He quickly moved up in the
NAACP hierarchy, however. Houston left the NAACP in 1938 to return to
private practice, and Marshall took charge of the NAACP legal activities.
In 1939, the NAACP, concerned about the tax-exempt status for its legal
work, established a separate organization, the NAACP–Legal Defense and
Education Fund, Inc. (NAACP-LDEF), and Marshall became the director
of this new organization.8

Under Marshall’s direction, the NAACP won a major Supreme Court
victory in 1938 when the Court decided that the state of Missouri had a
constitutional obligation to provide a legal education to Lloyd Gaines, a
young African American represented by Marshall. The Court left open,
however, the question of whether, if Missouri had a separate law school
for African Americans, the state could have fulfilled its constitutional re-
quirements.9

Pre-Brown Litigation | 81



World War II interrupted the litigation campaign, and further suits
were suspended “for the duration.” As the war drew to a close in 1945, the
NAACP had one Supreme Court victory: Gaines. It was a limited victory,
however, because the Supreme Court left open the possibility that sepa-
rate graduate education for African Americans would be constitutionally
permissible. Southern states quickly went about setting up separate grad-
uate programs for African Americans. After the war, the task of the
NAACP would be to prove that these hastily assembled programs could
not possibly be equal to the long-established programs that existed for
white students, a task the NAACP assumed would be relatively simple. In
fact, proving any two schools unequal was extraordinarily difficult for the
NAACP.10 It was for this task that the NAACP turned to social science—
as one way in which to prove that separate systems of education would be
unequal and, hence, discriminatory.

That the NAACP-LDEF would turn to social science shows the in-
fluence of the legal realism that Houston brought to Howard Law
School. For the legal realists, in order for courts to make good law, they
had to be aware of the social consequences of their rulings, even in a
rarefied field such as constitutional law. The NAACP-LDEF used social-
scientific data to demonstrate the “reality” of school segregation and ar-
gued that the court must be aware of these social realities to make good
constitutional law.11 Immediately after World War II, the NAACP-LDEF
saw an opportunity to put their legal realist training to the test. The
NAACP-LDEF and the AJCongress both joined a California segregation
case that was being appealed to the Federal Ninth Circuit Court of Ap-
peals. The California case arose independently of either organization, so
each filed an amicus brief as a friend of the court. This case would serve
as the proving ground for the use of social-scientific data in segregation
cases.

Westminster v. Mendez

Segregation of Mexican American schoolchildren had been a common
practice in California since the 1920s, when immigration made Mexicans
the state’s largest minority. Although not sanctioned by California law,
the white, or “Anglo,” populations of many communities insisted that the
local school boards create separate schools for Mexican American chil-
dren, ostensibly because of language problems.
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On March 2, 1945, five Mexican American parents filed a suit in federal
district court to enjoin the segregation of their children on the grounds
that such segregation constituted a violation of Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendment equal protection guarantees. The school districts argued that
such segregation was not based on race but served sound educational pur-
poses involving bilingual education. Moreover, they argued that control of
the schools was a local matter and hence outside the jurisdiction of the
federal courts. Finally, the districts claimed that the separate facilities were
in any case equal and therefore constitutional under the separate-but-
equal doctrine of Plessy v. Ferguson, the 1896 U.S. Supreme Court case
that had entrenched segregated facilities in constitutional law.

The federal district court’s ruling came nearly a year later. Because
California had no segregation statues, the court ruled that there was in-
deed a violation of equal protection clauses of the U.S. Constitution. The
court found that, in the absence of such segregation statutes, the sepa-
rate-but-equal doctrine did not apply. Finally, it found no sound educa-
tional reason for the segregation of Spanish-speaking pupils; in fact, the
district court argued that assimilation would proceed more rapidly in in-
tegrated schools. The school district quickly appealed the case to the
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.12 During this appeal, the case came to
the attention of the NAACP-LDEF and the AJCongress.

The NAACP-LDEF Westminster Brief

The NAACP-LDEF brief was prepared by Robert L. Carter, Thurgood
Marshall’s second in command in the organization. A graduate of Co-
lumbia Law School, Carter had joined the staff of the NAACP-LDEF in
1944, when he was released from active duty from the U.S. Air Corps. He
soon became responsible for the day-to-day running of the office during
Marshall’s frequent absences. Carter also quickly gained a reputation for
rather abstract theorizing about law and took the freedom that Marshall
gave to his staff to develop new strategies to address old problems.13 The
California case Westminster v. Mendez is a good example of Carter’s pen-
chant for creative legal thought.

The brief that Carter prepared for the Westminster case made three ar-
guments, two of which presented straightforward legal points. First, he
argued that classifications on the basis of race and color were unconstitu-
tional. Carter pointed to a series of Supreme Court cases that held racial
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classifications suspect and argued that these, not Plessy, should control in
this case. Second, Carter argued that no U.S. Supreme Court decisions ac-
tually upheld racial segregation in education, and the distinguished Plessy
as a transportation case, not an education case. Both of these arguments
were broad attacks on Plessy, but they were also traditional constitutional
arguments that did not need social science or any other sort of extralegal
materials to be effective.

The third argument was not based on previous court cases or on a rule
of law but on sociological and psychological materials Carter had assem-
bled. He titled the argument “The requirements of due process and the
Equal Protection of the laws under the Fourteenth Amendment cannot
be achieved under a system of segregation.”14 Carter argued that, to be a
constitutional exercise of state power under the Plessy doctrine, equal fa-
cilities must be provided. But, Carter claimed, this in itself proved that
the very act of separation necessitated inequality. In this way, Carter
hoped to give the court a way to move against segregation without di-
rectly confronting the Supreme Court precedent.

Carter employed three different lines of reasoning to prove his argu-
ment that inequality was a necessary consequence of segregation. First,
racial segregation was an instrument of public policy that ensured
African Americans remained second-class citizens. True equality in facili-
ties was impossible to achieve, because communities could not afford to
maintain two school systems that were truly equal—a position the
NAACP had consistently taken since the Margold report in 1931. Carter
argued further that the existence of a few isolated equal facilities was ir-
relevant to the more general point that segregation resulted in a system of
discrimination to enforce inequality. He presented sociological data as-
sembled by Ambrose Caliver, the first African American to be employed
by the U.S. Office of Education. Caliver was appointed a “specialist in
Negro education” in 1930. His office produced bibliographies of African
American education, bulletins on various aspects of African American
education, and surveys of the state of African American education.15

In the Westminster brief, Carter used Caliver’s data from the seventeen
states and the District of Columbia that practiced racial segregation to
argue that the “best single index to the quality of education” was expendi-
tures, and he pointed out that general expenditures per white pupil in
nine southern states were “almost 212% greater than the average expense
per Negro pupil.”16 The result of this inequality in expenditures was the
deprivation of educational advancement that African Americans needed
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to function as effective citizens. Carter also used Caliver’s data to point
out that states practicing segregation “in 1939–1940 provided one teacher
for every 28.6 white pupils, but one teacher for every 36.1 Negroes. And
the average salary for a white teacher was $1,046 a year, while the average
Negro teacher’s salary was only $601.”17 Carter argued:

The result of such educational inequities brought about as a consequence
of the policy of segregation has been to deprive the individual Negro citi-
zen of the skills necessary to a civilized existence, the Negro community of
the leadership and professional services it so urgently needs, and the na-
tion as a whole of the full potential embodied in the intellectual and physi-
cal resources of its Negro citizens.

For example, Carter drew on U.S. government statistics during World
War II, “when the nation was crying for manpower,” to demonstrate that
African Americans were rejected from military service for educational
deficiency almost four times as often as white draftees. He maintained
that such educational deficiencies proved the discriminatory effects of
segregation.18

Carter amassed all this statistical evidence in an attempt to demon-
strate the existence of a pattern of discrimination wherever segregation
was permitted. In this way, he attempted to sidestep the issue of
whether a particular facility was equal in a particular case. Such equality
of facilities was irrelevant to the fact that segregation gave the power to
discriminate. Carter argued, “Since all available experience, all existing
data prove conclusively that where the power is granted it is uniformly
used for the purpose of discrimination, it is important that such power
not be granted freely.”19 Carter’s second line of reasoning paralleled ar-
guments the NAACP–LDEF made in the restrictive covenant cases that
were being litigated at the same time as Westminster. In the restrictive
covenant cases, the NAACP-LDEF was convinced that its attack “must
be supported by a full sociological presentation” of the “social ills
caused by restrictive covenants.”20 Between 1945 and 1947, the NAACP-
LDEF held a series of planning meetings with lawyers and sociologists
from the American Race Relations Council of the University of Chicago
to build an argument that demonstrated the harms of restricting
African Americans from certain neighborhoods.21

In the Westminster brief, Carter took the argument that the NAACP-
LDEF was using in the restrictive covenant cases and presented it to
the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals as an argument against segregated
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education. Carter argued that, even granting for the moment that separate-
but-equal schools were possible, such equal facilities would not amelio-
rate “the most important inequalities of all,” namely, “the effect of such a
policy on the attitudes of those whom it most directly affects, the minor-
ity citizen, be he Negro, Mexican, Latin American, or Japanese.” Segrega-
tion created “a feeling of ‘second-class citizenship’ which expresses itself
in criminality and rebellion against constituted authority.”22 Carter’s ar-
gument here was a variation on the first: segregation was poor public pol-
icy because it caused crime and civil unrest through the promotion of an-
tisocial attitudes in minority individuals. Racial segregation “promotes
racial strife by teaching the children of both the dominant and minority
groups to regard each other as something different and apart.”23 Carter
argued that if citizens of the nation were to be tolerant of each other, it
was vital that these things be taught by example in the schoolroom.

To support this argument, Carter cited the most famous sociological
work of his generation: Gunnar Myrdal’s massive project in race rela-
tions, An American Dilemma. The only other two works he cited were
Richard Sterner’s The Negro’s Share and Charles Johnson’s Patterns of
Negro Segregation, both of which were outgrowths of Myrdal’s project.
Carter’s reliance on these works indicates a problem faced by the civil
rights attorney interested in using social science evidence in litigation. No
work cited by Carter addressed segregated education as the cause of any
social problem; rather, the works addressed a system of segregation. In
fact, Myrdal went as far as to comment that “no studies have been made
which quantify the extent of social segregation in any of its different
forms or local variations.”24 The two chapters of Myrdal’s Swedish associ-
ate Richard Sterner cited by Carter were on urban and rural housing con-
ditions and did not mention segregated education, nor any deleterious
effects of segregation on the citizenship of African Americans.25

The problem of isolating segregated education as a variable affecting
African Americans is highlighted by examining the third work relied on
by Carter for his argument, Charles S. Johnson’s Patterns of Negro Segre-
gation. Johnson had published a number of works on race relations, in-
cluding work he undertook for the American Council on Education (ex-
amined in chapter 2). Patterns of Negro Segregation was based on a series
of studies into the rural and urban South, the border-state cities of Balti-
more and Indianapolis, and the cities in the urban North—Chicago and
New York. Johnson and his staff based their results on observation of
everyday life in these areas and extensive interviewing.
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The section Carter referred to was a chapter on “Personality and the
Racial Role.” Johnson argued there that African Americans responded to
segregation in four broad patterns: “acceptance, avoidance, direct hostility,
and aggression.” Which behavior pattern an individual fell into depended
on “(a) the regional and cultural setting, (b) the social stratification of
the Negro population, (c) the situation factors involved in a given re-
sponse, and (d) the basic personality type of the Negro involved in a
given racial situation.”26 The most common response to discrimination,
Johnson found, was avoidance. Johnson claimed that “segregated institu-
tions and discriminatory treatment have some discernible influence on
the personality development of Negroes.” African Americans, however,
were “aware of the damaging effects on personality and shield themselves
as far as possible against situations involving segregation and discrimina-
tion. Negro parents are particular in many instances to have their chil-
dren avoid situations offering any opportunity for sensing the inequali-
ties of the racial system.”27

While Johnson’s cited work did support Carter’s claim that segregation
could promote unhealthy societal attitudes, it also demonstrated how the
broad strokes being painted by social science fit uncomfortably into the
detailed world of the law. Carter’s brief addressed only segregated educa-
tion—a sociological variable that Johnson did not attempt to isolate for
any special treatment. Indeed, Johnson discussed segregated education
for only seven pages, the majority of those recounting the Gaines decision
and the NAACP’s other legal challenges to segregated education.28 More-
over, Johnson did not isolate segregation as required by law as the con-
tributing factor in the personality development of African Americans. Fi-
nally, Johnson did not pose an argument for the elimination of segre-
gated education, claiming, “The most desirable solution would be
equalization with federal aid.”29

If the Westminster brief demonstrated the difficulties posed by so-
cial science for the NAACP-LDEF, it also showed the variety of uses
the NAACP-LDEF had for social science material. The “psychological
damage” argument was developed in only a few paragraphs; the vast
bulk of the material was Caliver’s sociological data, used to prove in-
equality in facilities. The inequality of facilities would become the
focus of the NAACP-LDEF’s use of social science in the years after the
Westminster case.

Carter’s argument for Westminster was an important innovation in the
use of social science material in the legal fight against segregation. An
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even more radical step was the argument developed in the brief filed by
CLSA for the AJCongress.

The CLSA Westminster Brief

Although not a member of the bar, Alexander Pekelis wrote the CLSA
brief for the Westminster case, and it was submitted over the signatures
of Will Maslow and Pauli Murray. It also bore the name of Carey
McWilliams, as local counsel.30

Carey McWilliams (1905–1980) was a Los Angeles attorney and jour-
nalist. In 1939, Governor Culbert Olson appointed him head of the state
Division of Immigration and Housing, where he worked for the welfare
of California’s alien immigrants. McWilliams held this position until
1943, when his longtime political opponent, newly elected governor Earl
Warren, fired him.31 As a journalist, McWilliams had been writing on
race prejudice for a number a years, publishing several books on the sub-
ject of California’s racial minorities.32 In 1946, the year of Westminster,
McWilliams was busy with a new book on anti-Semitism, which is one
reason he could serve as the local contact in California for the CLSA.33

Another reason was a 1945 article he wrote for the Marxist journal Sci-
ence and Society, in which he suggested that “both law and the social sci-
ences seem to share a number of assumptions as to the nature and origin
of racial discrimination. I want to call attention to certain of these as-
sumptions for the purpose of stimulating active collaboration between
lawyers and social scientists in this field.”34

McWilliams argued that both law and social sciences had been operat-
ing under the Sumnerian dictum that the law was powerless to change the
mores of society. He called attention to the law’s power to change the be-
haviors of individuals in society and to the power of the law to inculcate
values in society. This was precisely the argument put forth by both CCI
and CLSA in their programmatic statements. Clearly, the CLSA had
found a kindred spirit in Carey McWilliams.

In his introduction to the CLSA brief, Pekelis noted that CLSA firmly
agreed with the central point the NAACP had made in their amicus brief:
“If facilities were really duplicated, financial ruin of the local bodies of
the states would ensue. If financial disaster is to be avoided, the facilities
granted to minorities are bound to be physically inferior.” So as not to
duplicate the argument made by the NAACP in the case, however, rather
than attempting to show that the facilities provided to the minority stu-
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dents were inferior, Pekelis predicated all his arguments on the assump-
tion that facilities were “identical.” To prove that even identical facilities
were inherently unequal, Pekelis relied heavily on sociological and psy-
chological data.35

As all attorneys arguing against segregation were obliged to do, Pekelis
had to deal with the Plessy precedent, the 1896 case that had declared sep-
arate-but-equal facilities to be constitutional.36 Pekelis’s strategy was to
accept the legal doctrine propounded in Plessy, that separate-but-equal
facilities were, in fact, constitutional. Pekelis analyzed the findings of the
1896 case, however, as firmly anchored in “factual” rather than “legal”
grounds. He noted that the Plessy case found segregated railroad cars
constitutional because “it proceeded on the factual and sociological as-
sumption that such segregation did ‘not necessarily imply the inferiority of
either race to the other.’”37 Pekelis then argued that the legal “fiction” of
Plessy, that segregation does not connote inferiority of one race to an-
other, was belied by nearly all social-scientific knowledge available. Peke-
lis asked starkly:

Will any court today, in the light of the sociological and psychological find-
ings made in the last fifty years, prove so lacking in candor and so blind to
realities as to subscribe to the fiction of benevolent segregation on which
Plessy v. Ferguson relies? That is the issue. Not the legal doctrine of Plessy v.
Ferguson is in question but the factual fallacy on which it rests.38

To prove his point that Plessy was grounded in a “factual fallacy,” Peke-
lis argued:

Whenever a group, considered “inferior” by the prevailing standards of a
community, is segregated by official action from the socially dominant
group, the very fact of official segregation, whether or not “equal” physical
facilities are being furnished to both groups, is a humiliating and discrimi-
natory denial of equality to the group considered “inferior” and a violation
of the Constitution of the United States and of treaties duly entered into
under its authority.39

Pekelis first noted that all parties agreed that separate facilities had to be
equal if they were to pass the constitutional test of Plessy. Second, he
maintained that “equality” was defined not by “mere identity of physical
facilities” but on “identity of substantial similarity of their values.” Peke-
lis then defined “values” by their “social significance and psychological
context, or in short, on the community judgment attached to them.” For
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example, Pekelis maintained that a probate court would not hold two
physically identical houses as equal if one were in a slum and the other in
a fashionable neighborhood.40

Having established that the law recognized the reality of what he
called “social inequality,” Pekelis then showed how the segregation of a
group previously deemed socially inferior in and of itself constituted a
legal inequality. The act of segregation, according to Pekelis, was tanta-
mount to an official declaration of inferiority of the segregated group.
Once “legal inferiority” of segregation is adopted, it reinforces and inten-
sifies the “social inequality,” leading to a vicious circle of discrimination
and prejudice.

Such problems were especially acute in segregated education, accord-
ing to Pekelis: “The official imposition of a segregated pattern based on
notions of inferiority and superiority produces its deepest and most last-
ing social and psychological evil results when applied to children.” He
went on to argue:

Since segregation reinforces group isolation and social distance it helps to
create conditions in which unhealthy racial attitudes may flourish. By giv-
ing official sanction to group separation based upon the assumption in in-
feriority it helps to perpetuate racial prejudice and contributes to the
degradation and humiliation of the minority child. The crippling psycho-
logical effects of such segregation are in essence a denial of equality of
treatment. In this sense segregation is burdensome and oppressive and
comes within the constitutional prohibition.41

Pekelis contended that the internal psychology of schoolchildren should
be a constitutional issue, regardless of the effect on the larger society. This
is the “damage” argument that would underpin the Brown decision eight
years later. Pekelis supported the argument with a wide variety of social
science materials on segregation and discrimination.

On April 14, 1947, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled unani-
mously that the segregation of Mexican American schoolchildren in Cali-
fornia schools violated the Fourteenth Amendment. The basis of the
opinion was not the far-reaching legal case made by the CLSA or the
NAACP-LDEF but a narrow legal ground: segregation was unconstitu-
tional because California law had no provisions for the segregation of
Mexican American schoolchildren. Governor Earl Warren made any fur-
ther litigation a moot point when, on June 14, 1947, he signed a repeal of
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California’s education segregation statutes, which ended de jure segrega-
tion in the state.42

This case showed that the existing social science literature was not ad-
equate to support Pekelis’s argument. With a dearth of psychological
studies specifically focusing on segregated education, Pekelis had relied
on studies of general childhood development and general studies of seg-
regation. Except for an article by Howard Hale Long, these studies did
not directly address segregated education.43 Neither did the social science
literature isolate segregation as required by law as a separate variable
from segregation that arose by custom. Finally, there was no social sci-
ence that could distinguish the psychological effects of segregation in
general from the psychological effects of being segregated to inferior fa-
cilities. CCI researchers could have begun research projects designed to
fill these holes in the social science literature. These projects, however,
would have been tremendously difficult to design, and CLSA might have
had to wait months or years before the results would have been reported.
Nonetheless, the case had important ramifications for the battle against
segregation.

The Social Science Survey

The Westminster case was too narrowly decided to be of much use to the
NAACP-LDEF in their legal campaign against segregation in graduate ed-
ucation. After all, southern states, unlike California, had official policies
authorizing segregation of African Americans. The Ninth District Court
of Appeals rejected the broad arguments about segregation being discrim-
ination per se. In a press release, Robert Carter noted that while the West-
minster “case brings the American courts closer to a decision on the whole
question of segregation,” unfortunately “the Circuit Court in affirming
the decision did not go as far as requested in the brief of the NAACP.”44

While the legal ramifications of the Westminster case were rather nar-
row, it did have repercussions for the NAACP-LDEF’s use of social sci-
ence materials in future litigation. During the litigation, the NAACP-
LDEF sent a copy of their brief to William Hastie, who, along with Hous-
ton, was one of the founders of the campaign against segregated
education. Hastie wrote to Marshall, telling him to develop the social sci-
ence portion of the argument “with as little delay as possible” and that
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“we will be able to sustain it only when we make an exhaustive presenta-
tion.” Hastie suggested that the LDEF assemble and organize “practically
the entire body of available material.” To emphasize his point in the
strongest possible manner, Hastie urged that the task was “important
enough for the Association to spend some money on it.”45

Marshall agreed with Hastie that assembling more social science mate-
rials was necessary to make further inroads against Plessy. In December
1946, Marshall wrote, “We are now working on the problem of having a
complete study made of the evil of segregation to demonstrate that there
is no such thing as ‘separate but equal’ in any governmental agency. . . .
When this is completed, it might then be possible to make an all-out at-
tack.” He admitted, however, that “I do not know how long it will take to
complete this study or whether we can raise sufficient funds to do it.”46

Annette H. Peyser, a young staffer with a sociology degree from New
York University, was responsible for most of the work done on the
NAACP-LDEF study. Peyser came to the NAACP after political scientist
Harold Lasswell recommended her as a propaganda analyst. In 1945,
soon after arriving at the NAACP, she transferred to the LDEF to work on
assembling sociological materials relating to the LDEF campaign against
restrictive covenants in housing.47 After Westminster, she expanded her
efforts in an attempt to give Marshall the “complete study” he wanted.

Throughout 1947, Peyser assembled “all possible data” from “such ac-
credited sources as government and scientific publications.” At the end of
the year, however, the LDEF discontinued the operation due to lack of
funds.48 In the end, the NAACP-LDEF effort to assemble a “complete
study” of the effects of segregation would be limited to assembling exist-
ing materials that demonstrated that segregated facilities were always un-
equal in terms of facilities and expenditures. It did not undertake any
new studies or seek to uncover materials proving psychological damage
to minority group children.

The NAACP-LDEF effort was limited to a demonstration that segrega-
tion was always accompanied by inequality of facilities because they
wanted to argue that segregation led to a broad pattern of physical in-
equality. The NAACP-LDEF simply thought it too soon to argue—as
Pekelis had in Westminster—that equality in physical facilities was irrele-
vant to their case. Even Robert Carter, the most outspoken advocate for
the use of social science, believed that the argument that “segregation per
se amounts to discrimination . . . will be most difficult to prove to the
majority of American courts, including the United States Supreme
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Court.”49 No such reservations seemed to exist at the American Jewish
Congress, and the Westminster case had very different ramifications for
that organization.

In their Westminster brief, CLSA’s argument was predicated on the as-
sumption that segregated facilities were physically identical; hence, it
made no sense in the AJCongress to gather social science materials
demonstrating that segregated facilities were unequal. CLSA’s position
was that, even given equal facilities, segregation was psychologically
harmful, especially to children. But, as we have seen, there was a dearth
of psychological studies to prove the point. Pekelis had relied on studies
of general childhood development and general studies of segregation
and, except for Long’s exploratory piece, did not directly address segre-
gated education. Neither did the social science literature isolate segrega-
tion as required by law as a separate variable from segregation that arose
by custom. Finally, there was no social science that could distinguish the
psychological effects of segregation in general from the psychological
effects of being segregated to inferior facilities. Strictly speaking, it
seemed that each of these issues would have to be addressed to make so-
cial science directly relevant to the legal issues presented in desegrega-
tion litigation.

To make a more authoritative social science pronouncement on the
issue, CLSA turned to CCI’s social scientists. Isidor Chein, through con-
sultation with CLSA, decided to poll a wide range of social scientists on
the issue of psychological damage of segregation.50 The results of this
survey, designed explicitly for use in legal proceedings, would become
one of the most cited articles of social science in subsequent briefs by
CLSA and by the NAACP in cases against segregation.

The survey was mailed to 849 social scientists in May 1947. Respon-
dents were asked if they agreed that “enforced segregation has detrimen-
tal psychological effects on members of racial and religious groups
which are segregated, even if equal facilities were provided.” A parallel se-
ries of questions asked about psychological effects on “groups which en-
force the segregation.” The respondents were also asked to state the basis
of their opinions. They could choose four options: “My own research
findings. Research findings of other social scientists. My own profes-
sional experience. Professional experiences of other social scientists
which have been made available to me.” The cover letter was explicit on
the motivations for the research, stating in part: “For the purpose of pro-
viding legislative bodies, courts and the general public with a consensus
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of responsible scientific opinion, we are asking social scientists to indi-
cate their position in this issue.”51

Chein presented the results at the 1948 Eastern Psychological Associa-
tion meeting. He reported that 90 percent of the respondents believed
segregation to be psychologically damaging to the segregated group, and
83 percent believed segregation also damaged the group enforcing the
segregating. All but 10 percent of the respondents checked one of the four
alternatives for the basis of their opinion. “All in all, then,” Chein con-
cluded, “we may not only say that there is widespread agreement among
social scientists that enforced segregation is psychologically detrimental
despite equal facilities, but we may add that the majority of these social
scientists believe that there is a factual basis for such agreement.”52

Chein noted that there were problems with the existing research re-
garding the questions he posed in his survey. “Since equal facilities are in
fact not provided,” he explained, “the proposition that enforced segrega-
tion does have detrimental psychological effects, even under conditions
of equal facilities, seems impossible to prove.” Indeed, Chein found “vir-
tually nothing in the published literature that is explicitly devoted to this
problem.” That did not mean, however, that his respondents had no basis
whatsoever for their opinions, for there was a large literature on segrega-
tion “from which one may cull a great deal of information pertinent to
[the problem].”53 Chein called for social scientists to turn their attention
to research designed to prove psychological damage even given equal fa-
cilities.

Chein’s survey was a curious piece of social-scientific research. As a
document for a legal trial, however, it would be tremendously useful. At-
torneys fighting segregation could now make part of the legal record the
fact that the vast majority of social scientists found segregation to be psy-
chologically damaging. That no study specifically isolated de jure segre-
gated education with equal facilities would not be immediately relevant
in a court of law. An expert witness was often called to provide an opin-
ion rather than give the reasons for holding the opinion. Hence, the opin-
ion of social scientists, as discovered in the social science survey, would be
relevant. How they came to their opinions would not be that important
for the lawyers.54

The results of Chein’s survey were published in May 1948. With statis-
tician Max Deutscher, Chein explained that the survey was inspired by
the recent Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals decision in Westminster. “Ac-
cording to the Court,” they announced, “the basic evidence for this deci-
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sion consisted of studies in race relations made by anthropologists, psy-
chologists, and sociologists, demonstrating that legal segregation does in
reality imply the inferiority of one ‘race’ to the other and implements
such status.” The characterization of the Ninth Circuit Court decision as
primarily based on social science material was, in fact, completely inaccu-
rate. As noted earlier, the Westminster decision was decided on a relatively
narrow point of law. Nevertheless, Deutscher and Chein announced that
the present study was designed for use in the legal arena. They continued:

Final decision on the legality of enforced segregation, regardless of equal
facilities, has not yet been rendered by the Supreme Court. Here too, social
science may be a significant if not crucial factor. For social scientists inter-
ested in “social engineering” this represents a concrete opportunity to
apply the relevant findings of social science data.55

More than any other single work, the Deutscher and Chein survey rep-
resented a confluence of interests between social scientists and attorneys.
For civil rights attorneys, the social science survey represented a terse,
nontechnical presentation of social science opinion that could add au-
thority to legal briefs. For social scientists, the survey represented an op-
portunity for research to be meaningfully translated into legal action.
The social science survey was particularly well timed to be used in the
battle against legalized segregation. By 1948, CCI social scientists were
beginning to attract the attention of the NAACP-LDEF just as it was at-
tacking segregated graduate education in earnest.

Sweatt v. Painter

Beginning in 1946, the NAACP-LDEF picked up where they had left off
in their attack on segregated graduate education. The prewar Gaines de-
cision of 1938 was an important victory but had left open the possibility
of the creation of separate graduate schools for African Americans. The
NAACP-LDEF’s postwar task was to show that this was a constitution-
ally impermissible option for the state to pursue: that a separate school
could never be an equal school. One way to do so was to rely on social-
scientific data.

In a 1947 case to desegregate the University of Texas Law School,
Sweatt v. Painter, the NAACP-LDEF sought social science data and social
scientists as expert witnesses. The NAACP-LDEF turned to CLSA for the
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names of likely social scientists who could testify at the Sweatt trial. Will
Maslow sent a copy of the social science survey to Thurgood Marshall,
even though it had not yet been published, and asked if “it can be used in
any form in the University of Texas suit.” The survey would be of some
use, but what the NAACP really needed was a prominent social scientist
willing to testify to the evils of segregation. If possible, the social scientist
should be at a southern institution, minimizing the appearance of north-
ern hostility toward the South. Unfortunately, Will Maslow had to inform
Marshall, “CCI believes there are no nationally known psychologists in
the South.”56

The NAACP did have University of Chicago anthropologist Robert
Redfield testify in Texas. Robert Redfield was a rare resource for the
NAACP. The son of a prominent Chicago attorney, Redfield entered the
University of Chicago Law School, receiving his J.D. in 1921. After a brief
practice, he found himself dissatisfied with the law and returned to the
University of Chicago, receiving his Ph.D. in anthropology in 1928. His
conversion from the law to social science may have been encouraged by
his wife, Margaret Lucy Park, the daughter of University of Chicago soci-
ologist Robert Park. For whatever reason, Redfield was much happier as
an anthropologist than as a lawyer and published several influential
books on Latin American folk culture.57

If his almost unique credentials of degrees in both law and anthropol-
ogy had not been enough to bring Redfield to the attention of the
NAACP, then his concern for racial justice would have been. During
World War II, Redfield proclaimed that African Americans were the vic-
tims of a society that treated them as “half-citizen[s].” The problems of
African Americans, Redfield declared, were in the “mythology of the
modern man” that proclaimed the natural inferiority of the African
American race. Redfield argued that this was nonsense:

A child of one skin color starts even with a child of any other skin color, if
you let him. We don’t let him, and we entertain a false biology which seems
to justify us. I say again that race is of consequence because of what men
think and feel about it and not because of anything that race is of itself.58

Between 1947 and 1950, Redfield served as the director of the Ameri-
can Council on Race Relations (ACRR). ACRR was founded in 1944 to
“bring about full democracy in race relations through the advancement
of the knowledge concerning race relations.”59 The NAACP had been
working extensively with two ACRR sociologists, Robert Weaver and
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Louis Wirth, on amassing sociological data on the effects of racially re-
strictive covenants on housing.60 It is undoubtedly through the work on
racially restrictive covenants that Redfield came to the attention of the
NAACP. While Redfield had no formal connection to CCI, he was aware
of their research on integrated sales counters and interracial housing.61

Redfield’s testimony in Sweatt v. Painter demonstrates how the social-
scientific ideas that were at the heart of CCI’s research program could be
used in a court of law to argue against segregation. Redfield testified that
segregation was inimical to “public security and general welfare.” Draw-
ing on his experiences at the desegregated University of Chicago, he ar-
gued that “segregation policy, and the stigma which segregation attaches
to the segregated increases prejudice, mutual suspicion between Negroes
and Whites and contributes to the divisiveness and disorder of the na-
tional community, contributing to crime and violence.” The final point
that Redfield addressed was that desegregation could be expected to pro-
ceed smoothly—that the “abolition of segregation in education, is likely
to be accomplished with beneficial results to public order and the general
welfare.”62

When cross-examining Redfield, Attorney General Price Daniel
turned to an issue that would prove to be one of the dominant themes of
the litigation concerning educational segregation: whether or not deseg-
regation could be “imposed” on a community that did not desire it. In
other words, could legal change precede attitude change in race relations?
Daniel pressed Redfield to admit that it was “impossible to force the abo-
lition of segregation upon a community that has had it for a long number
of years.” Redfield refused to admit the point, arguing, “Segregation in it-
self is a matter of law, and that law can be changed at once.” Daniel re-
fused to give up and questioned Redfield about the speed of attitude
change within the community—wasn’t it true that this change could not
be forced on a community? Redfield then admitted that, depending on
circumstances, the attitudes of the community could resist desegregation,
but he emphasized that “in every community there is some segregation
that can be changed at once, and the area of higher education is the most
favorable for making the change.”63

The arguments that Redfield made in Texas underscore the impor-
tance of the research undertaken by CCI. The idea that segregation in-
creases racial tension, and that integration would decrease it, was at the
heart of CCI’s research into the contact hypothesis. Moreover, the empir-
ical studies that CCI undertook would add to the credibility of witnesses
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in Brown, who would be arguing, as Redfield did in the Texas case, that
segregation could be imposed on an unwilling populace.64

A month after Redfield’s testimony, the court ruled against Heman
Sweatt and the NAACP-LDEF.65 The NAACP-LDEF immediately began
the appeal process that would lead the case to the Supreme Court. In the
meantime, another opportunity was brewing in which social science data
would play a role, in a case against the University of Oklahoma School of
Law.

Sipuel v. Oklahoma State Regents

The University of Oklahoma case actually started before the Sweatt case.
Ada Lois Sipuel attempted to enter the University of Oklahoma School of
Law in 1945 and was denied on the basis of race. She enlisted the help of
the NAACP-LDEF and sued for entry in April 1946. A series of legal hear-
ings ensued, and the case was finally heard by the U.S. Supreme Court
during the first week of January 1948. A mere four days later, the
Supreme Court decided in favor of Sipuel and proclaimed that “peti-
tioner is entitled to secure legal education afforded by a state institution.”
The Supreme Court’s decision, however, relied on the Gaines rationale,
which allowed for the establishment of a separate law school for African
Americans. On January 19, 1948, the State Regents for Higher Education
decided that, rather than admit Sipuel to Oklahoma’s law school, they
would create a separate law school just for her. The NAACP-LDEF
quickly brought the case back before the U.S. Supreme Court, arguing
that Oklahoma was contravening the Court’s direct order. The Court,
however, ordered a new trial to determine if the new law school was, in
fact, equal to the established University of Oklahoma law school.66 The
new trial eventually took place in May 1948.

Just as they had a few months earlier in the Sweatt case, the NAACP-
LDEF found themselves in a position of proving that a law school created
quite literally overnight could not be equal to a long-established law
school of some repute. The NAACP-LDEF chose a strategy quite similar
to that in the Texas case. Law school deans would be put on the stand to
testify that the impromptu school could not possibly have the equal facil-
ities that the University of Oklahoma school possessed. Additionally, to
push the desegregation issue further, the NAACP-LDEF would attempt to
incorporate Pekelis’s Westminster argument that “separate but equal must
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be overruled because of bad effects on both Negro and white children
psychologically and sociologically.”67

To do this, Marshall decided to use psychologists as expert witnesses to
testify to the psychological damage inflicted by segregation on minority
and majority group students. There was a problem, however, in choosing
this strategy. Legally speaking, and unlike the Sweatt case, the NAACP-
LDEF’s original challenge to Oklahoma’s segregated law school had not di-
rectly challenged the separate-but-equal doctrine. In ordering the new
trial, the U.S. Supreme Court had noted that the case as submitted did not
demand an end to segregation but merely that the state of Oklahoma es-
tablish an educational opportunity for Ada Sipuel that was equal to the
one it provided for its white citizens. Hence, the Sipuel trial would be
strictly on the merits of the impromptu law school—was it equal to the es-
tablished school? The effects of segregation generally and the constitu-
tionality of segregation were not at issue. Hence, the NAACP-LDEF’s argu-
ments on segregation would likely be ruled irrelevant to the proceedings.

Marshall was well aware of this problem. In April 1948, he wrote to the
dean of the University of Pennsylvania Law School (who was serving as a
witness at the trial) that he planned to put on the stand “two anthropolo-
gists” and “one or two witnesses on the question of the effect of segrega-
tion on both the segregated group and the majority group.” These wit-
nesses, Marshall noted, would “have to get over the hurdle of objection by
the Attorney General and there is a good possibility that the objection
will be sustained.” Marshall would attempt to get portions of the testi-
mony made part of the record in a written form, he explained, so that it
could be examined on appeal.68

The final list of social-scientific witnesses consisted of Robert Redfield
and Robert C. Weaver of the ACRR in Chicago; Charles H. Thompson of
Howard University, also editor of the Journal of Negro Education; and
Stuart W. Cook, director of the CCI of the American Jewish Congress.69

The first day of the trial, May 24, 1948, Marshall’s fears about the expert
testimony were realized. The press release written by the NAACP’s local
correspondent recounted the events as follows:

Issues were joined in grim earnest on the question of segregation when in
the afternoon Miss Sipuel’s attorneys called to the witness stand Dr.
Charles H. Thompson, the purpose of whose testimony was announced as
being an attempt to show the wide discrepancy offered Negroes as against
whites under Oklahoma’s segregated higher education system. The state’s
objection to the testimony was sustained by the court, whereupon Dr.
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Thompson’s testimony was read into the record as narrative testimony. The
testimony of Dr. Robert C. Weaver, attempting to show the economic and
social consequences of segregation, met a like fate, as did the testimony of
Dr. Erwin E. Cooke [sic], eminent psychologist, who sought to show the
psychological effects of segregation on the segregated.70

The next day, Redfield’s testimony was similarly disallowed by the court.
The legal issues were formed in such a way in the Sipuel trial as to render
the social-scientific testimony irrelevant to the proceedings. If the Sweatt
case had demonstrated the usefulness of social-scientific witnesses to the
NAACP-LDEF, the Sipuel trial had shown them that they needed to frame
the legal questions in a manner that allowed the testimony to be heard.
Because segregation itself was not on trial in Sipuel, what social science
had to say about its harms was irrelevant to the case.

For their part, the social scientists seemed undaunted by the court’s re-
fusal to hear their testimony. Robert Redfield, who had been to two
NAACP-LDEF trials in the past year, merely confided to Thurgood Mar-
shall that he thought he “could learn to be a pretty good carpetbagger.”71

Stuart Cook of CCI was similarly pleased with his trip. As Cook re-
counted to AJCongress executive director David Petegorsky, he was not
permitted to testify but was allowed to submit a brief written statement:
“Under these circumstances I offered as my testimony the Deutscher-
Chein paper The Psychological Effects of Enforced Segrega-
tion: A Survey of Social Science Opinion.” According to Cook,
the NAACP-LDEF was “very enthusiastic about the potential effect of our
survey . . . on the psychological effects of segregation.”72

The trial judge ruled against Ada Sipuel, denying her entrance into the
University of Oklahoma Law School. A further appeal of her case was
overtaken by events at the university. On January 28, 1948, six more
African Americans applied to various graduate programs at Oklahoma.
When they were denied entrance, the NAACP-LDEF took up their case,
centering the attention on the application of George W. McClaurin, a
sixty-eight-year-old man who wanted to get a Ph.D. in education. With
this case, the regents of Oklahoma took a different approach. Rather than
attempt to create a graduate program in education out of whole cloth,
they admitted McLaurin to Oklahoma on a “segregated” basis. McLaurin
would sit in an anteroom, adjacent to the main classroom. He had a table
reserved only for him at the library. He was to eat his lunch in the school
cafeteria by himself, when it was not open to other students.
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The NAACP-LDEF took up McLaurin’s case and appealed it to a spe-
cial three-judge panel of the federal district court. After hearing McLau-
rin’s testimony, the presiding judge, Alfred P. Murrah, dismissed all the
assembled witnesses. The case was decided on the basis of the lawyer’s
briefs alone. On November 22, 1948, the federal district court ruled in
favor of the state and against McLaurin.73

Graduate School Cases on Appeal

The trial portions of Sipuel, Sweatt, and McLaurin were all in 1948. The
trials demonstrate that the NAACP-LDEF was beginning to show consid-
erable interest in the use of social science data and conclusions in the
legal arena. A good summary of the NAACP’s position on social science
was provided the same year by Annette Peyser. The sole social scientist on
the NAACP staff, Peyser began a “public relations attempt at compensat-
ing for the fact that the NAACP does not have a counterpart to the Com-
mission on Law and Social Action, such as CCI.”74

The announced purpose of her presented paper was an attempt to “ef-
fect a better relationship between the legal expert and the social scien-
tist.” Peyser recounted the use of social-scientific data and expert wit-
nesses in Westminster, the graduate school cases, and other cases. She
noted that the NAACP had emphasized sociological data to prove that
segregation leads to inequalities in facilities because there simply were no
studies regarding psychological damage. The NAACP had, “in the ab-
sence of specific scientific studies relating to the psychological effects of
segregation, emphasized the factual aspects of segregation.” Peyser
looked to the AJCongress to bridge this gap. While the NAACP had nei-
ther the funds nor the personnel to undertake original research, the same
was not true of the AJCongress, with their two divisions of social scien-
tists and lawyers: “The CCI works independently of but in cooperation
with the Commission on Law and Social Action of the American Jewish
Congress. It may be that AJCongress, because of its physical structure,
will be able to perform some of the necessary research on the psychologi-
cal effects of segregation.” Peyser also noted that CCI had already been an
invaluable source of social-scientific materials for the NAACP. In an ob-
vious reference to the social science survey, Peyser claimed that the
“American Jewish Congress has been instrumental in reprinting articles
that have appeared in scientific journals as well as preparing and writing
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these articles for the purpose of eventually having them ‘planted’ in such
journals.” Peyser closed her address with a call for further cooperation
between social scientists and lawyers.75

In the same year as Peyser’s presentation, the NAACP-LDEF appealed
McLaurin and Sweatt to the Supreme Court. Because of various legal ma-
neuverings, the Supreme Court did not hear the cases until 1950, when it
heard the two graduate school cases together with Henderson, a case con-
cerning a segregated dining car on a railroad. All three cases were heard
on the same day.

The issues in McLaurin and Sweatt were essentially the same, and the
briefs filed by the NAACP-LDEF were very similar. The briefs demon-
strate a new mastery of social science material. The Sweatt brief, for ex-
ample used social scientific material to make two points. The first was
that there was “no rational basis for a legislative assumption that different
races have different intellectual potentialities and should therefore be ed-
ucated in separate schools.” The NAACP-LDEF relied on Klineberg’s 1935
work on selective migration and on Arnold Rose’s sociological works that
he produced on the heels of his work on An American Dilemma.76 As its
second point, the NAACP-LDEF argued that segregation “needlessly pe-
nalizes Negroes, demoralizes whites and tends to disrupt our democratic
institutions.” Here the NAACP-LDEF cited Lasker’s work on racial iden-
tity in children, Long’s piece on segregated education, and a host of soci-
ological works, including Myrdal, Johnson, and Frazier. They also relied
on Deutscher and Chein’s survey to demonstrate that their assertion was
supported by a broad consensus in the social science community. While
referring to an entire page of footnotes, the NAACP-LDEF argued, “Prob-
ably the most irrevocable and deleterious effect of segregation upon the
minority group is that it imposes a badge of inferiority upon the segre-
gated group. . . . A definitive study of the scientific works of contempo-
rary sociologists, historians, and anthropologists, conclusively docu-
ments the proposition that the intent and result of segregation are the es-
tablishment of an inferior status.”77

Clearly, the NAACP-LDEF had acquired a new sophistication when it
came to the use of social science material, and it demonstrated a new
willingness to use them. The LDEF’s confidence could only have in-
creased when the Supreme Court ruled in their favor in both Sweatt and
McLaurin.78 The Court based both decisions on ineffable and intangible
factors that were denied African Americans by segregation. In the case of
Heman Sweatt, those intangibles included the opportunity to attend a
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law school of the repute of the University of Texas. In the case of George
McLaurin, it was the opportunity to exchange ideas with his fellow grad-
uate students. While the Supreme Court stopped short of directly over-
turning Plessy, the door was now wide open to do so.79 Moreover, passage
through that door could be through pointing out “intangible factors.”

When they turned their attention to elementary and secondary educa-
tion, the attorneys of the NAACP-LDEF would attempt to articulate
some of those ineffable factors through the use of social science. And so-
cial scientists were waiting for them, willing and eager to be enrolled in
the cause. The NAACP-LDEF could not, however, merely turn to CCI to
find social scientists; for on the eve of the campaign against elementary
and public school segregation, the social scientists at the AJCongress were
dispirited and in disarray.

The Crisis at CCI

Civil rights attorneys and socially minded social scientists were both ded-
icated to the same end: the elimination of prejudice and discrimination.
The methods employed by each, however, were fundamentally different.
The law worked on a strict timetable, and lawyers had to adhere to that
timetable. To be persuasive to judges and juries, a good legal argument
was forceful and unambiguous, leaving no room for opposing interpreta-
tions. In contrast, social science proceeded at a much more leisurely pace,
since professional publications usually enforced no strict deadlines. To be
persuasive to social-scientific peers, a good social-scientific argument
would be provisional and filled with careful caveats. The possibility of
other interpretations often would be left open. The differences by which
each community produced its arguments against discrimination eventu-
ally doomed the institutionalized merger of law and social science at the
AJCongress.

Isidor Chein’s survey of social science opinion was by far the most suc-
cessful example of social science research designed to be used as a legal
argument. More typically, CCI’s social-scientific research did not fit in
with the AJCongress’s larger campaign against discrimination. Despite
the fact that the CCI social scientists quite deliberately directed their re-
search priorities in a manner that would be useful to the CLSA and other
activists at the AJCongress, social science never made a significant contri-
bution to the AJCongress’s struggle against discrimination.
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A tension always existed between the CCI and the rest of the American
Jewish Congress. On the one hand, CCI was to be an objective, scientific
research agency. On the other, it was funded by, and worked within, the
American Jewish Congress—an avowedly political and activist organiza-
tion. This tension was recognized by Stuart Cook, who told a colleague:

First, CCI must be an active functioning participant in the general [Ameri-
can Jewish] Congress program. Second, within the framework of [the
American Jewish] Congress—which to the outsider’s eye is a partisan, po-
litical organization—it must be a scientific research group holding the
complete confidence of non-Congress organizations and individuals. As
you know, we have waged an up-hill fight for this dual objective.80

Despite the optimistic tone of much that was written by CCI social sci-
entists, the organization never fit comfortably within the AJCongress
framework: the production of social-scientific materials was necessarily
slower than for the other branches—the real world, it was argued, moved
too fast for the slow social scientists of CCI. The result was that, begin-
ning in 1948, soon after Cook had assumed control, he faced a series of
budget and staff cuts that eventually decimated CCI. Cook tried desper-
ately to hold the organization together, but by 1950, he had had enough
and accepted an offer to go to New York University (NYU). In his resigna-
tion letter, he wrote that he was unhappy with the AJCongress leadership:
“What made me accept [the NYU offer] was that no meaningful assur-
ances were really possible; that [CCI’s budget of] $240,000 had not really
shrunk to a stable $78,000 but rather that no one could really know
where the end of the path was to be.”81

With Cook’s resignation, Isidor Chein became CCI director and faced
further staff reductions and budget cuts. By 1952, the situation had come
to a “crisis,” and Marie Jahoda, a distinguished social psychologist, was
called in to take stock of the situation. Jahoda surveyed both CCI staffers
and American Jewish Congress leaders in an attempt to discover the
source of the friction. CCI staff members argued that the AJCongress nei-
ther understood nor respected what they were attempting to accomplish.
One staff member, John Harding, complained that the AJCongress’s posi-
tion on any issue was decided “ideologically”; that is, the AJCongress had
its agenda, and if social science happened to agree with that agenda, well
and good. But social science could never actually guide AJCongress’s po-
sition. “Empirical research is seen by Congress leadership as serving a
useful function in providing evidence from time to time of the correct-
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ness of the Congress stand on various issues,” Harding wrote to Jahoda.
“However this use of research is a dispensable luxury, since the correct-
ness of the Congress position is always clearly evident . . . before the re-
search is done.”82

Isidor Chein took the opportunity provided by Jahoda’s assessment to
announce that the situation at CCI was “inherently unstable and similar
crises, with all the incident demoralization, must inevitably recur. In
other words, regardless of the outcome, I shall be looking for another po-
sition.”83 Soon after this, Chein and a number of other CCI staffers would
join Cook at NYU.

Jahoda’s survey revealed that, while CCI was roundly criticized by the
other branches of the American Jewish Congress, there was no clear con-
sensus as to what exactly was wrong. In her final report, Jahoda noted
that the criticisms leveled at CCI by the other branches often were con-
tradictory:

CCI’s scientific standards were said by some to be too high, by others too
low. On the one hand, CCI was presented as being too perfectionist and
too much concerned with meeting scientific requirements when the needs
of Congress might have been satisfied with a less thorough job. On the
other hand, jobs whose usefulness were recognized . . . were criticized as
not really representing a scientific contribution.

All these criticisms could be true, she admitted, because “there exists
. . . no generally recognized and defined standard against which the
functioning of CCI could be measured and judged adequate or inade-
quate. CCI’s function as a social science department within Congress is
undefined.”84

The fundamental problem confronting CCI, Jahoda claimed, was that
“science proceeds at a lower speed, with less flexibility in tackling new
problems and with different standards of success than [other] organiza-
tion activities.”85 Social scientists had little to contribute to an attack on
discrimination until they had completed a study on the specific problem
in question. Until then, all a social scientist can report is “the analysis of
the data continues.” Jahoda noted that this report could be regarded as
“unsatisfactory and even annoying. A more exact content report [how-
ever] . . . might have been even more annoying: it might well have read
thus: ‘a code was developed and applied. Reliability checks proved that
it was inadequate. The code was revised with better reliability checks.’
Many of the processes which enter into research are . . . boring and
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unrevealing.”86 Jahoda recommended that the American Jewish Congress
continue to fund CCI but more clearly define what it expected from so-
cial-scientific work. CCI did continue, but as a shadow of its former
self—it conducted no more serious research into intergroup relations.
Many of the CCI social scientists followed Cook and Chein to NYU,
where they continued their research in a more academic setting.

The social scientists who had worked at CCI, however, most notably
Cook and Chein, would become key players in the litigation campaign
against segregated elementary and secondary schools. With the victory
over segregated graduate schools, the NAACP-LDEF’s attorneys were
ready to take on the rest of the South’s public school system. And social
scientists would be ready and able to assist them.
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Recruiting Expert Witnesses

CCI may have been in the process of disintegrating just as the
school segregation trials were starting up, but it had left behind a well-de-
veloped plan of attack that social scientists could use in the court trials.
Social scientists, in their published writings, had made a social-scientific
case against segregation and discrimination that dovetailed with the legal
case of the NAACP-LDEF.

There were three basic arguments that the social-scientific community
could make for the NAACP-LDEF. The first was that no differences ex-
isted between the races in terms of intelligence or ability to learn. This
was the argument Otto Klineberg had been attempting to prove since his
dissertation in 1928.

Second was a group of arguments about the psychological damage that
flowed from segregation. Although the Clarks’ projective tests would be
the most readily recognizable form of the damage argument, a theoretical
underpinning also came from Lewin’s theories of self-hatred in groups.
Added to the empirical and theoretical ideas about self-hatred was a basic
attitude toward the role of law in society. Although they would not be
asked by the NAACP-LDEF necessarily to prove that legally segregated ed-
ucation caused psychological damage, social scientists believed for a
number of reasons that they could isolate just that variable, at least in
theory, as the cause of damage.

The third group of arguments advanced by the social scientists during
the Brown litigation addressed problems of desegregation. Social scien-
tists believed desegregation could be expected to proceed smoothly, even
though the South might vehemently deny that desegregation would ever
be possible. The force of the law, appeals to democracy, the nature of the
prejudiced personality, the nature of contact between different groups—
all these things, the social scientists would argue, meant that desegrega-
tion would indeed be possible, even in the South.

6
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The task for the NAACP-LDEF was to enlist social scientists into the
litigation campaign in order to introduce these arguments into the legal
record against segregation. The year 1950 brought the NAACP-LDEF sig-
nificant Supreme Court victories against school segregation in the Sweatt
and McLaurin decisions. The LDEF was now ready to attack segregation
in elementary and secondary schools, which was a much more ambitious
program. There were four separate cases that the NAACP-LDEF was liti-
gating against school segregation in 1951 and 1952. The cases came at a
dizzying pace: the South Carolina trial, Briggs v. Elliot, was in May 1951;
the Kansas trial, Brown v. Topeka Board of Education, was in June 1951;
the Delaware trial, Belton v. Gebhart, was in October 1951; and the Vir-
ginia trial, Davis v. Prince Edward County, was in February 1952.1 In this
chapter, I explore how social scientists had positioned themselves to serve
as expert witnesses for these court cases.

The NAACP-LDEF faced two sets of issues in their recruitment of expert
witnesses for the four trials of the School Segregation Cases. The first set of
issues revolved around the qualifications of the recruited social scientists.
Ideally, the expert witness would be a person of high prestige who had fa-
miliarity with and had published on the issues surrounding segregation and
discrimination. The second set of issues was perhaps more mundane yet
equally important and dealt with the mechanics of getting the witness onto
the stand. The expert witness had to be willing to testify. Moreover, he or she
should be located close to the trial site—both to give the witness added
credibility to the court and to save the NAACP-LDEF’s scarce travel funds.

The task of recruiting social scientists and coordinating their activities
fell to Robert Carter, who had originated the NAACP-LDEF’s use of so-
cial science material in the Westminster case in 1945. Carter enlisted Ken-
neth Clark, who became the liaison between the attorneys of the NAACP-
LDEF and the social science community. What initially generated the
NAACP-LDEF’s interest in Clark was a report he had prepared for a gov-
ernment task force called the Mid-Century White House Conference on
Children and Youth.

The Mid-Century White House Conference on Children 
and Youth

Every ten years since 1919, the U.S. government had sponsored a White
House Conference on Children and Youth. In 1950, the conference was
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dedicated to the theme of “personality development and adjustment.” In
keeping with the postwar emphasis on racial unity in the United States,
the conference organizers decided to include a paper on the effects of
prejudice and discrimination on the personalities of children.2

The organizers started a search for someone to write a technical report
on the effects of prejudice on children and finally came to the American
Jewish Committee’s Department of Scientific Research. The AJCommit-
tee had recently published their “Studies in Prejudice” series of books,
which had originated in the research they began during World War II.
Since Horkheimer and the rest of the Frankfurt researchers had returned
to their native Germany, the department was now headed by Samuel
Flowerman. The AJCommittee hired Kenneth Clark to write the report
for the Mid-Century Conference. While Clark would technically be em-
ployed by the AJCommittee, he would be placed “on loan” to the confer-
ence for the duration of his employment. Flowerman’s strategy was that
Clark could prepare the work for the Mid-Century Conference, and after
the conference was over, the AJCommittee would publish it as part of
their “Studies in Prejudice” series.3

Clark’s report, which would be the first source cited by the Supreme
Court in its 1954 decision, was a summary of three broad trends in preju-
dice research: how prejudice affects the personality of the minority group
members, how prejudice affects the personality of those who hold the
prejudice, and various techniques to reduce prejudice. According to
Clark’s report, prejudice had the following effects on the “personality of
Negro children”:

1. There is a pattern of personality disabilities which seems to be asso-
ciated with the inferior and rejected minority status of the Negro.

2. This pattern includes not only subjective feelings of inferiority, low
self-esteem, ambivalent attitudes toward his own group, but also ei-
ther overt or indirect hostility against both whites and Negroes.4

Clark qualified these effects, noting that not all African Americans expe-
rienced them in the same manner and that other factors, such as family
life or class, could affect the development of an African American’s per-
sonality.

On the personality of the prejudiced person, Clark relied heavily on
the American Jewish Committee’s “Studies in Prejudice” series, and one
volume, The Authoritarian Personality, in particular. The Authoritarian
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Personality was the final version of the studies conducted by the Berkeley
group of social scientists during the war. In the final book, the Berkeley
team had devised a number of scales to quantify personality traits. The
subjects of the study were rated on anti-Semitism (AS scale), ethnocen-
trism (E scale), political-economic conservatism (PEC scale), and fascism
(F scale). This quantitative information was then supplemented with
qualitative data gained through extensive clinical interviews and projec-
tive tests. Much of this material had been in circulation in the social sci-
ence community before the final book was released—for example, in the
articles discussed in chapter 3, above, and in a chapter of a volume issued
by SPSSI.5

The Berkeley team argued that racial prejudice was tied to a host of
other personality traits that made up the “authoritarian personality.” By
tying racial prejudice to a more general personality type, especially such
an unfavorable one, the Berkeley team succeeded in portraying racial
prejudice as something beyond the merely irrational—racial prejudice
made someone deeply disturbed.

Clark, in the White House Conference paper, described the authoritar-
ian personality as “an emotionally maladjusted individual who has
achieved social adjustment by taking pleasure in obedience and subordi-
nation. He has a blind belief in authority. He admires strength and is
ever-ready to attack those he regards as weak and of little account.” Clark
contended further that the authoritarian personality was deeply preju-
diced against other groups. According to Clark, the authoritarian person-
ality’s “need to stereotype them, results not from a conventional way of
identifying in-groups and out-groups, but from deep emotional need. He
must have somebody to punish, for his own overstrict conscience holds
him to such severe account.”6

Clark admitted that the authoritarian personality was manifest only in
those individuals who scored on the extreme end of the various scales de-
signed by the Berkeley researchers. Nonetheless, he argued, the authori-
tarian personality the researchers had studied underscored the funda-
mental tension between racial prejudice and notions of American
democracy and freedom. The moderately prejudiced individual could
seek to relieve the tension in a number of ways, all of them the cause of
“emotional maladjustment.” Clark concluded, “These prejudices inhibit
social progress, defined in humanistic terms; they are a manifestation of
man’s more primitive propensities to debase and harm his fellow human
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beings . . . and they distort, constrict, humiliate, and, in extreme cases, de-
stroy the personalities of the victims.”7

Clark’s Mid-Century White House Conference paper ultimately was
two things. First, it was a relatively comprehensive survey of the psycho-
logical literature on racial prejudice. Second, and perhaps more impor-
tant, it was a tract against racial prejudice that used social science mate-
rials. Clark did more than present a “state of the research” paper. He
fashioned the existing research into his own synthesis that was more
than the sum of its parts. Clark created a powerful argument against
racial prejudice that demonstrated that racial prejudice harmed minor-
ity and majority group individuals, and that used the form of a scien-
tific research paper while making a moral, political, and social point. As
such, it was nearly tailor-made for the NAACP–Legal Defense and Edu-
cation Fund.

The Mid-Century White House Conference on Children and Youth
was held in Washington, D.C., in the first week of December 1950. Two
months later, in the first week of February 1951, Kenneth Clark received a
visitor, Robert Carter of the NAACP-LDEF. Carter told Clark that the
NAACP-LDEF was preparing their case for Briggs v. Elliot, a case in South
Carolina to test the constitutionality of segregated elementary schools.
They were searching for information on the harms of segregation to
schoolchildren. Carter explained to Clark that the NAACP-LDEF had
first gone to Otto Klineberg, and Klineberg had referred them to Clark.
Clark gave Carter a copy of his White House Conference manuscript. A
few days later, Carter called Clark and exclaimed that the manuscript was
“perfect” for the NAACP-LDEF. Clark later recalled that Carter asked him
to do three things for the NAACP-LDEF: “(1) be a witness in the Briggs
case, (2) enlist other social scientists, as prestigious as possible to testify,
and (3) work directly with the NAACP lawyers in going over the briefs as
they deal with the social science material. And he wanted me to get
started yesterday.”8

Clark never questioned the wisdom of getting involved with the
NAACP-LDEF. As he recalled, Robert Carter and Thurgood Marshall
“dragooned me. I mean, they just took for granted that I was going to
be with them from that point on—and that, by the way, was true. I
just was brought in, as a functioning member of their staff.9 Clark and
Carter began to recruit other social scientists to join the litigation
campaign.
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Enrollment of Experts

That social scientists would be used at all in the School Segregation Cases
was far from clear when Carter and Clark began to recruit experts. Robert
Carter was always the most enthusiastic about the use of social science
data in the segregation suits. Others in the NAACP-LDEF were less so.
William Coleman, one of the assistant attorneys in the litigation, later de-
scribed himself as “the most debunking” of the doubters. Of particular
concern to Coleman was the use of Clark’s projective tests, or as Coleman
put it, “those damned dolls! I thought it was a joke.”10 Thurgood Mar-
shall, however, wanted to use any and all resources that were available and
told Carter to build the social-scientific data into the first of the trials:
Briggs v. Elliot.11 The subsequent cases followed the pattern established by
Briggs.

The Briggs trial was set for May 1951, giving Clark and Carter less than
four months to arrange for other social scientists to serve as expert wit-
nesses. Immediately, the problem of finding experts who would be will-
ing and able to testify began to present itself. For example, Clark’s first
suggestion was that the NAACP-LDEF enlist his CCNY colleague, Eugene
Hartley, who was one of the editors of Readings in Social Psychology, the
book in which the Clarks’ doll studies had appeared. Eugene Hartley was
formerly Eugene Horowitz, who had launched racial identification stud-
ies with his 1936 dissertation. Horowitz had changed his name during
World War II when he suspected that his “Jewish-sounding” surname was
costing him a commission.12 Unfortunately, Hartley was leaving the
country in March, making it impossible for him to testify.13

Carter then asked Clark about the possibility of getting Gardner Mur-
phy to testify. As one of the most prestigious social psychologists in the
country, Murphy’s name would give the roster of expert witnesses some
professional weight. But Murphy, who had just returned from an ex-
tended trip to India, and who suffered from a series of debilitating ill-
nesses throughout his New York years, felt “unable to assume the respon-
sibility.” Carter thought it just as well; too many social scientists from
New York City might have hindered rather than helped the NAACP-
LDEF cause.14

Clark then supplied a list of “real top-notchers and who have pub-
lished material that would be pertinent to the case.”15 Clark’s list, with
one or two changes, became the final list of witnesses who appeared at
the Briggs trial. The list also demonstrated how social scientists had built
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arguments against segregation into their social-scientific work, making
that work the ideal preparation for them to serve as expert witnesses
against segregation.

Clark’s “first choice” was Theodore M. Newcomb (1903–1984) of the
University of Michigan. Newcomb was yet another product of the com-
bination of Union Theological Seminary (UTS) and Columbia Univer-
sity. The son of a Congregational minister, he had received his under-
graduate degree from Oberlin College and had come to New York to get a
divinity degree from UTS. There he met Lois Barclay, and he transferred
to Columbia after a year of divinity school and worked under both Gard-
ner Murphy and Goodwin Watson. After receiving his Ph.D. in 1929,
Newcomb taught at Bennington College and worked on the second edi-
tion of the Murphys’ Experimental Social Psychology.16 Newcomb was a
charter member of SPSSI and co-edited their first yearbook on industrial
conflict.17

During World War II, Newcomb succeeded Goodwin Watson as the
principal psychologist of the Foreign Broadcast Service, after Watson was
forced to resign because of his leftist connections. Newcomb’s own leftist
inclinations almost disqualified him from the post.18 He served as the
president of SPSSI immediately after the war and settled down at the
University of Michigan to establish one of the most prestigious psychol-
ogy departments in the United States.19

In 1950, Newcomb published a textbook in social psychology where he
argued that segregation was both a source and a consequence of preju-
dice but that the way to break the “vicious circle” of segregation and prej-
udice was by changing the conditions in which individuals found them-
selves. One way to do this was through changes that eliminated legalized
segregation and discrimination. In the short run, “many people’s atti-
tudes of approving segregation . . . are supported mainly by observing the
practice of segregation. . . . If this support is removed, their attitudes are
likely to be weakened.” Newcomb argued that the problem of segregation
was especially acute if the segregation was enforced by law. He claimed,
“If, in addition to the removal of this support, the opposed attitude is
now supported by the prestige of ‘the law,’ many people’s attitudes toward
segregation will be changed. In these indirect ways legislation may serve
to change attitudes, almost as soon as it begins to be enforced.” In the
longer run, Newcomb argued that “the stopping of segregation means
that a new generation of children will be less likely to acquire such atti-
tudes. Here, as elsewhere, an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of
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cure.”20 He concluded that, while legal change was only a first step, it was
a necessary one in the elimination of prejudice.

Clark also suggested that Carter try to enlist David Krech (1909–
1977). Krech, previously Isadore Krechevsky, was a moving force behind
the founding of SPSSI in 1936. In 1951, Krech was the outgoing presi-
dent of SPSSI and had a temporary appointment at Harvard; he had a
full-time appointment at the University of California at Berkeley but had
been “hiding out” as a visiting professor at other institutions to avoid the
California loyalty oath.21 Krech was an eclectic psychologist who, in
1950, was working with Harvard psychologist Jerome Bruner on new
theories of perception. It was his 1948 textbook in social psychology, co-
authored with Richard Crutchfield, that would make him useful to the
NAACP-LDEF. Like Newcomb, Krech argued that segregation, especially
segregation with the force of law, was a major factor in forcing a sense of
inferiority onto minority group members. The force of law, according to
Krech,

means that the possibility of any specific Negro’s . . . escaping the differen-
tiating stigmata is very low. In addition, these stigmata are saturated with
acceptability for many people. That is, anything that is legal, written into
state laws, official contracts, and land deeds . . . is seen as “good” and “is as
it should be.” These sociological differentia, in other words, are not seen as
happenstance attributes of the minority group members but as necessary
and appropriate attributes.22

Krech argued against the notion that the law could not change atti-
tudes. He exclaimed, “The use of legal force in changing beliefs and atti-
tudes is frequently a psychologically sound procedure.” Moreover, he ar-
gued that “even where genuine and significant resistance does appear,
legal force in abolishing segregation may be effective.” Krech summoned
up studies of the forced desegregation of labor unions and the armed
forces to prove his point. Even though the elimination was met with stiff
resistance, the forcing of desegregation upon these groups was accom-
plished with a minimum of friction. Moreover, psychological testing
showed a decrease in racial prejudice after desegregation.23

Krech noted that the studies were limited, at best, proved only that de-
segregation could be eliminated in certain situations and under certain
conditions. Nevertheless, this did not deter him from making the more
general point that “any step which can be taken to break down segrega-
tion” would “make a significant contribution to the removal of racial
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prejudice in this country,” because the “environmental supports for prej-
udiced beliefs and attitudes” would be removed.24 This argument for the
effectiveness of legal change would serve the NAACP-LDEF well, and
they asked Krech to appear in South Carolina. Krech was only too happy
to testify.

Clark had three other suggestions for expert witnesses for the NAACP-
LDEF. Krech’s co-author Richard Crutchfield was rejected because he was
in California, and Carter felt that Crutchfield was “a little too far away for
us to bring him to the hearing.” Clark also suggested Stuart Cook. Carter
admitted that Cook “was a wonderful person” but rejected him because
the NAACP-LDEF felt they could not have another New Yorker on the
stand. Clark’s final suggestion was Gordon Allport. Carter had tried to get
Allport before enlisting Clark, but Allport, according to Carter, thought
“he would not make an effective witness” and refused to join the effort.25

The final list of witnesses scheduled to appear at the Briggs trial was as
follows: Clark, Newcomb, Krech, Klineberg, Helen Trager, and Robert
Redfield. Trager was a psychologist at Vassar who had done work similar
to that of the Clarks in racial identification.26 Redfield was brought in at
the last moment by Thurgood Marshall to testify, as he had in Sweatt and
had attempted to do in Sipuel, “on the one point concerning unreason-
ableness of segregation insofar as school children are concerned and the
point that given a similar learning situation, the Negro child will do as
well as the others.”27 Redfield’s pretrial notes indicated that he was up on
the latest literature on intergroup relations. He had prepared an argument
that the “law itself is education. . . . Laws not only affect outward behavior:
they also help men to make up their minds in accordance with a major
trend or ideal of their society.” CCI’s research figured heavily in Redfield’s
argument, as he relied on Gerhart Saenger’s studies of integrated sales
staffs and Deutsch and Collins’s studies of interracial housing.28

In the end, Carter and Clark had managed to recruit some of the top
names in the field of intergroup relations to testify at the Briggs trial.
Most of these individuals had taken a stand against segregation in their
published works, making them natural candidates for expert witnesses to
testify against segregation and discrimination. Finding expert witnesses
for the subsequent trials followed the pattern established by Briggs.

The second trial was scheduled for the end of June 1951. It was
NAACP-LDEF attorney Jack Greenberg’s responsibility to arrange for ex-
pert witnesses for the Kansas case, Brown v. Topeka Board of Education,
which came soon after the Briggs case. Greenberg faced special problems
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enlisting scholars for the Kansas case. First, he had been assigned the task
only a month before the trial, leaving him precious little time. Second, it
was June, one of the busiest times of the year for academics, which made
recruiting experts that much more difficult. Third, the trial was in
Kansas, and the NAACP-LDEF could not afford to pay travel expenses for
a host of East Coast scholars to make the trip to the Midwest. Moreover,
because of the location of the trial, Kenneth Clark did very little to help
organize witnesses, and the task fell to Hugh Speer, a professor of educa-
tion in Kansas City, whose local connections would be more useful. These
three conditions meant that the expert witnesses in Kansas would be
much different from those who testified on the East Coast.

Greenberg approached Robert Lynd, a Columbia sociologist of some
repute. In 1939, Lynd had published one of the classics of activist social
science, Knowledge for What? which was a powerful argument for social
scientists to become involved in the society in which they were living.
Lynd was a close friend of Gardner and Lois Murphy, and through them,
Lynd’s views of social activism had a heavy influence on the cadre of so-
cial psychologists trained at Columbia in the 1930s.29 Lynd, however,
turned down the opportunity to testify.30

Given the expenses of having Lynd travel to Kansas, his loss probably
was not felt too deeply. The same cannot be said for Arnold Rose, co-au-
thor of An American Dilemma and sociologist at the University of Min-
nesota. After the war, Rose popularized Gunnar Myrdal’s notion that the
law should be an active agent against discrimination and that the entire
notion of Sumnerian folkways should be abandoned. Rose declared that
“the sociologists have misled us with their notions of ‘mores,’ ‘folkways,’
and the ‘inevitable’ slowness of social change.” He repeated the now-fa-
miliar argument that prejudice often arose by observing the actual prac-
tice of segregation, especially legal segregation. Thus, according to Rose,
“it has been thus demonstrable for a long time that law and power could
create or increase attitudes of prejudice.” Pointing to the studies emerging
from CCI on the separation of attitude and behavior and the nature of
interracial contact, Rose concluded that “it should not be surprising from
newly-available evidence that law and power would also decrease preju-
dice. . . . Now we know that law and authority can reduce prejudice.”31

On June 4, Greenberg wrote to Rose, asking if he could serve as an ex-
pert witness on June 25 in Kansas. In a coals-to-Newcastle sort of letter,
Rose wrote back and agreed to serve as a witness and asked Greenberg if
he was familiar with the study by Deutscher and Chein that addressed
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this very issue. Rose also believed that the Deutsch and Collins study on
interracial housing might be of use. Rose thought it was “important to
show how, in a sociological way, segregation inevitably results in discrim-
ination.”32 Given his professional reputation and his obvious familiarity
with the issues, it was a great blow to the NAACP-LDEF when Rose even-
tually decided he was too busy to participate.33

The one scholar whose name is conspicuous by its absence is Karl
Menninger, the founder of the Menninger Clinic in Topeka, a nationally
known psychiatric clinic. Menninger himself was a member of both the
NAACP and the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU). The NAACP-
LDEF had asked Menninger to testify, but Menninger considered such ac-
tivity to be a breach of his professional objectivity.34

The final list of witnesses to appear at the Brown trial reflected the
problems the NAACP-LDEF had experienced in getting testimony. While
the Brown witnesses were all competent scholars, they were not the “top-
notchers” who were recruited for the Briggs trial—no SPSSI presidents,
no nationally renowned scholars appeared at the Kansas trial. Perhaps the
biggest name to appear at the Brown trial was Horace B. English, profes-
sor of psychology at Ohio State University. English had been on the initial
council of SPSSI in 1936 and had been one of Gardner Murphy’s profes-
sors in the 1920s.35 Others on the final list of witnesses were Wilbur B.
Brookover, social psychologist, who was professor of social science at
Michigan State University; social psychologist Louisa Holt, who had
worked at the Menninger Clinic briefly and was at the school of clinical
psychology at Kansas University; John J. Kane, instructor in sociology at
Notre Dame University; and Bettie Belk, a Ph.D. student in human devel-
opment at the University of Chicago.

The third trial was Gebhart v. Belton, scheduled for October 1951. This
trial was in Delaware, a mere two-hour train ride from New York City.
Consequently, it was possible for the NAACP-LDEF to draw from the
large contingent of social scientists available on the East Coast. Green-
berg began assembling experts in August, which gave him a little more
lead time to gather a good group. Again, there were social scientists who,
for one reason or another, could or would not testify. Ira De Augustine
Reid, who had conducted the ACE studies before World War II, agreed to
testify but then backed out. Another disappointment was R. Nevitt San-
ford, co-author of The Authoritarian Personality, who had moved from
Berkeley to Vassar, making him locally available. A third person who
backed out was Hadley Cantril, a propaganda analyst from Princeton and
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longtime SPSSI mainstay.36 Despite these losses, the cast was impressive:
Kenneth Clark; Otto Klineberg; Jerome S. Bruner of Harvard’s Depart-
ment of Social Relations; John K. Morland, professor of sociology and
anthropology at the College of William and Mary; George Gorham Lane
of the University of Delaware; and Fredrick B. Parker of the University of
Delaware. All of these witnesses testified to the familiar issues on the rela-
tive learning ability of African American and of white children and the
damage inflicted by segregation on the personalities of African American
children.

Perhaps the most notable of those testifying at the Delaware trial was
Fredric W. Wertham, a psychiatrist educated at Kings College in London
and at the University of Munich. He came to the United States to become
the chief residential psychiatrist at Johns Hopkins University Hospital.
Wertham became friends with the great trial lawyer Clarence Darrow
and, through Darrow’s influence, began testifying at criminal trials on the
mental states of murderers when they committed their crimes. It was also
through Darrow’s influence that Wertham became interested in issues re-
volving around social justice. After World War II, Wertham founded the
LaFarge Clinic in Harlem, dedicated to helping low-income African
Americans who suffered from psychiatric problems.37 Wertham was
nearly tailor-made to be an expert witness for the NAACP-LDEF: a social
scientist with near-unimpeachable academic credentials, deeply con-
cerned with social justice, and with vast experience as a witness in a court
of law.

The fourth and final trial was Davis v. County School Board of Prince Ed-
ward County, scheduled for February 1952. For this trial in Virginia, the
NAACP-LDEF enrolled more social scientists, and ones of a higher caliber
than they had presented at the two previous trials. Once again, the trial was
close to New York City, allowing the NAACP-LDEF to draw from the large
pool of social scientists there. Once again, however, there were disappoint-
ments. For example, Stuart Cook had agreed to testify, but then circum-
stances prevented his appearance.38 The NAACP-LDEF did, however,
arrange for the testimony of Horace English, who had testified for the
NAACP-LDEF in the Kansas case; Kenneth Clark; Mamie Phipps Clark; Al-
fred McClung Lee; M. Brewster Smith; and Isidor Chein. It is useful to ex-
amine how Smith and Chein had positioned themselves to be expert wit-
nesses for the NAACP-LDEF, for it illustrates both the network of activist
social scientists that existed after World War II and how social scientists had
built arguments against segregation into seemingly esoteric studies.
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At first glance, M. Brewster Smith (b. 1919) seems an unlikely candi-
date for the NAACP-LDEF. A young scholar, he had no significant publi-
cations in the area of segregation and discrimination. Yet Smith had an
impeccable pedigree. In 1947 he received the first Ph.D. from Harvard
University’s Department of Social Relations. This department, created
after the war, was a mixture of “activist” social scientists led by Clyde
Kluckhohn in anthropology, Talcott Parsons in sociology, and Gordon
Allport in psychology.39 Smith’s graduate career had been interrupted by
World War II, when he briefly worked with Stuart Cook on test develop-
ment for officer candidates; he also worked during this time with Arnold
Rose, for nearly two years. Smith later described his work with Rose as his
real education in race relations, although he was uncomfortable because
he outranked Rose, whom he regarded as “my professional senior.”40 At
the time of the Davis trial, Smith was the chair of the Psychology Depart-
ment at Vassar and editor of SPSSI’s official journal, The Journal of Social
Issues. In short, he was at the center of the postwar activist social science
establishment—well positioned to be recruited by the NAACP-LDEF.

If M. Brewster Smith exemplified the junior scholar who was in the
right place at the right time, Isidor Chein demonstrated how activist so-
cial scientists took a stand against segregation and discrimination despite
working in seemingly unrelated areas of social science. In February 1952,
the time of the Virginia trial, Isidor Chein was still with the American
Jewish Congress. He had been brought down to testify on the survey of
social science opinion that had been a mainstay of the NAACP-LDEF’s
use of social science since its publication in 1948.41 Yet Chein brought
more than the social science survey to the trial, because he was the lead-
ing theoretician working on Kurt Lewin’s concept of group self-hatred.

The concept of “Jewish self-hatred” had a long history in European
medical and anthropological circles. Jews had long been viewed as par-
ticularly susceptible to mental illness and social pathology—a tradition
that dated back to the Middle Ages. Moreover, German Jews had an
equally long history of self-criticism—a concept that was looked on by
the German Jewish community as one of their great strengths. In the late
nineteenth century, the two popular images of the “mad Jew” and the
“self-critical” Jew were combined in German Jewish discourse to create
the image of the “self-hating Jew.” The rise of the self-hating Jew was a
response of German Jews to popular anti-Semitism that primarily was
directed at Eastern European Jews. For German Jews, the Eastern Euro-
pean Jew quickly became the “bad Jew,” which led to a series of German
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writings in the first half of the twentieth century describing the self-ha-
tred of Jews.42

Kurt Lewin brought this conception of self-hatred in Jews and recast
it in terms of his model of group dynamics. For Lewin, the key to un-
derstanding Jewish self-hatred was to view it as primarily a social phe-
nomenon. Self-hatred was the result of a tug-of-war between social
forces—one force that pulled the individual into a group and one that
pulled the individual out of the group. Members of an underprivileged
group gained status by distancing themselves from their own group. But
the privileged, majority group would not permit them to make this
movement. Hence, Lewin argued, “in an underprivileged group, many
of these individuals are, nevertheless, forced to stay within the group. As
a result, we find in every underprivileged group a number of persons
ashamed of their membership. In the case of the Jews, such a Jew will try
to move away as far as possible from things Jewish.” According to Lewin
these individuals began to identify with the views of the majority as
much as possible, which led to an inferiority complex. As Lewin wrote,
“The feeling of inferiority of the Jew is but an indication of the fact that
he sees things Jewish with the eyes of an unfriendly majority.” The ulti-
mate solution to the problem of Jewish self-hatred, Lewin argued, was
to eliminate the social forces that hindered underprivileged group
members from leaving the group. In this way, negative forces would be
replaced with a healthy “group loyalty.” In a key passage, Lewin argued
that “Jewish self-hatred will die out only when actual equality of status
with the non-Jew is achieved. Only then will the enmity against one’s
own group decrease to the relatively insignificant proportions charac-
teristic of the majority’s group’s. Sound self criticism will replace it.”43

Lewin’s theory made a deep impression on Chein, as well as on Kenneth
B. Clark.

Chein developed Lewin’s ideas on building positive group identifica-
tion, and he did this within a context of the battle against discrimination,
legal and otherwise. Chein had tied Lewin’s ideas on group self-hatred
specifically to the elimination of barriers to free movement between
groups—barriers such as legally imposed segregation.

Chein’s belief that the law could be a powerful tool against prejudice
has been noted in chapter 3. When Chein began to turn his attention to
problems of group self-hate in the 1940s, he faced the same conundrum
that Lewin had: how does one distinguish healthy group identification,
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such as racial or religious pride, from unhealthy group chauvinism, such
as race prejudice?

One way of making such a distinction, argued Chein, was to examine
how groups establish boundaries around themselves: “The groups in
which individuals must . . . hold membership should have sufficient vital-
ity so that the group boundaries do not have to be set in physical space
(i.e. through segregation) or defended by the development of hostility to-
ward other groups.”44 Consequently, Chein argued, building healthy
group membership required the removal of these barriers. The primary
battle was against society’s discrimination. On a panel he shared with
Bruno Bettelheim, in which Chein contrasted Bettelheim’s theories on
group self-hatred with Lewin’s, Chein made the point explicit:

For in the larger perspective it becomes apparent that the most effective
thing that can be done in our efforts to secure our children against preju-
dice and discrimination is to band together to wipe the latter out. The
basic disease is in our society, not in our children. The basic remedy, there-
fore, must be social not individual. Every gain on this front adds to the se-
curity of our children. Let us not forget this.45

Chein’s argument that the elimination of segregation was necessary to
build healthy group identification underscores a fundamental point
about the role of social scientists in the School Segregation Cases. Clark
and the NAACP-LDEF were successful in recruiting socially conscious so-
cial scientists to testify at the trials because social scientists had been at-
tacking segregation in their published works for several years.

Not only was there in place a group of social scientists who argued
against segregation in their work, but these social scientists were con-
nected through a network of institutions. For example: Columbia Uni-
versity (and to a lesser extent, Harvard), the Society for the Psychologi-
cal Study of Social Issues, and the Commission on Community Interre-
lations all provided social scientists with opportunities for social
activism. Hence, when the opportunity arose for these scientists, to tes-
tify at a trial attacking segregation, many were eager to do so. Recalling
his involvement twenty years after his testimony in the Briggs case,
Krech claimed that “this was precisely the sort of thing I had always
hoped the SPSSI could do. . . . And I was to be among the first to bear
witness to bring forth social psychology to confound the Forces of Re-
pression!”46
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Their willingness to testify against segregation, however, does not ex-
plain the methods by which these scholars translated their social-scien-
tific writings into expert testimony. The NAACP-LDEF needed social-sci-
entific testimony to prove specific legal arguments. As demonstrated in
the previous chapter, social science did not always mesh perfectly with
legal points that were at issue in a court trial. The next chapter explores
how social scientists attempted to be effective witnesses for the NAACP-
LDEF while maintaining what they viewed as high scientific standards.

124 | Recruiting Expert Witnesses



Testimony of the Experts

The NAACP-LDEF generally, and Robert Carter especially,
had a lot of experience with social-scientific materials by the time of the
school segregation trials in 1951 and 1952. Consequently, Carter was able
to fashion an argument against segregation that took into account the
limitations of scientific knowledge regarding the effects of segregation on
schoolchildren.

Many recent histories and commentaries on the social scientists’ role
in Brown have focused on the projective tests conducted by Kenneth B.
Clark, the “doll tests.” The common claims made about the doll tests—
that they were the “only empirical data” submitted to the Supreme Court,
that they were referenced in the Brown opinion, and that they were the
key to the social-scientific testimony—are simply erroneous.1 To fully
understand how social scientists framed their arguments for the court,
we must turn our attention away from Kenneth Clark and the doll tests
and look to the testimony of all the social scientists.

In this chapter, I do several things: first, I sketch the trial strategy that
Carter developed for the social scientists to follow during their testimony,
Second, I look at how social scientists coped with two key questions: how
to isolate segregated education as the cause of psychological harm, and
how to isolate legalized segregation as the cause of psychological harm.
Third, because it came to be the focal point of later criticism, I examine
the trial testimony of Kenneth Clark in some detail. Finally, I look at the
few social scientists who testified on behalf of segregation, especially the
testimony of Henry E. Garrett.

Trial Strategy

Briggs, the first of the four school segregation trials, served as the exem-
plar for the other three. In the strategy he devised for Briggs, Robert
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Carter planned to use his experts to prove two points to the court: first,
that the educational opportunities available to African American chil-
dren were not equal to those of white schoolchildren; second, that re-
gardless of the facilities provided, the act of segregation was psychologi-
cally damaging and hence unconstitutional.

To prove his first argument on the equality of facilities, Carter used
surveys conducted by education experts on facilities provided to both
groups in the segregated school systems under litigation. He would use
these experts to testify that the schools were in no way equal. Carter
noted that winning this first point would only be a qualified victory—the
court could merely order the state to equalize the facilities.2 Carter’s cau-
tion was justified, since in two of the trials the equality of the facilities
was a moot point for the NAACP-LDEF. When Briggs came to trial, the
first action by the state of South Carolina was to admit that the facilities
of the two school systems were profoundly inequitable. The inequality,
explained Robert Figg, the South Carolina attorney general, stemmed
from rural schools lagging behind the city schools and not from any ma-
licious racism on the part of the state. To rectify the situation, a new sales
tax was being implemented to raise revenue that would quickly bring the
facilities of the two systems to substantial equality.3 Similarly, when
preparing for the Brown trial, Jack Greenberg received a telegram from
Hugh Speer, who had undertaken a survey of the educational facilities in
Topeka and found no significant difference in teacher salaries or the facil-
ities provided. The telegram advised “emphasis on social and psychologi-
cal handicaps of segregation per se” in the upcoming trial.4

What South Carolina’s admission in Briggs and the equality of the fa-
cilities in Brown did was underscore the importance of the social science
testimony, since that testimony was the heart of the direct attack on seg-
regation. From the beginning of the first trial, to get a genuine victory,
Carter argued, the NAACP-LDEF would have to win his second point—
that, even given equal facilities, “the requirement that plaintiffs attend
racially segregated schools in and of itself . . . imposes upon plaintiffs
burdens and disadvantages which deprive them of the equal protection of
the laws required by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of
the United States.”5 It was to prove this second point that Carter planned
most of the social science testimony in the Briggs trial, with the other tri-
als following the same pattern.

Previous chapters have shown that there were no studies that isolated
legal segregated education as the specific variable that caused psychologi-
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cal damage in schoolchildren. As sophisticated users of social-scientific
materials, the NAACP-LDEF attorneys were well aware of this limitation
in the literature and had fashioned their argument to take it into account.
In a 1952 public address, in the midst of the trial phase of the litigation,
Thurgood Marshall explained that “the effects of segregation in educa-
tion have not been isolated for a study by social scientists,” but that “since
this is a state-sponsored program, certainly the state, consistent with the
requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment, should not be a party to
system which does help produce these results [of insecurity and self-hate
in Negroes].”6

In his instructions to the expert witnesses for the first trial, Briggs v. El-
liott in South Carolina, NAACP-LDEF attorney Robert Carter wrote:

Unfortunately no study has been made . . . of the impact of segregated edu-
cation itself on the development of the Negro’s personality. Most studies
have taken place in northern communities. In fact, both Eugene Hartley
and Kenneth Clark have found little difference in the perception, assimila-
tion, or impact of racial attitudes and resultant personality disturbances as
among northern and southern Negro and white children.

Carter was not attempting to demonstrate that legally segregated educa-
tion was isolated in the social sciences as a factor that caused psychologi-
cal damage in African American children:

Although it would be wonderful to be able to demonstrate that segregated
education imposes the disadvantages and hardships which we will try to es-
tablish, if we can demonstrate that segregation is the cause, we have suc-
ceeded in proving Point II, in my opinion. What is involved in this suit is
state action and state responsibility. If, therefore, segregation causes harm,
the state ought not be permitted to impose it in any area of public life, and
it does not help the state to show that segregated education here is not solely
responsible for harmful results or that the harm occurs in northern com-
munities.

Carter’s argument was predicated not on isolating de jure or de facto seg-
regated schooling but rather on the general harms of segregation. Once
he established that segregation was damaging, he felt the argument would
be won, since the state could not constitutionally inflict such damage be-
cause such action would constitute discrimination. As he wrote, “If this
be true, then it is unimportant where our studies come from as long as
this thesis can be sustained.” Hence, Carter hoped completely to sidestep
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the problem of isolating segregated education, or of isolating legal segre-
gation, in the social science materials. He was well aware of the state of
social science literature and cast his legal argument so that he was arguing
only what could be proven with the data available.7

Even though social scientists could not meet the more stringent out-
lined requirements, their testimony, and much of the work on which
their testimony was based, demonstrates that social scientists had much
to say regarding legalized segregated education. I examine two facets of
the arguments that the social scientists made to the courts. First, how did
they deal with the problem of segregated education versus segregation in
general? Second, how did they deal with the problem of legally imposed
segregation versus de facto segregation?

Isolating Segregation in Education

To say that Carter did not ask the social scientists to isolate segregated ed-
ucation is not to say that the question did not arise during the trials.
Whenever questioned about discrimination in other areas of life, how-
ever, social scientists consistently admitted that segregation existed in
other places in society and that it was damaging in those areas as well. In
the South Carolina trial, psychologist Helen Trager offered testimony
based on projective tests, designed along the lines of the Clarks’ doll tests,
that she had conducted in Philadelphia.8 The state attorney general
pressed Trager about the source of the feelings of racial inferiority that
Trager claimed to have discovered in her investigation. Noting that Trager
had found feelings of racial inferiority in children as young as five years
old, the attorney drove Trager to admit that these feelings could not have
come from their school experiences, given that they had no school expe-
riences at so young an age. Trager was quick to explain that “if anything
our study demonstrated that it did not come out of schools.” When
pressed to name the source of such feelings, Trager explained:

It was not always the home, although we know the home is an important
factor in the learning of children. It was the playground. It was what they
saw on the bus. It was what they knew about where father worked, or
couldn’t work. It was all of their learning in the total community in the so-
ciety of their 5-year oldness, and they were aware of many things, and their
sources included church and shop, and market place.

128 | Testimony of the Experts



Trager also readily admitted that her study had been conducted in
Philadelphia, which “does not have legally segregated schools.”9 Arguing
that segregation and discrimination existed in areas of life outside educa-
tion did little, however, to aid the state’s defense of segregated education.
After all, if segregation was damaging in general, then it should be elimi-
nated—including segregated education.

In fact, far from hurting the case against segregated education, the ex-
istence of segregation and discrimination in other areas of life was crucial
for proving that segregated education was damaging. The pre-existing
“stamp of inferiority” that general discrimination represented was neces-
sary to make the psychological damage argument work. The damage ar-
gument presupposed that one of the segregated groups had already been
deemed inferior by the general society through widespread segregation
and discrimination. Because the “inferior” group had been so labeled, the
only way to view segregation of that group was as a means of keeping
them inferior—to humiliate and discriminate against them. Far from at-
tempting to isolate one specific variable in the social structure, the dam-
age argument welcomed the Gordian knot that widespread discrimina-
tion represented, for it all served the same end—to keep African Ameri-
cans in their place.

For example, in the Delaware school segregation trial, psychiatrist
Frederic Wertham managed to take the typical objections of the defense
and turn them on their heads. Wertham had made psychiatric examina-
tions of the plaintiff ’s children (a form of empirical evidence beyond the
doll tests, incidentally). During his testimony, he admitted that racism
and discrimination in society were massive problems even absent school
segregation. But, he argued, that was no defense of school segregation;
rather, the existence of racism outside the school was what made school
segregation particularly hurtful. Wertham put the matter this way:

If there were no other manifestations of discrimination in a society, the
school segregation would have a totally different significance emotionally
for the child, but as it is these children are filled with all kinds of feelings
about discrimination that they find in other places. . . . The children are in-
doctrinated with race hatred in other places, and that brings the school
segregation, which is sanctioned by the State [in]to . . . focus with them.10

The point was that, in a highly discriminatory society, school segrega-
tion was inevitably viewed as something imposed on African American
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schoolchildren. Given this perception, it was reasonable to conclude that
segregation would leave a sense of inferiority in the minds of African
American children.

Even though social scientists were not required to isolate education as
the key variable in causing psychological damage in schoolchildren, they
did claim that they had good reasons to think that segregated schools
were psychologically damaging. While the social scientists admitted they
had no studies that isolated school segregation, that was not the end of
their argument. For example, social scientists argued that school segrega-
tion was pervasive in a child’s life, which meant that children would be
constantly reminded of their inferior status. As sociologist John J. Kane of
the University of Notre Dame testified in the Brown case in Topeka:

The school, with the exception of the home, is the institution that makes
the greatest impact on American youth. You see the school gets the child
early in life, keeps him for a number of years, so that day after day, year
after year it is transferring attitudes for him. . . . In a school system in
which racial segregation is practiced, you have a day after day accumula-
tion of attitudes that the Negro is inferior because segregation is differenti-
ation and distinction.11

In addition to the inescapable nature of school life, social scientists ar-
gued that school segregation came at a particularly vulnerable time of life
for children, when the sting of segregation would be especially severe.
Psychologist Louisa Holt testified in the Kansas trial:

A theory that would be accepted by virtually all students of personality de-
velopment [is] that the earlier a significant event occurs in the life of an in-
dividual the more lasting, the more far-reaching and deeper the effects of
that incident, that trauma will be. . . . Attending a segregated school, per-
haps after the preschool years of free play with others of different skin
color, is a trauma to the Negro child, that occurs early.12

Note here that Holt is basing her opinions on widely held psychological
theories and inferring from them that segregation is damaging to person-
ality development. When giving these reasons for the importance of
school segregation in the life of a child, social scientists were usually care-
ful to be clear that this was their opinion and not necessarily supported by
any studies that specifically investigated these questions (though the
opinion could be based on other sorts of scientific data or theories).
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It is important to remember that the social scientists were brought to
the stand to give their opinions rather than to present a scientific treatise
on the subject of segregation. The standard function of expert witnesses
was to give their expert opinions, and the NAACP-LDEF had briefed their
witnesses to that effect.13 In a 1954 letter, Isidor Chein, who had testified
at one of the trials, remarked that “in the segregation cases . . . nobody
asked us for the basis on which we reached our conclusions.”14 Indeed,
during his testimony in the Davis case in Virginia, when Chein had at-
tempted to explain the basis of his conclusions regarding the harms of
segregation, the presiding judge cut him off and told him, “I think we
have your position pretty clearly.”15

Even if social scientists had good reasons to believe that education was
responsible for damage, there remains the second issue—could they iso-
late legal segregation? Given the persistence of widespread de facto segre-
gation in the United States, it seems an especially tricky burden to have
isolated the effects of legally imposed segregation.

Isolating Legalized Segregation

To a large extent, the social scientists could respond in the same way they
did with the arguments about isolating segregated education: if segrega-
tion is damaging, one should eliminate it wherever one can and certainly,
the state should not sanction it. It is difficult to see how de facto segrega-
tion justified continuing de jure segregation. But, as was the case in the
arguments above, the social scientists had reasons for believing that state-
sponsored segregation was especially damaging.

Social scientists made arguments firmly grounded in the social-scien-
tific literature that legally imposed segregation would be more injurious
than de facto segregation. Certainly, there were good reasons to think that
legally imposed segregation would have a different impact on the psyche
from segregation that arose spontaneously or voluntarily. The law was
pervasive, unambiguous, ongoing, and an official declaration of the sta-
tus of African Americans. As Louisa Holt testified in Kansas:

The fact that it is enforced, that it is legal, I think, has more importance
than the mere fact of segregation by itself does because this gives legal and
official sanction to a policy which inevitably is interpreted both by white
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people and by Negroes as denoting the inferiority of the Negro group.
Were it not for the sense that one group is inferior to the other, there would
be no basis . . . for such segregation.16

Psychologically, it was significant that the law, which all Americans
were taught to respect and obey, proclaimed that African Americans were
not fit to associate with white Americans. Hence, prejudicial attitudes of
the white population and feelings of inferiority in the African American
population were inextricably tied to the law. During his cross-examina-
tion in Virginia, Chein was asked, “Just because of the law, you say the
difference [in psychological harm to African Americans] is made?” Chein
answered:

Yes, that is my opinion, that it is the official sanction which says to the
child, “It is not only a matter of I, Joe Doaks, don’t like you” but it says to
the child that the government of the State of Virginia thinks that you are
not fit to associate with white children. This is an authority source, and the
effect of such authority is to inevitably make more impressive what is in-
volved in the basic fact of segregation.17

A favorite tactic of state attorneys during the trial was to point out the
pervasive de facto segregation in the northern hometowns of many of the
expert witnesses. Social scientists often admitted that racial prejudice was
a severe problem for the North as well. They made clear, however, that
such racial prejudice did not lessen the impact of de jure segregation. M.
Brewster Smith admitted:

It is perfectly clear that we [northerners] don’t come with clean hands.
There is prejudice in the North just as there is prejudice in the South, with
this important difference, I think: that when segregation is supported with
the full authority of the State, it is very difficult to make progress and do
anything about it; whereas, the other situation is more fluid, more mal-
leable. There is this further point that I mentioned in my testimony: that I
think there is a difference between official insult and informal insult which
people can’t avoid.18

Social scientists did not invent arguments about the significance of the
law for the trials but developed them within the postwar social-scientific
literature. For example, in his testimony in the Briggs trial, David Krech,
echoing the claims he made in his 1948 textbook (discussed in the previ-
ous chapter), argued that the psychological damage could indeed be
traced back to legally imposed segregation:
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No one can long maintain any attitude or belief unless there are some ob-
jective supports for that belief. We believe, for example, that there are trees.
We would not long continue to believe that there are trees if we never saw a
tree. Legal segregation, because it is legal, because it is obvious to everyone,
gives what we call in our lingo, environmental support for the belief that
Negroes are in some way different from and inferior to white people, and
that in turn, of course, supports and strengthens beliefs of racial differ-
ences and racial inferiority.19

Given the nature of the NAACP’s argument, social scientists in Brown
were able to offer a series of arguments, grounded in widely accepted so-
cial science theories, that legally imposed school segregation was psycho-
logically damaging to children.

Trial Testimony of M. Brewster Smith

A close examination of M. Brewster Smith’s testimony in the Virginia
trial shows how social scientists conducted themselves on the stand and
how their arguments could be extended to argue that desegregation was a
reasonable possibility.

On February 20, 1952, a week before the trial was scheduled to start,
Annette Peyser, the sociologist on the staff of the NAACP-LDEF, sent
Smith copies of expert testimony in the previous cases in order to famil-
iarize him with the basic form his testimony should take.20 Smith obvi-
ously studied the testimony well, for in his own testimony he reiterated
the themes that the NAACP-LDEF had stressed in all their previous cases:
that there was no difference in learning ability between African Ameri-
cans and white Americans, that segregation imposed a feeling of inferior-
ity on African Americans, and that official segregation set the stamp of
inferiority much more firmly than unofficial segregation.

Smith, however, added a new argument to the mix: that segregation
also had baleful effects on the majority group. He argued that “there are
also parallel disadvantages to the white group in a system of segregation,
particularly in the educational sphere in this matter of cutting down on
the variety of experiences, the variety of personal relationships, to which
the white child is exposed.”21 This was the first time that psychological
damage to the majority group would be posited in the litigation. The so-
cial scientists began to emphasize psychological damage to white children
when they wrote briefs for the appeal to the Supreme Court.
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Smith’s testimony also exemplified the second set of arguments offered
by social scientists during their testimony, which posited that desegrega-
tion could be easily and quickly accomplished. It was during a vigorous
cross-examination that Smith brought out these arguments. The lead at-
torney for Virginia was T. Justin Moore, a high-powered corporate lawyer
and a fixture of the Richmond establishment. Moore was a product of
old-fashioned southern traditions and had been practicing law six years
longer than M. Brewster Smith had been alive. In the Davis trial, Moore
set out to defend segregation to the death. As Spottswood Robinson, the
local attorney for the NAACP-LDEF, noted at the time, Moore was out to
“cut our throats.”22

Many of Moore’s questions had been raised by opposing attorneys
ever since Robert Redfield’s testimony in the Sweatt case in 1947. Moore
got Smith to admit that he had spent almost no time in the South, for ex-
ample. He questioned Smith about the speed of desegregation when he
asked Smith to contrast the elimination of segregation “through a grad-
ual process, what I will call a sort of evolutionary process, rather than
through an effort to obtain some sort of court decree.” Smith at first de-
nied that a court decree could not be part of a larger, gradual process.
When Moore pressed the issue, however, and insinuated that the white
people of Virginia would never accept desegregation and that children
learning of this attitude in the home would never accept desegregated
schools, Smith referred to Gerhart Saenger’s study of integrated sales per-
sonnel: “There is a lot of evidence that has been accumulated recently to
show that people’s behavior, what they actually do in real situations, fre-
quently is by no means utterly consistent with these attitudes that they
give verbal consideration to.” He then explained the studies that had
shown that people pursuing common goals very often got along very
well, despite racial differences. Smith concluded, “The situation in a
school, where you have together children pursuing a common educa-
tional goal, not studying race relations but studying arithmetic, is just the
kind of situation where good relations can be had and where the home
pattern can, perhaps be partially undone.”23

Smith’s testimony here foreshadowed the great amount of attention
that social scientists would give to the possibility of desegregation in the
South. Particularly between the 1954 and 1955 Brown decisions, social
scientists would spend a great deal of time arguing that the weight of the
law could, for all intents and purposes, force desegregation on white peo-
ple of the South. This position became especially clear when Moore
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pressed the point even further, likening court-ordered desegregation to
Prohibition. Since Prohibition had failed, Moore argued, it would seem
logical that court-ordered desegregation would fail as well. Smith’s reply
obviously relied on the Authoritarian Personality study, which linked
prejudice to a host of personality traits, such as deference to authority:
those who suffered from the authoritarian personality were extremely
deferential to authority, Smith argued, and were likely to follow the dic-
tates of the law, “so that if, with the full authority of the court, with the
full and sincere backing of the state authorities, segregation were ruled as
being unconstitutional . . . the more highly prejudiced individual would
be likely to fall in line and comply.”24

During his cross-examination, Smith had succeeded in getting into the
Court record many of the issues that the social scientists would write into
their brief for the appeal to the Supreme Court.

In their testimony, the social scientists drew on arguments that had
been circulating in the social science literature for a decade. In many
cases, they made arguments that they had previously published in books
or articles. Where they did not draw on their own works, they made argu-
ments that had appeared in the social-scientific literature.

The most famous piece of expert testimony in the school segregation
trials is that of Kenneth B. Clark, involving his use of children’s dolls to
measure psychological damage. In many ways the focus on Clark’s doll
tests is historically inaccurate. While he was a key organizer for the
NAACP-LDEF and social scientists, Clark was only one of dozens of ex-
pert witnesses who testified during the litigation campaign. Clark himself
testified at three of the four trials but used the doll tests in only two of
those trials. Because Clark’s testimony came to symbolize all the social-
scientific testimony during the trials, however, it is necessary to examine
it in some depth; for if there was a place where objective science began to
appear as advocacy, it was in the testimony of Kenneth B. Clark.

Trial Testimony of Kenneth B. Clark

In 1950, just before Kenneth Clark began his work with the NAACP-
LDEF, he and Mamie Phipps Clark were entering one of the most pro-
ductive times of their careers. After the war, Kenneth joined the faculty at
CCNY, and Mamie was the director of the Northside Testing and Consul-
tation Center. The Clarks established the Northside Center in 1946 with
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their own funds in order to provide psychological services to troubled
youth in the Harlem community, and to provide Mamie with a job com-
mensurate with her skills as a doctor of psychology. During the war,
Mamie worked as a research psychologist for the United States Armed
Forces Institute. After the war, she found few job offers for an African
American woman with a Ph.D. in psychology. The Clarks opened the
Northside Center to fill what they saw as a genuine need in the Harlem
community. The clinic offered services that ranged from pediatrics to
psychological testing.25 But the establishment of the Northside Center
did not mean that the Clarks had abandoned empirical social psychology
research altogether.

Throughout World War II and during the establishment of Northside,
the Clarks had the data that Kenneth had collected in 1940, which they
were intending to use in a series of follow-up studies to their papers on
African American self-identification. In their postwar publications, the
Clarks were expressly interested in racial self-preference—that is, did
children wish to be white? As we have seen, prewar writers, notably those
who published the ACE studies, stopped short of arguing that black chil-
dren wished they were white. The Clarks would take this final step. Their
postwar studies would be heavily influenced by Kurt Lewin’s theories of
Jewish self-hatred, which he had published on the eve of World War II.
The Clarks would refashion Lewin’s theory to apply to self-hatred in
African Americans.26 For example, Kenneth Clark used Lewin’s approach
in the study of Seaside that he undertook for CCI in 1945. Writing on
“Negro-Jewish” relations in 1946, he used the concept of self-hatred to
explain hostility between African Americans and Jewish Americans: “If
the attitude of the dominant society is predominantly negative to one’s
own group the members of that group may be influenced even to the
point of hating themselves as a group.”27 The Clarks would also use
Lewin’s concepts of group self-hatred when it came time to analyze their
1940 data set.

Because of the war, publication of any studies from this second data
set was delayed until 1947. The first published results of the Clarks’ sec-
ond data set appeared in a volume edited by the SPSSI Committee on the
Teaching of Social Psychology. For this study, the Clarks explicitly ad-
dressed what they had only tangentially explored in their earlier stud-
ies—did African American children want to be white?

In their 1947 paper, the Clarks presented the results of their “doll test,”
perhaps the most famous and controversial of the social-scientific work
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used in the Brown litigation. The subjects of the Clarks’ study were 253
African American children, 134 of whom were in segregated southern
schools while 119 were in integrated northern schools. The children were
presented with two black dolls and two white dolls. Except for color, the
dolls were identical in every way. The children were asked a series of eight
questions concerning the dolls. The first four questions were designed to
reveal racial preferences—“Give me the doll that you like the best” or
“Give me the nice doll.” The next three were designed to discover racial
identification—“Give me the doll that looks like a white child,” “Give me
the doll that looks like a colored child,” and “Give me the doll that looks
like a Negro child.” The final question, “Give me the doll that looks like
you,” was to reveal self-identification.28 The Clarks controlled for age, sex,
skin complexion, and geographical location. The racial identification
portion of the tests substantiated the Clarks’ and Ruth Horowitz’s earlier
studies. In the racial preference portion of the study, however, the Clarks’
results “disturbed” them to such an extent that Kenneth later claimed that
they delayed publication of the data.29

The Clarks wrote that “the majority of these Negro children prefer the
white doll and reject the colored doll.” Two-thirds of the children consis-
tently wanted to play with the white doll and claimed that it was the
“nice” doll. A concomitant percentage rejected the black doll. The Clarks
wrote, “The importance of these results for an understanding of the ori-
gin and development of racial concepts and attitudes in Negro children
cannot be minimized. Of equal significance are their implications, in the
light of the results of racial identification already presented, to racial
mental hygiene.”30 When the Clarks presented the results of the racial
preference portion of the test and controlled for geographical location,
they found, however, that

northern and southern children . . . tend to be similar in the degree of their
preference for the white doll—with the northern children tending to be
somewhat more favorable to the white doll than are the southern children.
The southern children, however, in spite of their equal favorableness to-
ward the white doll, are significantly less likely to reject the brown doll
(evaluate it negatively), as compared to the strong tendency for the major-
ity of the northern children to do so.31

The Clarks reached a similar conclusion in the second and final study
from this data set, published in 1950. In this test, the Clarks employed a
“coloring test” wherein the children were asked to use crayons to color in
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drawings of a leaf, an apple, an orange, a mouse, a boy, and a girl. The
child was asked to color in the objects to determine that the child had a
“stable concept of the relation of color to object.” If the child had a stable
concept of color, then the child would be asked to color one of the chil-
dren “the color that you are” and the other child “the color you like little
boys (or girls) to be.”32

The coloring test found that 48 percent of the children colored their
preferences brown or black, 36 percent chose white or yellow, and 16 per-
cent chose an “irrelevant color.” But, once again, when the Clarks con-
trolled for geographical location, they found that

44 percent of the Northern children color their preference white while only
25 percent of the Southern children do. . . . Additional evidence of greater
emotional conflict in the Northern children is suggested by the fact that 20
percent of these children made an irrelevant response (colored their pref-
erence in a bizarre color). Only 5 percent of the Southern children colored
their preference in a bizarre color.33

The fact that the northern children rejected the color brown to a greater
degree than did the southern children would cause Kenneth Clark no end
of trouble after the Brown decision. For the time being, it is enough to re-
alize that the Clarks interpreted the rejection of the color brown as a “fun-
damental conflict at the very foundations of the ego structure” of the chil-
dren tested. The Clarks closed their study by emphasizing “the need for a
definite mental hygiene and educational program that would relieve chil-
dren of the tremendous burden of feelings of inadequacy and inferiority
which seem to become integrated into the very structure of personality as
it is developing.”34 This finding of psychological damage harks back to the
sociological work of E. Franklin Frazier and the other sociologists who
conducted the ACE studies in the late 1930s (discussed in chapter 2).

When Kenneth Clark first took the witness stand in Briggs v. Elliott in
South Carolina, he was armed not just with the studies he and Mamie
had conducted on racial preference, nor just with his White House Con-
ference paper, but with data from Clarendon County, where the South
Carolina schools were located. Clark had come down the week before the
trial with his dolls to run tests on the children of the area, in an attempt
to make the academic work of his papers more relevant to the trial at
hand. For Clark, being sent out to rural South Carolina was a terrifying
experience. He had spent nearly his entire life in New York City and
Washington, D.C., and for the first time he experienced the racism of the
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Deep South. Accompanied by a few local African American men to act as
bodyguards, Clark ran through his doll tests with local children at one of
the schools named in the lawsuit.35

On the stand, Clark recounted the projective methods that he and his
wife had developed and how they were used to gain insight into the
minds of very young children. He also described the literature review he
had prepared for the White House Conference. When Carter asked what
conclusions Clark drew from this information, Clark testified that “dis-
crimination, prejudice, and segregation have definitely detrimental ef-
fects on the personality development of the Negro child.” Clark also
noted that this conclusion was supported by 90 percent of the social sci-
entists who had studied the area, citing Deutscher and Chein’s survey of
social science opinion.36 Clark then presented the results of the tests on
the local children, testifying that “in Clarendon County . . . we found
eleven out of sixteen children picking the brown doll as looking ‘bad.’ . . .
Over half of these children, in spite of their own feelings—negative feel-
ings—about the brown doll, were eventually required on the last question
to identify themselves with this doll. . . . Only one of these children . . .
dared to choose the white doll as looking bad.” Clark concluded that the
children of “Clarendon County . . . have been definitely harmed in the de-
velopment of their personalities.”37

Because it would later become one of the more hotly contested claims
of the entire trial procedure, it is important to note just what claim Clark
made: that the identification of the brown doll as the bad doll indicated
psychological damage. This claim was supported by the further finding
that the children refused to identify the white doll as the bad doll. As we
will see, in subsequent trials, Clark would find evidence of psychological
damage in different sorts of identification.

On cross-examination, Attorney General Robert Figg asked Clark if
these harms Clark listed stemmed from the school the children attended.
Although Carter’s pretrial strategy did not require that the schools be iso-
lated as the only causal factor of the psychological damage, Clark felt he
had some good reasons for blaming the schools. Clark answered that the
school “definitely” was a causal factor. As proof, Clark cited a series of in-
terviews he had conducted with ten older children in the school system.
Clark claimed that these older children made “definite and categorical
statements concerning their feelings and their attitudes about attending”
the Clarendon County schools. From this information, Clark made his
statement that the school system contributed to the harms he had cited.38
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Because his techniques changed in later trials, it is important to note
here that Clark used the projective test—the doll technique—with
younger children and an interview to test older children. Clark’s Briggs
testimony, by and large, followed the logic of the papers he had published
with Mamie. Children who consistently identified the brown doll as the
bad doll were psychologically damaged. In subsequent developments, this
logic would be abandoned by Clark, as he offered what were apparently
inconsistent interpretations of his findings.

As he did in South Carolina, Kenneth Clark examined children from
Delaware in an attempt to discover psychological damage for the next
trial in which he participated, Belton v. Gebhart. His subsequent testi-
mony about his examination underscored the difficulties he had in using
the doll tests in a consistent manner.

Clark had arranged with the local attorney working with the NAACP-
LDEF, Louis Redding, to examine forty-one children from the area, thir-
teen of whom were the plaintiff ’s children, a few weeks before the trial. At
first, the NAACP-LDEF had hoped to arrange for Lois Barclay Murphy to
analyze Clark’s results, but that turned out not to be possible.39 Clark gave
the children the doll test and the coloring test and then interviewed them.
On September 19, 1951, the month before the trial, he gave the results of
the doll test to Louis Redding. Clark noted that “the results of the color-
ing test are just about what I had expected to find and the results from the
interviews were most positive in showing that the youngsters were quite
aware [of] and deeply resented the discrimination to which they were
subjected.” Clark did not, however, share the results of the coloring test or
the interviews with Redding—only the results of the doll tests, because
these were the “most significant findings and the ones which are most dif-
ficult to interpret.”40 As we will see, Clark’s interpretation of his results in
Delaware cut against his previous test interpretations.

In the Clarks’ original 1947 study, a preference for the white doll was
marked by “concomitant negative attitude toward the brown doll.”41 In
his tests of the Delaware children, this relationship disappeared, as only
three children said the white doll was the one they liked best, yet 75 per-
cent of the children who identified a doll that would “act bad” chose the
brown doll. In other words, the strong relationship that existed between
acceptance of the white doll and rejection of the brown doll that Clark
had found in his original study was not duplicated in the Delaware chil-
dren. Clark noted that the verbalized preference for the brown doll
“would seem to suggest that these children have not been damaged in
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their racial self-esteem” but added that “this assumption is contradicted
by the fact that of those children who permit themselves to answer the
question—which of those dolls would ‘act bad,’ 75% of them indicated
that the brown doll would most likely be the one to ‘act bad.’42

Beyond failing to duplicate the results of the 1947 study, Clark faced
an additional problem with his Delaware results. The vast majority of the
children refused to identify any doll as that which would “act bad.” The 75
percent figure that Clark found applied only to those expressing a prefer-
ence. The raw numbers consisted of twelve children who preferred the
white doll and four children who preferred the brown doll. But, signifi-
cantly, twenty-five children, or 60 percent of all the children, refused to
make any identification of a bad doll. This figure was wildly out of line
with Clark’s 1947 results, where a paltry 3 percent refused to make an
identification.

One possible explanation for the large majority of the Delaware chil-
dren failing to make an identification of a bad doll may lie in the ages of
the tested children. Projective tests had been developed as a method for the
study of very young children. Ruth Horowitz and Lois Barclay Murphy, in
describing the use of projective tests, referred to “nursery school” children
being tested with the toys they would normally use for play.43 In the
Clarks’ 1947 study, none of the children tested was over seven years old.
Yet, in the Delaware sample, only two of the forty-one children were under
seven years old. The other thirty-nine children were between the ages of
twelve and seventeen, with a median age of fifteen. Hence, it could be ar-
gued—and in another context, Clark would himself argue—that the pro-
jective test using dolls would be inappropriate for use with this age group.

In his report to Redding, however, Clark dismissed the notion that the
high percentage of children who refused to make a choice of a bad doll
reflected “general sophistication [of the children] and methodological in-
adequacy [of the study].” Rather, Clark argued, the failure to identify any
doll as a bad doll indicated that the children were “seeking to avoid com-
ing to grips with the personally disturbing problem of racial status.” This
could have been a reasonable interpretation for results of tests with these
older children, but on its face it seemed improbable. In contrast to the
Briggs trial, where Clark argued that children picking the brown doll as
bad indicated psychological damage, here he was arguing that failing to
pick the brown doll as bad was “evidence of damage to the self-esteem,
and the distortion of the self image.”44 Soon after the Delaware trial,
Clark would argue that even if a child identified the white doll as the bad
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doll, that choice would also indicate psychological damage. In other
words, no matter what choice a child made, Clark would interpret it as
indicating psychological damage.

In his Delaware testimony, however, Clark did not argue that refusing
to choose a bad doll indicated psychological damage. Instead, he took the
same approach as in the Briggs trial. Clark testified that “the practice of
segregation as perceived by these youngsters impaired their general func-
tioning as revealed by the results of these tests and the results of my inter-
views with them.” As evidence, Clark abandoned the idea that failing to
identify a bad doll indicated damage and instead argued:

The nature of the impairment seemed clearly indicated by the results in
which it is seen that . . . three out of every four youngsters, who when asked
the question “Which of these dolls is likely to act bad?” picked the brown
doll. The brown doll to them was associated with all the negative stereo-
types which are usually ascribed to Negroes in our culture. This indicated
clearly the damage to the self esteem of these youngsters.

Clark then testified that the nature of the damage was heightened given
that the children tested had a strong sense of self-identity. They had all
correctly answered the final question of the projective test, “Give me the
doll that looks like you.” Clark testified:

Now, when you see that 100% of these youngsters correctly identify them-
selves with the brown doll, and three out of four of them had made a
choice of one of these dolls when asked “Which one is likely to act bad?” . . .
we have clear-evidence of rather deep damage to self esteem of these
youngsters, a feeling of inferiority, a feeling of inadequacy.45

That Clark found that all the children correctly self-identified should
not have been surprising, given that he and his wife had found in their
1947 study that “there is a general and marked increase in the percent of
subjects who identify with the colored doll with an increase in age,” and
that by age seven, 87 percent of the children correctly self-identified.46

The median age of the Delaware children was twelve, the 100 percent fig-
ure should not have seemed out of line.

But beyond the issue of self-identification, Clark’s testimony was not
precisely what he had found in his examination. He had not, in fact,
found that “three out of every four” children identified the brown doll as
bad, rather that three out of four who made a choice made such an identi-
fication. Clark’s rather strained interpretation about those children who
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refused to make any identification was not made public, and instead,
Clark offered the straightforward point about the Delaware children
equating the brown doll and the bad doll, even though it was not quite
what he had found in his examination. These issues were not raised in the
trial, at least partly because the state’s attorney did not press them in a
cross examination of Clark. He was not questioned about the sample size,
the results of his tests, the percentages of each answer to his tests. In the
next trial, in Virginia, Clark would be pressed much harder.

Kenneth Clark had examined the children in Virginia just as he had in
South Carolina and Delaware. Like Delaware, the school at the center of
the lawsuit was a high school. Perhaps recognizing that the projective
tests he attempted to give the high school students in Delaware were, in
fact, inappropriate to that age group, Clark settled on an interview with a
group of the plaintiffs’ children.

In his interviews, Clark asked fourteen children a series of questions
designed to elicit their opinions about their school, the white school, and
race relations generally. In notes made from those interviews, he ob-
served that “not one ascribed any positive thing to the Negro school” and
concluded that the “school is [a] symbol of the negative—symbol of
stigma.” By contrast, Clark noted that “not one assume any negative char-
acter of the white school.” When asked what could be done about the
state of the school, nine children responded that the state should build a
new school for them. Two of the children thought it would require a
court case to get the state to fix the schools. Clark remarked in his notes,
“If [they] see any hope at all, [they] see it only in terms of their own ef-
forts and the prestige of the law.”47

On the stand, Clark related the general nature of his testing procedures,
describing the various projective tests he had conducted in his scientific
career. He also described the nature of the scientific literature that found
feelings of inferiority in African Americans. Clark then testified to the re-
sults of his interviews with the children, relating his finding that the school
was the “symbol of the negative” for the children and that they did not de-
scribe the white school negatively. In concluding his testimony, Clark
noted that the children were “obsessed” with racial matters and that their
opinion “toward their school, toward their family, toward their society, to-
ward people who look like themselves, toward people who look differently,
. . . the structure of practically everything they perceive, is racial.”48

During Clark’s cross-examination, Attorney General Justin Moore
turned to the tests that Clark had conducted on the Virginia children.
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Showing that he was familiar with at least some of the previous trials,
Moore asked Clark why he did not use the doll test on the Virginia chil-
dren, as he had in South Carolina. Clark replied, “Because the children
with whom I had contact here were older children. The doll method has
been found to be useful and sensitive almost exclusively for the use of
children between the ages of four and eight.”49 Yet, instead of asking why,
if Clark was not confident in the doll tests for high school students, he
had used them in the Delaware case, Moore turned to the details of the
interview in Virginia.

Clark’s admission that the doll tests were not reliable indicators of psy-
chological states in high school children made his Delaware testimony
more problematic. Apart from basically misrepresenting the results of the
doll tests in Delaware, Clark had now admitted that the entire test was an
unreliable indicator of psychological damage the age group in question.
That Moore did not pursue this line of questioning probably indicated
that he had not paid enough attention to the Delaware trial, where the
state had not defended segregation very vigorously.

Moore, however, had discovered an anomaly in Clark’s studies. Refer-
ring to Clark’s published work, Moore asked, “Isn’t it true that you found
the same reaction of colored children in the New England area in re-
sponse to your doll tests that you did in South Carolina and these other
places?” In fact, the Clarks’ 1947 study had found that “southern children
in segregated schools are less pronounced in their preference for the
white doll, compared to northern children’s definite preference for this
doll.”50 Clark’s response to this question was:

I think that the reaction of children is never to just one aspect of their soci-
ety. These children appeared to be sensitive to all aspects of their society. I
think it was pointed out that there is segregation in parts of the country in
which there is no legal, or legally-enforced, segregation. The child responds
to the fact of segregation. He responds to the treatment of the Negro in our
mass media—in our newspapers, on the radio—the dialect and menial role
which is generally ascribed to Negroes—and, I presume, television. There
are a myriad of factors in a society, North or South, which influence chil-
dren’s reactions.51

As we have seen in the testimony of the other social scientists, this was
not, for Clark, a stunning admission about the limits of social science.
Clark knew that the NAACP-LDEF was not arguing that psychological
damage was caused only by legally mandated school segregation. Indeed,

144 | Testimony of the Experts



the basic social-scientific argument the NAACP-LDEF was presenting
against segregation was little hurt by Clark’s statement that psychological
damage existed in northern school children. But Clark’s response also
underscores the shifting nature of his claims regarding the interpreta-
tions of his findings in the Delaware case.

Before Moore could question Clark further about what appeared to be
his admission that the doll tests showed greater damage in the unsegre-
gated North than in the segregated South, one of the trial judges inter-
rupted the testimony to question Clark on an irrelevant tangent. When
Moore finally gained control of the floor once again, the testimony had
drifted away from the doll tests. But the testimony remained. One of
Clark’s main projects would soon be explaining away the seemingly in-
congruous results of his doll tests in northern areas. He was not called on
to do so in any of the trials, partly because his conflicting interpretations
emerged over the course of several trials and partly because the attorneys
defending segregation did not question any of the expert witnesses to any
great extent. In only one trial, Davis in Virginia, did the defense care to
contest anything said by the expert witnesses.

Defense of Segregation: The States Respond

During the Briggs trial, the opposing attorney, Robert Figg, did not press
Clark on his cross-examination, believing that Clark’s testimony did little
to damage the state’s defense.52 Figg simply thought that the expert wit-
nesses were irrelevant to the case. He had made a half-hearted effort to
enlist Howard Odum and Guy Johnson, two sociologists from the Uni-
versity of North Carolina, to testify for the state. When they refused, Figg
was not too upset, since he thought the social science testimony was rela-
tively unimportant.53

The situation was similar in Kansas and Delaware. The opposing attor-
neys made no real attack on the expert witnesses. One explanation is that,
like Robert Figg, the opposing attorneys simply thought the social science
testimony to be too weak to pose any real threat to segregation. Another
explanation may be that the border states of Kansas and Delaware were
not vigorous defenders of segregation generally. In Kansas and Delaware,
the NAACP-LDEF was litigating in border states that were more moder-
ate on racial issues than South Carolina or Virginia—the site of the last
school segregation trial. For the attorneys representing Kansas and
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Delaware defending segregated schools may have been a part of their job,
but they had no strong emotional commitment to it. For the lead Virginia
attorney, however, segregation was a way of life that was being attacked
by the litigation of the NAACP-LDEF. Moreover, Virginia’s attorneys had
seen the NAACP-LDEF in previous trials and were well aware of the strat-
egy the organization would employ. Consequently, when the NAACP-
LDEF arrived in Virginia, they knew they were in for a fight. The lead at-
torney for Virginia, Justin Moore, would defend segregation with all the
weapons at his disposal, including social science testimony.

The brunt of Moore’s attack on the social science testimony was di-
rected at the testimony of Isidor Chein, who was still with the American
Jewish Congress in February 1952, the time of the trial. Chein had been
brought down to testify on the survey of social science opinion that had
been a mainstay of the NAACP-LDEF’s use of social science since its pub-
lication in 1948.54 On the witness stand, Chein testified to the methodol-
ogy and results of the survey of social science opinion. He explained how
the social science community overwhelmingly believed that legally en-
forced segregation harmed both the segregated and the segregating
group. He also explained the lines of evidence he had listed in his 1948
article that supported the proposition of psychological damage.

On cross-examination, Moore, in an infamous display of bigotry, first
determined that Chein was “one-hundred percent Jewish,” worked for a
Jewish organization, and was funded from money collected from Jewish
charities. He also questioned Chein about the relationship between the
American Jewish Congress and the NAACP and seemed disappointed
when Chein answered that, while the Commission on Law and Social Ac-
tion had worked with the NAACP, Chein himself had not.55

Moore then questioned Chein extensively on the methodology of the
social science survey, especially on how many of those who responded to
the survey were from southern states and on how many of the southern
responses were from “Negro” social scientists. On the second point,
Chein answered that he had no idea because “within the fraternity of sci-
ence, we do not distinguish color. A colored person can be as competent a
scientist as a non-colored one.”56 Moore also pushed Chein on self-hatred
in Jews. Chein responded that the self-hatred in Jews was of a “much less
marked degree than in the case of the Negro,” and that this difference
owed to the “weight of the government” telling African Americans they
were inferior.57 In the end, Moore, despite what the presiding judge de-
scribed as a “grueling cross examination,” failed to score many points
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against Chein’s testimony.58 Given that Chein had been arguing for the
elimination of segregation since 1946, Moore’s failure should not be too
surprising. More was yet to come for Chein’s survey, however, for Virginia
was going to fight fire with fire. For the first time during the litigation
campaign, the state was prepared to offer its own expert witnesses in de-
fense of segregation.

The first two experts who testified for the state were William H. Kelly, a
psychiatrist who was the director of the Memorial Guidance Clinic in
Richmond, Virginia, and John N. Buck, a clinical psychologist from
Whitestone, Virginia. Both of these men expressed a concern that the
local white population in Virginia was not ready to accept unsegregated
public schools, although under cross-examination both men admitted
that segregation was psychologically damaging to segregated individu-
als.59 It was the third and final expert witness for the state, however, who
was the most significant.

The final witness for the state was Henry E. Garrett (1904–1973), the
head of the Psychology Department at Columbia University. Garrett had
been on Kenneth Clark’s Ph.D. committee and had been Mamie Clark’s
Ph.D. adviser. He was a former president of the American Psychological
Association and had received any number of honors from the profession
for his work in psychological testing and psychometrics. He was, in short,
a very senior member of the psychological community. He was also an
unabashed segregationist who was convinced that African Americans
were inherently inferior to white Americans. Soon after the Davis trial, he
would leave Columbia to take a position at the University of Virginia,
where he would become increasingly marginalized and extreme in his
racial views.60

At the Davis trial, Moore first led his star witness through his exten-
sive qualifications, not forgetting to emphasize that Garrett was a “Vir-
ginia boy that moved up to the big city.”61 Moore then asked Garrett if
segregation was psychologically damaging to African Americans. Garrett
answered:

I do not think that one can possibly defend separation of one group from
another, if the separated group is stigmatized or put into an inferior posi-
tion. Separation can be of different sorts which does not involve, necessar-
ily, any feeling of inferiority or any stigma. The principle of separation in
education, for example, is long and well established in American life. . . . So
long as the facilities are equal, the mere fact of separation does not seem to
me to be, in itself discriminatory.62
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Moore recalled for Garrett the testimony of M. Brewster Smith, who had
claimed that segregation was “inherently an insult to the integrity of the
individual.” Garrett claimed that this was “fairly strong language” to de-
scribe segregation and that Smith was probably just an “idealistic person,
who is likely to let his sympathies go beyond his judgment.” Having thus
dispensed with the “young Dr. Smith,” the elder statesman of psychology,
led by Moore, turned his attention to the survey of social science opinion
conducted by Isidor Chein.63

Although he claimed he did “not like to comment on Dr. Chein’s
study,” Garrett soon warmed to the task. An expert on the design of psy-
chological tests, Garrett had two main criticisms of Chein’s study. First,
he argued, the questions were “blunderbuss” questions that conflated sev-
eral issues into one. Garrett testified that Chein “asked whether enforced
segregation—which has an implied threat, racial and religious, which is a
double-barreled affair—is detrimental—without saying how it was detri-
mental; he did not specify whether he meant by segregation legally or
segregation by custom, whether he meant it in buses, theaters, churches,
schools, or what.” Garrett claimed that Chein’s questions, as posed, were
unanswerable, and if he had been sent a questionnaire, he would have re-
turned it unanswered.64

Garrett’s second criticism was that Chein had selected a sample to
skew the result of the study in the manner he desired. Garrett claimed
that the American Psychological Association had more than 8,000 mem-
bers, and yet Chein had polled only 416. Garrett professed that he was
“surprised that he [Chein] did not select his sample well enough to have
gotten a hundred per cent. . . . I would not like to make a bet, but I wager
that I could send a questionnaire and phrase it rightly and get almost any
answer I wanted.” Regarding Clark’s testimony, Garrett claimed that psy-
chology had not developed any tests that could adequately measure a
child’s attitude toward segregation. He dismissed Clark’s interviews with
the local children because there had been general unrest in the commu-
nity about segregation; indeed, the students had been on strike against
the school just before Clark administered his tests. Under these circum-
stances, the students would naturally take the opportunity to criticize
their schools.65

Garrett’s testimony was designed to demonstrate how the idealistic
young social scientists, some of whom he had trained, had let their good
intentions get in the way of proper scientific procedure. As an expert in
test design, Garrett had singled out the one social science study that had
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been designed specifically for use in the legal arena: Chein’s survey of so-
cial science opinion. What Garrett had attempted to do was to show how
Chein had become a pure advocate for the overthrow of segregation,
using the facade of science to mask his true character. For the first time,
but by no means the last, the social scientists had been accused of letting
their feelings about segregation overcome proper scientific procedure.

At the Virginia trial, little was done to rehabilitate Chein’s survey.
Robert Carter had arranged for Kenneth Clark to sit at counsel’s table
with him during Garrett’s cross-examination. Carter drew out more crit-
icisms from Garrett on projective tests and how inadequate they were.
Then Carter proceeded to quote from a recently published book by Gar-
rett in which he spoke of the usefulness of projective tests and the inter-
view method of testing to gain insight into people with personality prob-
lems. Carter then got Garrett to agree to the question: “In attempting to
measure the impact of the discrimination, segregation, aren’t these the
very personal and intimate things for which the projected [sic] technique
would be the most useful?”66

After Garrett admitted that the testing methods employed by Clark
were well suited to the task, Carter further explored Garrett’s position on
segregation. He got Garrett to admit, “In general, whenever a person is
cut off from the main body of society or a group, if he is put into a posi-
tion that stigmatizes him and makes him feel inferior . . . it is detrimental
and deleterious to him.” Garrett, however, wanted to draw a distinction
between segregation in general being harmful and segregation being so as
it was practiced in Virginia, where “if the Negro child had equal facilities,
his own teachers, his own friends, and a good feeling, he would be more
likely to develop pride in himself as Negro. . . . They would develop their
sense of dramatic art, and music, which they seem to have a talent for.”67

Carter ended his cross-examination with an admission from Garrett that
the facilities in Virginia, as they presently stood, were unequal, and hence
racial segregation caused a stigma of inferiority.

The repercussions of Garrett’s testimony quickly traveled through the
community of activist social scientists. The social scientists who had tes-
tified in Virginia were, in M. Brewster Smith’s words, “completely and
perennially shocked at the content of Garrett’s testimony.”68 Carter wor-
ried that Garrett’s testimony would give the appearance that there was a
“wide diversion among social scientists on this particular issue.”69 For his
part, Smith was outraged by Garrett’s testimony and thought it was
“something that no psychologist in his position should be allowed to get
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away with.”70 He suggested that Stuart Cook, then the president of SPSSI,
attempt to get the APA to take some action regarding Garrett’s testimony.
Smith wrote to Carter that the reprimand had to come from the APA,
rather than from SPSSI, because “members of SPSSI are already branded
. . . as zealots in this area”; hence, “Garrett would not worry too much
about what SPSSI had to say about him.”71 Nothing, however, seems to
have come from Smith’s call for official action against Garrett.

The most extensive criticism of Garrett’s testimony was made by Isidor
Chein. Stuart Cook once said of Chein that “when he analyzed a topic he,
quite literally, exhausted its intellectual content.”72 Chein’s penchant for
exhausting analysis was certainly evident after he had read Garrett’s testi-
mony. Chein sent a five-page single-spaced letter to Robert Carter that at-
tacked the logic of Garrett’s testimony with scalpel-like precision. For ex-
ample, he examined every instance where Garrett attempted to deny the
“stigma which is attached to statutory segregation” and pointed out that
Garrett never actually clearly claimed there was no stigma. And Garrett
openly admitted that if a stigma was attached to segregation, it was neces-
sarily discrimination. Chein noted that Garrett’s very grammar betrayed
the stigma: Garrett persisted in using the phrase “the separated group,”
which “admits that the separation is not equal for the two groups. He
could have said, ‘if one of the separated groups . . .’ but he didn’t. In other
words, his perception of the status relationships involved is accurate.”
After closely examining Garrett’s testimony, Chein concluded that “the
sum total of Garrett’s testimony on this point is not only that he does not
challenge the existence of a stigma which is related to statutory segrega-
tion, but that he accepts it.”

Chein also came to the defense of his survey of social-scientific opin-
ion. He explained, as he did in his direct testimony at the trial, that he did
not select particular social scientists for the survey but took all social sci-
entists who were members of the relevant organizations for the subject
matter. Moreover, on the wording of the questions, Chein wrote that
“Garrett knows as well as I do that there are times when a shotgun ques-
tion is perfectly justified.” After defending his study, Chein remarked that
Garrett’s testimony had essentially attacked his “personal integrity” but
that a close examination of the actual methods of the study demonstrated
that the attack was without merit.73 Much to Chein’s chagrin, however,
Garrett’s criticisms of his study would be raised one more time. Unfortu-
nately for Chein, it would be in front of the Supreme Court, and he
would have little opportunity to defend himself.
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Conclusion

One week after the trial in Virginia concluded, on March 7, 1952, the de-
cision was handed down. To no one’s surprise, the court found that segre-
gated schools did not violate the U.S. Constitution. The expert witnesses,
the court declared, canceled each other out—both sides offered equally
cogent arguments.74 The NAACP-LDEF immediately began the appeals
process, hoping to have the case join Briggs and Brown before the U.S.
Supreme Court. Briggs and Brown had already been decided against the
NAACP-LDEF. In fact, by the time Davis was decided, the first two cases
already had been appealed to the Supreme Court.

The decision in the Delaware trial finally came down in April 1952.
The decision was a qualified victory for the NAACP-LDEF. The court had
found a substantial denial of educational opportunities for African
Americans in Delaware. While the court did not feel it had the power to
overturn the separate-but-equal doctrine, it did order immediate deseg-
regation of the Delaware schools. Moreover, the social-scientific testi-
mony, especially because it was unopposed, seemed to be a deciding fac-
tor in the decision.75 The state immediately began the appeals process
that would eventually bring the case before the U.S. Supreme Court.

For the NAACP-LDEF, the social-scientific testimony appeared to be a
gamble that had paid off—most significantly in the Kansas decision.
While the court there had decided to uphold segregation, it had also is-
sued a “finding of fact.” Following closely on the testimony of Louisa
Holt, one of the NAACP-LDEF expert witnesses, the court found:

Segregation of white and colored children in public schools has a detri-
mental effect upon the colored children. The impact is greater when it has
the sanction of the law; for the policy of separating the races is usually in-
terpreted as denoting the inferiority of the Negro group. A sense of inferi-
ority affects the motivation of a child to learn. Segregation with the sanc-
tion of law, therefore, has a tendency to retard the educational and mental
development of Negro children and to deprive them of some of the bene-
fits they would receive in a racially integrated school system.76

Judge Huxman later claimed that he was attempting to force the issue for
the Supreme Court—to “wrap it up in a way that they could not duck it.
They had whittled away at it long enough.”77 The finding of fact made by
the district court in Kansas would play a large part in the shaping of the
U.S. Supreme Court decision of 1954.
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Social science testimony had also been quoted approvingly by the
court in the Delaware decision. While it had failed to make any headway
in South Carolina and Virginia, the NAACP-LDEF knew that they had no
real chance of winning those decisions, regardless of the evidence pre-
sented. In short, social science had been successful enough for the
NAACP-LDEF to work it into the appeals strategy. The next chapter ex-
amines just how the social scientists were enrolled in the appeals process.

For the social scientists, the trials were an opportunity to present their
arguments against segregation. In particular, social scientists made a
number of points that meshed well with the cases at hand. First, legal seg-
regation was particularly damaging because the segregated individual
could not possibly rationalize the status assigned to him or her. Second,
segregation in schools was particularly damaging because the school’s role
in a child’s life was so pervasive. Third, individuals would follow desegre-
gation orders from the courts, because racial prejudice was particularly
vulnerable to authoritative orders. All these points came out of the social-
scientific literature that had emerged after World War II. Moreover, the
defense attorneys had not really made any arguments that the social sci-
entists had not anticipated long before the trials ever started. Too often
the defense attorneys were reduced to asking the social scientists how
much time they had spent in the South and, in the case of Justin Moore,
dwelling on the racial or ethnic background of the witness. Such argu-
ments were not likely to sway anyone’s opinion, except among the local
populace.

And yet there were signs of strain in the platform of the social scien-
tists. The testing procedures of Kenneth Clark in particular seemed sub-
ject to his own interpretation, rather than based on firm, factual data.
The Delaware case, in which Clark, either purposely or by accident, mis-
represented the results of his doll tests, showed that the test was perhaps
too flexible a device to prove the dangers of desegregation. As we see in
subsequent chapters, the doll tests would become by far the most contro-
versial aspect of social-scientific involvement in the Brown litigation. In
fact, the first questions would appear publicly, even before the case was
heard by the Supreme Court.
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Supreme Court Hearings and 

Decision, Brown I

For two years, between October 1951 and December 1953, so-
cial scientists were working with the NAACP-LDEF on the appeal of the
school segregation cases. Initially, the work done on the appeal was done
within an official committee of SPSSI, but soon Kenneth Clark began to
dominate the project, assisted by various friends and associates within
SPSSI. While this activity was going on, Clark faced another problem—
his doll studies were coming under increasing public scrutiny, and he was
forced to explain just why it was that northern children seemed to suffer
more damage than southern children. The end of this phase of the litiga-
tion was the Supreme Court decision that found segregated schools vio-
late the Fourteenth Amendment. The prominent mention of Kenneth
Clark’s name in the opinion brought another round of criticism directed
at the doll tests. The two rounds of criticism serve as bookends to the ap-
peals process for the first Brown decision.

Defense of the Doll Tests

In February 1952, a law student at Yale, William Delano, was working on a
Note for the Yale Law Journal that which focused on the school segregation
trials. He had noted the discrepancy between Clark’s testimony and the
Clarks’ data in their 1947 article. After meeting with Clark, Delano asked
for an explanation of the seeming contradiction between Clark’s claim
that legal segregation caused psychological damage and the higher per-
centage of northern children who identified the brown doll as the bad doll.

A week before the Virginia trial, Clark wrote to Delano that “children
in racially segregated schools are more seriously damaged in the area of
self-esteem than are Negro children in a racially mixed school.” Northern
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children, explained Clark, often refused to continue the experiment or
broke down in tears when “confronted with the conflict of identifying
with a brown doll which they had previously stereotyped negatively.” In
contrast, southern children had no such problems; they “either laughed
or tried to appear casual about the whole question.” The only children
who remarked, “‘Well it is a nigger and I am a nigger,’ were southern chil-
dren,” Clark claimed.

Clark concluded that, although this appeared to demonstrate that
southern children were better adjusted than northern children, in fact the
opposite was the case: southern children had accepted their inferior posi-
tion in society. He wrote, “The rigid patterns of segregation in all aspects
of life, the fact of segregated schools characteristic of the South, may be
responsible for the ability of the southern children to accept their inferi-
ority status as a matter of fact.” Clark warned that “apparent adjustment
is an adjustment to a social pathology which in any fundamental ap-
proach to personality cannot be considered a basically healthy form of
personality adjustment.”1

This response skirted the initial issue raised by Delano (and by Vir-
ginia’s attorney general Moore during cross-examination), which was
that northern children identified the brown doll as the bad doll in greater
numbers than did southern children. This basic fact was obscured when
Clark moved the discussion away from a simple analysis of the quantita-
tive data and into the realm of interpretation of the children’s emotional
reactions. Such an analysis made Clark’s interpretation of his Delaware
results especially troubling. In his note to Louis Redding in that case,
Clark had argued that avoiding an identification was a sure sign of psy-
chological damage. But in his analysis of his original data, Clark argued
that avoiding such an identification was, in fact, a healthier response than
making the identification. It would seem that the doll tests were very sus-
ceptible to Clark’s own interpretations.

In any case, Clark’s explanation for the behavior of the northern chil-
dren was not terribly persuasive. In his analysis of the Clarks’ 1947 article
reporting the results of their doll tests, William Cross noted in 1991 that
only 14 percent of the children made any “anti-Black statements” in any
case, and only two southern children used the word nigger. He concluded,
“The Clarks then assume that the negative remarks made by a handful of
children in their study or clinical practice represent pervasive themes in
the psychodynamics, not only of Negro children in general, but of the av-
erage Negro teenager and adult.”2
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In 1952, William Delano was similarly unconvinced of Clark’s expla-
nation. In his Note, published in May, Delano argued that because the
tests indicated that damage started before the child reached school age,
any such damage could not be traced to school segregation. Delano also
pointed out the higher percentage of northern African American children
who identified the brown doll as the bad doll. While noting Clark’s expla-
nation for the disparity, Delano concluded, “It is clear, however, that these
tests do not isolate school segregation as the source of emotional distur-
bances in Negro children.”3 Of course, the damage argument did not ne-
cessitate the isolation that Delano demanded; however, the Note did seem
to undercut Clark’s claims for the doll tests’ ability to measure personality
damage.

Within the NAACP-LDEF, the appearance of Delano’s Note increased
the resistance to the use of social science materials in the briefs before the
Supreme Court. Robert Carter would have to push hard to overcome the
skepticism toward social science among some of the NAACP-LDEF staff.
Carter’s task may have been made easier by the fact that the doll tests
faded into the background in the social science materials being assembled
for the Supreme Court. By the time the Note appeared in May 1952, the
social science brief was well underway. In fact, the brief had started half a
year before.

The Social Science Statement

In October 1951, two of the school segregation trials, Briggs in South
Carolina and Brown in Kansas, were complete. The Delaware trial, Bel-
ton, was underway, and the fourth and final trial, Davis in Virginia, was
not scheduled to begin. Though the Supreme Court had not yet agreed
to hear any appeal of any trial, the NAACP-LDEF was preparing for the
Supreme Court. Immediately after the Delaware trial in October, Carter
wrote to Clark and told him that “we deem it advisable to begin prepara-
tion of our brief on appeal at once.” Carter listed two arguments that
would need relevant social science materials: first, that racial classifica-
tion was an unreasonable exercise of state power, “since there is no racial
difference with respect to ability to learn and absorb knowledge”; sec-
ond, that “segregation is detrimental and injurious to the mental and
personality development of the Negro child and deprives him of educa-
tional opportunities and benefits which he would normally obtain in an
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unsegregated school system.” Carter invited Clark to a meeting of the
NAACP-LDEF staff to begin getting the brief assembled.4

Besides attending meetings with the lawyers of the NAACP-LDEF,
Clark was a member of SPSSI’s Committee on Intergroup Relations, one
of a number of SPSSI committees dedicated to various aspects of social
psychology. Immediately after World War II, the “race relations” commit-
tee was renamed the Committee on Intergroup Relations. Eugene Hartley
was the chair, and Daniel Katz, who had conducted some of the first stud-
ies of racial prejudice at Princeton, managed to get the young Kenneth
Clark on the committee as well.5

In October 1951, when Carter informed Clark that the preparation of
the brief was to begin at once, SPSSI’s Committee on Intergroup Rela-
tions decided to conduct an “evaluation of the work done on the field of
minority personality and adjustment.” The head of the project was Ger-
hart Saenger, the former CCI staffer who had conducted research on inte-
grated sales personnel and had joined Stuart Cook at NYU after CCI’s
breakup. In a December 1951 letter to committee members, and in his re-
port to the SPSSI council a month later, Saenger offered two justifications
for undertaking the survey. First, such a study would be theoretically jus-
tified because it would serve to unite many disparate areas of research
from different areas of psychology, sociology, and psychoanalysis. Sec-
ond, on the “practical” side, Saenger explained that “this choice was dic-
tated by the desire to be of assistance in the forthcoming court trials be-
fore state courts and the Supreme Court in which the southern formula
of ‘separate but equal’ will be challenged.”6

A subcommittee was formed to prepare a statement for the trials and
to prepare a journal article for professional publication. The subcommit-
tee included Kenneth Clark and Isidor Chein, as well as New York psychi-
atrist Viola Bernard; Samuel Flowerman and Marie Jahoda, both of the
American Jewish Committee; and Marion Radke, another former CCI
staffer. After conferring with CCI, Saenger informed his subcommittee
that each of them would be responsible for one section of the social-sci-
entific literature on a given topic. Saenger listed four possible topics for
discussion: minority reactions toward frustration caused by discrimina-
tion, minority reactions to prejudice, the effect of prejudice and discrim-
ination on adjustment in intra- and intergroup relations, and the effect of
cultural conflict on minority adjustment and personality. Saenger sug-
gested that the subcommittee meet once month to exchange ideas and
prepare their results.7
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The subcommittee had met only once before Robert Carter was asking
to see a draft of their proposed statement. Carter had invited Clark to at-
tend another NAACP-LDEF planning session, scheduled for the second
week of January 1952, to discuss the NAACP-LDEF’s use of social science
materials.8

Carter would have to wait until May 1952 before the subcommittee
had a working outline of their statement. Titled “The Social Scientific Ar-
gument against Segregation in the Schools,” the outline appeared very
much as the work of a committee, containing no fewer than ten major
headings, not all of them distinct from one another. The SPSSI outline
was essentially a reactive document: that is, it spent a great deal of time
responding to “the case for segregation,” arguing that the committee’s ex-
pert, scientific opinion was superior to what most people, or at least most
southerners, believed about race.

Among the arguments the SPSSI outline attempted to rebut were: that
racial segregation alleviated racial tension, that racial segregation was
necessary because of the inferiority of African Americans, and that segre-
gation was necessary to prevent miscegenation. Typical of these argu-
ments was the rebuttal that segregation was a “natural” response of peo-
ple to congregate with those like themselves. “There is no such thing as
natural segregation,” declared the SPSSI outline, “If consciousness of
kind makes for segregation, why wouldn’t people then segregate accord-
ing to height, weight, etc.”9

The SPSSI committee was attempting to dispel the arguments that de-
fense attorneys had raised against the expert witnesses during the trials.
For example, several witnesses were explicitly asked about the application
of the psychological damage argument to laws against intermarriage of
African Americans with white Americans. Hence, the SPSSI outline con-
tained three or four arguments rebutting the applicability of their argu-
ment to miscegenation statutes.

The SPSSI committee also indicated the wide range of arguments that
social scientists believed they could address. The famous “damage argu-
ment” that segregation had “detrimental effects on the personality of mi-
nority group members” was only a small part of the original SPSSI out-
line and not necessarily given more weight than any other argument.

On June 9, 1952, the Supreme Court agreed to hear the first two of the
School Segregation Cases. Saenger immediately wrote to the committee
members with the news that “since the hearings are planned for the be-
ginning of October we are forced to rush the writing of the memorandum
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to be used before the Court as representing the social scientists argument
against segregation in the schools.”10 Despite the rush, the social scientists
were still not sure exactly what would be done with the materials they
were preparing. The NAACP-LDEF attorneys were deeply divided on the
use of social-scientific materials before the Supreme Court.

Since the subcommittee could not be expected to get a statement to-
gether by the deadline, the task fell to Clark and Chein. Later, after they
had written two drafts, they were joined by Stuart Cook. In 1967, Clark
described Cook’s involvement as “just wonderful because he brought the
appearance of white, Anglo-Saxon dispassionateness to our task where I
had a tendency to become a little strident.”11 Stridency and passion may
have been important in a legal brief, but the Social Science Statement was
not a typical legal brief. In drafting the statement, Clark, Chein, and Cook
attempted to maintain the personas of “objective, scientific experts” while
writing for the ultimate adversarial forum—a Supreme Court hearing.

The struggle between advocacy and objectivity was apparent in three
different sections of the statement that changed during the drafting
process: first, changes in style that eliminated any overt calls to democ-
racy, morality, or other “extrascientific” dimensions of segregation; sec-
ond, the elimination of attacks on the “defenses of segregation” that fig-
ured so prominently in the SPSSI outline; third, the elimination of care-
ful nuances and qualifications that served to complicate the straight-
forward argument against segregation.

First, stylistically, the statement went from a broad screed against seg-
regation to a narrow claim that social science was relevant and useful in
the disposition of the case. For example, in the opening paragraph of the
statement, Clark had originally written what sounded like a political
speech against segregation, invoking problems of democracy and cold
war concerns about world leadership:

The problem of racial segregation, imposed by legal statutes or by the ad-
ministrative practices of official agencies and supported or enforced by the
use of police power and judicial processes, constitutes one of the major
problems facing the American people today. It is a major problem because
of the damaging effect that such segregation has on the leadership position
of the United States in this critical period of world affairs. Even more im-
portant, it is a major problem because it has always constituted an unre-
solved or only partially resolved issue in the evolution of American democ-
racy. It is an issue which is today coming to a head, as is evidenced by the
many cases before the courts, by changes in some of the administrative
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practices of the Federal government, and by the important place which the
more inclusive issues of civil rights have occupied in the deliberations of
the recent national conventions of the major political parties.12

Virtually all of this paragraph was struck from the final version, most
probably by Cook, leaving only a portion of the first sentence:

The problem of the segregation of racial and ethnic groups constitutes one
of the major problems facing the American people today. It seems desir-
able, therefore, to summarize the contributions which contemporary social
science can make toward its resolution. There are, of course, moral and
legal issues involved with respect to which the signers of the present state-
ment cannot speak with any special authority and which must be taken
into account in the solution of the problem. There are, however, also fac-
tual issues involved with respect to which certain conclusions seem to be
justified on the basis of the available scientific evidence. It is with these is-
sues only that this paper is concerned.13

Perhaps the final version would not stir the blood as the original ver-
sion did; however, it was more in keeping with the objective tone of a sci-
entific paper. Presumably, any authority the Social Science Statement had
would be as a dispassionate and objective statement about the nature of
segregation and the possibilities for desegregation. Any invocation of
value-laden concepts such as freedom and democracy would be inappro-
priate for a strictly “scientific” examination of the facts.

Also eliminated from the final document was much of the material at-
tacking popular justifications for segregation that had been raised by de-
fense attorneys during the trials. An early draft of the Social Science
Statement argued, “Those favoring segregation argue that segregation is
desirable because (1) of the existence of a natural, instinctive aversion
against close contact between races; (2) because of the innate inferiority
of the darker races; (3) because it prevents or alleviates racial tension.”14

The response to the first of these arguments was eliminated completely
from the final form of the statement. The second argument was men-
tioned only in passing, when the Social Science Statement denied the in-
nate inferiority of African Americans by referencing Klineberg’s work
and observed that, at any rate, the argument was an “argument for ho-
mogenous groupings of children by intelligence rather than race.” The
third of these arguments was transformed into a positive statement,
rather than a reactive one, by positing that desegregation would alleviate

Supreme Court Hearings and Decision, Brown I | 159



racial tensions, citing much of the contact literature funded by CCI and
Lee and Humphrey’s book on the Detroit race riot.15

Eliminating this material made sense in a legal brief, in which, unlike a
scientific paper, one would not want to raise possible points against one’s
own argument. Conceivably, the brief could have been raising arguments
the other side would not bring up during the appeal, which would have
been very poor legal strategy.

The third kind of argument to be eliminated consisted of careful qual-
ifications and nuances of the basic argument against segregation. For ex-
ample, in an early draft of the statement, the general argument that segre-
gation causes low levels of aspiration was much more complicated than
in the final form. Probably reflecting Chein’s interest in Jewish identity,
the draft statement developed a carefully nuanced argument that con-
trasted “socioeconomic” and “cultural” discrimination against Jews, espe-
cially in the “East European shtetl,” and against African Americans living
in the South.16 Such fine points probably were not necessary to make the
general point about the psychological damage caused by segregation and
could have been more confusing than helpful. In the end, the statement
had to be a simple, nontechnical document aimed at the Supreme Court
justices rather than the social-scientific community.

The final Social Science Statement made only two arguments: first,
that segregation was psychologically damaging to both minority and ma-
jority group children; and second, that desegregation could proceed
smoothly and without trouble if done quickly and firmly.

For the first argument, the Social Science Statement followed the as-
sertions that were laid out in Clark’s White House paper, prepared two
years before. For support, it relied on the Clarks’ studies using projective
tests, as well as on other projective tests such as those conducted by Helen
Trager (who had testified at the Kansas case) and Marion Radke (who
was on the SPSSI committee that drafted the original outline). The state-
ment also relied on the theoretical perspectives offered by David Krech
and Theodore Newcomb in their textbooks on social psychology. Beyond
the social psychological literature, the Social Science Statement cited the
sociological works of E. Franklin Frazier and Gunnar Myrdal, on the
pathology of African American culture, and Alfred McClung Lee’s book
on race riots, on the breakdown of the social order caused by segregation.
The section on psychological damage concluded with the citation of
Chein’s social science survey, affirming that the view presented was
shared by a large majority of the social science community. Finally,
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Chein’s four lines of evidence were cited for the support of the social sci-
ence opinion.17

The second argument made by the Social Science Statement was that
segregation could be accomplished easily if it were so ordered by the
Court. First, relying on Klineberg, the statement dismissed the notion
that African Americans were intellectually inferior to white Americans.
Second, the statement put forth the evidence that contact between the
races could lessen racial friction. Relying heavily on CCI’s studies of con-
tact in housing and employment, as well as on studies of the desegrega-
tion of the military, the statement argued that while outbreaks of vio-
lence were often predicted, in fact, few actually ever occurred. It con-
cluded that the Court should order desegregation quickly, firmly, and
unequivocally if racial tension was to be avoided.18

The entire brief was only eighteen pages long, with a four-page bibli-
ography appended. By the middle of September, the Social Science State-
ment was finished. But a question remained: how was it to be used?
Carter had not yet convinced all the members of the NAACP-LDEF staff
of the usefulness of the social science material. Eventually, the warring
factions within the NAACP-LDEF came to a compromise and appended
the entire statement to the main brief.19

To give the statement more weight with the Court, the NAACP-LDEF
wanted it signed by as many social scientists as possible. On September
15, 1952, Clark and Chein sent the statement out to a group of social sci-
entists, asking for signatures.

The Campaign for Signatures

The question of whether the Social Science Statement was a scientific
document or a legal document arose again in the campaign for signa-
tures. Questions about the proper role of the social scientist in the larger
society would be asked time and again as Clark and Chein attempted to
garner support for the document.

One way to give a scientific imprimatur to the Social Science State-
ment would have been to release the statement under the name of the
Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues. As a matter of policy,
however, SPSSI would not release the Social Science Statement under of-
ficial organizational auspices. Stuart Cook, acting in his role as SPSSI
president, explained to Gerhart Saenger in February 1952 that SPSSI
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preferred the role of “arranger and stimulator. When a statement seems
needed, the Society would help get a group of experts to issue a statement
in their own names. This recommendation would apply to the current re-
quest of the Intergroup Committee for a statement on the effects of seg-
regation.”20 Cook’s comments, of course, left as an open question who
would sign the document to give it the force of “expert opinion.” To ad-
dress this problem, Clark and Chein used the advice of Cook’s friend and
SPSSI founding member Alfred McClung Lee.

Lee had served as an expert witness in Virginia. In late 1951, at about
the same time that the SPSSI committee began drafting the statement on
segregation, Lee was founding the sociological equivalent of SPSSI, the
Society for the Study of Social Problems (SSSP).21 In September 1952,
when asked by Clark for suggestions, Lee responded with a list of fifty-
three people who, he explained, were “all people who are especially active
(not just members) and in some instances officers of SSSP.”22 Examining
whom Clark chose to solicit from Lee’s list gives some indication of what
was considered important for a signer of the Social Science Statement.

The first person Clark and Chein chose was Arnold Rose, who had
been courted by the NAACP to serve as an expert witness in the Brown
case in Topeka but had declined to do so. As the only American listed as
Gunnar Myrdal’s co-author on An American Dilemma, Rose was a very
prestigious race relations researcher, and adding his name to the docu-
ment would give it some professional weight. One criterion, then, would
be the professional standing of the individual. Another criterion would
be geography.

Clark and Chein also asked Bingham Dai of Duke University Medical
School, Noel P. Gist of the University of Missouri, and Harry Estill Moore
of the University of Texas. While these researchers did not have Rose’s
prestige, they had something equally important: southern affiliations.
Since the first question asked by the defense attorneys was always the
length of time the expert witness had spent in the South, Clark and Chein
were happy to take any southern offerings from Lee.

Dai and Gist readily agreed to sign the statement. “I was wholly in
agreement with your analysis,” Gist wrote, “and was quite willing to have
my name used in presenting it to whatever agencies might be interested.”
By contrast, Harry Estill Moore of the University of Texas was a rare fail-
ure for Clark. In refusing to sign the statement, Moore wrote that he did
not want to be put in “the position of accepting in toto a statement which
I had no part in compiling.” Moore further questioned the wisdom of
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having the statement signed at all. He argued that if he signed, he “might
be considered to be posing as one of the originators of that statement. An
admission that I had signed under such circumstances would destroy any
value which my signature might conceivably have; and would put me in
an embarrassing position would the point be pressed.”23

Moore’s concerns underscored a fundamental question: what did it
mean for a social scientist to sign this statement? Moore did not want to
appear as having written the document. But if signing the document
meant something other than authorship, then what exactly did the signa-
ture mean? In the form letter Clark and Chein sent out with the Social
Science Statement, they were ambiguous about what a signature might
mean, noting only that “in order that this should not appear to be the pri-
vate notion of the few of us who prepared the statement, we felt it should
bear the signatures of those who are in substantial agreement with its
content.”24 Moore obviously felt that he was being asked to pose as an
originator of the statement.

Psychiatrist Charlotte G. Babcock of Chicago expressed a different con-
cern. While agreeing to sign the statement, Babcock wrote to Clark that
she objected to the word endorse. For Babcock, “if this is a scientific state-
ment, we should simply sign it as a statement of the state of our knowl-
edge.” Babcock was concerned that “the word ‘endorse’ is full of political
and other implications and lays open the report to being unread or inter-
preted on the basis of the word rather than on the content of the report.”
Here, as in the drafting of the statement, the concern was that politics and
science be kept distinct. In his reply, Clark attempted to allay Babcock’s
fears about the word endorse; he wrote that “no where in the statement as
submitted, is that word used. The names of the thirty-two individuals
who signed the statement are merely listed at the end of section 4.”25

What Clark and Chein clearly recognized by this time was that the
strength of the Social Science Statement flowed from its objective and
dispassionate nature. To make it a political tract would be to subtract
from its force as a scientific document. In other words, to fulfill their
wishes to change society, the social scientists had to refrain from overtly
campaigning for or against the very changes they wished. This is the fun-
damental paradox of activist social science, and a lesson that Clark and
the others would have difficulty remembering through the course of the
litigation.

Most of those asked were eager and happy to sign. Jerome Bruner
noted that the statement was “thoughtful and moderate.”26 Robert
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Redfield was “glad to have” his name on the “excellent statement on the
effects of segregation.”27 Psychiatrist Helen McLean and sociologist E.
Franklin Frazier were asked to sign but were out of the country and failed
to respond in time. Two other individuals (one of whom was Harry Estill
Moore) refused to sign. On those refusing, Clark wrote to Jerome Bruner,
“Both of those are on the faculties of Southern universities and indicated
that their refusal to sign was not a reflection of disagreement with the
contents of the statement; but was due to other factors.”28

In the final analysis, thirty-two social scientists, including fourteen
past or future presidents of SPSSI, signed the statement. Included among
the signatories were most of those who had been studying race prejudice
since the 1930s: Floyd Allport, Gordon Allport, Isidor Chein, Kenneth
Clark, Mamie Clark, Stuart Cook, Allison Davis, Else Frenkel-Brunswik,
Daniel Katz, Otto Klineberg, David Krech, Alfred McClung Lee, Gardner
Murphy, Theodore Newcomb, Robert Redfield, Ira De Augustine Reid,
Arnold Rose, Gerhart Saenger, R. Nevitt Sanford, and M. Brewster
Smith.

The Social Science Statement was filed with the Supreme Court in De-
cember 1952, when the Court heard the oral arguments on all four of the
state school segregation cases and one school segregation case from the
District of Columbia. During the oral arguments, the Court would be
hearing about the social science evidence that the NAACP-LDEF had
carefully prepared.

Oral Arguments: Round One

There were two points during the oral argument where social science be-
came a point of contention before the Supreme Court. Not surprisingly,
they were from the South Carolina case and the Virginia case, in which
segregation had been defended most vehemently during the trials. In
both instances the same charge was leveled at the social scientists: they
were merely advocates dressing up their arguments in scientific guise.

Arguing for South Carolina in the Briggs case was John W. Davis, who
had argued more cases before the Supreme Court than any other person.
Davis had run for president in 1924 and was a senior partner at one of the
largest law firms in New York City. Born in the Deep South, Davis had of-
fered his services to South Carolina without a fee, and the state eagerly
accepted the offer.
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Davis had nothing but contempt for the social science evidence that
NAACP-LDEF had assembled. In September, he wrote to the attorney
general of South Carolina that “it is perfectly clear from interior evi-
dences that the witness Clark drafted the appendix which is signed by the
worthy social scientists. I can only say that if that sort of ‘guff ’ can move
any court, ‘God save the state!’”29

During his oral argument Davis contrasted Clark’s South Carolina doll
test results with those in his published 1947 study. For the first time in the
litigation, the supporters of segregation clearly got on the record the fact
that northern African American children identified the brown doll as the
bad doll with a greater frequency than did the southern children. After
pointing out the discrepancy to the Court, Davis asked rhetorically,
“Now, these latter scientific tests were conducted in unsegregated states,
and with those results compared, what becomes of the blasting influence
of segregation to which Dr. Clark so eloquently testifies?”30 After the 1954
Brown decision, Davis’s rhetorical question would be put to Clark in
earnest. For now, however, Clark’s explanation of his data was not public
knowledge. Given the nature of the Social Science Statement, however,
any points scored against Clark’s doll tests had to be rather minor. The
Clarks’ 1947 article was merely one of nearly sixty sources cited in the
statement, and it was only one bit of evidence arguing for the damage ar-
gument generally.

The second point where social science testimony became a point of
contention was in the Virginia case, which was being argued by the inde-
fatigable T. Justin Moore—who had also tried the case. Moore made a
great deal of the fact that “we knew there was this great body of expert
opinion which was in conflict with that which had been presented with-
out conflict in Kansas and South Carolina, and we presented it.” Moore
argued that the defense’s expert witnesses, unlike those of the plaintiffs,
had experience in Virginia, and all had held that segregation was less dam-
aging than desegregation for the psyches of African American children.

As in the trial, Moore attacked Chein’s testimony most strongly. He
noted that Chein had sent his survey out to only “some 850 social scien-
tists,” and “we showed on cross-examination that there were some six or
eight thousand persons who were eligible to have that questionnaire sent
to them.” Moore’s implication was clear and followed Garrett’s testimony
in the Virginia case: not only was the survey not a representative sample
of social-scientific opinion, but Chein had chosen his sample in order to
maximize the desired outcome.
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Considering that he thought this charge was akin to calling him dis-
honest, having it leveled in front of the Supreme Court must have been
galling to Chein. The social science survey, however, was to fade in im-
portance as the litigation continued past this stage. And at the time, the
social scientists and the lawyers thought that the litigation was over. The
cases had been heard by the Supreme Court; once the oral arguments
were done, there was nothing to do but wait for the Supreme Court to
decide.

After the Supreme Court

The NAACP-LDEF attorneys and the social scientists moved on to other
matters. Kenneth Clark continued to meet occasionally with the NAACP-
LDEF, however. For example, in January 1953, he received a form letter
from Thurgood Marshall inviting him to a conference of “a select group
of lawyers.” Clark accepted the invitation and added:

Your sudden decision to elevate me from the lowly status of a Ph.D. in psy-
chology to that Olympian peak of a member of the legal profession leaves
me stunned with happiness. . . . With one grand gesture Mr. Marshall, you
have restored my self-esteem . . . you have undone, with one memorandum
what these many years of racial segregation and discrimination have done
to my personality. . . . You have performed the miracle of changing me
overnight from a psychologist to a lawyer. Is it too presumptuous to hope
that someday I might do the same for you and transform you from a lawyer
to a psychologist?31

That Clark continued to meet with Marshall and the NAACP-LDEF
indicates his belief that the Brown litigation was only the beginning of
social scientist–attorney collaboration. In a February 1953 address to a
joint meeting of the Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues
and the Society for the Study of Social Problems, he proclaimed that
“the present school cases may be viewed as merely the beginning of this
type of social science–legal collaboration. . . . The social science testi-
mony in the public school segregation cases has opened the door of the
courts to the social sciences.” Clark was both enthusiastic and cautious
about the future of such collaboration. The testimony of the opposing
social scientists in the Virginia trial, particularly Garrett’s, was an unex-
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pected shock for him and had demonstrated that social science could be
used to block democratic change as well as advance it. Clark believed
that social scientists who became involved in social science–legal collabo-
ration had a burden to “exercise the maximum degree of care and objec-
tivity in the collection and interpretation of the relevant data.” Because
social scientists could always have honest disagreements over the inter-
pretation of data, the professional societies—here he presumably meant
SPSSI and SSSP—should “develop safeguards against possible ethical
abuses; e.g. flagrant manifestations of prejudice, distortion of data and
deliberately misleading interpretations.” Clark did not spell out the form
these safeguards would take other than a general call for “some kind of
machinery” to prevent such abuses.32

Whether or not Clark believed that Garrett’s testimony had over-
stepped the boundary between an “honest interpretation” and an “ethical
abuse” is not clear. Some social scientists believed that the charge leveled
against them—that they allowed their political beliefs to taint their sci-
ence—was more appropriately leveled at Garrett. Smith found Garrett’s
analysis of Isidor Chein’s social science survey “particularly dishonest”
and had called for some sort of official action against Garrett by the
APA.33 Chein had also described Garrett’s representation of his own sur-
vey’s methodology “flagrantly dishonest.”34

In his public address, however, Clark stopped short of making such a
charge against Garrett. He had applied some of Chein’s logic to Garrett’s
testimony, showing that Garrett had essentially agreed with the plaintiffs.

Clark’s address demonstrates the stance that he and the other social
scientists would take toward criticisms of their role in the school segrega-
tion cases. Their activities in the case were becoming increasingly well
known, and therefore they were facing increased scrutiny. For example, as
a brief submitted to the Supreme Court, the Social Science Statement
would be read only by a select circle of legal experts. Arnold Rose, how-
ever, had arranged for it to be published in the Minnesota Law Review in
May 1953, which brought it to the attention of a much wider circle of
people.35 After the 1954 decision, the social scientists would be facing
questions regarding their objectivity. Clark’s 1953 address foreshadowed
their response to this criticism—to claim that they had remained objec-
tive scientists despite their association with the NAACP-LDEF. At the
time of his address, however, unbeknownst to Clark, the work of the so-
cial scientists was not yet complete in the case at hand.
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Oral Arguments: Round Two

The Supreme Court justices were deeply divided on the school segrega-
tion cases. No clear consensus had emerged from the deliberations in the
course of six months. Rather than issue an opinion that undoubtedly
would have had vigorous dissents, Justice Felix Frankfurter convinced his
colleagues that the Court should call for a reargument of the issues.
Therefore, on June 8, 1953, the Supreme Court finally acted on the argu-
ments the NAACP-LDEF had made six months before.36 But rather than
issue a decision, the justices asked each side to prepare a new argument
on the basis of five questions the Court handed down. Three of the ques-
tions had to do with the historical meaning of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment. The fourth and fifth questions had to do with the nature of the
remedy: assuming that segregation was found to violate the Fourteenth
Amendment, what sort of decree should the Court issue? For the next
year and a half, the social scientists would be seeking an answer to “Ques-
tion IV,” namely:

Assuming it is decided that segregation in public schools violated the
Fourteenth Amendment:

(a) would a decree necessarily follow providing that, within the limits
set by normal geographic school districting, Negro children should
forthwith be admitted to schools of their choice, or

(b) may this Court, in the exercise of its equity powers, permit an effec-
tive gradual adjustment to be brought about from existing segre-
gated systems to a system not based on color distinctions?37

The immediate effect on the NAACP-LDEF was to draw their atten-
tion away from social science materials. The attorneys thought that the
first three questions that focused on the history of the Fourteenth
Amendment were much more germane to the legal issues at hand, for
two reasons. First, constitutional litigation is often decided on the “in-
tent of the framers” of the Constitution, or in this case, of one of its
amendments. Second, at first glance at least, the history seemed to be
against the NAACP-LDEF position. For example, the same Congress that
had passed the Fourteenth Amendment had established segregated
schools in the District of Columbia; hence the argument that they
wished to abolish segregated education with the amendment seemed dif-
ficult to sustain. For these reasons, convincing answers to the historical
questions were seen as of first importance if the NAACP-LDEF wanted
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to prevail in the reargument that was scheduled for October—a mere
four months away.

Beyond the apparent urgency of the historical questions, another fac-
tor made the NAACP-LDEF de-emphasize the importance of a social-
scientific answer to Question IV. Question IV seemed to assume that a
constitutional violation had been found, and the idea that the Court
could order a “gradual” decree—that is, a decree that ordered any sort of
delay in remedy—cut against firmly established constitutional princi-
ples. The NAACP-LDEF attorneys took the position that, “in view of the
fact that the rights which plaintiffs here assert are personal rights and
constitutional rights, this Court has no power to enter a gradual de-
cree.”38 For once, the NAACP-LDEF believed the law was on their side
and the need for “nonlegal” material was not pressing to answer question
IV. Like any good legal team, however, they wanted to make sure they
touched all the bases. The social scientists, therefore, would be brought
on board once again.

Apart from the strictly legal research that the lawyers would under-
take, the NAACP-LDEF quickly assembled a staff of specialists to assem-
ble “nonlegal” answers to the Court’s questions. The nonlegal research
was of two kinds. First, a staff of historians would attempt to determine
the intent of the framers of the Fourteenth Amendment in order to an-
swer the first three questions. Second, the NAACP-LDEF wanted to as-
semble whatever social science material was available on the process of
desegregation, in order to answer Question IV. This task was put in the
hands of Clark and a young NAACP-LDEF staffer, June Shagaloff, who
had replaced Annette Peyser as the resident “sociologist.” On June 22,
Robert Carter assigned Clark “to collect and analyze all the extrinsic evi-
dence available, particularly in the South, on how a change from a segre-
gated to a non-segregated situation can be smoothly accomplished.”39

Though Clark had been collecting information relating to desegrega-
tion since he began with the NAACP-LDEF, he now set out to undertake a
truly exhaustive literature review of all the published and, if possible, un-
published research that had been carried out in the area of desegregation.
He wanted to supplement this literature review with a series of field stud-
ies. Because they never came to fruition, it is useful to examine the
planned field studies first.

In the field studies, Clark proposed that he and Shagaloff travel to
seven towns in six states to make “field observations” of recently desegre-
gated schools and labor unions, in order to “determine the mechanics and
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operation of this transition in those places where it has actually occurred
rather than indulge in theories or speculations about such changes.” Clark
feared that his presence in the community under the auspices of the
NAACP-LDEF would jeopardize his chances of getting reliable data. He
wrote that “in order to assure objectivity, it will be necessary to minimize
the study’s immediate practical purposes. Thus, it will be necessary to play
down in the field the relationship between the NAACP Legal Defense and
Education Fund, Inc., and the activities of the research workers.”40 This
overt recognition that, to be useful to the NAACP-LDEF, his research had to
be distanced from them was a further development in Clark’s views on so-
cial scientist–attorney collaboration. From this moment onward, Clark
began to stress that his scientific research and reports owed their first alle-
giance to scientific objectivity and only secondary allegiance to practicality.

The fieldwork was never undertaken. The press of time made the am-
bitious program nearly impossible. Clark’s original schedule had called
for twenty-two days of fieldwork by Shagaloff and thirty for himself.
Given that the NAACP-LDEF had only four months to gather all the ma-
terials together, it would have been miraculous for the fieldwork to be
completed and written up before October’s oral arguments. Moreover,
Clark had asked for a budget of over $2,000 just for travel and expenses.
The NAACP-LDEF had estimated that the entire process of reargument
would be $39,000.41 Money was tight, and undoubtedly, the NAACP-
LDEF would not want to spend over $2,000 on a project of dubious util-
ity to their immediate cause. Finally, the Ford Foundation was funding a
series of field studies, and Clark felt that if he could get access to those
studies, his own efforts would be duplicative.

The Ford study was troubling for Clark. One reason was that one of its
leaders was a southern journalist, Harry Ashmore. While Ashmore was a
liberal southerner, Clark described him as “on record as being identified
with the gradualist position” regarding desegregation. Clark, who would
soon call for immediate, unequivocal desegregation, was suspicious of any
form of gradual desegregation. In addition to Ashmore’s presence, there
were plenty of rumors flying around about the Ford study: that it was
started at the request of some justices of the Supreme Court, or, alternately,
that it was started at the request of the U.S. attorney general’s office. Clark
arranged for a meeting with Philip Coombs, the director of the Ford Foun-
dation’s Fund for the Advancement of Education.

In the meeting, Coombs managed to assuage many of Clark’s fears.
The study was undertaken at the behest of a group of southern African
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American educators to aid them in the desegregation process they be-
lieved was coming. During Clark’s interview in October 1953, the study
was still in preliminary stages, with no organized reports available. With
relief, Clark reported back to the NAACP-LDEF that while the study
would not be of use to them, neither would it be available to their oppo-
nents. Given Ashmore’s presence on the staff, Clark predicted that “the
actual study might bend over backwards in its presentation of results in
order to present the southerners’ position in a more favorable light than
the objective facts might warrant.”42 Again, Clark had no way of knowing
it, but the Ford Foundation study would come to haunt the NAACP-
LDEF before the end of the litigation campaign. In 1953, however, even if
it could not help, it did not seem to pose any problem.

With the fieldwork portion of the study canceled, Clark spent the
summer of 1953 assembling as much material as possible on the process
of desegregation. Combing the published literature was not enough;
Clark carried out a voluminous correspondence with dozens of people in
the social science community in order to discover any study that he might
have missed and to find the results of unpublished studies.

Most responses that Clark received emphasized that desegregation was
best accomplished quickly and forcefully. This, of course, fit perfectly
with the NAACP-LDEF’s purely legal arguments that the remedy found
by the Court should be immediate. Gordon Allport, for example, sent
Clark a chapter from his upcoming book, The Nature of Prejudice, and
told Clark, “All experience, FEPC, Army, National Maritime Union, pub-
lic housing, industrial changes, show that a policy pronouncement, in
line with conscience, is accepted. The threatened violence seems never to
result in social upheaval. . . . Let the line of public morality be set by au-
thoritative pronouncements, and all the latent good in individuals and
communities will be strengthened.”43 Gordon Allport’s older brother,
Floyd, agreed and wrote to Clark, “When people understand that the legal
structure has changed and there is no hesitancy about putting the rule
into effect, I think they are more likely to go along with it than in a step-
by-step procedure.”44 Daniel Wilner, who had conducted some of the
housing studies at CCI, claimed that “integration can be ‘imposed’ in a
variety of settings with no trouble ensuing.”45 Isidor Chein, in typical
fashion, sent Clark a detailed five-page plan for desegregation, stressing,
“The fait accompli minimizes resistance to change.”46

One of the few dissenting voices on forced desegregation came from
Theodore Newcomb at the University of Michigan. Although he had
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arrived too late to testify at the Briggs trial as he had planned, Newcomb had
been following the litigation with interest. He suggested to Clark that Clark
examine more general studies of attitude change, because Newcomb be-
lieved “there is very little evidence regarding race-relation changes, as such.”
Newcomb felt that forcing a sudden change on an unwilling populace
would result in a backlash, polarizing the issue and entrenching attitudes
against desegregation. Newcomb cautioned Clark that “attempts to enforce
a sudden and complete change not only might have very serious results but
might be deleterious to good race relations in the long run.”47

All the material assembled by Clark resulted in something his previous
work for the NAACP-LDEF never had: a professional publication. Clark
published the results of his study in an article titled “Desegregation: An
Appraisal of the Evidence,” which took up the entire fourth number of
volume 9 of the Journal of Social Issues in 1953.

Clark opened the article with an account of his involvement with the
Brown campaign. He noted that the lawyers and the social scientists
worked very closely: “In fact, there were times when the lawyers could
speak as social psychologists and the social psychologists began to sound
like lawyers.” Clark was quick assure his readers, however, that they had
maintained their scientific authority. He concluded, “In spite of this mu-
tual accommodation, however, a clear distinction of roles and responsi-
bilities had to be maintained for effective collaboration.”48

Clark’s article surveyed the desegregation process in twelve different
areas of life, ranging from labor unions and industrial employment to el-
ementary and secondary public schools. He also arranged the data ac-
cording to the specific factor responsible for desegregation. For example,
did desegregation occur because of population changes, a referendum of
electorate, moral arguments, or court action?49 After examining the col-
lected data according to area of life and the motivating force, Clark com-
pared “immediate versus gradual” forms of desegregation to see which
was more effective. He concluded that immediate desegregation was the
more effective alternative and met with the less resistance, provided cer-
tain conditions were met. The five conditions that Clark believed would
ensure effective desegregation were:

A. A clear and unequivocal statement of policy by leaders with pres-
tige and other authorities;

B. Firm enforcement of the changed policy by authorities and persis-
tence in the execution of this policy in the face of initial resistance;
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C. A willingness to deal with violations, attempted violations, and in-
citement to violations by a resort to the law and strong enforce-
ment action;

D. A refusal of the authorities to resort to, engage in, or tolerate sub-
terfuges, gerrymandering or other devices for evading the princi-
ples and the fact of desegregation;

E. An appeal to the individuals concerned in terms of their religious
principles of brotherhood and their acceptance of the American
traditions of fair play and equal justice.50

Clark concluded that desegregation did not have to be preceded by an at-
titude change of the population in question, but rather that the attitude
change could follow the desegregation process. These conditions sug-
gested that effective desegregation would be imposed swiftly and with
firm authority from above.

Clark’s findings meshed well with the NAACP-LDEF’s purely legal
stand that once a violation of rights had been found, the remedy had to
be immediate. This conception of swift and forceful segregation would
soon become the focal point for the social science community involved in
the litigation. It would also be one more argument that the legal team
could use in its argument before the Supreme Court. Marshall and the
other attorneys for the NAACP-LDEF could argue that not only did the
Constitution require an immediate remedy, but there was no practical
reason why the Court should not issue such a decree.

Even given the meshing of social-scientific data with the legal argument,
however, the NAACP-LDEF preferred to make a clear legal case for imme-
diate desegregation. In the brief they submitted for the cases, social science
was not mentioned. Thinking that the legal case for immediate segregation
was strong, NAACP-LDEF attorney Jack Greenberg said they “hung tough
and in a handful of pages set forth the straight legal proposition that the
children should be admitted to integrated schools, forthwith.”51

The second round of arguments took place in December 1953, almost ex-
actly a year after the first.The one change in the Court was that a new chief jus-
tice was in charge.A few weeks before the presentation of rearguments, Chief
Justice FredVinson died of a heart attack.President Dwight D.Eisenhower re-
placed him with the governor of California, Earl Warren.52

During the oral argument, each side presented its view of the intent of
the framers of the Fourteenth Amendment, complete with copious his-
torical documentation. But to the frustration of the NAACP-LDEF, the
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justices did not seem the least bit interested in the historical arguments,
preferring to dwell on other matters. Jack Greenberg recollected, “It all
seemed rather curious. . . . Did they, perhaps, not care about the history?
Or were the questions at oral argument just a game the justices play?”53

Supreme Court Decision

The oral argument may have left the NAACP-LDEF wondering just what
it was the justices were thinking, but they did not have to wait too long
before they found out. On May 17, 1954, the U.S. Supreme Court handed
down its decision in the School Segregation Cases, finding that segrega-
tion was a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. Not only had the
Supreme Court decided the case for the NAACP-LDEF, but social science
received a prominent mention in the process.

Chief Justice Earl Warren, in his first opinion on the Supreme Court,
wrote the unanimous opinion. It was impossible to “turn the clock back”
to discover the original intent of the framers of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment, wrote Warren. Rather, “we must consider public education in the
light of its full development and its present place in American life
throughout the Nation. Only in this way can it be determined if segrega-
tion in public schools deprives these plaintiffs of the equal protection of
the laws.” Then, referring to the Kansas court’s finding of psychological
damage, Warren concluded, “Whatever may have been the extent of psy-
chological knowledge at the time of Plessy v. Ferguson, this finding is
amply supported by modern authority.” The “modern authority” was
Warren’s eleventh footnote on the case, citing Clark’s White House paper
and the book chapter that he had written summarizing that paper, Isidor
Chein’s two papers presenting his survey of social science opinion, a book
chapter by Theodore Brameld, E. Franklin Frazier’s The Negro in the
United States, and, “generally,” Gunnar Myrdal’s An American Dilemma.54

With the exception of the book chapter by Clark, which was merely a
summary of his White House paper, all these works were cited in the So-
cial Science Statement.

The prominent mention of social science in the opinion seemed to in-
dicate that the NAACP-LDEF’s strategy had paid off. At a victory celebra-
tion two days later, Thurgood Marshall requested that Bill Coleman and
Robert Ming, two lawyers who doubted the worth of the social science
testimony, bow down to Kenneth Clark and admit they were wrong.55 But
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the war was not quite over. In its opinion, the Supreme Court had found
a constitutional violation but had not devised any remedy. The justices
called for yet another round of arguments, focusing on their previously
issued questions IV and V.

The call for the third round of arguments would suddenly push all the
work Clark had done during the summer of 1953 to the top of the
NAACP-LDEF agenda. But the prominent mention of Clark’s name in
Warren’s footnote 11 had pushed Clark into the national spotlight. Brown
was, needless to say, a controversial opinion, and Kenneth Clark was,
quite unexpectedly, in the center of the controversy.

Clark’s Defense of Brown

Clark had begun the litigation campaign as a fairly junior psychologist in
New York, but his work with the NAACP-LDEF established him as an ex-
pert on desegregation. In social science circles, his monograph on deseg-
regation brought him a certain amount of fame. SPSSI soon sold the
issue out and, in an unprecedented move, ordered another printing of
two thousand more copies. Both SPSSI and the NAACP printed the issue
separately and distributed it to various community agencies around the
country to aid in desegregation.56 The prominent mention of his name in
the Brown opinion brought Clark to the attention of those outside the so-
cial science community.

At least in New York City, Clark was becoming a public figure, asked to
appear at celebrations and make speeches explaining “the meaning of the
Supreme Court decision.” In a radio broadcast on May 28, eleven days
after the decision was handed down, Clark spoke of the decision as a “vic-
tory for all mankind.” African Americans, Clark said, “need no longer
bear the burden of state imposed stigma and the obvious inferiority im-
plicit in involuntary segregation.”57

On the national front, there was little immediate attention paid to the
inclusion of social science in footnote 11. James Reston, the day after the
decision, noted that the decision was “sociological” rather than legal, but
he was the exception. Most press coverage paid very little attention to the
social science in the decision.58

In the South, Brown would have been despised regardless of any ref-
erence to social science. The inclusion of footnote 11 gave Georgia sena-
tor Richard B. Russell the chance to excoriate the justices as “amateur
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psychologists,” but it is doubtful Russell would have been any happier
had the Brown opinion been based firmly on case precedent. Senator
James Eastland of Mississippi called for an investigation of Gunnar
Myrdal as part of a worldwide Communist conspiracy, signaling the first
volley in the South’s war on Myrdal and other social scientists.59

Much more serious to Clark than the expected attacks from the white
South were the embarrassed explanations from Brown’s supporters that
the decision did not really rely on psychology and sociology. For example,
in early June 1954, the Saturday Evening Post editorialized that the “cur-
rent doctrine could certainly be sustained on the basis of plain, ordinary
constitutional law, without the benefit of sociology or psychology.” This
was a good thing, the editorial continued, given the “socialistic” thinking
of many social scientists.60 The executive director of the NAACP, Roy
Wilkins, sent the editorial to Clark, noting that “it’s a glory of sorts to be
mentioned in the Saturday Evening Post, especially in an editorial, and
glory, indeed, when you arouse extended editorial opposition.” Clark,
perhaps not welcoming the sort of glory offered by the Post, fired off a let-
ter that explained that social scientists were not “socialists”: “As a psychol-
ogist who is concerned with a scientific approach to the problems of man
and society, I believe that it is essential to objective social science that the
students in this field be as objective as human intelligence permits.”61

A much more serious attack was made by Edmond Cahn, a professor
of jurisprudence at New York University. Cahn published an annual re-
view of jurisprudence in the New York University Law Review. His review
of the events of 1954 was dedicated to an analysis of the Brown decision.
Cahn wrote that the decision reached by Warren was a good one, but that
the inclusion of the social science evidence was a serious mistake: “I
would not have the constitutional rights of Negroes—or of other Ameri-
cans,” he declared, “rest on any such flimsy foundation as some of the sci-
entific demonstrations in these records.” Fortunately, Cahn argued, the
Court merely quoted the social scientists as a “courtesy” and based its de-
cision on firm constitutional principles. As proof of this, Cahn noted that
Warren’s opinion did “not mention either the testimony of the expert
witnesses or the submitted statement of the thirty-two scientists.”62

Cahn argued that the proposition that segregation was harmful was
“obvious and evident”: “Hardly anyone has been hypocritical enough to
contend that no stigma or loss of status attaches to these forms of physi-
cal separation.” The justices could “see it and act on it even after reading
the labored attempts by plaintiff ’s experts to demonstrate it ‘scientifi-
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cally.’” Hence, claimed Cahn, the ideal that the decision was somehow
based on social science was obviously in error.63

Cahn focused on Clark’s doll tests as an example of the social scien-
tists’ flimsy claims. He recounted Clark’s testing of sixteen children in the
South Carolina case, where eleven of the children had identified the
brown doll as the bad doll. Cahn argued that this sample size was far too
small to have any validity and that, at any rate, the test did not demon-
strate the effects of school segregation. He also suggested that asking the
children to pick a “bad” doll was a trick, for if they had already identified
the white doll as the “nice” doll, then they would naturally choose the
other doll as bad by process of elimination. Cahn faulted the opposing at-
torneys for not preparing an adequate cross-examination of Clark and
singled out Justin Moore of the Virginia trial for particular criticism.
Calling Moore a “bigot,” Cahn suggested that his cross-examination
demonstrated “how very sick” segregation could make a person.64

Cahn concluded that, given the undeveloped state of social psychology,
it was dangerous for the law to commingle with it. It was imperative, he
argued, for judges to “learn where objective science ends and advocacy
begins. At present, it is still possible for the social psychologist to ‘hood-
wink’ a judge who is not over wise.” Recalling Clark’s comment in his “De-
segregation” article on the importance of maintaining effective collabora-
tion between lawyers and social scientists, Cahn concluded, “It seems pos-
sible that the distinction of roles would be maintained more satisfactorily
if the social psychologist’s primary motive in maintaining it were strict fi-
delity to objective truth rather than ‘effective collaboration.’”65

Edmond Cahn was a friend of Will Maslow at the American Jewish
Congress, and Maslow passed a copy of the article on to Clark and
Chein.66 Clark was incensed. He immediately wrote a lengthy reply to
send to the NYU Law Review. Before sending it off, however, he sent a
copy to M. Brewster Smith, whose skills as an editor Clark had learned to
appreciate while writing his desegregation article. Smith liked the article
but recommended to Clark that he “utterly avoid any, irony, innuendo,
rhetorical devices, or loaded adjectives, on your own part. Put your emo-
tions aside. It will be much more effective this way, I am positive.”67 Clark
dutifully purged from his text phrases that, for instance, noted when
Cahn had a “rare glimmer of humility” and that “one would have to be
gifted with . . . the wisdom and foresight of Professor Cahn in order to
prepare himself for the role of advocate in these specific trials 10 years in
advance.”68
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Clark began his response with an extended quotation from Alexander
Pekelis to the effect that a knowledge of social science was essential to the
operation of the law. He and Pekelis had known each other, albeit dis-
tantly, when Clark had worked for the American Jewish Congress, and
Clark obviously admired him.69

To Clark, who had spent the past five years of his life arguing against
southern attorneys general, Cahn’s assertion that the harms of segrega-
tion were “obvious and evident” was absurd. The white South obviously
denied such harms vigorously. What was self-evident for white southern-
ers was that African Americans were happy under segregation, that
African Americans weren’t as smart or trustworthy as whites, and that in-
tegration would be the death of the “southern way of life.” This was all
common sense to southern whites.

Asked Clark, “How could the social scientists be so unreliable yet
nonetheless come out with a picture of social reality which Professor
Cahn and everyone else ‘already knew’?” Moreover, he argued, Cahn’s in-
sistence that damage from segregation was obvious to all was belied by
the opinions of the trial judges in the segregation cases, who held that no
such damage occurred. How would Professor Cahn distinguish “common
knowledge” from the “personal biases of judges”? According to Clark,
Cahn fundamentally misunderstood the value of science, which was to
“provide a scientific, objective method for measuring and comparing . . .
‘common knowledge.’” He asserted that Cahn’s conception of science
would render biochemistry, nutrition, and genetics useless, for it was
“common knowledge that a living organism needs food and oxygen in
order to survive and that members of the same species when they mate
reproduce offspring with similar physical characteristics.”70

Clark also ridiculed Cahn’s criticism of the doll tests methodology,
which was “discussed in standard textbooks in social psychology,” as that
of someone who has left “the field of his competence” and was communi-
cating his “biases, confusions, and misconceptions as if they were fact.”
He pointed out that the original research had been conducted a decade
before the first of the trials, and he concluded, “Professor Cahn’s allega-
tion that the writer served in the role of the advocate rather than that of
an objective scientist seems difficult to sustain in the face of the testi-
mony given on the basis of research conducted 10 years before these cases
were heard.” As to the size of the sample in the South Carolina case, Clark
argued, Cahn completely misunderstood the intent of the tests conducted
there. It was not meant to be a scientific sampling, Clark explained,
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merely a method to “give the general scientific findings . . . more weight
in a courtroom by demonstrating that they also applied in the specific
cases . . . before the court.”71

Clark found Cahn’s charge that the social scientists did not have “strict
fidelity to objective truth” to be “serious, grave, and shocking.” He stated
that the social scientists who were involved in the case were “men of in-
tegrity” who were incapable of “testifying to a fact or stating an opinion
which they did not believe to be consistent with the scientific evidence as
they knew it.” Clark pointed out that the NAACP-LDEF had asked for the
social scientists to supply exactly what Cahn had claimed was necessary:
scientific studies that isolated legally segregated public school education
as the sole factor responsible for psychological damage. But the social sci-
entists, Clark claimed, told the lawyers they could not supply such stud-
ies, for none existed. An examination of the testimony, Clark wrote,
would verify that the social scientists “made not a single concession to
expediency, to the practical and legal demands of these cases, or even to
the moral and human issues involved.” As further evidence of his objec-
tivity, Clark argued, the attorneys had asked Clark himself to include a
study with a methodology that was “scientifically questionable,” and he
had refused.72

The key, Clark argued, was that all the decisions on trial strategy and
whether or not to use social psychological research were made by the at-
torneys, not by the social scientists. The social scientists’ only role was to
inform the attorneys of relevant scientific studies that might be of use to
them. Moreover, no studies were conducted specifically for the trial at
hand; the social scientists merely drew on the existing literature to make
their arguments. The final decision on whether or not the social science
material was relevant rested not with the scientists but with the trial
judges, who could have ruled the testimony out of order, or the Supreme
Court, which could have refused to accept the Social Science Statement.
Hence, the role of the social scientist was simply that of a supplier of
facts; any decision on how to use those facts rested elsewhere.73 In this
way, Clark combined a strong sense of social activism with a claim for ob-
jective knowledge. Far from being polar opposites, Clark argued, the two
were perfectly compatible. By maintaining a very strict standard of objec-
tivity and neutrality, the social scientist could be the most useful for so-
cial change.

Clark sent his manuscript off to the NYU Law Review, but the journal
refused to publish it. He had to wait five years before being granted a
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forum in which to reply to Cahn. Cahn, however, devoted his next review
of jurisprudence to further analysis of the use of social science in consti-
tutional litigation. It was not Clark who drew his opprobrium this time,
but Isidor Chein.

Will Maslow had also shared a copy of Cahn’s paper with Chein, who,
as was his wont, quickly typed up a six-page, single-spaced letter in reply,
sending the original to Maslow and the carbon to Cahn. Chein made
many of the same points Clark did (indeed, Clark’s reply to Cahn owed
much Chein sharing his letter with Clark). Chein commented that as he
was speaking more “of matters of law than of science, my khutzpah no
more than rivals his [Cahn’s] in setting himself up as a judge of science.”
Fundamental to Chein’s letter was the point that “a great deal of ‘common
knowledge’ just ain’t so,” and that in any case scientists, if they happen to
agree with common knowledge, do so “on the basis of a more critical ex-
amination of the relevant concepts and facts.” Besides, Chein argued, if it
were only common sense being offered by the expert witnesses, there was
really no other way to get such common sense as part of the Court’s
record. Finally, regarding Clark’s doll tests, Chein argued that Cahn made
some good points but mistakenly assumed that Clark could not answer
them. In reality, Chein explained, it was simply the case that no one had
asked such questions during cross-examination. This was hardly the fault
of the social scientist, Chein explained, but rather of the defense attor-
neys for not preparing an adequate cross-examination.74

In a reply article, Cahn maintained that legal doctrine allowed for ju-
dicial notice to be taken of “the facts, circumstances, and value patterns
obtaining in the social order,” or what Cahn described as the “given.”
Hence, Cahn maintained that there simply was no need for expert wit-
ness testimony on the dangers of segregation.75 But, as Clark had argued
in his reply, given that the courts consistently upheld segregation between
1896 and 1938, and that even in the Sweatt and McLaurin decisions in
1950 the Supreme Court had failed to notice the harms of segregation,
Cahn’s insistence that expert testimony was not needed seemed rather
naive.

Cahn ended up agreeing with Chein that the weakness of cross-exami-
nation was responsible for letting Clark’s doll tests go unchallenged, and
he closed his article with a call for each lawyer to “make himself thor-
oughly familiar with the methods and literature of the subject” under ex-
amination. Where Chein and Cahn differed, of course, was over whether
or not Clark would have been able to answer the questions put to him.
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Cahn’s articles were the first serious questioning of the use of social
science in the school segregation cases, but they would not be the last.
Further criticisms would be forthcoming in the years after the 1954 deci-
sion. The doll tests would be the synecdoche for those wishing to criticize
the use of social science in the Brown litigation. Because of Clark’s fluid
interpretations of his results, the doll tests became the favorite target of
Brown’s critics. As noted previously, no matter what was answered by a
child, Clark could make it a sign of damage. This fluidity would be a red
flag for those who would argue that the social science in Brown was
merely a political argument dressed in scientific garb.

All this, however, was in the future. In 1954, Clark was basking in the
glow of the first Brown decision. Soon, however, he would be back at
work preparing for the third round of arguments, for once again, social
science would take a central role in the preparation for the Supreme
Court.
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Supreme Court Hearings and 

Decision, Brown II

In its 1954 decision, the Supreme Court had delayed any
course of action and called for yet another round of arguments to deter-
mine what sort of order best ensured a transition from segregated to
unsegregated facilities. The key issue was the speed of desegregation.
Referring back to question IV, which it had issued in 1953, the Court
wanted a round of hearings on whether it should order desegregation
“forthwith” or allow for “gradual adjustment.” To all appearances, the
preparation of a brief on the speed of segregation would be an easier
task than the 1952 brief on the harms of segregation. Clark’s “Desegre-
gation” article provided a ready-made synthesis of the available litera-
ture—but it was not the only available summary of the literature on de-
segregation. The Ford Foundation study, which had so worried Clark
the previous year, had been released in book form. In fact, the book had
been published May 16, 1954, the day before the Supreme Court issued
Brown I.1

As Clark had feared, the book contained recommendations that the
South would use to argue for gradual desegregation. Clark’s notes, which
he made for the NAACP-LDEF on Ashmore’s book, indicated that it gave
the “usual reasons for gradual approach”:

1. Fear of adverse public reaction.
2. Uncertainty as to ability of Negro students to hold their own in

mixed schools because of generally inferior educational and cul-
tural background.

3. Problems of teacher tenure, hesitancy to assign Negro teachers to
white students.

9
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With the exception of teacher tenure, which Clark believed to be an
administrative problem outside the purview of social science, Clark had
addressed these issues in his 1953 article. In short, the Ford Foundation
study contained little that surprised Clark. Additionally, it contained
enough case-study material for Clark to argue that the best program of
action would be forceful action carried out by all sectors of the commu-
nity.2 This would soon become the core of the second brief drafted by the
social scientists for the Supreme Court.

In addition to these two ready-made summaries of the available evi-
dence, a formal conference would be held for the express purpose of es-
tablishing a firm social science consensus on the issues surrounding de-
segregation. The framing of an argument for the Supreme Court would,
however, be more, not less, contentious for the social scientific commu-
nity. Some of Clark’s closest confidants would begin to question his ob-
jectivity regarding desegregation.

Conference of Social Sciences

After the May 17 ruling, the law was on the side of the NAACP-LDEF: a
constitutional violation of rights had been found, and they believed the
only remedy legally available was to rectify the situation immediately. In
the previous two hearings, the NAACP-LDEF had maintained that the
Supreme Court had to order immediate desegregation, and the call for
the third round of arguments on the point put them, in Thurgood Mar-
shall’s phrase, “back on the veritable ‘merry-go-round’ concerning” im-
mediate desegregation.3

Despite the strength of their purely legal case for immediate deseg-
regation, the NAACP-LDEF decided that they would use some social-
scientific evidence to build a complete case. In a memorandum to the
legal staff, Robert Carter reported Kenneth Clark’s opinion that the so-
cial-scientific evidence indicated “the transition from a system of seg-
regation to one of non-segregation takes place best and most effec-
tively when an order for immediate desegregation is issued and imme-
diately implemented by responsible authorities.” Carter noted that
Clark was arranging a meeting of social scientists to “get a group inter-
pretation of what this data proves so that we can be sure that the inter-
pretation just indicated reflects the consensus of sociologists in the
United States.”4
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The meeting took place in New York City on July 23, 1954. Those in-
vited included Mamie and Kenneth Clark, Stuart Cook, Isidor Chein, Al-
fred McClung Lee, Columbia sociologist Robert Merton, Arnold Rose,
Gordon Allport, Theodore Newcomb, Goodwin Watson, and a handful of
others. Merton could not attend, nor could Allport. Allport, however,
sent along a letter that was distributed to those who did attend.5

Clark announced that the goal of the conference was “to arrive at a
consensus on the most effective answer to Question IV based upon the
available social science data.”6 The social scientists compared various
plans for “gradual” versus “immediate” desegregation. One form of grad-
ual desegregation was, for example, allowing a period of time “for the
purpose of public education and general preparation for desegregation.”
Another form of gradual desegregation was “segmentalized or piecemeal
desegregation,” which included desegregating different geographical
units within the state; desegregating different institutional units or
grades; or desegregating through a given numerical quota. Various forms
of immediate desegregation included eliminating the segregated “Negro
facilities and admitting Negroes to the previous white units or opening
all facilities to everyone regardless of race.”7

The tone of the conference participants toward gradual desegrega-
tion was set by Gordon Allport, who did not even attend because of a
prior commitment. In his letter, which Clark distributed to conference
participants, Allport made it quite clear that “a firm stand should be
taken, so as to brook no pussy-footing, unnecessary delays, or skulldug-
gery. What we know favors the strong administrative stand, the ‘fait ac-
compli.’”8 The conference participants quickly took up Allport’s argu-
ment and expanded on the dangers of any sort of “gradualism.” Gradual
options that allowed for a given period of time to elapse were rejected
because they were “predicated on the assumption that attitudinal
changes must precede social changes. . . . There is no evidence to sup-
port the contention that public education and attitudinal preparation
for acceptance of desegregation in themselves increased the chances of
effective desegregation.” Piecemeal approaches were rejected because
“an examination of the actual instances of desegregation approached in
this manner revealed that this type of segmentalized desegregation,
rather than allaying anxieties and doubts, appeared to be associated
with an increase in resentment when the individuals . . . are actually
faced with desegregation.”9
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The conclusion of the conference was that desegregation should be
done as swiftly as possible, allowing time only for redrawing of new
school districts that were not based on race:

In making the transition from the present system of segregated to non-seg-
regated education, all school facilities can be opened to children without
regard to race within that time required only for specified and necessary
administrative adjustments. There is no available evidence which suggests
that this time need be any longer than a school year. There was no evidence
which suggested that any modification of these conclusions was required
by any known and relevant peculiar local conditions.10

The “peculiar local conditions” referred to obliquely in the conclusion
meant, of course, the South. The conference participants spent some time
attempting to discover “the degree to which the tradition of the Southern
states in regard to the treatment of Negroes would in effect make impos-
sible effective desegregation of public schools in these states.”

The problem about the South was this: the very authorities who would
be responsible for enforcing strict desegregation were the most vocally
opposed to desegregation. The conference participants had agreed that
desegregation was best accomplished if it met the five conditions that
Clark had outlined in his “Desegregation” article. The conditions cen-
tered on a firm authoritative stand that did not allow any deviation from
the desegregation demands. These conditions applied with extra force to
the South, since “the southern tradition in the area of race relations
might require a greater decisiveness and clarity and a more overt use of
authority” to achieve effective desegregation.11 But, as Gordon Allport
phrased it in his letter, the authorities “constitute[d] the rub, especially in
Georgia, So. Carolina, etc.”12

The conference participants had three solutions to this conundrum.
The first was a vague call for the Supreme Court to “make itself felt by the
decisiveness of its decree.” The conference participants concluded defi-
ance of the decree would be “essentially a legal and police power question
with which social scientists are not particularly competent to deal.”

The second response the social scientists had to the “peculiar” nature
of the South was to minimize the importance of the problem. Many
southern communities had already declared their “willingness to abide by
the [Brown I] decision and follow the implementation decree when it is
given by the court.” Moreover, even in those areas where resistance and
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violence had been predicted, experience had demonstrated that such pre-
dictions seldom came to fruition. Clark made a note to himself to “collect
all lists of dire predictions; NAACP cases in equalization of graduate and
professional schools; white primary, etc.” He noted that a “heavy burden
rests on the other side to demonstrate high probability of dissension or
violence with ‘forthwith decree.’”13

The third and final solution to the problem of southern authority was
offered by Gordon Allport in his letter. Allport proposed the establish-
ment of special statewide committees charged with overseeing the imple-
mentation order. The committees would have “some official standing:
and would consider the local situation, recommend necessary legislation,
hear complaints, and generally oversee the progress.” Allport even sug-
gested some individuals in the southern states who could possibly serve
on such a committee.14

In the end, the conference had come out strongly for quick and force-
ful desegregation. Even those participants who had initially doubted the
wisdom of “forced” desegregation had been converted. Perhaps no one
exemplified the new consensus better than Theodore Newcomb, who
had written to Clark with his doubts about quick desegregation the pre-
vious year. In a handwritten note to Clark, Newcomb remarked, “Will
you tell [NAACP-LDEF attorney] Bob Carter this has been a good meet-
ing—obviously since I’ve rather markedly changed my mind about
‘gradualism.’”15 Indeed he had—gone were Newcomb’s concerns about a
reactionary backlash and polarization of the issues surrounding desegre-
gation. Three days after the conference, he wrote to Clark that “groups
and whole populations, like individuals, change their attitudes as soon as
it is clear that events have changed the nature of things. . . . In the case of
attitudes toward desegregation in the southern states, I can think of no
more convincing evidence that events have changed than to implement
the legal consequences of those changes.” The only delay, Newcomb ar-
gued, “should be justified in terms of administrative necessity, not in
terms of what I believe to be a false psychology of inherently slow atti-
tude change.”16

This conference, and the strong consensus that arose from it, formed
the basis of a second brief that Clark prepared for the Supreme Court,
which he called “the Social Science Memo,” in contrast to the Social Sci-
ence Statement of 1952. Despite the fact that the Social Science Memo
had its origins in a conference where even the doubting Newcomb was
convinced of the issues, the document was to cause more dissension
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within the social science community than the Social Science Statement
had. At the heart of the dissension were those issues surrounding objec-
tivity and neutrality that Clark had been concerned with since his 1953
address to SPSSI and SSSP.

The Social Science Memo

The Social Science Memo began as Clark’s summary of the conclusions of
the July conference. It included the call for a strict one-year time limit,
downplayed possible southern resistance to a firm decree, and recom-
mended establishing Allport’s committees to oversee the implementation
of desegregation. The Social Science Memo ended with this list of specific
recommendations:

The Court should grant a decree which specifies that “within the limits set
by normal,” non-racially determined, “geographic school districting” all
children, Negro and white, should be permitted to attend existing public
schools

In making the transition from the present system of segregated to non-seg-
regated education, all children should be assigned to the available school
facilities, without regard to race.

The only delay permitted should be that time required by specified and
necessary administrative adjustments.

There is no available evidence which suggests that this time need be any
longer than a school year.

Also, there was no evidence which indicated that any modification of these
conclusions was required by any known or relevant local conditions.17

On August 10, 1954, Clark mailed out this draft to the participants of
the conference for “suggestions, comments, and modification.” He ex-
plained that while the attorneys had not yet decided if the social science
materials would be used as a separate appendix or as “an integral part of
their legal brief,” he had been asked to “document our memorandum by
detailed reference citation as if it were going to be used as a separate
brief.”18 The briefs were due at the Supreme Court by October and time
was of the essence, as evidenced by Clark’s handwritten note to Mamie’s
form letter: “I love you honey—but get your comments and suggestions
in soon.”19
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Clark received many favorable comments on the Social Science Memo.
Columbia sociologist Robert Merton, who missed the July conference be-
cause of an attack of appendicitis, was recovering at home when Clark,
who lived in the same neighborhood, came over and read the memo to
him. Merton found it a “topflight document.”20 Although the responses
were generally favorable, Clark soon faced a number of criticisms—some
of them that cut to particularly vital issues in the brief. The general con-
clusions of the Social Science Memo were those of the July conference,
but the forceful way in which Clark presented the conclusions troubled
some of his respondents.

Gardner Murphy, who had been invited but did not attend the July
conference, believed the argument that the South’s views on segregation
would be easily changed was “wishful thinking” and unsupported by evi-
dence. Murphy wrote, “There is a magical ease with which the profoundly
organized attitude patterns are to be swept away, as they are more easily
in Northern cities where minority groups work together through the po-
litical instruments which all share.” In the end, Murphy recommended
that the whole approach to the South be scrapped for lack of evidence. He
concluded:

There is certainly no serious research evidence either for or against such a
wide generalization as that Southerners (or any other group) are “less ca-
pable of changing their patterns of behavior. . . .” I believe this whole line of
argument got into the draft because no really good evidence about how to
cope with the South is at hand, especially its political structure, that makes
the problem so massive. Let’s face it!21

Gordon Allport thought Clark’s demand of a one-year time limit was
“the real punch-line.” He put the matter to Clark with his typical tact
while suggesting that Clark had more work to do on the point. “The
date,” Allport claimed, “will be most carefully scrutinized and debated.
What the Memo contains on this issue is not entirely convincing. I know
you have some documentation on the point; but I would urge making it
really ‘good’ and convincing.”22

Arnold Rose also objected to Clark’s claim that all the administrative
changes could be accomplished in one year. Rose further expressed doubt
about the creation of commissions to oversee implementation of segrega-
tion, “even if it was Gordon Allport who suggested it.” On a more general
level, he thought that the entire argument had to be made more provi-
sional—that to make strong claims that could not be substantiated would
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weaken the entire brief. Rose wrote, “In general, I believe that the more
cautious and closely-reasoned our statements, the more effective they are
likely to be. Opponents will look for loopholes and thus seek to discredit
our whole statement.”23 Rose’s concern for the general tone of the docu-
ment was echoed by Theodore Newcomb. Although generally favorable,
Newcomb wished that the draft “could be made to sound more like the
product of social scientists and less apparently like a document prepared
by lawyers and/or people eager to prove something.”24

Clark received a thorough criticism from a most unexpected source.
He had appended a handwritten note on the statement’s cover letter
when he mailed it off to Stuart Cook, who was vacationing in Ontario.
Clark wrote, “I know you will be as ‘ruthless’ as if we were working over
this first draft together.”25 And ruthless Cook was. His objections to the
draft were so wide-ranging that he could not bring himself to write to
Clark with his critique. In a note to himself he wrote, “Convinced that to
produce anything acceptable to me, would have to start over. Hesitate to
write to Ken. Believe only solution is to wait until after APA.”

Cook objected to the fact that the draft was “an undisguised argument
for immediate desegregation.” His concern was that in making such an
argument, Clark had failed to distinguish between what “evidence” there
might have been for immediate desegregation and his own “interpreta-
tion” of that evidence to mean that desegregation should proceed in a
one-year time limit. For Cook, the only solution was to “discard the pre-
sent form” of the draft, which he believed was nothing more than a “legal
brief ” that urged a “certain course of action.” Instead, Cook argued that
the statement should be reworked as a simple presentation of “relevant
data and conclusions [that] are available to social scientists which the
Court might find helpful in making its decision on decrees implementing
its decision.” According to Cook, the brief should state “if a decree to
admit [Negro schoolchildren] forthwith, what consequences might be
anticipated. If a decree permitting gradual adj[ustment], what conse-
quences might be anticipated.”26

In fall 1954, Clark began the process of redrafting the document, but
there was still no firm policy from the NAACP-LDEF as to how these
materials would be used. As usual, Robert Carter urged his colleagues
that “there is no question but that the approach of the social scientists is
one which we favor and want to use.”27 Others were less sure. Clark’s mil-
itant demand for immediate desegregation was becoming too extreme
for some of the more pragmatic members of the NAACP-LDEF staff.
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Marshall, still weighing the options, had not yet decided on a final strat-
egy in fall 1954.28 In the meantime, the task of the social scientists would
undergo some changes in response to changing circumstances. The op-
position briefs had begun to be filed at the Supreme Court in October
1954. The states had discovered how to use social science as well.

Florida’s Amicus Brief

The Supreme Court had invited all states that had segregated education
to write amicus curiae briefs for the 1955 argument. In Florida, Attorney
General Richard W. Ervin decided that since social science had seemed to
influence the Court’s 1954 decision, that social science might possibly in-
fluence the Court to issue a moderate desegregation decree in their 1955
decision. The state of Florida appropriated $10,000 for the effort, and
Ervin enlisted Florida State University sociologist Lewis M. Killian to
head a project that would use social science to support the position of the
states, rather than that of the NAACP-LDEF.

Born and raised in the Deep South, Killian received his Ph.D. under
the direction of Louis Wirth at the University of Chicago after World War
II. Wirth had convinced him to concentrate on race relations, and Killian
soon became a self-described racial liberal. For the project on desegrega-
tion, Ervin had suggested to Killian that he make a poll of the Florida
population to demonstrate the widespread resistance to desegregation
that Ervin was convinced existed. Killian rejected this option, feeling that
the Supreme Court would rightly reject the results as having no bearing
on the enforcement of constitutional rights.

The approach Killian chose was suggested to him by Kenneth Clark’s
“Desegregation” article. Since Clark had argued that firm enforcement
was necessary from community leaders, Killian decided to poll commu-
nity leaders to determine if they would enforce desegregation. Under
pressure from the attorney general’s office, Killian was forced to skip any
pretesting of his questions and to rush them to various community
groups. He polled the police forces, school principals, Parent-Teacher As-
sociation (PTA) presidents, school boards, judges, newspaper editors,
radio station managers, state legislators, and a sample of religious leaders.
Because the attorney general’s office thought that the citizenry of Florida
would be impressed with large numbers, all these people were polled,
rather than representative samples.
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The results of the study were much as Killian expected: white commu-
nity leaders disagreed with Brown while African American leaders did
not. About 30 percent of the white leaders said they would actively op-
pose any movement to end segregation. Killian’s own conclusions were
attached as “Appendix A” to the main brief from Florida.29

When the Florida brief appeared at the NAACP-LDEF offices, the at-
torneys turned to the social scientists to help devise a response. Bob
Johnson of the American Friends Service Committee had been at the
University of Chicago with Killian and described him as “a dogged, plod-
ding, and earnest sociologist.” Johnson found it “incredible” that “a state
would choose to make an opinion survey the core of its legal argument,
particularly in the light of what we now know about the relationship of
expressed opinion to actual behavior.” He noted that the brief itself was
marked by a tendency to use quotations that “would be negated if they
had been quoted in toto rather than in part,” observing that Robert Mer-
ton, Harry Ashmore, and Kenneth Clark were quoted as supporting posi-
tions that were diametrically opposed to the ones they actually held.
Johnson concluded his letter by recommending that the NAACP-LDEF
“invoke the skills of a number of social scientists and educators to evalu-
ate how much of the information in the Florida brief is a) true, and b)
relevant.”30

The NAACP-LDEF enlisted two experts in polling procedures, Nor-
man Rosenberg and Lou Harris, to examine the Florida brief. In April,
Jack Greenberg relayed their conclusions to the rest of the NAACP-LDEF
staff: “The public opinion poll,” wrote Greenberg, “conducted by Dr. Kil-
lian cannot possibly prove how people will feel or what they will do when
they are faced with an actual instance of desegregation in process.”
Rosenberg’s analysis concluded that the poll was an example of Robert
Merton’s “self-fulfilling prophecy.” Because of constraints of time and
staff, Killian had been forced to eliminate any open-ended questions—re-
spondents had to choose among options that the poll offered them.
Given the wording of the questions on expected violence, for example,
Rosenberg argued that the opinions reported by the poll were

brought into being by the instrument that measures them. . . . To accept
these positive responses as representing in any meaningful sense real con-
sidered judgments or opinions . . . of a future state of fact requires the
complete surrender to the pollster’s variation of the “intelligence test fal-
lacy” . . . as Herbert Blumer puts it, “that public opinion consists of what
public opinion polls poll.”

Supreme Court Hearings and Decision, Brown II | 191



Lou Harris conducted an extensive methodological critique of the
Florida poll and concluded, “From the results of this survey, it might be
entirely within the limits of legitimate analysis to conclude that ‘There is
no uniform opposition to the Court’s decision among the white leader-
ship groups of Florida as represented in this survey. . . . A majority of all
groups—white and Negro—expect neither mob violence nor ‘serious vi-
olence.’” In fact, Harris argued, the poll could be turned back on the state
because “the people most likely to have informed opinions on the subject,
school principals and supervisors clearly think these problems are not in-
surmountable, since a majority agree with the decision and the vast ma-
jority say they would comply with it.”31 The NAACP-LDEF believed they
had the answers to the state of Florida’s attempt to enroll social science in
the cause of segregation, and the Florida brief caused no serious prob-
lems during the reargument.

A more interesting effect of the Florida brief lay in the repercussions
for Lewis Killian, who had designed the study used in the brief. Killian
had believed he was doing a service to the cause of desegregation by of-
fering a realistic and sober analysis of the public attitudes of community
leaders. But his data had been used by the state of Florida to argue for a
desegregation plan that would have clearly kept African Americans in
segregated schools for decades. The lesson Killian learned from his ex-
perience with the attorney general’s office was “Social science is to a
politician as a lamppost to a drunk: it is supposed to provide support,
not light.” Killian was dismayed at the use his data were put to in the
body of the brief. He later recounted, “Some of the harshest criticism I
received after the brief was published was based on statements I had
never seen.”32

And he did receive heavy criticism. Alfred McClung Lee attempted to
have Killian censured by the Eastern Sociological Society for his role in
the preparation of the Florida brief. The attempt failed, but Killian was
deeply hurt by the move.33 Finally, out of self-defense, if for no other rea-
son, Killian presented his case to the 1955 meeting of the Society for the
Study of Social Problems. Killian argued that for a social scientist to work
with a lawyer was dangerous because “the lawyer is first and foremost the
advocate; the social scientist constantly guards against becoming an ad-
vocate.” The problem was further complicated for those social scientists
working in the South, for while “the sociologist [was] expected to take a
position in opposition to ‘gradualism,’” gradualism was “considered radi-
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cal by many southern politicians.” What his audience must understand,
said Killian, was that the very act of calling for the survey was a bold and
daring step for the attorney general in Florida: “In the South, it seems to
be a widespread assumption that the politically safe course at this time
was to ignore or defy the Supreme Court. When the Attorney General ac-
cepted the Court’s premise [that] the propositions state[d] in [Question]
IV . . . were the only available alternatives . . . he closed this door.” Hence,
Killian’s role in the entire affair should be understood not as blocking de-
segregation but as pushing for it.34

Of course, the fact that Killian was pushing for desegregation, however
gradual, meant that he was criticized roundly in Tallahassee by those
white citizens who considered any form of desegregation to be a betrayal
of the South. Beset on all sides, Killian could only stand by while the gov-
ernor and attorney general for whom he had worked on the study, and
whom Killian had believed to be racial moderates, lost their re-election
bids to a pair of racists who rallied public support with cries of “Segrega-
tion forever!”35

The Second Social Science Memo

While the NAACP-LDEF was working on its response to the Florida brief,
and to the other briefs that started appearing, Clark was busy redrafting
the Social Science Memo. The second draft was very similar to the first.
Clark was stubborn on the point of the one-year time limit, and it re-
mained. The recommendation for locally created commissions to imple-
ment desegregation also remained. In deference to Cook’s complaints
that the Social Science Memo did not distinguish “fact from interpreta-
tion,” Clark added the following footnote on the first page: “When an
opinion—as distinct from a conclusion based upon evidence—is stated,
it is generally introduced by a statement such as, ‘It may be postulated,’ or
‘the evidence suggests,’ or some other phrase indicating that what follows
is an opinion or an interpretation of available evidence.”36

In terms of the arguments made, the only significant change between
the first and the second draft was the amount of space and material
dedicated to arguing that the Court did not have to wait for an attitude
change on segregation before they ordered desegregation. This was the
argument that had been put so clearly by CCI at its founding a decade
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before. Clark now enrolled both the argument and the studies that
CCI had conducted to prove the point in the Social Science Memo. All
calls for gradual desegregation, Clark argued, were “predicated upon
the assumption that attitudinal changes must precede social changes.”
But, he continued, an examination of the available studies on “the rela-
tionship between racial attitudes and situationally determined behavior”
showed that “there was no substantial support for the contention that
public education and attitudinal preparation for acceptance of desegre-
gation in themselves increase the chances of effective desegregation.”
Here Clark called up the studies of Lapiere and all who had followed his
lead at CCI—Bernard Kutner, Gerhart Saenger, Morton Deutsch—and
the rest of the research that had shown that racial attitudes did not influ-
ence behavior. “There is a considerable body of evidence,” Clark con-
cluded, “indicating that where the situation demands that an individual
act as if he were not prejudiced, he will do so in spite of his continued
prejudice.”37

In response to Gardner Murphy’s criticism on southern folkways,
Clark considerably beefed up that part of the brief as well. Although he
kept the argument that the South might need an especially firm hand to
guide it, Clark made three arguments in favor of his position that south-
ern schools could desegregate as easily as any others. First, they already
had desegregated other areas of life. Clark pointed to other victories by
the NAACP-LDEF and the armed services: “Significant changes in race
relations involving southern whites and Negroes have taken place in the
Armed Services, army camps and schools on army bases, first class ac-
commodations on railroads, graduate and professional schools, politics
and government.” Second, there were a host of institutions in the South
that “have indicated at least a willingness to deal with the problem of de-
segregation of the schools within the framework of law and order.” Clark
appended a list of southern leaders who had indicated they would abide
by the Court’s 1954 ruling. Third, Clark argued that the South was, in any
case, “undergoing dynamic and extensive changes. One might postulate
that under these conditions individuals are in a position of ‘indefinite
equilibrium’ and are as susceptible to those influences which reinforce
past anti-democratic tendencies.” Perhaps understandably, this last argu-
ment drew a large question mark in the margin from M. Brewster Smith
when he read the draft.38

The second draft proved to be the final draft. Perhaps because they be-
lieved the law to be clear on the point of immediate relief from depriva-
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tion of constitutional rights, the lawyers of the NAACP-LDEF chose not
to submit a separate social science appendix to their main brief. The
NAACP-LDEF did incorporate parts of Clark’s work into the main brief,
however.39 Moreover, the NAACP-LDEF demanded that the schools be
immediately desegregated, allowing no more than a year.

Despite this stand, however, the NAACP-LDEF was not sanguine
about the possibility of immediate segregation. While it was important to
demand immediate desegregation, the NAACP-LDEF knew that, what-
ever the Court decided, the desegregation of Southern public schools
would be a long and drawn out process. As Mark Tushnet has noted, “im-
mediate” desegregation was more rhetorical than real.40

The footnotes of the NAACP-LDEF brief may have contained some
social science material, but the NAACP-LDEF no longer had an urgent
need for it. Finally, the law was on their side. They had always believed
that theirs was the moral position, the right position; finally, theirs was
also the legal position. In his masterful analysis of the career of Thur-
good Marshall, Mark Tushnet noted that the overarching goal of the
NAACP-LDEF desegregation campaign was the transformation of unfa-
vorable case precedent into favorable case precedent, “through a careful
litigation strategy pointing out anomalies in doctrine and identifying
the inevitable failure of society’s efforts to explain why unjust doctrines
nonetheless were acceptable.” For this task, the social scientists were
perfectly suited. Once the victories were won and favorable case prece-
dent assured, however, the rule of law became an advantage for the
NAACP-LDEF. Tushnet concludes, “The same theme pervaded Mar-
shall’s arguments about the proper remedy in Brown. As Marshall re-
peatedly told the Court, implementing desegregation put the rule of law
itself at stake. Delay based on ‘attitudes’ meant that the Court would be
implicitly accommodating resistance to its statement of what the Con-
stitution meant.”41

No one put the rule of law more eloquently than Marshall himself in
the last oral arguments on Brown. Marshall told the Court, “I don’t be-
lieve any argument has ever been made to this Court to postpone the en-
forcement of a constitutional right. The argument is never made until
Negroes are involved.” Finally, Marshall claimed, we have the law on our
side: “The other side has not produced anything except attitudes, opinion
polls, et cetera.”42

The Supreme Court closed this particular case on May 31, 1955,
when it remanded the cases back to the federal district courts, who were
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ordered to desegregate the public schools “with all deliberate speed.”43 Al-
though the litigation campaign was over, it would be another decade be-
fore any real progress was made in the desegregation of southern schools.
The NAACP-LDEF had been right: the difference between “immediate”
and “gradual” was more rhetorical than real.
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Committee of Social Science 

Consultants

The Supreme Court decision in Brown II may have ended one
phase of the NAACP-LDEF’s struggle against segregated education, but it
did not end the association of the NAACP-LDEF with the social-scientific
community. Throughout 1954, the NAACP-LDEF was struggling to form
a Committee of Social Science Consultants (CSSC) within the NAACP-
LDEF. The CSSC was to be a formal body of social scientists that would
aid communities that were starting the desegregation process.

The CSSC, by nearly any measure imaginable, was a failure. Indeed, it
was very nearly a committee that did not ever exist. To understand why
this was the case is to understand the very real nature of the tension be-
tween the role of the neutral and detached social scientist and that of the
involved attorney-advocates. By the mid-1950s, the social scientists had
recognized that in the new political climate created by the Brown litiga-
tion, they could not afford too close an association with the attorneys of
the NAACP-LDEF. Kenneth Clark, in particular, was aware of the tension
in his association with the attorneys, and this chapter concludes with his
final defense of his role in Brown.

Origins of the CSSC

The CSSC originated before the first Brown decision. In January 1954,
after the argument and reargument for the first Supreme Court deci-
sion, Kenneth Clark and Anna Caples Frank began planning for the cre-
ation of a “project on community education.” The first draft of the pro-
ject argued for widespread adult education in those communities that
were facing desegregation. While the draft assumed that the Court
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would soon overrule segregation throughout the nation, even absent a
Supreme Court victory, many communities in border states were al-
ready desegregating. These communities “face[d] the prospect of ad-
justing their mores and preconceptions to newly-defined applications of
the law” and needed “systematic local efforts of a participative adult ed-
ucation nature” in order to overcome “long-standing prejudices, mis-
conceptions, fears and superstitions.”1

An example of what Clark had in mind was the NAACP-LDEF experi-
ence in Cairo, Illinois, in December 1951. Cairo was one of a number of
communities in southern Illinois that was attempting to desegregate its
public schools. June Shagaloff went to Cairo and conducted a “program
of popular education,” including public and neighborhood meetings; ad-
dresses to church, social, and school groups; and the distribution of
printed educational material.

During this time, four crosses were burned, one home was bombed,
and other intimidation was attempted by “irresponsible elements” of the
community. Despite this effort at intimidation, the community pro-
ceeded with desegregation, and in March 1951, twenty-one African
American students transferred to the previously all-white school; in Sep-
tember 1952, an additional sixty-four transferred. The desegregation
proceeded smoothly, and the threats of widespread violence in the com-
munity never materialized.2

At first glance, it might seem paradoxical for Clark to have been argu-
ing for the importance of education to prepare a community for desegre-
gation. After all, he would soon argue forcefully that desegregation had to
be firm and immediate, and that education would not, in and of itself,
help smooth the process. In his briefs written for the Supreme Court,
however, Clark was always careful to note that education alone would not
help desegregation. The situation in Cairo was exactly what Clark had
been arguing for—desegregation proceeded in the face of threats of vio-
lence and protests from a very vocal minority of the community. The fact
that desegregation was coming, regardless of attempts at intimidation,
was what made community education successful. In other words, the ed-
ucation was not designed to make desegregation possible; it was designed
to explain how the community could best cope with what was an in-
evitable situation.

Although the events of Cairo gave hope that community education
could aid desegregation, the proposal noted that the NAACP-LDEF was
not willing to do further fieldwork unless it was supervised by an experi-
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enced social scientist who could adequately evaluate the fieldworker’s ef-
forts. Clark noted that the involvement of social scientists could help de-
termine the most effective methods for preparing a community for de-
segregation. Rather than approach the problem on an ad hoc basis, Clark
proposed that the social scientists develop “techniques which can be ap-
plied by the citizens as a result of good demonstration.”

The proposal concluded with the thought “As always, a key problem
will be to secure enough money to meet an adequate budget.” Since the
NAACP-LDEF had been unwilling to fund Clark’s much more modest set
of field studies in 1953, when preparing for the first reargument of Brown
before the Supreme Court, Clark recognized that they would not be will-
ing to fund the much more extensive community education project. He
noted, “The best solution would be to ask a small working committee of
social scientists to serve as consultants in planning the program in accor-
dance with standards which would merit grants from dispersing founda-
tions.”3 Securing foundation money would be the sticking point for the
CSSC. The first order of business, however, was to enlist the social scien-
tists who would serve on the new committee.

Clark declined the opportunity to chair the new committee. Instead,
he recommended that the committee be chaired by sociologist Alfred
McClung Lee of Brooklyn College. In many ways, Lee was a logical choice
to chair the new group. He was the sociologist who had worked the clos-
est with the NAACP-LDEF during the Brown litigation, testifying at the
trial level of one of the cases, helping Clark assemble materials for the
briefs the social scientists wrote, and suggesting names of scientists who
would sign the briefs. Lee also had administrative experience: he was a
charter member of the SPSSI in 1936 and one of the moving forces in
founding the Society for the Study of Social Problems in 1952. Moreover,
Lee had chaired two academic sociology departments: that of Wayne
State and, after his move in 1949, that of Brooklyn College.4

In April 1954, Lee began recruiting social scientists for the new com-
mittee. In his recruitment letter, he related the successes of the NAACP-
LDEF field agents in Cairo and in a few other areas, such as communi-
ties in southern Delaware. Lee noted that the LDEF wanted to “ensure
the translation of NAACP court victories into social realities” by build-
ing on these experiences within a “carefully structured program carried
out in consultation with a Committee of Consultants, including social
scientists, legal authorities, and individuals experienced in community
relations.”5
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Lee’s description of the actual work to be carried out by the social sci-
entists was vague, leading Gordon Allport to ask, “The accomplishments
in Southern Illinois and Delaware are impressive, and must be due to a
field staff of unusual common sense and personal ability. Can social sci-
ence improve this approach? What, in short, have eggheads like myself to
offer?”6 Lee replied that Allport was being “much too modest.” He ex-
plained that the fieldwork by the NAACP-LDEF agents was only half of
the job: “The other half of the job . . . will be an effort to study the
processes which are going on as a result of the impact of court decisions
and as a result of the facilitating efforts by community relations workers.”
This study, Lee told Allport, was why the CSSC needed social scientists.7

Lee also included a more detailed proposal, to explain clearly what it
was the CSSC would do. In this proposal, two communities would be sin-
gled out, the first in a “border state where segregation has been abolished
by law, but persists in practice. The second would be in a Southern state
where school segregation was previously established by state law.” The
role of the CSSC, explained Lee, would be to “assist in planning the pro-
jects, in selecting project staff. The members would be available for con-
sultation with project staff members, would receive periodic reports from
the field, and would give advice on the conduct of community programs
and on collection and evaluation of data.”8

Robert Redfield’s concerns were different from Allport’s. “Insofar as
new and additional money may be needed,” he wrote to Lee, “is there any
difficulty in persuading foundations to give it to the NAACP? I have a
very high regard for that organization; it has done the work in this busi-
ness. But I have a feeling that some donors don’t like it—more’s the
pity.”9 Lee agreed that “the raising of funds for such an active organiza-
tion as the NAACP is not an easy matter. However, the organization has
had more success in the past two years.”10

Despite any uncertainties they may have felt about the project, Allport
and Redfield consented to join the new committee, as did forty-four
other social scientists recruited by Lee. The list of members read like a
virtual “who’s who” of important names in race relations for 1950s social
science—Herbert Blumer, Isidor Chein, Stuart Cook, E. Franklin Frazier,
Else Frenkel-Brunswik, Charles S. Johnson, Robert M. MacIver, Gardner
Murphy, Theodore Newcomb, Robert Redfield, Ira De Augustine Reid,
Arnold Rose, and Robert C. Weaver among them.

Lee promised the new committee members that detailed plans would
be fleshed at the committee’s first meeting, scheduled in New York City
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for May 18, 1954. Although at the time it was scheduled Lee could have
no way of knowing it, this would be the day after the Supreme Court
handed down Brown I. The fortunate timing gave new impetus to the
fledgling committee. Since the Supreme Court had delayed any order re-
garding the method of desegregation, there was a possibility that the
CSSC could influence the decree that was due the next year. In June 1954,
Lee wrote to Allport that while Allport’s “thought . . . concerning having
NAACP lawyers attempt to ‘build in’ the organization’s advice into the
Supreme Court decree is a very good one,” it might not be possible to get
the CSSC off the ground in time. Lee confided to Allport, “At this stage of
the effort, we are naturally devoting a lot of our time to negotiating fi-
nancial support for the project.”11

The Funding Problem

The NAACP-LDEF was unwilling to support the CSSC financially in any
significant way. The LDEF was under constant budget shortages, and al-
though its financial situation was improving, it was constantly seeking
ways to gain additional foundation support.12 It believed that its money
was for legal battles, not community action work. Any money spent on
community action work had to be secured from outside foundations and
be earmarked for such a purpose.13 Moreover, the foundations that Lee
was allowed to approach could not have previously supported the
NAACP-LDEF, as the LDEF felt that “under no circumstances should
funds be diverted from support of the general work of the organization
to projects advocated by the Committee.”14

Lee and Clark soon prepared a proposal calling for pilot studies of the
desegregation process. The initial proposal was for a grant of $146,000
and was made to the Carnegie Foundation, the Ford Foundation, and the
Rockefeller Foundation. Lee and Clark also put together a second pro-
posal, very similar to the first, in the amount of $30,640, to be submitted
to foundations with more modest resources. Both proposals were sub-
mitted during the summer of 1954.

In these proposals, Lee emphasized the role of social science in the
May 17 Brown decision and observed that, as a result of that decision,
many communities would need assistance in desegregating. The proposal
noted, “Haphazard trial and error can be regrettably costly in exagger-
ated hatreds, exacerbation of prejudice, and violence.” To avoid such
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problems, Lee suggested the creation of “action research teams,” each of
which would work in a single community in a border state. Like Lewin’s
plans at the AJCongress, Lee proposed that each team consist of two
parts: “a community organization specialist” or an LDEF fieldworker and
a “research associate and his assistant,” the latter two being social scien-
tists. The person working in the community would do all those things
that had made the NAACP-LDEF so successful in the past, and the social
scientist would study the effects of that work. The two roles were distinct,
with the “action research worker” implementing policies and programs
but not “concerned with measurement or analytic factors seeking applic-
ability to situations elsewhere.” The “evaluating personnel,” by contrast,
would not have “any functional responsibility for implementation of the
action program.”15

Redfield wrote to Lee about the second proposal, wondering why it
was so limited. “I should think,” wrote Redfield, “one would want to study
several cases in which it [desegregation] is occurring, attempting to dis-
cover the elements of the situation which favor or disfavor a peaceful out-
come.” As it was, Redfield argued, the study would be far too limited to
accomplish what it purported to discover—the effectiveness of desegre-
gation education. Redfield asked, “Why not enlarge the project and ask
for more money?”

Lee explained to Redfield that there was a larger project being sug-
gested to the larger foundations.16 But the truth of the matter was that
whether or not the project was of a grand enough scale was quickly be-
coming irrelevant, for the foundations were not interested in funding the
project at any level. By November 1954, both proposals had been rejected
by every foundation to which they had been submitted.

Lee submitted an entirely new proposal, with a budget of $17,440, to a
third group of small foundations. Just as Kenneth Clark’s original plans
in his 1953 research had called for original fieldwork but were scaled back
to a literature review, the third proposal had no provision for carrying
out original research. Lee proposed that the CSSC serve as a “coordinat-
ing center” to make existing research available. Lee was quick to distin-
guish this clearinghouse from the Southern Educational Reporting Ser-
vice, which had just begun the Southern School News, which merely “un-
dertakes to report news events relevant to the desegregation process
throughout the country.” The CSSC, by contrast, “seeks to publicize and
place in use the type of social scientific research that has been so useful in
briefs submitted to the Supreme Court, leading to the recent decision
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outlawing segregation.” The new project resembled Clark’s 1953 study on
school desegregation and Lee’s own research into discrimination at col-
lege fraternities.17 The CSSC would send letters to community leaders
and social scientists, requesting “copies of materials already prepared in
this field [of desegregation], and information on studies currently under-
way.” The material would be analyzed and “turned over to communica-
tion specialists working on a free-lance basis to prepare for publication in
periodicals, in pamphlet form or in bulletins especially designed for per-
sons working in the field.18

Like the previous two proposals, this third and final effort failed to se-
cure support from any of the foundations approached. All told, sixteen
foundations were approached and rejected by the CSSC. These founda-
tions ranged in size from the large Carnegie and Ford Foundations to the
smaller Old Dominion Foundation and F. A. Bean foundation. Anna
Caples Frank reported back to Thurgood Marshall that while the re-
sponse to the CSSC in the social-scientific community had been “extraor-
dinary, . . . we have received no foundation grants.”19

One explanation for the lack of foundation support for the CSSC was
that An American Dilemma was viewed as the definitive word on race re-
lations, and foundations became very hesitant to fund any new studies in
race relations or intergroup relations.20 Stuart Cook, who was a member
of CSSC, complained in 1957, “Within the last few years research on in-
tergroup relations has practically come to a stop. Foundations which for-
merly supported race relations research no longer do so.”21

In this atmosphere of scarce foundation money, the CSSC faced addi-
tional problems. As a committee within the NAACP-LDEF, the CSSC had
trouble presenting itself as a purely scientific organization. To many foun-
dations, it appeared as if the LDEF were attempting to secure money not
for pure scientific research but for its legal activities. After all the grant ap-
plications had been rejected, Anna Caples Frank reviewed the reasons
foundations did not make the grants available to the CSSC and reported
to Thurgood Marshall that she thought the social scientists “could at the
present, secure grants from some of these same foundations for similar
social science projects to be carried on under their own direction or in
connection with a university.” The problem was that the foundations were
unwilling to give money to “an action organization of the character of the
NAACP Legal Defense and Education Fund even if the funds were to be
expended for a social scientific project whose general merits some of the
foundations recognize and in conjunction with social scientists whose
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prestige they acknowledge.”22 In other words, the fears that Robert Red-
field had expressed at the beginning of the project were realized. The
foundations did not recognize that the NAACP-LDEF, an organization
composed almost completely of lawyers, could be capable of carrying out
objective scientific research. Frank wrote to Marshall, “The problem now
is how the rather remarkable structure already created in the Committee
. . . can be utilized to further the interests of the NAACP Legal Defense
and Educational Fund during the critical period of desegregation.”23

Marshall managed to find some money to support at least a token
presence of social science within the NAACP-LDEF. In January 1955,
with a grant of $8,000 from the Prince Hall Masons, the CSSC would
“make social science findings and materials available to educators, school
officials, and civic organizations.”24 Essentially, the CSSC would function
as the clearinghouse envisioned by Lee’s third foundation proposal, al-
though on a much smaller scale.

For the next two years the CSSC limped along, continually under-
funded, although the indefatigable Lee continued to seek funding to keep
the Committee going. The CSSC would have its official meetings at the
annual meetings of the SSSP or SPSSI.25 The functions of the committee
were described by Lee as limited to “the preparation from time to time of
joint public statements on matters concerned with desegregation where
authoritative professional opinion will have needed influence.”26 Lee con-
tinued to act as a one-man clearinghouse, carrying on correspondence
with any number of individuals for any research on desegregation “to
bring their findings to the attention of individuals and organizations di-
rectly concerned with the problems of desegregation.”27 But with no
funding forthcoming, the effort was largely a symbolic one and produced
no significant results.

The End of the CSSC

For the NAACP-LDEF, the dissolution of the CSSC was a mere formality.
Just as the AJCongress was able to dispense with CCI with no qualms in
1952, so, too, the NAACP-LDEF dispensed with the CSSC in 1957. The
NAACP-LDEF had needed social science for one specific reason in the
1950s: to turn bad case precedent into good case precedent. As noted in
the previous chapter, the law was now on the side of desegregation, and
the NAACP-LDEF thought that the courtroom, armed with the Supreme
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Court decisions of Brown, would be the place where the battle would be
fought. The CSSC had become superfluous to the battle that was at hand,
one that would bring Marshall and the NAACP-LDEF back into court-
rooms all around the nation. In April 1957, Thurgood Marshall wrote to
all committee members to ask “(1) whether or not it is advisable to con-
tinue the Committee, and (2) if the Committee is continued, how it may
function most effectively.”28

On June 3, 1957, Isidor Chein, Otto Klineberg, M. Brewster Smith,
Kenneth Clark, June Shagaloff, and a handful of others met to discuss the
future of the CSSC. June Shagaloff put forth the issues that the NAACP-
LDEF thought the social scientists could help them with: How fast was
“gradual segregation?” How could the NAACP-LDEF aid communities
that wanted to desegregate but did not know the most effective way to do
so? What could be done about communities that were in open defiance
of the Court’s decree? How could the NAACP-LDEF fight subterfuges
such as “classification of children in terms of academic achievement,”
which was merely a way to group African American children in segre-
gated classrooms?

The social scientists attempted to answer the NAACP-LDEF’s ques-
tions. On gradual desegregation, the social scientists thought they would
have to know the exact circumstances of the communities in question.
For communities who wished to desegregate, doing so was not a problem
that social scientists could address—it was a “public relations and com-
munity organization problem.” Open defiance was a matter of “legal and
political power” rather than social science. The social scientists thought
they could help with the development of “a simple, clear, and authorita-
tive guide on the meaning of test results” that could prevent abuses of in-
telligence tests.

There was, however, an overriding issue presented by the social scientists,
which was that they could be the most useful if they ceased their official link
with the NAACP-LDEF. Clark’s report to Thurgood Marshall stated in part,
“It was the unanimous opinion of those present at this meeting and the
communicated opinion of Robert Merton that the social scientists could be
most effective in their help to the Legal Division of the NAACP if they were
not organized in a formal committee structure.” The social scientists had fi-
nally come to understand that “formal association with the Legal Staff of the
NAACP would raise the question of the freedom and independent status of
social scientists and would leave them open to the criticism of being ‘advo-
cates’ rather than objective students of the social process.”29
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The social scientists’ feeling that they should maintain their distance
from the NAACP-LDEF was a marked contrast with the sentiments ex-
pressed in the previous decade by the same individuals. In 1948, Isidor
Chein wrote of the urge for social scientists to be social engineers. In
1952, Smith participated in the Davis case “with greatest satisfaction.”30

In 1953, Clark spoke of Brown being only the first step in a long and fruit-
ful collaboration between social scientists and lawyers. Nor did this fear
of “being advocates” appear in 1954, when the social scientists eagerly
signed on to be part of the CSSC.

In some ways, the CSSC was the victim of the success of the collabora-
tion between social science and lawyers in the Brown decision. Brown was
a pinnacle of activist social science in the United States, and it brought
with it a new level of scrutiny into the nature and motivations of activist
social science. Edmond Cahn’s questioning of Clark’s objectivity in his
New York University Law Review articles exemplified the new level of
scrutiny. Clark’s defense of his objectivity in the face of Cahn’s criticism
was that the relationship between the social scientists and the lawyers was
a clearly defined one of fact provider to advocate. But by being part and
parcel of the same organization, as the CSSC was in relation to the
NAACP-LDEF, the relationship could be perceived as too close. If their
bills and salaries were being paid by the NAACP-LDEF, the social scien-
tists no longer could claim to be disinterested providers of factual knowl-
edge; they would be too intertwined with the lawyers.

Of course, the decision to disband the CSSC was in some sense already
made; it was woefully underfunded and had no significant accomplish-
ments and no promise of a productive future. Still, the perception of the
close association mattered to the social scientists, who were anxious to pre-
serve their authority as objective observers of society. With the South call-
ing for “massive resistance,” it was clear that the battle against segregated
education was far from over. If they wanted to have any authority in the
post-Brown United States, it was essential for the social scientists to main-
tain an air of objectivity in the face of a polarized debate over desegregation.

Kenneth Clark: Life after Brown

No other social scientist felt the need to protect his objectivity more than
Kenneth Clark. The Brown decisions had transformed Clark from an un-
known social psychologist into a nationally known figure. The effect of
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the Brown case can be seen in the fate of the manuscript he prepared for
the Mid-Century White House Conference in 1950.

Clark had prepared his White House Conference manuscript while he
was under contract to the American Jewish Committee, which was plan-
ning to publish it as part of their “Studies in Prejudice” series. The AJ-
Committee, however, could not find a publisher for it. In 1953, Clark
wrote to Bernard Kutner that his manuscript had “been in the hands of at
least four publishers” but still had not been accepted.31 Four days before
the Brown decision, May 13, 1954, Clark wrote to Bigham Dai that he had
“reworked the original manuscript for possible publication in book form.
So far, no publisher seems particularly enthusiastic about this material.”32

Immediately after the Brown decision, with the prominent mention of
Clark’s name, all that changed. In June 1954, Clark wrote to a friend that
“Harpers is seriously considering having it revised in light of new devel-
opments.”33 Eventually, Clark’s book was published in 1955 as Prejudice
and Your Child.34 In the press release announcing the book, the publisher
made sure to mention that “the psychological studies behind the book
were cited by the Supreme Court to show that ‘separate-but-equal’
schools are not ‘adequate.’”35

While Prejudice and Your Child was not a particularly successful book
for Clark, its publication demonstrates how Clark was becoming identi-
fied with the Brown litigation, and how that identification brought him
increasing attention—not all of it welcome.36 For example, in the wake of
Edmond Cahn’s criticisms came those of Ernest van den Haag.

Van den Haag was a psychoanalyst who also taught at the New School
for Social Research at New York University. For van den Haag, the solu-
tion to inequality in educational opportunity was not to eliminate segre-
gation, for “when opportunity to be educated is equal, segregation should
not be illegal. Surely no group should want a law compelling people to
congregate. Legal and political efforts, therefore, should be directed to-
ward equalizing opportunity regardless of segregation.” To assure free-
dom, argued van den Haag, one had to respect the “right of disassocia-
tion.” The solution he offered was to replace the two segregated school
systems not with a single school system but with a tripartite system in
order to avoid “compulsory congregation.” “The desire for the maximiza-
tion of liberty,” wrote van den Haag, “leads to the contention that there
should be schools for white, schools for Negroes, and schools which both
can attend, just as there are colleges for males, females, and coeducational
ones.” Van den Haag waved away the argument that communities could

Committee of Social Science Consultants | 209



not possibly afford three completely equal school systems. The expense
involved was to be decided democratically, for “in a democracy, a commu-
nity has the right to decide whether it wants less education per capita and
lower taxes, or more education and higher taxes, and also whether it de-
sires good (but equal) facilities, for the sake of the desired separation.”37

Van den Haag also had no patience for the argument that segregation
inflicted psychological damage on minority children. The doll tests in
particular drew his fire. In his critique, van den Haag merely repeated
the criticisms put forth by Cahn, offering very little that was new—
Clark’s South Carolina sample was too small; no control group was
tested; the children’s identifications could be explained away on other
grounds; and so on. Van den Haag also pointed out, however, that
Clark’s 1947 paper showed that northern children rejected the dolls at a
greater rate than southern children, proving that “Professor Clark’s find-
ings then can be explained without any reference to injury by segrega-
tion or by prejudice.”38

By the time van den Haag’s criticisms appeared in 1957, Clark was
weary of explaining his positions on segregation. For the past six years he
had dedicated nearly all of his professional time to desegregation. In
1955, he confided to Alfred McClung Lee that he was tired of talking
about segregation and “would much prefer to escape into my first love of
studying the effects of attitudes on memory,” which had been the topic of
his Ph.D. dissertation in 1940. Clark told Lee, “Every now and then I am
obsessed with the idea that it is a tragic waste of time . . . we have to spend
so much [time] discussing a problem that should be so clear to reason-
able men.”39 Nonetheless, he responded to van den Haag when invited to
participate in a 1960 symposium, sponsored by the Villanova Law Re-
view, on the relationship between law and social science. The symposium
also offered Clark an opportunity, at long last, to publish his response to
Edmond Cahn, which he edited and combined with his response to van
den Haag.

Clark spent little time defending the doll tests. He did not offer his in-
terpretation that southern children had grown to accept the stigma,
which indicated a greater degree of psychological damage. The doll tests,
he argued, were only a tiny portion of the evidence presented to the
Supreme Court. It was hard to take van den Haag seriously, Clark
protested, for he had obviously not “examined carefully the nearly sixty
references which were used as the basis of the social science brief which
was submitted to the Supreme Court. If this were too arduous a task, then
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he could have examined the seven references cited by the United States
Supreme Court in footnote 11 of the Brown decision.”40 To focus on the
doll tests was to mistake the nature of the case put to the Court. In the
criticism leveled by van den Haag, and by Cahn before him, Clark could
find no evidence that the writer showed the slightest familiarity with the
social science literature that had developed since World War II, arguing
against segregation. In the end, Clark believed, that literature spoke for it-
self; all one had to do was go out and read it.

Moreover, van den Haag’s argument that Clark’s tests did not isolate
segregated education as the sole variable responsible for psychological
damage was simply irrelevant, Clark argued. No one had ever made such
a claim. The elimination of segregation was seen by Clark and the other
social scientists as a necessary rather than a sufficient condition to the
elimination of the disease of racism. All the arguments that the oppo-
nents kept raising about the inability to isolate “legally segregated educa-
tion” as the precise variable responsible for the psychological damage
missed the main point of the social scientists’ testimony. The social scien-
tists agreed—it could have been discrimination in employment, it could
have been discrimination in housing, it could have been social discrimi-
nation that African Americans encountered in stores or theaters or on the
sidewalk. In fact, argued the social scientists, it probably was all those
things, together with discrimination in education, that caused psycholog-
ical damage among African Americans. But the fact that discrimination
existed elsewhere in society did not justify it in education. If discrimina-
tion caused psychological damage—and no one seriously argued that it
did not—then it was wrong to discriminate in education. That it was also
wrong in housing, voting, or employment did not make it right in educa-
tion. Eliminate it where you can, argued the social scientists, and you can
in education.

Van den Haag responded to Clark’s article with a vituperative piece
that essentially accused Clark of being either incompetent or guilty of
perjury regarding the inconsistency between his trial testimony and his
1947 article.41 Clark did not respond to van den Haag a second time.
Perhaps Clark had recognized that van den Haag was that rarest of
creatures—a postwar social scientist who firmly believed in segregation
and the separation of races. Soon after the exchange, van den Haag
would testify in U.S. federal court that segregation was healthy for chil-
dren, and before the World Court that apartheid in South Africa was
justified. He would be a leading light in the International Association
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for the Advancement of Ethnology and Eugenics, one of the last bastions
of scientific racism. As such, van den Haag represented a fringe element
in contemporary social science, and Clark may not have wanted to dig-
nify him by engaging him further on the issue of the doll tests.42

The marginalization of someone like van den Haag demonstrated that
the issue of whether or not school segregation was psychologically dam-
aging was no longer a live one. The attention of the country had moved
on, and Clark had moved with it. Clark became an important figure in
the 1960s War on Poverty and turned his attention to an analysis of the
ghetto. In fact, Clark may be as well known for his book Dark Ghetto as he
is for his role in the Brown litigation.43

Clark’s activities in the 1960s can be seen as a direct outgrowth of his
work in Brown. The key argument that the social scientists made in
Brown was that the elimination of segregation was a necessary first step
toward the elimination of racism. Clark and his fellow social scientists,
not to mention the NAACP-LDEF, had no illusions that all that needed to
be done was to repeal the segregation laws. But only by repealing segrega-
tion laws, they believed, could any progress be made. Clark’s work in the
1960s can be viewed as taking the further steps that he thought necessary
to eliminate racism.

It was during the 1960s that Clark began to despair of winning the
fight against the disease of racism. In 1968, he told an interviewer that he
felt that “the involvement in social action and social change that have
dominated my life add up to one big failure. I fear the disease has metas-
tasized.”44 While Clark continued with his work for social justice, his de-
spair, if anything, grew even more palpable. In 1989, he could “look back
and shudder at how naive we all were in our belief in the steady progress
racial minorities would make through programs of litigation and educa-
tion. . . . I am forced to recognize that my life has, in fact, been a series of
glorious defeats.”45
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Conclusion

The key to understanding social scientists’ involvement with
the Brown litigation is their view of the social power of the law. If the so-
cial scientists had not believed in the power of the law to impose social
stigmata or to create a new social climate, the NAACP-LDEF never would
or could have enlisted their help.

In the five years after the end of World War II, the NAACP-LDEF de-
veloped their legal arguments against segregation. They whittled away at
the Plessy precedent by attacking graduate school education. The 1950
graduate school victories of Sweatt and McLaurin had proclaimed that
form of segregation unconstitutional on the basis of “intangible factors.”
The next year, the NAACP-LDEF turned to social scientists to prove the
existence of these intangible factors in elementary and secondary educa-
tion. For the social scientists, the court cases provided just the avenue
they needed to use their expertise in the fight against segregation. There
was a body of literature that fit their needs and a group of social scientists
to present that literature, because social scientists had also been building
a case against segregation in the years after World War II.

Clark and his colleagues were interested in using their expertise as so-
cial scientists to engineer society to become more racially just. They had
developed a body of research that argued that legal segregation was dam-
aging and could be eliminated. Moreover, the research was conducted by
a close-knit group who shared a commitment to social justice and a will-
ingness to act on their commitments. Their interests converged with
those of the NAACP-LDEF in the Brown campaign and were an out-
growth of the “retreat of scientific racism” of the 1930s.

In the interwar period, psychologists became interested in discovering
ways to measure seemingly ineffable attitudes such as racial prejudice
and the origins of racial identity. One reason for the growth of this activ-
ity was the development of new forms of measurement techniques that
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allowed psychologists to quantify the previously unquantifiable psycho-
logical phenomenon of “attitude.” The choice of racial attitudes for a
topic of scientific investigation was governed by a combination of scien-
tific challenge and social awareness of a “race problem.”

Social scientists rejected explanations for racial differences based on
intrinsic characteristics of a “race” and preferred those based on “cul-
ture.” In the older, race-based scientific explanation, white people were
innately superior to black people. Hence racial attitudes were real and ra-
tional responses to real differences between groups of people. In the new
way of thinking, however, all differences between groups of people were
“cultural,” meaning the differences were not fixed but fluid. For example,
if white people scored better on intelligence tests than African Americans,
the explanation did not lie in the white people’s innate superiority to
African Americans but in the culture-bound nature of the tests. Re-
searchers concluded that if an African American person could possibly be
raised as a white person, his or her performance on an IQ test would be
the same as that of a white person.

The cultural explanation for differences between groups did not pro-
vide a ready explanation for why there seemed to be antagonism between
groups. If the differences between the races were cultural, that is, a prod-
uct of societal interaction, how did the aversions between groups arise?
To answer this question, psychologists began to study “race prejudice,”
which posited the individual reacting to cultural “stereotypes” and to
“unfortunate contact” with individual members of a racial group. Such
thinking, argued psychologists, was inherently irrational, since it made
no sense to posit that merely because one member of a group had a trait,
all members of that group shared that trait.

Research in race prejudice seemed to indicate that prejudice arose in
response to cultural stereotypes, but it did not address exactly how the so-
ciety transmitted these stereotypes. To begin to discover how society’s
racial stereotypes were transmitted, researchers in racial identify at-
tempted to discover when concepts of race entered a child’s worldview.
When did children begin to realize that they were members of a particular
race? What circumstances made for a strong sense of racial identity and
what circumstances made for a weak sense? In answering these questions,
researchers posited that racial attitudes were taught by society, rather
than being something instinctual and ingrained into children at birth.

One explanation for the rise of the study of race prejudice is that new
areas of scientific exploration were opening up with the adoption of the
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scientific concept of “culture.” But to gain a full understanding of this
rise, I have argued, a further explanation is required. It is not just that
new studies were conducted but that the studies were conducted by a par-
ticular group of researchers. The leaders in studies into racial attitudes
during the interwar period were a close-knit group aware of the existence
of race prejudice and discrimination. Some, such as Otto Klineberg, Ruth
and Eugene Horowitz, and Daniel Katz, were Jewish and sensitive to so-
cial discrimination on a firsthand basis. Kenneth and Mamie Clark were
African Americans, who, even more than their Jewish counterparts, had
to struggle with overt discrimination on a day-to-day basis. Other mem-
bers of this group were white, Anglo-Saxon Protestants—Gardner and
Lois Murphy, Goodwin Watson, Theodore Newcomb, and Gordon All-
port. These individuals ranged from the politically liberal (the Murphys,
Allport) to socialistic (Watson, Newcomb). Many of the white Protestant
social scientists were informed by a religious belief in the “social gospel,”
which demanded that to achieve the reign of God on earth, one had to
strive to make the world a more just and equitable place.

The Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues provided lines
of communication between the New York group of social scientists and
others throughout the country, such as Isadore Krechevsky (David
Krech) and Alfred McClung Lee, who believed in an egalitarian social sci-
ence. During World War II, the SPSSI psychologists transformed their
concern with racial prejudice into a national concern. For social scien-
tists, fighting the war became synonymous with fighting racial prejudice.
They were motivated not just by the fact that the Nazi regime champi-
oned racial hatred (although that figured largely into the equation) but
by an overriding concern for national unity in the United States. Social
scientists such as Allport, Lee, Clark, and Klineberg pushed racial preju-
dice to the forefront of social-scientific concerns during the war.

Social scientists emerged from the war with two things: first, an over-
riding concern with racial prejudice, and second, the confidence that they
could do something about it. During the war, social scientists attempted
not just to understand social phenomena such as prejudice and race riots
but to seek ways to control and eliminate these. After the war, they looked
for ways to transform their scientific conclusions into concrete social re-
sults through organizations such as the American Jewish Congress and its
Commission on Community Interrelations.

After World War II, social scientists transformed themselves into social
engineers by reversing the relationship between attitudes and behaviors.
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Although this reversal was put most clearly by the social engineers in the
CCI, it was also put forth by others such as David Krech, Theodore New-
comb, and Arnold Rose.

Social scientists had two arguments for reversing the relationship be-
tween attitude and behavior. First, they argued, the law itself was a pow-
erful tool to inculcate attitudes. The law was pervasive; it touched every
aspect of people’s lives. Moreover, it was official—a declaration of soci-
ety’s views. In the status quo, attempts to teach the equality of all people
would fail because the law, which was pervasive and official, would al-
ways be teaching the opposite. By contrast, if the law did not discrimi-
nate, it would be teaching that all people were equal. In fact, attempts to
eliminate prejudice through education would be much more effective,
given that the teaching would be supported by the laws of society

The second approach postwar social engineers used to reverse the tra-
ditional relationship between laws and attitudes was to abandon any at-
tempt to change attitudes at all. According to this argument, prejudice
was not, in itself, harmful to others. The outward manifestations of that
prejudice, in the form of discrimination, were what was harmful. Hence,
if the law could change people’s discriminatory behaviors, whether or not
it could actually change their prejudiced attitudes was irrelevant. Social
engineers amassed evidence, such as Bernard Kutner’s restaurant studies
and Gerhart Saenger’s department store studies, that prejudiced individ-
uals would act in nondiscriminatory ways, even while maintaining their
prejudiced attitudes.

Using these arguments, social engineers began to write about the need
to eliminate segregation in American society, even before the NAACP-
LDEF decided to use social science in their litigation campaign. Social en-
gineers argued that segregation could be eliminated without waiting for
the attitudes of the people to “be ready for the change.” If people claimed
they would never accept the elimination of segregation, such claims were
not to be taken seriously. Prejudiced people would obey the law, even if
they remained prejudiced.

What social engineers gained by reversing the relationship between atti-
tude change and legal change was a way to push for their view of a just social
order. By letting the law do the work of re-education, social engineers could
advance the cause of equality without facing the grueling task of changing
the inner psychological attitudes of hundreds of thousands of people.

It was this stance toward legal change that made social scientists so at-
tractive to the lawyers of the NAACP-LDEF who wanted to argue that the
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prejudiced attitudes held by the majority did not constitute a good rea-
son to deny the minority its constitutional rights. If desegregation were
pushed with enough vigor, the social scientists assured the NAACP-
LDEF, the population would accept it, despite claims to the contrary.

Toward a Reappraisal

In recent historical literature, Brown has undergone a re-examination.
Twenty years ago, the case was viewed as one of the great moments in
American history. Richard Kluger, in his masterful examination of the
case, cast Brown as an unqualified triumph for African Americans and for
American society. More recent writers have seen Brown as more problem-
atic. Mark Tushnet has portrayed the case as more qualified victory. Ger-
ald Rosenberg and Mark Klarman have both questioned Brown’s place in
civil rights history, arguing that the case was insignificant or nearly irrele-
vant for guaranteeing rights to African Americans.1

Part of the problem, as Isidor Chein noted in his 1979 address, is that
“the sequellae of that decision have not been nearly as magnificent as we
might have wished.” In the shadow of decades of racial violence and tur-
moil since Brown, many ask how social scientists could be so foolish as to
believe that legal change could eliminate racial tension and bring about
harmonious race relations. “But,” as Chein concluded, “we never
promised anyone a rose garden.”2 Indeed, one searches in vain through
their testimony or their briefs for the Supreme Court for social-scientific
claims that racial change could be accomplished by legal fiat. While social
scientists came to court with definite ideas about the power of the law,
they did not believe that the court case would be the magic bullet that
eliminated racial turmoil in the United States.

Essentially, the basic social-scientific viewpoint toward the law was re-
versed from its prewar viewpoint. The commonly accepted wisdom be-
fore the war, and the wisdom that many in the intercultural education
movement clung to after the war, was that the law was nothing more than
an expression of individuals’ attitudes. If the law was discriminatory, it
was because people were prejudiced; it was the attitude of people (preju-
dice) that caused the law (discrimination). Hence, to ensure a just and eq-
uitable society, it was necessary to educate prejudiced people to overcome
their prejudices. Once the basic attitude of people changed, discrimina-
tion in the law, and in other social institutions, would also change.
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It is, of course, this seeming failure of other institutions to change that
brings forth the charges of naiveté against the social scientists of Brown.
The fundamental argument that the social scientists made, however, was
that legal change was necessary to better race relations, not sufficient. No
one during Brown argued that the Supreme Court provided a magic bul-
let that would eliminate race prejudice and discrimination. Indeed, in
their struggles with the Social Science Memo, described in chapter 9, it is
apparent that Clark and his colleagues were all too aware of the deeply
entrenched racial attitudes of the South. But the fundamental question
was: should legal change wait for those attitudes to change? It is too easy
to forget that Brown was about the law.

In their work on the contact hypothesis, social scientists in the early
1950s had identified a number of conditions that had to be fulfilled be-
fore interracial contact could reduce prejudice. These conditions re-
volved around the two groups having mutual interests and coming to-
gether on terms of equal status. It is difficult to see how these conditions
could possibly have been met in climate of legalized segregation. As long
as the law proclaimed that the two races had to be separate, it would be
impossible for contact between the races to reduce prejudice, for the law
would forbid the two races from sharing common goals or from possibly
having equal status. Hence, the social scientists were quite correct when
they argued that a necessary step to better race relations would be to
eliminate legalized segregation.

A similar point arose in social scientists’ criticisms of the intercultural
education movement. As long as legalized segregation existed, any educa-
tion that attempted to decrease racial tension was doomed to failure. If
education was teaching that “all men were brothers,” the law would be
teaching that the two races should not live together. Given the power that
the law has for inculcating values, it is doubtful that education alone
could overcome its message. If the law forbade segregation, however, edu-
cation would be much more effective.

Finally, social scientists argued, as Frederic Wertham did after the first
Brown decision, that the call for attitude change to precede legal change
was “anarchy speaking.”3 One did not, for example, eliminate laws against
murder simply because homicide laws did not deter the hard-core killer.
Similarly, the law should keep segregation legal simply because the law
could not be effective against the hard-core racist. To believe otherwise
would be to question the very function of law in society. For example, in
the criticisms of Lewis Killian’s survey, social scientists argued that de-

218 | Conclusion



spite the fact that people said they would never accept desegregation, they
would not so easily flout the law once the change was proclaimed.

The power of the law was also reflected in Clark’s 1953 “Desegrega-
tion” article. There, Clark argued that the evidence indicated a firm, au-
thoritative stand was the best chance for smooth desegregation. In the
1955 Social Science Memo, Clark struggled to find a way to take this sci-
entific finding and turn it into a practical plan for desegregation. In
Brown II, the Court failed to follow the NAACP-LDEF’s call for immedi-
ate desegregation, thus failing to provide the firm authority that Clark
believed necessary for successful desegregation.

Objective Experts or Advocates?

The charges that social scientists in Brown were naïve and that they made
claims unsupported by the scientific literature are specific manifestations
of a more general issue in the history of the social sciences in the United
States. The larger issue is that of scientific objectivity in the face of social
activism on the part of social scientists. According to the received view,
these two forces, advocacy and objectivity, are in opposition. Either social
scientists attempt to model their discipline on the natural sciences, con-
stantly struggling to maintain objectivity or they are concerned with
ameliorating social problems and are therefore struggling to become ad-
vocates for social policy. The conclusions of my study show that this is a
false dilemma between advocacy and objectivity. In short, the social sci-
entists of Brown believed they were functioning as both objective scien-
tists and effective advocates.

If there was one aspect of the involvement of social scientists in the
Brown litigation that remained controversial long after the trial, it was the
charge that they acted as advocates rather than as objective scientists.
Long after the details of their involvement in the cases were forgotten,
their role was questioned. Twenty years after Brown was decided, Clark’s
use of the data from his doll tests during the trials was still called “the
problem of Kenneth Clark.”4 Beginning in the 1970s, members of the so-
cial-scientific community began to look back at the Brown case and note
that the social scientists involved had let their good intentions get the
better of them during the trials and appeals.5

The charge that social scientists were merely advocates was, of course,
nothing new. Throughout the trial, the objectivity of the social scientists
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was constantly being questioned—not only by the defense attorneys but
also, in less obvious ways, by the social scientists themselves. For example,
Stuart Cook felt it necessary to check Kenneth Clark’s “stridency” when
preparing briefs for the Supreme Court. The social scientists, then and
more recently, claimed never to have surrendered their scientific objectiv-
ity for the sake of winning the case. And yet, they were deeply interested
in winning the case. The question then arises as to what mechanisms they
used to cope with acting as scientists in this adversarial system.

The answer can be found in the recognition that the social scientists
attempted to be effective advocates through a strict allegiance to their sci-
entific principles. They attempted to maintain objectivity through four
different strategies, all of which enabled them to serve in the capacity of
objective experts while being social activists. Each of these strategies was
designed to ensure that the social scientists followed proper scientific
procedures in their activities conducted for the NAACP-LDEF. Yet the
motivation for being objective and scientific was to enable the social sci-
entist to be effective in the fight against segregation.

First, the social scientists made very limited claims. For example, if one
charge was consistently leveled against the social science of the Brown lit-
igation, it was that it did not isolate legally segregated school segregation
as the cause of the psychological damage the social scientists discovered
among the segregated children in question. Yet the NAACP-LDEF did not
require the social scientists to testify that they had isolated such a vari-
able, nor did they ever claim they had isolated it. Nor did the social scien-
tists ever claim that eliminating legal segregation would eliminate psy-
chological damage. They were always careful to note that the problem of
damage arising from discrimination was exceedingly complex, and that it
undoubtedly was intertwined with countless other aspects of society. In
fact, far from despairing of the fact that all of society discriminated, many
witnesses turned it into a strength of their testimony, noting that legal
segregation served to reinforce the discrimination that other parts of soci-
ety inflicted on African Americans.

The second strategy adopted by the social scientists was to carefully
separate their opinions and interpretations from the “facts” of their data.
The most obvious example of this was Cook’s criticism of Clark’s first
draft of the Social Science Memo. The defense attorneys were usually sat-
isfied with the social scientist’s admission that this was opinion evidence.
Other critics, such as Edmond Cahn and Ernest van den Haag, took an-
other tactic: they merely ignored the offered opinions and did not ever

220 | Conclusion



attempt to refute them. The case of the doll tests, however, was a different
story. Both defense attorneys such as John W. Davis and critics such as
William Delano and Ernest van den Haag pointed to the extreme flexibil-
ity in Clark’s interpretations of his doll test results. These criticisms of
Clark were not informed by Clark’s results in the Delaware trial, where he
had offered yet a third interpretation of the results. Clark had not made
the results of his testimony public.

Clark’s performance in the Delaware trial is an example where the urge
to be an effective witness outstripped his loyalty to the objectivity of sci-
ence. His results indicated that the vast majority of the children did not
make an identification of the “bad” doll, but his testimony did not make
those results clear. A possible explanation for this is that Clark simply
misspoke when he claimed that “three out of four” children identified the
brown doll as the bad doll. A similar slip of the tongue in the South Car-
olina trial, when Clark discussed “drawings of dolls,” led both Cahn and
van den Haag to believe that Clark had presented drawings to the chil-
dren, not actual dolls.6 But even granting that explanation for a moment,
it would seem that Clark could interpret the doll tests to indicate psycho-
logical damage, no matter what the children chose. As such, the doll tests
became the lightning rod for criticism of the social scientists’ role and
were perhaps the weakest part of the social science evidence in the Brown
litigation.

Because the doll tests have seemed so vulnerable, it is there that critics
of the use of social science in Brown have focused their attacks. Those
wishing to argue that social science could not or should not have been
used in the case trot out the standard criticisms of the doll tests and rest
their case. Indeed, the critics often claim that the doll tests were referred
by the Supreme Court in footnote 11.7 Yet the doll test was only one sort
of evidence offered, and the Supreme Court did not refer to it. The doll
tests figure so prominently in critiques of Brown because they are the one
instance where a social scientist, Clark, stepped over the bounds of
proper scientific procedure and into the realm of advocacy.

Clark himself may have recognized the weakness of the doll tests, for in
his defenses of the social scientist’s role in the Brown litigation, he did not
attempt to defend the doll tests with any particular vigor. He did detail his
rather strained interpretation of how northern children’s’ identification
of the brown doll as bad indicated better mental health than their south-
ern counterparts, but on the whole, he shifted the argument to other
parts of the social science data that could be found in the Social Science
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Statement he had prepared for the first Supreme Court hearing. The so-
cial scientists had built “one long argument” against desegregation that
required a deep reading of many different sources. The doll tests did not
make or break the case the social scientists made against desegregation.

The third strategy adopted by the social scientists to defend their ob-
jectivity was to prepare no evidence directly for the trial. Social scientists
had been arguing against segregation in their published works for many
years before being approached by the NAACP-LDEF. As I argued earlier,
this stand against segregation arose because social scientists had come to
believe that legal change was an important element in the fight for social
change. Hence, their works were already informed by a stance toward the
law that was shared by the NAACP-LDEF. Clark could then defend the so-
cial science used in the Brown litigation as predating the social scientists’
involvement in the litigation, proof that their presentation was not pre-
pared merely to win a court case—thus making it more likely that the so-
cial science would, indeed, help win the court case. Hence, the drive to
disassociate the evidence from the needs of the NAACP-LDEF was what
made the evidence so useful for the NAACP-LDEF.

There were, of course, two social-scientific studies, that were prepared
to help win a court case: Chein’s 1948 survey of social science opinion
and Clark’s 1953 “Desegregation” article. Both pieces, however, were pub-
lished in the professional literature, rather than merely for the private use
of the lawyers. A more interesting dilemma would have arisen if the
NAACP-LDEF had sponsored fieldwork by social scientists, either in
1953, when Clark wanted to undertake fieldwork to examine desegrega-
tion, or later, through the CSSC. In 1953, Clark expressed concern that
the NAACP-LDEF would be behind the research and noted that it would
be necessary to hide that fact from those in the communities he visited. If
the NAACP-LDEF had funded this research, how would Clark have justi-
fied it as objective social science? Given the fact that the NAACP-LDEF
refused to sponsor the fieldwork, such questions cannot be answered.

The fourth strategy for claiming objectivity was social scientists’ pre-
sentation of themselves “we are only the fact providers.” Time and again,
Clark denied that the social scientists had any power in making the im-
portant decisions during the litigation. In a 1960 address to SPSSI, Clark
claimed that whatever power social scientists have “is secondary and an-
cillary, derived through the sufferance or request of those who control
power in our society. Social scientists do not establish policy or make de-
finitive decisions on crucial social issues.”8
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The role of the social scientists in the Brown litigation was simply to
provide whatever information they could to the NAACP-LDEF, who sup-
plied it to the Court, the real decision maker. If asked to testify to some-
thing that was unsupported by evidence, such as ability to claim that psy-
chological damage in schoolchildren was caused by legally segregated ed-
ucation, the social scientist had to refuse. The responsible social scientist,
Clark argued, owed his or her first allegiance to science and only sec-
ondary allegiance to a particular social policy. But in making such a move
toward science, of course, Clark also ensured that his scientific credibility
could be used by the NAACP-LDEF to fight for the very social policy
Clark desired.

The social scientists learned the limitations of being “fact providers”
in the Brown II decision. The social scientists always claimed that the
problem with the Supreme Court was not that they listened to the social
scientists in the first decision but that they apparently stopped listening
in the second. Brown II, with its “all deliberate speed” order, failed to sup-
ply the strong authority that was necessary for effective desegregation. By
allowing the local authorities to drag their feet, the Court was responsi-
ble for “massive resistance” in the South and the decades of turmoil that
followed.

All four of the strategies outlined above served to keep social scientists
from becoming “advocates.” While Clark may have stepped into the realm
of advocate with the use of his doll test, he never admitted it. He main-
tained that he could explain his results within a strictly scientific frame-
work. Nothing drew Clark’s fire like Cahn’s accusation that Clark had
functioned as an “advocate” rather than a scientist. One must ponder,
then, how to explain Clark’s claim that during his “involvement with the
lawyers of the NAACP in the desegregation cases that led to the Brown
decision, I was functioning primarily, if not exclusively, as a social techni-
cian. Even in my role as a social science consultant to the NAACP lawyers,
my perspective of myself was an agent of social change, as an advocate.”9

At first glance, it would appear that Clark is finally confessing that Ed-
mond Cahn was right after all—Clark was, in fact, acting like an attorney
rather than a scientist. But I think that is a serious misreading. For Clark,
the dichotomy between “advocacy and objectivity” was a false one. The
best way for a social scientist to change society was to be a good, careful,
and objective social scientist.

For example, Clark often recounted that the NAACP-LDEF frequently
requested him to make use of a certain study that the lawyers thought
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would be useful.10 Despite the fact that the study in question directly ad-
dressed the issues at hand, Clark refused to include it because he thought
it poor social science. By rejecting the study in question, Clark was behav-
ing as he thought a good social scientist should but also as a good advo-
cate should. Enrolling poor social science to the cause, Clark knew, would
hurt, not help, the case. The opposition would seize on the weaknesses of
the questionable article as surely as Clark would; hence the case would be
made weaker, not stronger, by the material’s inclusion.

The same principle held across the board: by adopting the hallmarks of
good science—limiting claims, issuing caveats, distinguishing interpreta-
tions from results, and so forth—the social scientists would also be effective
advocates. By contrast, if the social scientists presented a weak scientific case
for their claims, they weakened the case for the NAACP-LDEF, for the op-
position would surely attack whatever overarching claims were made by the
social scientists. The criticisms directed at Clark’s interpretations of the doll
studies offer the best proof of this general point.

Social scientists were vital and active players in the early civil rights
struggle that Brown represented; but as social scientists, they faced
unique problems in that struggle. For most civil rights activists, such as
Thurgood Marshall, passion and a strong moral sensibility were seen as
the source of the strength that they brought to the movement. The same
cannot be said for social scientists. In fact, the opposite was true: the so-
cial scientist drew credibility not from passion but from detachment from
passion—the essence of “scientific objectivity.” Only by collapsing the ar-
tificial distinction between objective inquiry and social activism could
social scientists become effective advocates.

Conclusion

Perhaps if the Court had issued a firmer order than to desegregate with
“all deliberate speed,” the ensuing racial turmoil would have been
avoided. Perhaps the opposite is the case, and a more gradual approach
would have been better. Counterfactuals are dangerous in historical
works. The best we can do is ask: given what social scientists knew at the
time, were they justified in making the claims they did and acting in the
manner in which they did?

The conclusion that arises out of the present study is that they were
justified. Four decades after the decision, it is easy to forget how the infe-
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riority of African Americans was proclaimed by the very laws of the land.
The social scientists of the Brown case lived in a world where it was in-
conceivable that southern schoolchildren of different races could ever sit
next to each other in the public classroom. Certainly, racism and discrim-
ination are continuing and ongoing problems in this society, but it is al-
most impossible to argue that our present problems of racism would be
less severe if legal segregation still existed. Clark and his colleagues clearly
recognized what we in the twenty-first century appear to have forgotten:
the elimination of legal segregation was a necessary step on the road to-
ward racial equality. That the road is a long and difficult one should not
blind us to the necessity and value of that very important step.
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